Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors, May 22, 2025 Page 1

o

Hazel Hawkins

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
SAN BENITO HEALTH CARE DISTRICT
911 SUNSET DRIVE, HOLLISTER, CALIFORNIA
THURSDAY, MAY 22, 2025 - 5:00 P.M.
SUPPORT SERVICES BUILDING, 2ND FLOOR, GREAT ROOM
IN-PERSON AND BY VIDEO CONFERENCE

Members of the public may participate remotely via Zoom at the following link https:/zoom.us/join
with the following Webinar ID and Password:
Meeting ID: 991 5300 5433
Security Passcode: 007953

TELECONFERENCE LOCATION!:
Director Pack
2922 Kennebec Lane
Columbia, CA

Mission Statement - The San Benito Health Care District is a public agency that serves as a responsive,

comprehensive health care resource for its patients, physicians, and the health care consumers of the
community.

Vision Statement - San Benito Health Care District is committed to meeting community health care needs
with quality care in a safe and compassionate environment.

AGENDA
Presented By:
1. Call to Order/Roll Call (Johnson)
2. Board Announcements (Johnson)
A. ACHD Annual Meeting — September 24-26, San Diego, CA.
3. Public Comment (Johnson)

This opportunity is provided for members of the public to make a brief statement, not to
exceed three (3) minutes, on matters within the jurisdiction of this District Board,
which are not otherwise covered under an item on this agenda. This is the appropriate
place to comment on items on the Consent Agenda. Board Members may not deliberate
or take action on an item not on the duly posted agenda. Written comments for the
Board should be provided to the Board clerk or designee for the official record.
Whenever possible, written correspondence should be submitted to the Board in
advance of the meeting to provide adequate time for its consideration. Speaker cards
are available.

! Note: Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953 (b), this meeting will include a teleconference
participation by Director Pack from the address above. This notice and agenda will be posted at the
teleconference location.

1



Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors, May 22, 2025

4.

5.

Consent Agenda — General Business

The Consent Agenda deals with routine and non-controversial matters. The vote on the
Consent Agenda shall apply to each item that has not been removed. A Board Member
may pull an item from the Consent Agenda for discussion. One motion shall be made to
adopt all non-removed items on the Consent Agenda.

A. Consider and Approve Minutes of the Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors —
April 24, 2025.

B. Receive Officer/Director Written Reports
¢ Physician Services & Clinic Operations
e Skilled Nursing Facilities (Mabie Southside/Northside)
e Laboratory and Radiology
e Foundation
e Marketing
e PMO Project Summary

C. Consider and Approve Policies:
e Reporting Work-Related Injuries — Contracted Workers: (New Policy)

Recommended Action: Approval of Consent Agenda Items (4) through (C).

» Board Questions
» Motion/Second
» Action/Board Vote-Roll Call

Receive Informational Reports
A. Chief Executive Officer (Verbal Report)

e DHLF Legislative Updates
e Transaction Update

» Public Comment

B. Chief Nursing Officer
e Dashboard — April 2025

» Public Comment

C. Facilities Committee — May 15, 2025 (Project Updates)
e Proposed Projects
e Current Projects
e Pending Projects
e Master Plan

» Public Comment

D. Finance Committee — May 19, 2025

e Financial Statements — April 2025
e Finance Dashboard — April 2025
e Supplemental Payments — April 2025

» Public Comment

Page 2
(Johnson)

(Casillas)

(Descent)

(Robinson)

(Robinson)



Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors, May 22, 2025 Page 3

6. Action Items

A. Consider and Approve Commercial Lease Agreement with Ben Carota for the Property Located at 901
Sunset Drive, Unit One, Hollister, CA, in the amount of $3,000.00 per month for a three (3) year term.

Recommended Action: Approval of a Commercial Lease Agreement with Ben Carota for the Property
Located at 901 Sunset Drive, Unit One, Hollister, CA, in the amount of $3,000.00 per month for a
three (3) year term.

Report

Board Questions

Public Comment
Motion/Second
Action/Board Vote-Roll Call

A\ A A A 4

B. Consider and Approve Hospitalists Panel Service Agreements with Natalie LaCorte Medical
Corporation; Cristian Carrillo, DO, Medical Group; Saiham Shahabuddin, MD, Professional
Corporation; Sepulveda, MD, Corporation; Claire Hartung, MD, Inc.; Jiwu Sun, MD, Inc.; J. Deutsch,
MD, MPH, Physician Services in the amount of $1,981,950 annually for a three (3) year term.

Recommended Action: Approval of Hospitalists Panel Service Agreements with Natalie LaCorte
Medical Corporation; Cristian Carrillo, DO, Medical Group; Saiham Shahabuddin, MD, Professional
Corporation; Sepulveda, MD, Corporation; Claire Hartung, MD, Inc.; Jiwu Sun, MD, Inc.; J.

Deutsch, MD, MPH, Physician Services in the amount of $1,981,950 annually for a three (3) year
term.

Report

Board Questions

Public Comment
Motion/Second
Action/Board Vote-Roll Call

VVVyYVY

C. Consider and Approve Medical Director Agreement for Hospitalist Services with Natalie LaCorte
Medical Corporation in the amount of $185 per hour up to 24 hours per month for a one (1) year term.

Recommended Action: Approval of Medical Director Agreement for Hospitalist Services with Natalie

LaCorte Medical Corporation in the amount of $185 per hour up to 24 hours per month for a one (1)
year term.

Report

Board Questions

Public Comment
Motion/Second
Action/Board Vote-Roll Call

vVVvVVVYyY

D. Consider and Approve Virtual Inpatient Services Agreement with Omnibus Medical Corporation in
the amount of $10,500 per month for a one (1) year term.

Recommended Action: Approval of Virtual Inpatient Services Agreement with Omnibus Medical
Corporation in the amount of $10,500 per month for a one (1) year term.

» Report
» Board Questions
» Public Comment



Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors, May 22, 2025 Page 4

7.

10.

» Motion/Second
» Action/Board Vote-Roll Call

E. Consider and Approve Professional Services Agreement for Anesthesia Services with Iqbal M. Mirza,
MD, Professional Corporation in the amount of $2,992,500 annually or up to $4,132,500 annually for
a three (3) year term.

Recommended Action: Approval of Professional Services Agreement for Anesthesia Services with
Igbal M. Mirza, MD, Professional Corporation in the amount of 32,992,500 annually or up to
$4,132,500 annually for a three (3) year term.

Report

Board Questions

Public Comment
Motion/Second
Action/Board Vote-Roll Call

vVvVvVvvyy

Public Comment (Johnson)

This opportunity is provided for members to comment on the closed session topics, not to exceed three (3)
minutes.

Closed Session (Johnson)
See the Attached Closed Session Sheet Information.

Closed Session Report (Counsel)
Adjournment (Johnson)

The next Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors is scheduled for Thursday, June 26, 2025, at 5:00
p-m., Great Room.

The complete Board packet including subsequently distributed materials and presentations is available at
the Board Meeting, in the Administrative Offices of the District, and posted on the District’s website at
https://www.hazelhawkins.com/news/categories/meeting-agendas/. All items appearing on the agenda are
subject to action by the Board. Staff and Committee recommendations are subject to change by the Board.

Any public record distributed to the Board less than 72 hours prior to this meeting in connection with any
agenda item shall be made available for public inspection at the District office. Public records distributed
during the meeting, if prepared by the District, will be available for public inspection at the meeting. If the
public record is prepared by a third party and distributed at the meeting, it will be made available for
public inspection following the meeting at the District office.

Notes: Requests for a disability-related modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or
services, to attend or participate in a meeting should be made to District Administration during regular
business hours at 831-636-2673. Notification received 48 hours before the meeting will enable the District
to make reasonable accommodations.

Please note that room capacity is limited and is available on a first come first serve basis. 4



PN

Hazel Hawkins

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
SAN BENITO HEALTH CARE DISTRICT
SUPPORT SERVICES BUILDING, 2"°-FLOOR, GREAT ROOM
IN PERSON AND BY VIDEO CONFERENCE

THURSDAY, APRIL 24, 2025
5:00 P.M.
MINUTES

Directors Present
Bill Johnson, Board Member
Devon Pack, Board Member
Victoria Angelo, Board Member (Absent)
Nick Gabriel, Board Member
Josie Sanchez, Board Member (Absent)

Also Present
Mary Casillas, Chief Executive Officer
Mark Robinson, Chief Financial Officer
Karen Descent, Chief Nursing Officer
Amy Breen-Lema, Vice President, Ambulatory & Physician Services
Suzie Mays, Vice President, Information & Strategic Services
Michael Bogey, MD, Chief of Staff
Heidi A. Quinn, District Legal Counsel

. Call to Order/Roll Call

Director Johnson called the meeting to order at 5:00 PM. A quorum was present, and attendance was taken
by roll call. Directors Johnson, Pack, and Gabriel were present. Directors Sanchez and Angelo were absent.

. Board Announcements
There were no board announcements.

. Public Comment

An opportunity for public comment was provided, and individuals were given three minutes to address
the Board Members and Administration.

Public comment was received by Ms. Zanger and Mr. Fendler (written comments also submitted).

. Consent Agenda - General Business

A. Consider and Approve Minutes of the Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors —
March 27, 2025.

B. Consider and Approve Minutes of the Special Meeting of the Board of Directors —
April 8, 2025.



C. Receive Officer/Director Written Reports - No action required.
e Provider Services & Clinic Operations
e Skilled Nursing Facilities (Mabie Southside/Northside)
e Laboratory and Radiology
¢ Foundation Report
e Public Relations
e PMO Project Summary Report

D. Consider and Approve Policies:
e NUHW Bilingual Pay Policy (Revised)
T ~ 2 rezeves 1

4 T ~

TR T

o Identity and Access Authentication (New)

¢ Information Technology Acceptable Use (New)
e Paich and Vulnerability Management (New)

e Workstation Security for HIPAA (Revised)
£ v, 1 s 1 se

Pas

e Work Hours, Scheduling, and Employee Classification (Revised)
e Policy Development Policy (Revised)

Director Johnson presented the consent agenda items to the Board for action and stated that the MRI
Response to Low Oxygen Alarm, Cesarean Section Classification, and Induction of Labor Misoprostol
policies will be deferred to next month’s board meeting. This information is included in the Board packet.

MOTION: By Director Gabriel to approve the Consent Agenda — General Business, Items (A-D), except
for the MRI Response to Low Oxygen Alarm, Cesarean Section Classification, and Induction of Labor
Misoprostol policies, which will be deferred; Second by Director Pack.

Moved/Seconded/ Carried. Ayes: Directors Johnson, Pack, Angelo, Gabriel, and Sanchez. Approved 3-
0-2 by roll call, with Directors Sanchez and Angelo absent.

5. Receive Informational Reports
A. Chief Executive Officer (Verbal Report)
e Transaction Update
e DHLF Letter

Ms. Casillas provided the CEO report, which included an update on OHCA. The materials are included in
the packet.

An opportunity was provided for public comment, and public comment was received by Mr. Fendler.

B. Chief Nursing Officer
e Dashboard — February 2025

Ms. Descent provided a report, which is included in the packet.
An opportunity was provided for public comment; no public comment was received.

C. Finance Committee — April 21. 2025

%



e Financial Statements — March 2025
e Finance Dashboard — March 2025
e Supplemental Payments - March 2025

Mr. Robinson reviewed the financial statements, dashboard, and supplemental payments. The reports
are included in the Board packet.

An opportunity was provided for public comment, and public comment was received by Mr. Fendler.

. Public Comment

An opportunity was provided for public comment on the closed session items, and no public comment was
received.

. Closed Session

President Johnson announced the item to be discussed in Closed Session as listed on the posted Agenda:
Hearing/Reports, Credentials, Evidence Code Sections 1156 and 1157.7; Health and Safety Code Section
32106(b).

The members of the Board entered into a closed session at 6:18 pm.

. Reconvene Open Session/Closed Session Report

The Board of Directors reconvened in open session at 6:24 p.m. Counsel stated that one (1) item was
discussed: Hearing/Reports.

Under hearings and reports, the Credentials report was received and approved by the Board, on motion of
Director Johnson, Seconded by Director Pack, by a vote of 3-0-2, with Directors Sanchez and Angelo
absent.

. Adjournment:
There being no further regular business or actions, the meeting was adjourned at 6:25 p.m.
The next Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors is scheduled for Thursday, May 22, 2025, at 5:00 p.m.




o~

Hazel Hawkins

AEMORIAL HOSPITAL

To: San Benito Health Care District Board of Directors

From: Amy Breen-Lema, Vice President, Clinic, Ambulatory & Physician Services
Date: May 14, 2025

Re: All Clinics — April 2025

April 2025 Rural Health and Specialty Clinics’ visit volumes

| Total visits | Total visits
Clinic Location current prior month
month (Feb 2025)
On‘hopedlc 414 447
Specialty
Multi-Specialty 675 676
Sunset 740 721
Surgery & Primary 338 333
Care
San Juan Bautista 264 216
1st Street 756 725
4th Street 1,091 1,193
Barragan 680 713
Total 4,958 5,024

» Provider recruitment activities with anticipated start dates by specialty:

Endocrinology: Bilal Ahmed, M.D. - May 2025

Gastroenteroloay: Sarathy Mandayam, M.D. — pending start date in July
2025.

We are pleased to welcome Amy Chu, PA-C, to our clinic team. She joins us as a
family practice provider who has quickly established a positive presence by
forming strong connections with both patients and staff. Amy has already
demonstrated her value to the primary care team and is off to an excellent start.

As an update, rheumatologist Lorilee Sutter, M.D. returned to the clinics in April
and her transition back has been seamless as many patients were eager to rejoin

her panel. The continuity she brings is deeply appreciated by both her colleagues
and long-standing patients.



>

Hazel Howkms

M EM ORI A I HOSPITAIL
Mabie Southside/Northside Skllled Nursing Facility
Board Report — May 2025

To: San Benito Health Care District Board of Directors

From: JayLee Davison, Interim Director of Nursing, Skilled Nursing Facility

1. Census Statistics: April 2025

B Southside 2025 __ Northside N 2025
Total Number of Admissions 20 Total Number of Admissions 7
Number of Transfers from HHH 19 Number of Transfers from HHH 6
Number of Transfers to HHH 10 Number of Transfers to HHH 4
Number of Deaths 1 Number of Deaths 1
Number of Discharges 24 Number of Discharges 3
Total Discharges 25 Total Discharges 3
Total Census Days 1274 Total Census Days 1468

Note: Transfers are included in the number of admissions and discharges. Deaths are included in the number of discharges. Total
census excludes bed hold days.

2. Total Admissions: April 2025

Southside From Payor Northside From | Payor

10 HHMH MA 1 HHMH MA
1 HHMH M-Cal 1 HHHMH/RE-ADMIT MA
1 HHMH Hospice 3 HHMH/RE-ADMIT CCA
1 HHMH CCA 1 HHMA HOSPICE
3 HHMH Re-Admits MA 1 SALINAS VALLEY HOSPICE
1 HHMH Obs. MA
2 HHMH Obs. CCA
1 Good Sam MA

Total: 20 Total: 7

3. Total Discharges by Payor: April 2025

_____ Southside 2025 - Northside 2025

Medicare 19 Medicare 2

Medicare MC 0 Medicare MC 0

CCA 5 cca 0

Medical 0 Medical 0

Medi-Cal MC 0 Medi-Cal MC 0

Hospice 1 Hospice 1

Private (self-pay) 0 Private (self ay) 0

insurance 0 Insurance 0

Total: 25 Total: 3




4. Total Patient Days by Payor: April 2025

_ Southside
Medicare
Medicare MC
CCA
Medical
Medi-Cal MC
Hospice
Private (self-pay)
Insurance
Bed Hold / LOA
Total:
Average Daily Census

2025
392
0
727
53
0
72
30
0
15
1289
42.97

Northside
Medicare
Medicare MC
CCA
Medical
Medi-Cal MC
Hospice
Private (self-pay)
Insurance
Bed Hold / LOA
Total:

Average Daily Census

2025

101

1144
149

61

o

13
1468
48.93

10



-

Hazel Hawkins

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

To: San Benito Health Care District Board of Directors
From: Bernadette Enderez, Director of Diagnostic Services
Date: May 2025

Re: Laboratory and Diagnostic Imaging

Updates:

Laboratory

1. Quality Assurance/Performance Improvement Activities

- Update on chemistry analyzer project > validation testing in process. Estimated completion date:
05/2025.

- Phase 2A construction update > waiting for one respiratory testing room to be vacated, clearing of the
lab admin room in progress.

2. Laboratory Statistics

April 2025 2025 YTD
Total Qutpatient Volume 4204 17268
Main Laboratory 1276 5172
Mc Cray Lab 958 3666
Sunnyslope Lab 386 1657
SJB and 4™ Street 98 333
ER and ASC 1486 6440
Total Inpatient Volume 186 705

Diagnostic Imaging

1. Service/Outreach

- Final stages on preparation for new service offering- low dose lung cancer screening

2. Quality Assurance/Performance Improvement Activities
- Preparation for multi-modality trailer pad proposal
- CDPH inspection at Diagnostic Center - no findings

San Benito Health Care District

A Public Agency

911 Sunset Drive, Hollister, CA 95023, (831) 637-5711, hazelhawkins.com

11



3. Diagnostic Imaging Statisti

N

(ﬁgzel Hawkins

P = Y W | Ll N\ & LT A

April 2025 2025 YTD
Radiology 1859 7359
Mammography 738 2787
CT 968 3869
MRI 205 767
Echocardiography 119 435
Ultrasound 785 3056

San Benito Health Care District
A Public Agency

911 Sunset Drive, Hollister, CA 95023, (831) 637-5711, hazelhawkins.com

12



A
Hazel Hawkins Hospital

FOUNDATION

Caring for Qur (

,.u:'p_'.'.’.'.'n"ln

TO: San Benito Health Care District Board of Directors
FROM: Liz Sparling, Foundation Director

DATE: May 2025

RE: Foundation Report

The Hazel Hawkins Hospital Foundation Board of Trustees met on May 8 and had a
presentation from JayLee Davison, HHMH Director of Nursing - Skilled Nursing Facilities,
on a purposed Tranquility Room for each SNF.

Financial Report April
1. Income $ 10,560.86
2. Expenses $ 0
3. New Donors 1
4. Total Donations 137

Allocations:

¢ Our Scholarship Committee received 28 applications and recommended
awarding 20 scholarships totaling $29,000. This includes 2 scholarships for two
HHMH employees for the San Benito Leadership Institute, which is a 9 month
leadership program where the community members meet once a month at
different locations in San Benito County, learn about different aspects of our
County and also focus on leadership training. The allocation detail is below:

Amount Name of Scholarship/Funding Designation
$1,000 Ismael Hernandez Scholarship HHMH Employee Continuing Education
$1,000 Dorothy & Charlie Root Scholarship Physical Therapy or Kinesiology preferred
$4,000 Ed Jones PG&E Scholarship Account 19721 San Benito Leadership Institute {2 HHMH Employees)
$5,000 Ed Jones PG&E Scholarship Account 19721 HHH Foundation Scholarship Fund
$2,213 Barnheisel CD HHH Foundation Scholarship Fund
$4,000 Scholarship Foundation Account HHH Foundation Scholarship Fund
$11,787 Interest from Community Foundation Endowment  |HHH Foundation Scholarship Fund
$29,000

Directors Report:

e Our All for 1 Employee Giving Campaign exceeded our goal of $60K. We ended up
with 76 employees pledging $64,610. Thank you to all employees that participated.
Last year had 73 participants pledging $57,714.

e Our Dinner Dance event this year will be at Leal Vineyards on November 8, 2025.
Save the Date!

Fundraising Committee:

e Asof May 8, 2025, there have been 1856 total donations to our current campaign, “Invest in
the Future of San Benito County Healthcare, We Deserve It” raising $1,159,409.26

13



Hazel Hawkins Board of Director's Report May 2025

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL Marketing/Public Relations

o Social Media Posts Posted on Facebook & LinkedIn

Title Date published Reach @ Likes and reactions © Views 0

! We fei the love! Thank you to the 8tn grade students at Sacred Heart Parish Scho...

t e 4 1:38pr L0 v B . 0
g “rec @ siazel Hawbins Fospii o Vied May 14 138 T1is was just posted and metrics aren’t available.
i S . : -
- More great stonies for “It's Why 'm in Healthicare” to celebrate Hospital & Skilled v Wed May 14 T1:00em 174 4 359
= 0 G o @ Hazei sawkins Hospinal E - . -
“ v ing } ' M INH " p
Today we re sharing more- great ftoms from our "IT'S WY I'M [N HEALTHCARE" ¢ e TueMay 13, 1000am 25 6 971
0 G roto- @ “aze: swwiis Hospin Boost el - ad ™
. This week we are cefebrating Hospital Week and Skilled Nursing Care Week and .., B v MonMay 12 1128 479 21 11K
) (8 roto @ azel vawiins Rosgia — — —
It's not every day we get to celebrate a 100th birthday for one of our residents bu... . w MonMay 12, 1118am 7 38 ™
o @ el Aawking Hospital — O— —
q - N . ‘
W’IShlf\g all Mom's a very Papp) Mother's le B . Sun May 1 Tdlam 205 1 365
0 Srote @ <iaze! dawkirs Hospital — — —
[ aan .
Today we ended Nurses Week with a breakfast for our nurses. We are honored to ... Boost - FriMayd 3idpm 75 54 x
€ orote @ Haze Hawkin Hospial —
.- & Our final post ceiebrating Nurses Week and highiighting our amazing nurses for . Boost - FriMayQ 1000em 635 2% 15€
=0 a Jhoto - @ Hazel Hawking Hospiual — — R —
. *}3 r little ones from the Infant Feeding Support Group made Mother's Day cards f... Boost v ThuMay8 227pm 7 29 733
‘0 Shote @ -azel Hawtins Hospral a—— e —
T‘ Holiister High School Academy of Health Sciences tour HFH Soost o ThuMay8 100Tam 298 15 27
0 O e @ Haze Hawking Rospial — — -—
.':.xi HiH has a partnership with Hollister High School's Academy of Feath Sciences w. B o ThuMay8 100Tm 773 65 19K
Rl Gg orore @ Hazel Hankins Hospal — — e —
ore great stories for "It s Why I'm in Healthcare” to celebrate Nurses Week. Toca... B w ThuMay 8 1000am 2 13 790
0 rotc @ Hazel Hawkins Hospral — - —
Lo Today we re sharing more great stories from our “IT'S WhY I'M IN HEALTHCARE" ¢
Y ng g d " Boost -  WedMay7 &00am 508 15 11K
=0) Shete @ azel Hawking Hospiat — — —
[ s# It's Nursess Week and we are excited to share our IT'S WHY I'M IN HEALTCARE” B v Tue May 6 10:00am 489 21 1K
h“ G sree @ Haze Hawking Bospial — — —
§ We're celebrating Nurses Week May 6 - 12 and are excited to debut our TS WH... Boost -~ MonMayS tiddam 535 % 13K
0 dhetc @ -az Hawking Hospital — — —

14



Hazel Hawkins

MEMORIA HOSPITA

Over the next two weeks we will be celebrating Nurses Week Fospital Week and
. (0 &8 oro o Haze ks Hosonal

AN Our community partner. San Benito County Cpioid Taskforce, creatad this safe dis...

- Ed > - zel Haaking Hospi
-=i0) . Fote - @ <azel Hawking Hospinal

Bl This wesk we celebrated National Volunteer Week. We have over 90 active volunt...

(5] Thete @ Hazel Hawking Hosphal

This week we are also celebrating Medical Laboratory Professionals Week (Lab We...

0 & sroe o e siniins rosoial

Today we celebrate Administrative Professionals Day. This group of incredibly tale...

0 rcte - @ Hazel Hawking Hospital

Earth Day 2025 - Cur Power, Our Pianet Today we celebrated Earth Day by distrib...

0 68 oo @ el Haiins rospia

Please join our community partners for National Drug Take Back Day on Saturday...

0 @ o @ e danking bosoial

Consider giving the "Gift of Life” by donating blood. Our next Biood Drive takes pi...

LW . :
o Z L
= 0 . hote @ Haze Haaking Hospial

This 1s going to be a week of celebrations. The Health Care Recognition Week cale...

a hotc @ -aze] Awwking Hospital

Today we're celebrating National Bean Counters Day. This day is to recognize the i...

0 hote @ Az Hawking Hospital

EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT

Boost

Boost

Boost

Boost

Boost

Boost

Board of Director’s Report May 2025- page 2
Marketing/Public Relations

Fri May 2. 1:39pm

Wed Apr 30, 9:02am

Sat Apr 26, 11:40am

Thu Apr 24 3:43pm

Wed Apr 23, 3:14pm

Tue Apr 22 3:47pm

Mon Apr 21, 1:12pm

Mon Apr 21 10:54am

Mon Apr 21 10:48am

Wed Apr 16, 1231pm

Employees:

e Hazel's Headlines

*» May 6 - 12 Nurses Week {Nurse Week Breakfast - May 9)

¢ May 11 - 17 Hospital Week & Skilled Nursing Care Week

e May 19 - 25 Healthcare Technology Management Week (IT)

VOLUNTEER/AUXILIARY ENGAGEMENT

e Auxiliary Annual Lunch - May 14

740 :6_ 18K
e : b
683 48 18K

1K | 3K

878 51 26K

781 44 21K
B : A
726 46 13K_
K 68 2K

* We're Celebrating!

HosPiTAL WEEK ¢ NURSES WEEK
SKILLED NURSING CARE WEEK
We bring you a week of food & fun!

Sunday, May 11* - Friday, May 14t

-PROUD
ofthe work WE do_

= THE % /A _Perfect Blend Coffee Truck (pasing 1at hahing wemen's Center)

Diffeence .7

WE MAKE ~

Thank Youl
*

Sunday
7am -7 pm e Free Meals in the
{timit 1 meal per shift)

Cafeteria

7 am - 10:30 am + Free Scones in lhe Caletera

Coftee & Cookies delivered to Night Shift

Tuesday

11 am - 7 pm ¢ Ffree Nachos in the Cafetesa
Nachos delivered to Night Shit

10am - 7 pm ¢ Free ice Cream in the Cafeteria

Treats delivered fo ofisite localions
Brownie Trays delivered to Night Shift

Thursday
FOOD TRUCKS
11:30 am - 1:00 pm

Plzza dellvered to Night Shit

Friday

Casvdl for a Cause - Blue Sean friday

TAQUIZAS EL COMPA TACO

TRUCK

{Horted by the Emplayes Engagement Commitiee)

11:30 am - 2:30 pm

Sandwich frays delivered to Night Shift

15



Hazel Hawkins

Board of Director's Report May 2025- page 3
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL Marketing/Public Relations

PHYSICIAN PROMOTION

Promoting Mental Health providers

Working on a campaign for orthopedic services

Public:

Benitolink covered a Northside resident's 100th Birthday
https://benitolink.com/barbara-reillys-100th-birthday/

16



Benito Link

San Benito County’'s News

Barbara Reilly’s 100th Birthday

Just ahead of Mother’s Day, a longtime San Benito County resident celebrated her centenary
surrounded by family.

by Jessica Parga May 11, 2025

Barbara Reilly waves to her family as they take her photo with her birthday cake. Photo by Jessica Parga

On April 30, 1925 Barbara Reilly was born in San Jose, which means she recently celebrated
her 100th birthday. Four generations of her family gathered at Mabie Southside Skilled Nursing
Facility in Hollister to celebrate her long life.

Balloons with curling ribbons hung all around the room while photos from the past century stood
framed on a table under a large Happy Birthday banner. The guest of honor herself sat with a
tiara carefully placed on her head as her family filed in to greet her.

Reilly was raised in San Benito County, graduating from Hollister High at just 16 years old in
1941. She spent many years living in San Juan Bautista, raising five daughters with her

husband, Jack.
? e

Photos spanning Reilly’s life show her high school graduation
portrait, her as a child, with her late husband, Jack, and her
five daughters. Photo by Jessica Parga

17



According to her kids, she was a pioneer, working to support her family and for the love of her
jobs—after working at a department store for a period of time, she spent over a decade at the
Office of Education as Assistant to the Superintendent.

“My mom was wonderful,” Holly McBride, one of her five daughters, said, reflecting on her
childhood. “There wasn’t anything she wouldn't do for us.”

Her daughters grew up to have their own kids—Barbara now has 16 grandchildren and 15
great-grandchildren. Nearly 20 family members came to celebrate with her on April 30, 2025.
Each wore a white name tag to help her recall names.

Reilly's family gathers as she opens presents. Photo by Jessica Parga

Reilly's memory has slipped away as she’s gotten older but occasionally she remembers the
name of a loved one and the room lights up with cheers of excitement. Despite this, she’s still
sharp as a tack according to McBride, who plays games with her twice a week.

“It's funny how the mind works,” McBride said. “She doesn’t remember a lot... She knows faces,
not names. But boy, she knows how to play Gin Rummy. She double checks my math on the
score... She has like 56 games to 500 to my like 24 and | don't let her. And | go ‘give me a
break.”

18



& A =2
Reilly's family gathers for a group photo at Mabie Southside Skilled Nursing Facility on April 30, 2025. Photo by Jessica Parga

“I do think that this is her legacy,” Lisa Cole, her eldest granddaughter, said as she looked
around at her family. “She brings everybody together. Her and my grandfather always did that.
They kind of pulled everyone together and she’s still doing it. It's super fun to get to reconnect
and laugh and still joke around, like we see each other every day.”

of ST

= . <. -
Reilly peeks over her glasses while wearing her birthday sash that reads “100 and fabulous”. Photo by Jessica Parga

19



Wd 20'T SZ07/91/S

20

SIOPUSA
J9y}o ojul Bupoo|| sadiAles |poIBINS DINJUBA sjuswannbay
os|D “aj0nb juswdinbs 10 10091Q -190NS IPUSWY o0v| S20T/1E/TL ¥20z/0Z/11 QdHSO Jad ¥O Buyopan pINGaY JO Jo3ANS
JodALS Buipusy
‘uoiooddo uo
PBUIDI JJOIS JSSJUNIOA LOYDOBINDH
pup Buiwpo Jasn [puly| sedialas Ji1BayouS -
SADW aizn sndwip 00jan 1D3H JybI
PUD 4045 O} 410 OB 0} °8 UOHDWIOI| dA W oZng 91e GToT/ 119 ¥Z0T/82/01t o 2___n_mwmc“wo<*<o_,w H ubiy
Buibossawl/Buyaniow T
Buipusd
'sabpoq adA} Jasjun|oA
PUD JOIO0P 10§ Z1/S
JO Yo9M Pa|NPaYDs
Jaboubw S|IDOW
Buyssy jo punol Azoadoy DOISSSr 12 §Z0Z/1/9 vZoT/e/6 zodag
pUODSS ‘paaIdWod Aippaiq payiued 10} ADJ ©} 8dIMS / SOJ 940D
US8Qq MOU BADY
SUOI}DDSUDI} [N§SS8DIINS
e0ely j0p0811Q z318pUuj
uouopPIPA Bulob Jspun ABOIOIPDY \QU._ oyopoUIeg §ToT/ 119 SISZA|OUY ApUllY 1| 9SDUd QO plingay Qo7 110989V
1S st WBd} go HIWHH
[4VE]
O JoaMm anljob sinpow
SSIIAIOY ‘PBpPoSU Jop081Q
1115 NdA JodaayPaw ASDULOUY DISADY USBADN 661 STOZ/L/9|  vzZoz/vI/LL| uonooyueA Buipunodwod All  Jedea) Adpuloyd ad
HINQ JaAles WdY
'POAIBDDI DIDMPIDH
UOHD|DSUl
PUD UDDS J00} HIOM
|D2UO8I8 Bulupbwai J0)081Q
wiopad |m pazipuy AoOWIDYY DISADY USSADN 68¢ §T0C/61/6 yeoT/v/cl SOUIYODW SIXAJ MON uoyo|IoisuU ag
a2u0 ‘|pAcIddD
IVOH Buipuad
] ERINESN
ssauboud :
Ul UOISSILIGNS3J (Y DH 810D 8iNdY Zepupbula4 o0 agl yeoT/eLly AjindaS Jupjul SOJUNDSS/SONH
4O JojoauQ Jouas
ol 51 josloid il DIDHD) MBI ocz|  szoe/ieiv vZ0e/el6 SOINSY IO}SADIL
T : ubDwnH Joyoaiq 2OUDWIONSY 83A0IdWw]
sajjoid o
O}uI $8}DP AJUOIUSS JBSN
O uoyIppL Buipus
.&w@&c.wmwo tQ.mU Ucm SOINISS
y 840D 8INdOY Zopupnuis4 Oor L1 §ToT/L/9 yzoT/9/Z1 8J0M}OS BulINPaYDS SSINN UOIDAOU|
SPING 3)NP8YIS yOOW
. JO Jojoau(] Jouss
BuloQ ‘si0}081p puD
s195n A9y Joy ssaiboid
ul Z asoyd Buuioy jo)s
aopdn al0¥| JsoploydDIs A9N| IVOH u:*umm. uoypIng JA1 09 9pg Upis asodind SWDN {o3foid

pipog AbW - pipoqyspq joafoid



Wd TO:T SZ0Z/91/S

(Paanbal Iy DH/AdHSO)
ajonb Buipuad

saoiAJeg poddng

|OdSOY UIDUI U} Ul DLIISJDD

sAow Bno WNIPawW OH u agl 5zoz/6z/1| 8ul Ag 1oop signop iopwod| siooq s|anog Bing paw
P42818s DY ‘PoAIBDS) 10}231Q Joluss " i ® i © paio. a1 Buysixa ub 9o0|day
josodoud Jounalj ’ T
"2IDM}OS OJuI DIOP|  s8d1ABS poddng waysAs Buiaxdly 55T
HH Buipling st Jopusa 1042311 JoIuss show Bnog LNIPSW §eoz/1/L §eoe/1/1 Buussuibus jusund 8o0|doy 108
UOISSILUg NS
up|d )y OH puo
8dods jouy Bupusg|  Aunoss g JIBW $§820Y 0O Ajunos DPDYIS
‘wbay jossu) ppoBA| Biow3 Jo Jopdaiq zaswoy abior yBiH Qsal seoz/LL/e v 100Q + OSS / Ajnoss PONIOAL
PUD $}OB1IUDIY Uim
Poa}9|dwoD YoM 8IS
"UODPUSUWILLIOD3]
J0}081Q ZaJopul SLIDJS ApDay S3OW
X SPIASH 6} SISl ABojoipDy/go] alappuIag Lunipew PIOH UO asl a8l dW usym djay o4 Joupai| pod s8)nJ] BuiBow,
papiugng [0sodold
BUENEIREY
: Joyoaig zai8pu] |opoOwWal pun
$SNOSIP OF PAINPBYIS| (5 0 p ey P ybiH PIOH UO asl Szoz/L/1L |UBLUGINDS JO JUBLUSSESSY upjdiajsow ABOIOIPDY.
3 0IPOY/Q0T Hep! 9
q of Buyoew -
iy g TSIy ) ns |0sodos spoiBd
papiwqgns josodold ABOIOIDDN/ADT SLBPOUISE MO PIOH UO asl adL psywgns | d P n 13w
pspiLGns $s821A86 poddng SPIOPUDIS
WOY PUD dvDIW JOJoANT JONDS sAow Bnog a4l adL| Ateyps g 8ouD|dwoD Dlwsias IITNEN
1O malAal jpuly Buipuad : : IVOH (88w o} appibdn
ELE)
Japun Ajusund pup| seolales poddng uoyD|ID§sul g ssad0id pusad uolD||D}sU|
supjd sy} pajdadon Jojo31Ig JoIuag show Bnog asl reoe/ee/el 9)9jdwod o} Buussuibul $100(] 9SS JOO|4 puz
SDY J3JSHIOH JO AUD
Ss81D0Ia
Ul pub paaciddp usag
SDY UOIKDDOIB) SBDIAISS
1Y 10} X8y Apisodws) 1040947 Zajepu]j 550U - o [ePoWs 50OWS A0
10} UOHDZUOUYND ABOIOIPDY/qDT spapoUIag 69¥% GTOZ/S1L/6 yZoz/el9 z Ud :gv14o 9P d |ep ¥ o7
HddD 330D auk
puo Wod} ipbs| ypum
MBIABI JBPUN |ODIUOD
1osloud ayy
PasOID A[SALDISIUILIPD sommise Loddn
PUD JuN U} UO pom| T omw_t _o_cmm sAow BnoQg £91 szoz/oe/v|  vzoz/8l/LL ID4sU] Wusjut Aduabiswlf-s (NHY) HuN JSIPUDH JIY
U} SIDPIOA Of 143 1294090Sg
Juds AjpulIoy SPY [VOH
. 6 dd AliIqoI8Y
P UDISLCHORIOUING) sSomISSHISEshg show Bnoq 80S Szoz/1L/9 ¥20z/0L/1 g ADUSIdY3 8oUDYL {uswado|day se(log
sjom |puy Buipuad 101081 JoIUas o} 1oyog Buysxg 2opjdoy
DIUIID PUD 4NS UO
Bupom Auand “(Bins HosL eposion 9zc GTOT/oe/y vTocT/9L/6 apoubdn spouBdn-i4-IM

paw snuiwi) paaidwoD
uaaq spy |pJIdsSOY UIDW

U} O 1040811

uowo|os

BINJONISOIYU| SSDIDIM

pipog Abw - pipoqyspq joafoid

21



Wd Z0:T SZ0Z/9t/s

21048q jpsodosd
SJIOPUSA 8y} UC Bulom

104084Q I01UsS

S| "¥D ul pamo||o Jabuo| ou
PUD WBJSAS 444V UD S LUBJSAS

%001 9 V101
%C | € MO
%€ 8 Wwnipsw
%8S Sl UBIH
% INNOD ALIMONd
SW3Ll ONIGN3d % ALINONNd L1D3royd
%001 9T V101
%8 4
%8 4
%S | 4 PIOH UO
%0 0
pauDIs %S9 Ll
[_lou/may 2i1qissod
oAl 06 pauupid %¥ l
SAT-O0 PajRUiEe % INNOD SNIVIS
% SNIVIS ASVL
$|ojol
sioday
uiBbaqg o} 9AWD AByy
Jiun umop Ajjoyaod
S ¥3 N0 Ul D dYL ‘opaud zeispu3 ybiH aop|day JBUUDDS D
‘paonidas agn; O spoadU ABoroippy/qo1 eHopouley
auQ siodsi pasu
BADY BM [DUL S,1D Yiog
STIT/9 'seaAo|dwia 0} poddns
uo 8NP 3 |oUY IO} PUD UOHDIIUNIULIOD aplacid
FO0I} UO ADJS O} $B|DAD puD ‘@2uniidwod Aloypinbal
3l UDSB|D INOY JSOS $92.n0SSY D|DHD]| M3 wnipa 3INSUS 'SIOLS SDNPSI 0"+ 5u DEThR ORI
14 ! } SO3| UDWINH 4O JO}O8IQ |OHD] a IPeW szoT/ /L SzoT/oL/Y . p SADS PIOJLDH BUL
10 8}81dWwOoD §| |POSD BUIJWD3S Of $8DUISAD
"BUN[ [IHUN MOPUIM JO SADY) JO UCHDISIUILIPD
Buyssy ul Ajjuaun 9Z|IDJUSD PUD BjPWOINY
‘SpuBWIND0P [suuosiad 'sa) [puUosIad o} $s820D
oojdn o} Buppio $92IN0Sa JIUOD3|T "$ASD} BuIpIDOqO 19BDUDW JUBWINDO
.U I + Duntiom d DIDYOL M3I] qsL UOILD8(3 "$3SD} DUIPIDOGY W a
8}8dWwOoD | S19P}0)|UDWNH JO JOJO3IQ] pub BuIpJOOqUO 0§ pup §sissy a|doad
jpuuosiad Jo dnjas ssaooud Ippbip o juswsdw|
EYTTEEDRD SOOIAISS
apimasnoy Joy sjonb 210D 8Ny Z8pUD LIS JDf ybiH asl v20Z/01/6 2op|day WBJSAS ||DD 8SINN
Buupdaid s JOPUSA| JO JO}DB.IJ JOIUSS
T snopJozoy O @EMMU%MMM
\A .
40 2dA} Aup Butiow| - s8o1ms poddns sAow Bnog ybiH SToT/vi/L no pasoyd aq o} painbsi podieH a3

pipog AbW - plpoqyspq joafoid

22



Hazel Hawkins

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

Memorandum
To: Board of Directors

From: Suzie Mays
Vice President, Information & Strategic Services

Date: May 15, 2025

Re: Policy for Approval

Please find below a policy for Board approval.

Policy Title Summary of Changes

12357 Reporting Work-Related | New policy.
Injuries — Contracted Workers

23



Hazel Hawkins

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

Reporting Work Related Injuries - Contracted Workers

Disclaimer

PDF DISCLAIMER LEGAL NOTICE: This PDF was requested on 5/15/2025. PDFs should not be used as
official documentation. Contents of official documents are subject to change without notice. Lucidoc
makes no representation or warranty whatsoever regarding the completeness, accuracy, "up-to-dateness",

or adequacy of the information or materials contained herein. Please refer to Lucidoc for the most up to
date information.

CONFIDENTIALITY LEGAL NOTICE: This PDF may contain confidential information and is intended
solely for the addressee. The information may also be legally privileged. This transmission is sent in trust,
for the sole purpose of delivery to the intended recipient. If you have received this transmission in error,
any use, reproduction, or dissemination of this transmission is strictly prohibited. If you are not the
intended recipient, please immediately notify the sender and permanently delete this file.

Approvals

e Committee Approval: Policy Committee approved on 5/14/2025

Revision Insight

Document ID: 12357

Revision Number: 0

Owner: Elizabeth Von Urff,
Revision Official Date: No revision official date

Revision Note:
New policy

Page 1

24



DoclD: 12357
Revision: 0

HOZG| HOWk'ﬂS Status: Pending Committee

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL S Approval
Department:Employee Health
Manual(s):

Policy : Reporting Work Related Injuries - Contracted Workers

PURPOSE

The purpose of this policy is to establish a clear and consistent process for reporting work-related
injuries sustained by contracted workers while performing duties at San Benito Health Care District
(SBHCD). The intent is to ensure timely medical evaluation, maintain accurate injury records, and
promote a safe work environment for all contracted workers on hospital premises.

POLICY

Contracted workers are required to follow their employer’s internal procedures for reporting work-
related injuries. In addition, all work-related injuries that occur on hospital property or during
contracted services must also be reported to SBHCD's Employee Health (EH) department. The
incident must be documented in the incident reporting system by the contracted worker, a co-
worker, or an immediate supervisor.

PROCEDURE

A. Immediate Response

« The injured contracted worker should seek immediate medical attention as appropriate.

- Emergency medical care should be obtained from the Emergency Department if the injury
is urgent or life-threatening.

B. Notification
« The contracted worker must notify their direct supervisor and follow their company’s
procedure for injury reporting.

« The injury must also be reported to SBHCD's Employee Health (EH) as soon as reasonably
possible, preferably within the same shift the incident occurred.

C. Incident Reporting System

» The incident must be entered into the incident reporting system.
o The entry may be completed by the contracted worker, their co-worker, or a

supervisor.

o All reports should include a clear description of the incident, location, and any
immediate actions taken.

- EH will review the report and follow up as necessary for documentation, injury tracking,
and any required interventions.

Page2 DocumentID 12357 Revision 0 Hazel Hawkins Memorial Hospital 2 5



D. Follow-Up

- EH may contact the contracted worker and/or the contracting company for additional
information, clarification, or to coordinate safety measures if needed.

REFERENCES

. SBHCD Employee Health Department Policies
. Incident Reporting System Guidelines

. Occupational Safety and Health Administration. (n.d.). Recordkeeping requirements 29 CFR
Part 1904, Subpart C. U.S. Department of Labor. Retrieved May 14, 2025, from
https://www.osha.gov/laws-regs/regulations/standardnumber/1904/1904SubpartC

AFFECTED DEPARTMENTS

All departments.

Page3 DocumentID 12357 Revision 0 Hazel Hawkins Memorial Hospital 26



Document ID 12357 Document Status  Pending Committee Approval

Department Employee Health Department Director Von Urff, Elizabeth
Document Owner Von Urff, Elizabeth Next Review Date
Attachments:

(REFERENCED BY THIS DOCUMENT)

Other Documents:
(WHICH REFERENCE THIS DOCUMENT)

Paper copies of this document may not be current and should not be relied on for official purposes. The current version
is in Lucidoc at

http://hzh-iis.hazelhawkins.com/?returnto=%2Fcgi%2Fdoc-gw.pl%3Fref%3Dhhmh%3A12357%240.

Page 4 DocumentID 12357 Revision 0 Hazel Hawkins Memorial Hospital 27



SZ0Z UOREIOSSY [E3SOH BIUIOHED O

'S9IIAIDS

aJed yjjeay 3uipiaoid o 3502 ay3 03
paJedwod JusLWIBSINGLUISL PIEDIPAIA]
up J|ejaioys awauixa ayl azediw

0] SBPBI3AP I9AC PIJeaId Udaq

aney sweidoud Juawded piedipay
9SBQ-UOU JO AJaLIBA V 23084
‘plesipajl puny 03 Aem mau

e ase sjuawdied aseq-uop 1A

"S3DIAIDS PIEJIPIIA 9 SIEDIPBN

10} 5483U3D) ay) Aq pamalnal
Alsno.io3us ae saxe} asay | :3oe4
"WASAS pIedIpaly Y3 UM adueaal)
S)BIS MOY 3Je SBXE) JBPIAOLY YIAA]

‘sweudo.d piesipa|n a3e1s
6P 40 11ed a4k saxe) asay | 304
*Jensnun aJe saxey JapIAcdd :3ALA

"S92IAI9S

34e2 Y3|eay 03 ss922e Junnsua

01 |BIA S| pUB 3NUSASL PIEDIPAIA|
|eaidsoy e jo Jjey Ajieau sjuasaida)
1U3WBSINGLUIa) 3seq-UON i32ed
‘Alessarauun pue aajssadxa

die sjuswied aseq-uopN YA}

'SIUBWIUIBAOS |elapaj pue

91els Usamiaq diysisulled paypne
pue Buipueis3uo| e jo 1onpoud ay3
ale Aay ] ‘walsAs presipajy ayi jo
asnge ue Asyj aJe Jou ‘|njaisem
J0U 3Je saxe] JapIaold :3de
‘waysAs presipap)

ay3 asnqe saxe] J9pPIAOId :IAA

sioe4 ‘A syIAn

uoerossy &

jeydsop ‘ -
Bluiojied 00
AN

"$SO| SiY3 uleIsns Jouued Aidwis ajoym e se ejusoyijed pue ‘sjendsoy ‘syusiied *SaWI0d 3] WI0J JEYM 9138 OU
— juswWasinquiiai pledjpa 3331e3 J0u pjnoys siajewme} ‘s3uines 323pnq [esapay puly 03 3des ayj uj

PIedIpa|A 3991044
swioos 3uijesado wou) suoadins geo‘s » uoljng N.m.nw .
eiulojljed wWwoij sauiyoew Y 00T » QudWRSINqUIRI :O____m.N NNW
S[edsoy s,e1uiojijeD Woly sasanu 000pT « pie31paj aseq-uou [endsop R —— m””_.“_“wﬂ.
:3uiAowsy Jo Juajeanba ay3 si syuswied - .
PlEJIP3IA 3SEQ-UOU 0 940T ISN( JO IND v U0 o anuanas aseg
sInd jo Yoedw) ay :staquinu ayy Ag SIAIUBIUI ATjEND O\oq m
o SJ9jsuel] [ejuaLILIBA0ZIaIU]
dejjop Atane 10y uoi3edNP3 |EJIP3W dIBNPEIS)

S3ua2 Sp isyuswied aseq-uou Inoy3im
........................................ .s. A sjuawAed [ejdsoy
aJeys ajeuonlsodoidsiq «

............................................... : (saxp} 4apinoad wotf anuanai
duipnpour) sjuawAed paidalqg .

“Ae||op 243 uo s1uad g 9jqeuleisnsun ue liejatoys piedipap
03 doJp p|nom Jey) ‘Aeme Juam JuaLIBSINGUIIEI 19703 03 3upueuy yYajed |
aseq-uou JI 'sjusiled 10y a1ed 03 $3502 itlejjop ——

AJ9AD 10j SJUDI O 1sn( sAed pieaipapy
‘Junodde ojul JuawasINquIIa ||e Suiye)

"Apledoaf uj suejusojije) pue ‘pasoj> sjerdsoy
‘150] $321A495 21D Y|edY :S3je4 3SEq 03 SIND SE 12944 wes 3y} dARY PINOM JUIWISINGLIIDS 3SBQ-LUOU 0} S3NT)

*(soxe) 13pinoad
Aq papuny) sjuswied pajdasip Suipnpul sweiSoad JuswAed 49430 (Z uey) alow Jo yJomydjed e
pue (sad1Al3s yijeay Joj sjuswAed prepuess) sajes aseq y3noayy ssapinoad $9sInquiial predipajp]

3led yijeay Joj sAed piesipajy MoH

sjudijed 1oj 3uijeisenaq ag pjnop sind) ANY —
S324n0S 3ulpuny jo AjaLieA e uo salay piesipajAl eiulojije)



$20Z 4OREII0SSY [BNDSOH BlUIO)E) (O RIUIOJ|IRD WIBLINOS jo uopeossy
$IIUNGY) [ea3dwy 5 obatg uEs jo ? BruQUEeD BIIUSD § UIBYUCN v
NOLLVIDOSSY Tv1idsoH Q0 NOLVI0SSY V\k IounoY [ejdsoH ., s

6T0zZ dus

UMOp e sujZiew
Bupesado sjendsoy
S$9I3. [E31114D BjUJIOY[ED
1eys sjutod aB8ejuadiad

40 J3gwinu ayj — w

'sje3idsoy

910way 3uizdsioud

03 A9y aue swea3oud
ueo| a|qixa)y y3noiya
110ddns [eldpueuy
uIe1qo pue sad(Alas
9oue|nquie 03 ssadde
anasaid 0] spoy3
‘sjeaidsoy [esns Suowe
34nsopd 10 uoINpal
221A495 Juaaadad 0}
uoinejsidaj 1oddns ‘¢

:Aq Sa01AL9S L1[eay jena Suisof Jo s 1B sapunuiwod pue ajdoad 139304d pinoys ssau3uo>

y3nouyy o8

SN2 HSQ 41 3s0] pjnom
SuUBIUIOJIjeD) SWodU}
-MOJ| 10} 348D JEeY)
sjejidsoy junowe ayj -

uoljiiq ¢'L$

“UBWIASINGLUI)

0} SIND [euol3Ippe
ureisns jouued Ajdwis
pue ‘suidiew aAnedau
yam Suizesado uayo
‘saapia0ld piedipaln|
y3iy ase sjejidsoy asayy.
‘suonpal judwied
(HSQ) [edsoy aseys
ajeuojuodoadsip
piedipa pauued
Ap@a13ua [9dued Jo

Jo Aejap e puaix3y 'z

sujdaenl
2RIPAN 2118381 aAey

sieydsoy ||e jo m\N

'Spaau [ed1ul[2 x3|dwod
J1ay3 104 sjuswiiedap
|endsoy jusnedino uo

puadap sairepyauaq
9|qessu|na 1sow
5,.24B21P3|A pue ‘s3unias
aJed Aoje|nquie Jaylo
pue sjeudsoy Suowe
S9DUIBYIP |BIUSLIEPUNY
40J JUNO3e 01 |18}
saidljod JuawAed [esanau
-911S *sjuduisedap
juanedino jejidsoyy 03
Aonjod yuswAed jesznau
-3}IS S, 2JB2IpIN JO
uoisuedx? Juaaaid 'T

:pInoys $saJ3u0D "SI 1B SuB(UIojI|ED
aiow 3nd pinom Zuipuny 93npas sayany 1eys sapijod ‘Buid3niis siendsoy Y
— aied apiaoad 03 Ajjiqe sjenndsoy SujuayiBuaiis «

aoueansul

y3jesy aseyo.ind o3
1oddns [esapay uo
AjaJ oym sueiuiojijed
40 Jaquuinu ay) -

uoljjiuu £°|

pieaipaiy Aq

paian02 (g a8e Japun
uoljjitt §°g) sueruioyie)
JO Jsquinu ay3 -

uoljjiw Gyl

'$20Z puohag

papueixe aq p|noys vyov
a3 y3nouyy a8esan0d

10) poddns jesapaq
‘pa129304d 3Je siapiaoid
pue saLleYauaq aInNsud 03
Annigersipaud pue Ayjiqess
spasu jeyl diysiauned
|e48p34-33€)S B SI PIEdIP3|A|
— 98ea3n0d 31ed
yijeay 3uiaiasasd <

£5921A43s [erdsoy
3uisn si oy

%EZ | %8E | %sE

juawied

; 0z-
) E 0T~ o res Suipinosd
—— %0

$0150)

. n_ Ileii0ys

Apisgns

R SE—— [112 JusWwAeg

siInsuy
e sRWwWo)

areapap pleaipay

069/ ISN[ SISA0D a1eDIP3IA pUB

‘sjuaijed Joj aled 0] sje3ldsoy 1503 31 IBYM JO 9408 Isn( shed
PIEDIPAIA| '$1S0D JIA0D JUOp — 3wnjoA Juailed [endsoy jo 95/
J2A03 YdIym ‘aaedipajy pue predipay — siaAed JUBILIAAOL
pasueuld aiy sjeyidsol moH

"APOQAIaA3 10 59502 31

‘pPredipay 10 9aedipajy wod) JuswAediapun
J0 9snedaq SIsSOd [eIdsoy € Uay A\ VSl e ale
AjoJ $3131UNWIWOD 41343 Y2iym uodn SsadiALas

aled yjjeay ay3 ‘syusiied 104

94ed 0] Aep AiaAs Asuow 3uiso)
s|eidsoy eiuioji|ed 4o 9 G YUM

"a8e13A00 Yajeay 11ay3 y3noaiy wiayl ssasde o3 Ajijiqe

33 YIM 3uofe ‘S3I1A13S 35I| IAIISIP pUE PIJU SUBILIOHRD)
"8401u pue ‘wiey Ajpoq pue ssaujp anjewnes) Supuaadys
95013 JO SSAI] ay3 anosdul ‘syuanjed 15yJo pue 193UEd JO SIA)|
943 puaixs ‘seiqeq sinjewasd AjpLIBa3xa Jo saAl] syl aaes Asyy

*2uiInod Ajiep e sapesiw djew speyidsoy ejuiogijed)

sueluIoifed ||V 40y

91D 0] SS9J2Yy 3Ui}da304d

. .6 64
® 000000000 FIs P saannas



May 13, 2025

To: DHLF Board of Directors

From: Connie Delgado, State Legislative Advocate
Ryan Witz, DHLF

Subject: State Legislative and Prop 35/MCO Tax Update

Objective: To update the board on the state legislative activities and implementation efforts
for Proposition 35/MCO Tax.

Legislative Update:

Leaders of both houses imposed a 35-bill limit for the 2-year legislative cycle; however,
that did not slow down bill introductions this year.

In total, legislators have introduced more bills this year than they did last year - 2,350 new
bills introduced in February.

Legislative policy committees wrapped up their hearings to meet the policy deadline of
May 2" for all fiscal bills to be heard.

Over one hundred bills dealing with the Los Angeles wildfires.

While the legislative process is in full swing the budget subcommittees have been holding
hearings. DHLF has been providing testimony on a variety of issues that impact DHLF
members (Prop 35 & Health Care Access and Information) and continues to monitor
budget process.

Legislative Deadlines:

Upcoming major deadlines:
o Suspense Hearing in both Appropriations Committee, Friday, May 237,
June 6" “House of Origin” deadline,
June 15" State Budget (SFY 2025-26) must be passed,
2" house policy deadline July 18th,
Summer Recess July 18" to August 18,
August 29'" 2" house fiscal deadline,
Last day of session: September 12t
Last day for the Governor to sign bills: October 12,

O 0O 0O O O 0 o0

30

17



SPOPOPPOOOODOOOOOPBDOOOUTIITDOOOOOIIIOIIIEBIRN

Key Legislation:
Sbonsor Legislation:

¢ SB 246 (Grove) Graduate Medical Education (GME). This is our sponsor bill to increase
Medi-Cal investments in Graduate Medical Education. Senator Grove and Senator
Caballero are authors.
o DHLF - SPONSOR

O
o

o]

rackin

Passed on April 2 in Senate Health on Consent Calendar.
Heard in Senate Appropriations Committee on 4/21 and was placed on the
Suspense Calendar.

= DHLF believes there’s no General Fund impact and continues to lobby to

ensure the bill moves off Suspense.

= Suspense hearing is Friday, May 23",
If passed, SB 246 will move to the Senate Floor for a vote of the 40 members.
All bills must pass “House of Origin” by June 6%,
SB 246 must complete the same process on the Assembly side.

¢ Health Plan Prior Authorization Bills

o

AB 220 (Jackson) Medi-Cal: subacute care services. The bill would mandate
health facilities that provide pediatric or adult subacute care to include a
standardized form with treatment authorization requests, preventing Medi-Cal
managed care plans from imposing their own criteria for determining medical
necessity outside of what is required in those standardized forms.

=  DHLF - SUPPORT

AB 510 (Addis) Health care coverage: utilization review: appeals and
grievances. The bill would require that any appeal or grievance for a heaith plan’s
denial or modification of a service based on medical necessity be reviewed by a
licensed physician within two business days — or within a timely fashion
appropriate for the nature of the insured’s condition if the insured faces imminent
or serious threat to their health. If the plan fails to meet the deadline, the bill
would deem the prior authorization request approved.

* DHLF - SUPPORT

AB 512 (Harabedian) Health care coverage: prior authorization. The bill would
shorten the timeline for prior authorization requests — from within five business
days to no more than 48 hours for standard requests or from 72 hours to 24 hours
for urgent requests — from when the plan or insurer received the reasonably
necessary information it requests to make the determination.

* DHLF - SUPPORT

31

18



e ACHD Sponsored Legislation:

o AB 533 (Flora) Health care districts: design-build process. This bill will allow
healthcare districts owning or operating a hospital or clinic to use the design build
process for their construction projects.

=  DHLF - SUPPORT
v Attached is the DHLF support letter.

¢ Partnership Health Plan/Plumas District Hospital —~ Sponsored Bill

o SB 669 (McGuire) Rural hospitals: standby perinatal medical services. This bill
would require the California Department of Public Health to establish a five-year
pilot program allowing qualified critical access hospitals and individual, small
system rural hospitals to operate standby perinatal units. To qualify for
participation in the pilot program, hospitals must be greater than 60 minutes from
the nearest hospital providing full maternity services, not have closed a full
maternity or labor and delivery unit on or after Jan. 1, 2025, and agree to provide
level 1 basic and neonatal services.

* DHLF - FOLLOW

e AB 448 (Patel) - California Heaith Facilities Financing Authority Act: non designated
hospitals: loan repayment.

o This bill would extend the CHFFA Bridge Loan repayment requirements for non-
designated public hospitals participating in the loan program that had received a
loan approval from, and entered into a loan and security agreement with, the
authority by requiring those hospitals to begin monthly repayments on the loan 32
months after the date of the loan, and discharge the loan within 60 months of the
date of the loan, as prescribed. The bill would require the monthly payments to be
amortized over the term of the loan, at 0% interest.

=  DHLF - FOLLOW

e AB 356 (Patel) - Health Care Districts
o This bill would require the Department of Health Care Access and Information

(HCAI) to convene a working group to study and make recommendations
regarding the provision of health care services in the northern San Diego region.
The bill would require that the working group include representatives of certain
health care districts and that it issues a report to the Legislature, on or before June
1, 2026, with its findings and recommendations.

®* DHLF & ACHD - OPPOSE

«  Attached is the DHLF & ACHD oppose letter.

State Budget:

e Even without Federal cuts, there are significant risks at the state level unless the
Administration and Legislature implement spending reductions. Assuming current trends,

both the LAO’s November Outlook and Governor’s January Budget highlighted multiyear
deficits.

* There are major structural problems with the budget:

32



AR AR A AR R AR R R R R 22 R R AR RN R R AR A RARDAN

Multiyear Deficits Persist
LAQO and DOF Estimates of Muttiyear Budget Condition (In Bitlions)

In January, the Governor’s office released the proposed budget of $322.3 billion in
spending. Early budget action was needed to borrow $3.4 billion in March to address
Medi-Cal shortfall and a supplemental appropriation bill to increase spending authority for
DepartMent of Health Care Services (DHCS) to cover additional $2.8 billion in
unanticipated Medi-Cal Program costs experienced in the current fiscal year.

Generally, the Department of Finance issues a May Revise on May 14% which will provide
more accurate account of funds based on tax receipts. It is important to note that for
those residents who were impacted by recent Los Angeles wildfires were given a tax
extension to file and pay taxes until October 15, 2025. This extension will likely have an
impact on the forecast released by the May Revise.

Given the trajectory the state is on, we are anticipating the May Revise will include some
“proposed solutions” to cut or reduce Medi-Cal spending.
o There are rumors that we may see $10-20 billion in proposed cuts.

Proposition 35 / MCO Tax Implementation:

In November, after voters overwhelmingly approved Proposition 35, DHCS notified the
respective stakeholders that previous plans for “targeted” provider rate increases for CY
2025, would not be moving forward due to the specific spending allocation included in the
Proposition.
o For CY 2025, the Proposition included an allocation of approximately $1.4 billion
for hospital care.

At that time, DHCS was more focused on securing the necessary amendments to the
already approved MCO-Tax program (2023-2026) with CMS than finalizing a plan for the
Protect Access to Health Care Act Stakeholder Advisory Committee (‘PAHCA SAC”)
which would kick off the methodology discussions for the provider investments. DHCS

secured federal approval of the amended tax in January, prior to the change in federal
administration.

33

20



¢ Due to the implementation delays, there is growing skepticism! around the ability for
DHCS to maximize federal funding for the Proposition 35 rate increases, especially in CY
2025.

* On April 14, DHCS hosted the first stakeholder committee (‘PAHCA SAC”) meeting and
requested feedback from the industry on methodologies to spend the funding.

* During the week of April 21, CHA and the various hospital constituency associations (e.g.,
DHLF, CCHA, CAPH) met to discuss the hospital recommendations to DHCS on how to
spend 2025 and 2026 funding.

*  On April 25, CHA submitted to DHCS comments on how to best allocate Proposition 35
funding in 2025 and beyond. Attached is the letter.

» Notably, due to the implementation delays, the recommendation to DHCS for 2025 is to
pursue a state-only grant program that both recognizes the need to get payments to
hospitals in a timely manner and avoids additional federal approval.

Disposition: For your information.

Attachments:
1) AB 533 (Flora) DHLF Support Letter
2) CHA’s Letter to DHCS on Prop 35
3) AB 356 (Patel) DHLF & ACHD Opposition Letter

' CalMatters reported (Newsom administration misses Prop. 35 Medi-Cal rate deadline - CalMatters) that

DHCS has missed key deadlines to secure a January 1st implementation date for fee-for-service rate
increases.

34

21



May 13, 2025

To: DHLF Board of Directors

From: - J.P. Marion, DHLF

Subject: Regulator Spotlight: Department of Healthcare Access and Information (HCAI)

Objective:  To spotlight for the board HCAP’s increasing role as a regulatory entity within the
State of California.

Background:

Over the last several years, HCAI’s budget and regulatory role in the State of California has been
growing significantly. California Health & Human Services Agency has been assigning more and
more high-profile initiatives to the organization.

HCAT’s budget and position authority in the chart (below) illustrates since 2016, the department’s
budget has nearly quadrupled from approximately $150 million to over $580 million. Likewise,
position authority has nearly doubled from roughly 450 to 824. This additional budget and
position authority is a result of several new program’s that have expanded the scope of HCAI’s
work into a broader landscape of healthcare policies and initiatives.

Department of Health Care Access and Information (HCATY
Ten-Year Expenditure and Position Summary

Bvid 8300 0
- ”
300 ” £700.000
A\ A
700 / 7 A
] \ _.-/’ - L0060 L00
500 £
L0000 Z
z 5009 =
£ - Lneey S
£ wie =
sipogn 2
300 =
S (G0
2000
1076 LLOD.LD
00 Yo

201617 2017-18 2018-10 201800 200321 202122 202231 202323 MOM-25 22506
Actual Actual Achial Acmal  Acual Actal Actual Actual Revised Proposed

mmm Cene:y! Tund C— Fesdery Funds C— Otker Fundc @ e Total Auntborized Poutions

35

39



re Pri n ryi
In the past HCAI had offices focused on four core areas of concern:

1) Office of Statewide Hospital Planning & Development (OSHPD) - Responsible for all
hospital construction plan review and ensuring hospitals are compliant with SB1953
seismic regulations.

2) Office of Information Services (OIS) - Oversees several programs that require healthcare
facilities to submit financial and patient outcomes data routinely and makes this
information publicly available.

3) Office of Healthcare Workforce (OHW) - Administers several funding and grant programs
to healthcare facilities and healthcare providers with the goal to expand the healthcare
workforce in California.

4) Office of Health Facilitv | oan Insurance (QOHFL D - Loan guaranty programs to not-for-
profit and governmentally owned health facilities for the purpose of constructing,
expanding, or renovating healthcare facilities.

Over the last 5 years, HCA! has expanded into two new offices, and added several additional
programs to existing core offices.

New HCA[ Offices and Programs:
5) Office of Health Care Affordability (OHCA) - which this board has been briefed in other

memos and updates.
6) CalRX — which was authorized to develop, produce, and distribute generic drugs and sell
them at a low cost.

e CalRX’s first focus was on a biosimilar insulin initiative to make versions of
common insulin products more affordable than what Californians and their health
insurers have to pay in their current marketplace.

e Second, CalRX focused on a naloxone access initiative, to make naloxone more
widely available and easier to obtain through a direct-to-consumer website.

e Lastly, CalRX is responsible for the implementation of the Diaper Access Initiative,
which would create a program to provide three months of free diapers for every
baby born in California, regardless of income.

HCAI has also absorbed new programs within its existing core offices over the last five years as
well:

e OIS isimplementing the heare P n ( ) program, which will establish
an all-payer claims database, a large research database of claims and encounters,
e OIS is working on the Health j res Reporting program, which requires hospitals

to submit a report annually showing outcomes data by race, ethnicity, language, disability
status, sexual orientation, gender identity, and payor.

¢ OHW leads a variety of existing workforce related programs to help repay student loans,
or fund residency programs for hospitals, but also is implementing the BH Connect
Workforce Initiative, which will provide student loan repayment programs for providers
committing to enter the behavioral health profession. This includes a program that creates
a new non-licensed practitioner called a certified wellness coach.

36

40



* OHFLI was responsible for the administration of the Distressed Hospital Loan Program,

which provides $300 million in emergency loan to financially distressed hospitals. Nine

DHLF member hospitals benefitted from this program, receiving over half of the funding.

* OHFLI and OSHPD are working together on the Hospi ief
(SRHRP), which offers small and rural hospitals the opportunity to receive grants to help
fund efforts toward achieving seismic compliance. Related, both offices are charged with

helping to administer the seismic extensions to district hospitals under the passage of
AB869.

We discuss this information and the programs to illustrate that HCAI is becoming a larger
regulator within California’s Health and Human Services umbrella. There are more and more
regulatory requirements rising from HCAI’s responsibilities each year that hospitals will need to
monitor and comply with. Additionally, we hope that there will be more opportunities like the
workforce programs and SRHRP that hospitals and providers can take advantage of.

Next Steps:

® AsHCAI continues to expand their role, we will be monitoring more of HCAI’s programs
as they may impact current and future reimbursement methods and the overall financial
wellbeing for district hospitals.

e DHLF foresees there will likely be the need to increase advocacy efforts on new issues in
the future as HCAI continues to grow.

* We’ll continue to share more information and discuss HCAI programs at our bi-weekly
CFO meetings. This will include Q&A sessions and sharing opportunities for hospitals to
amplify their concerns.

* DHLF will work closely with ACHD and CHA on HCAI issues as concerns arise with any
potential new programs or legislation.

Disposition: For your information.

37

41



HUMAN RESOURCES DASHBOARD 2025

DEPARTMENTAL METRICS January February March Aprit YTD(Jan-April)
# Employees 704 705 705 707 705
# New Hires 13 5 6 9 33
# Terminations 9 6 8 7 30
Overall Turnover 1.3% 0.9% 1.1% 1.0% 4.25%
Nursing Turnover 0.73% 1.45% 2.9% 1.5% 6.60%
Terms By Union January February March April YTD(Jan-April)
The California Nurses Association (CNA)
1 2 4 2 9
National Union of Healthcare Workers (NUHW)
5 3 3 2 13
California License Vocational Nurses (CLVN)
0 0 0 0 0
Engineers and Scientists of California (ESC)
0 0 1 0 1
Non-Union
3 1 0 3 7
Terms By Reason (V=Voluntary & IV= Involuntary) January February March April YTD(Jan-April)
Personal (V} 3 2 5 3 13
New Opportunity(V) 2 2 1 1 6
Retirement (V) 0 1 1 0 2
Schedule (V) 0 0 0 1 1
Job Abandonment {V) 0 0 0 1 1
No Reason Given (V) 0 0 0 0 0
Relocating (V) 1] 1 1 0 2
School (V) 0 0 0 0 0
No Show (V) 0 0 0 0 0
RIF(IV) 0 0 0 0 0
Performance (IV) 4 0 0 1 5

38



Patient Care Services

e Nurses’ Week

Chief Nursing Officer Report

May 2025

e Increased census at SNFs

Quality, Regulatory, and Infection Prevention

e Revamp Falls Program
e May 5™ — International Hand Hygiene Day
e Surgical Services Data

o Press Ganey

CNO Dashboard April 2025
April 2025 |Budget - Year Actual -YTD

Description April 2025 Budget Actual | To Date Total
ED Visits 2,378 2,274 22,296

ED Admission % 10%> 6.00% 10%>
LWBS % <2.0% <2.0%
Door to Provider 10 min 10 min

MS admissions 110 1,056

ICU admissions 21 159
Deliveries 30 324

OR Inpatient 34 342
ASC/OP Cases 58 470

Gl 109 917

Within 10% of Target

39



OR cases by Service Line

Year 2025 2025 2025
FEB MAR APR
GENERAL SURGERY 21 37 29
ORTHOPEDIC TOTAL 36 25 32
PODIATRY - 1 e
TOTAL JOINTS 0] 1 1
UROLOGY 5 C 2
OB/GYN TOTAL 23 24 40
C/SECTIONS 6 S 13
ENT TOTAL 2 C 2
Gl TOTAL 114 54 92
ASC 106 51 89
orP 6 3 2
P 2 0] 1
Total Cases 201 140 197
Year 2024 2024 2024
FEB MAR APR
GENERAL SURGERY 37 25 48
ORTHOPEDIC TOTAL 11 22 19
PODIATRY 7 3
TOTAL JOINTS 0
UROLOGY 0
OB/GYN TOTAL i8 32 24
C/SECTIONS & 12 7
ENT TOTAL 2 0 0
GI TOTAL 68 84 107
ASC 0 o} 0
or (o) 0 0
P 0 0 0
| Total Cases 136 165 136

Orthopedic Cases Emergency vs Elective 6 month look back

2024 2025
NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR
TOTAL CASES 29 35 29 36 25 32
Emergency 14 i3 16 15 10 13
Elective/OP 15 22 13 21 15 19

40



50.00%
80.00%
70.00%
60.00%
50.00%
40.00%
30.00%
20.00%
10.00%

0.00%

s 2023
s 2024
- 2025

Hospital Likelihood to Recommend

1st QTR
80.88%
48.23%
67.27%

2nd QTR
52.38%

69.44%

j
3rd QTR 4th QTR
56.41% 65.15%
57.32% 66.00%

41



BOARD OF DIRECTORS
DISTRICT FACILITIES & SERVICE DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

THURSDAY, MAY 15, 2025
4:00 P.M. - GREAT ROOM

MINUTES

1. CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL:
Devon Pack called the meeting of the District’s Facilities & Service Development Committee to order at 4:03p.m.

COMMITTEE MEMBERS:

Devon Pack, Board Vice President in Attendance
Nick Gabriel, DO, Board Secretaty

Mary Casillas, VP, Chief Executive Officer in Attendance
Mark Robinson, VP, Chief Finance Officer in Attendance
Amy Breen-Lema, VP, Clinics, Ambulatory & Physicians Setvices in Attendance
Karen Descent, VP Chief Nursing Officer in Attendance
Suzie Mays, VP Information & Strategic Services in Attendance
Doug Mays, Senior Director, Support Services in Attendance
Tina Pulido, Facilities Administrative Support Supetvisor in Attendance

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES:

The minutes of the District’s Facilities & Service Development Committee of February 20, 2025 were reviewed by the
Committee.

III. UPDATE ON PROPOSED PROJECTS:

HHH Radiology Imaging Pad (Doug M.)

Doug M. reported that we are looking for a temporary location for an imaging trailer. After discussions with
HCALI, any mobile unit put in any location for more than 30 days must be treated as a permanent structure. Per
code it also has to be a minimum of 30 feet from the hospital. We are working with our Architect to come up
with final numbers to bring this project to the Administrative Team.

IV. UPDATE ON CURRENT PROJECTS:

PAGE | 10f2

HHH Boiler Replacement (Doug M.)
Doug M. repotted that the installation portion of this project has been completed; we are currently waiting on
the finalized documents from HCAL

HHH Lab Analvzer Validation Phase 1 (Doug M.)
Doug M. reported that the validation process is ongoing and estimated to be completed by June.

HHH Lab Analyzer Replacement Phase 2 (Doug M.)

Doug M. reported that this project has already gone to the Board for approval, The Core Group won bid. We
are finalizing the contract with our Attorney and should be starting the project as soon as it’s completed. Amy
L. will be assisting with Project Management and the Attorney to get the contract completed. Mary C. inquired
if we are still in budget and Doug M. stated, yes. Estimated time for the project to statt is the end of June.

HHH OR Waiver (Doug M.)
Doug M. reported that due to the cutrent system in the main hospital OR’s it is difficult to keep the humidity

and temperature in compliance. We received a waiver from CDPH to use the ASC for all inpatient and
outpatient surgeries. The waiver expires in January 2026. In order to get an extension on the Flex waiver, we
must have an approved project submitted with HCAI before the January 2026 expiration date.

42



e Hugs Infant Alarm Upgrade (Doug M.)
Doug M. reported that before we can start this project we have to complete the Wifi upgrade that was previously

approved by the Board. The Wifi access points have been completed throughout the hospital. The Hugs system
documents have been submitted to HCAI to start the project.

V. UPDATE ON PENDING PROJECTS:

e HHH Lab Analyzer Replacement Phase 3 (Doug M.)
Doug M. reported that we are in the planning and design stages with Treanor.

e HHH Lab Analyzer Replacement Phase 4 (Doug M.)
Doug M. reported that we are in the planning and design stages with Treanor.

¢ HHH CT Scanner Replacement (Doug M.)
Doug M. reported that before we can start planning this project we will have to address the mobile trailer and
trailer pad.

VI. UPDATE ON MASTER PLAN:
e SPC-4d (Doug M.)
Doug M. reported the following:

1) Small and Rural Hospital Relief Program Application (PIN 71)
Doug M. reported that we received notification on 5/14 from HCALI that we have been awarded

a $185,000 grant for reimbursement for the monies spent so far on design fees. HCAI also said
if we obtain cost estimates from contractors, we can initiate another grant application. As part of
the Seismic compliance plan we are required to have a water rationing plan in place. We are
working on the plan with our Architect.

VII. PUBLIC COMMENT:

There was no public comment.

VIII. OTHER BUSINESS:

There was no other business.

VII. ADJOURNMENT:
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 4:18 PM. The next Facilities Committee
meeting is scheduled for June 19, 2025 at 4:00pm.

DISTRICT FACILITIES & SERVICE DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, MAY 15, 2025, 4:00PM
PAGE | 20f 2

43



-

Hazel Hawkins

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

REGULAR MEETING OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE
SAN BENITO HEALTH CARE DISTRICT
911 SUNSET DRIVE, HOLLISTER, CALIFORNIA
MONDAY, MAY 19, 2025 - 4:30 P.M.
SUPPORT SERVICES BUILDING, 2" FLOOR - GREAT ROOM

San Benito Health Care District is a public agency that serves as a responsive, comprehensive health care

resource for its patients, physicians and the community.

. Call to Order

. Review Financial Updates

¢ Financial Statements — April 2025

¢ Finance Dashboard — April 2025

e Supplemental Payments — April 2025

. Consider Recommendation for Board Approval of Commercial Lease Agreement with Ben Carota.
e Report

e Committee Questions

e Motion/Second

. Consider Recommendation for Board Approval of Hospitalists Panel Service Agreements with Natalie
LaCorte Medical Corporation; Cristian Carrillo, DO, Medical Group; Saiham Shahabuddin, MD,
Professional Corporation; Sepulveda, MD, Corporation; Claire Hartung, MD, Inc.; Jiwu Sun, MD, Inc;
J. Deutsch, MD, MPH.

e Report
e Committee Questions
e Motion/Second

. Consider Recommendation for Board Approval of Medical Director of Hospitalist Services Agreement
with Natalie LaCorte Medical Corporation.

* Report

e Committee Questions

e Motion/Second

44



o

Hazel Hawkins

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

6. Consider Recommendation for Board Approval of Virtual Inpatient Services Agreement with Omnibus
Medical Corporation.

e Report
o Committee Questions
e Motion/Second

7. Consider Recommendation for Board Approval of Professional Services Agreement for Anesthesia
Services with Igbal M. Mirza, MD.

® Report
e Committee Questions
e Motion/Second

8. Public Comment

This opportunity is provided for members of the public to make a brief statement, not to exceed
three (3) minutes, on matters within the jurisdiction of this District Board Committee, which are
not on this agenda.

9. Adjournment

The next Finance Committee meeting is scheduled for Monday, June 23, 2025 at 4:30 p.m.

The complete Finance Committee packet including subsequently distributed materials and presentations is
available at the Finance Committee meeting and in the Administrative Offices of the District. All items appearing
on the agenda are subject to action by the Finance Committee. Staff and Committee recommendations are subject
to change by the Finance Committee.

Notes: Requests for a disability-related modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, to
attend or participate in a meeting should be made to District Administration during regular business hours at 831-
636-2673. Notification received 48 hours before the meeting will enable the District to make reasonable
accommodations.

45



San Benito Health Care District
A Public Agency
. 911 Sunset Drive
L qzel Hollister, CA 95023-5695

Hawkins : (831) 637-5711

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL
SKILLED NURSING FACILITIES
HOME HEALTH AGENCY

May 19, 2025

CFO Financial Summary for the District Board:

For the month ending April 30, 2025, the District’s Net Surplus (Loss) is $2,900,798 compared to a
budgeted Surplus (Loss) of $282,394. The District exceeded its budget for the month by $2,618,404.

YTD as of April 30, 2025, the District’s Net Surplus (Loss) is $18,917,342 compared to a budgeted
Surplus (Loss) of $5,733,952. The District is exceeding its budget YTD by $13,183,390.

Acute discharges were 176 for the month, exceeding budget by 17 discharges or 11%. The ADC was
17.07 compared to a budget of 12.41. The ALOS was 2.91. The acute I/P gross revenue exceeded
budget by $2.13 million (38%) while O/P services gross revenue exceeded budget by $2.05 million or
7% over budget. ER I/P visits were 141 and ER O/P visits were under budget by 119 visits or 5%. The
RHCs & Specialty Clinics treated 3,869 (includes 680 visits at the Diabetes Clinic) and 1,089 visits
respectively.

Other Operating revenue exceeded budget by $2 million due to:
1) $1,662,893 accruals for prior year (IGT) settlements and current year (Direct) HQAF funding.

2) $322,437 accruals for AB 113 NDPH funding for interim SFY 2024-25 and final payment
SFY 2023-24.

Operating Expenses were slightly over budget by $830,885 due mainly to: Registry of $350,670
(partially offset by savings in Benefits of $118,187 and Pro Fees of $75,684). Supplies and Purchased
Services were over budget by $190,421 and $368,250 respectively due mainly to the increase I/P ADC.
Non-operating Revenue was slightly under budget by $7,891 due to the timing of donations.

The SNFs ADC was 90.93 for the month. The Net Surplus (Loss) is $121,217 compared to a budget of
$126,809. YTD, the Net Surplus (Loss) is $1,411,194 exceeding its budget by $486,439.

Healith, Compassion & Innovation

46



Date: 05/12/25 @ 1802
User: SDILAURA

PAGE 1

HAZEL HAWKINS MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

HOLLISTER, CA

For the month ended 04/30/25

CURR MONTH PRIOR MONTH POS/NEG PERCENTAGE PRIOR YR

04/30/25 03/31/35 VARIANCE VARIANCE 06/30/24
CURRENT ASSETS
CASH & CASH EQUIVALENT 25,090,781 25,095,439 (4,658) 0 35,145,624
PATIENT ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 68,197,801 68,985,068 (787, 266) (1) 67,848,785
BAD DEBT ALLOWANCE {6,911,622) (6,664,522} (247,101) 4 (9,487,617)
CONTRACTUAL RESERVES (40,186,954) (41,186,856) 999,902 (2} (46,279,766}
OTHER RECEIVABLES 14,347,594 10,810,983 3,536,612 33 5,931, 344
INVENTORIES 4,450,623 4,480,022 (29,399) (1) 4,496,070
PREPAID EXPENSES 2,146,613 2,068,257 78,1356 4 1,775,026
DUE TO\FROM THIRD PARTIES (181,860} (181,860} 1] ] 200,709
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 66,952,977 61,406,530 3,546,446 6 59,630,175
ASSETS WHOSE USE 1S LIMITED
BOARD DERSIGNATED FUNDS 6,831,277 6,560,960 270,317 4 3,512,919
TOTAL LIMITED USE ASSETS 6,831,277 6,560,960 270,317 4 3,512,919
PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT
LAND & LAND IMPROVEMENTS 3,370,474 3,370,474 0 0 3,370,474
BLDGS & BLDG IMPROVEMENTS 100,098,374 100,098,374 0 0 100,098,374
BQUIPMENT 45,795,086 45,619,351 175, 73S 0 44,435,024
CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 4,215,687 3,920,450 295,237 8 1,391,964
GROSS PROPERTY, PLANT, AND BQUIPMENT 153,479,621 153,008,649 470,972 0 149,297,836
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION (97,726,404} (97.394,466) (331,939) 0 (94,409,166)
NET PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT 55,753,216 55,614,183 139,033 0 54,888,670
OTHER ASSETS
UNAMORTIZED LOAN COSTS 339,037 344,948 (S, 911) (2) 398,148
PENSION DEFERRED OUTFLOWS NET 7,038,149 7.038,149 0 0 7,038,149
TOTAL OTHER ASSETS 7,377,186 7,383,097 (5,911) 0 7.436,297
TOTAL UNRESTRICTED ASSETS 136,914,655 132,964,770 3,949,885 3 125,468,061
RESTRICTED ASSETS 129,318 128,056 462 0 127,119
TOTAL ASSETS 137,043,973 133,093,626 3,950,347 3 125,595,180

47




Date: 05/12/25 @ 1802
User: SDILAURA

PAGE 2

HAZEL HAWKINS MEMORIAL BOSPITAL

HOLLISTER, CA
For the month ended 04/30/25

CURR MONTH PRIOR MONTH POS/NEG PERCENTAGE PRIOR YR
04/30/25 03/31/25 VARIANCE VARIANCE 06/30/24

CURRENT LIABILITIES
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 6,075,545 5,844,195 (231,351) 4 8,572,685
ACCRUED PAYROLL 2,379,968 1,962,385 (417,583} 21 5,824,977
ACCRUED PAYROLL TAXES 446,926 400,782 (46, 144) 12 1,608,471
ACCRUED BENEFITS 5,259,732 5,144,259 {115,472) 2 6,695,829
OTHBR ACCRUED EXPENSES 72,081 65,338 {(6,742) 10 89,559
PATIENT REFUNDS PAYABLE 13,857 1,470 (12,387) 843 12,920
DUE TO\FROM THIRD PARTIES S,356,466 5,253,960 (102,506) 2 2,355,584
OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 975,050 822,746 (152, 304) 19 611,755
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 20,579,624 19,495,135 (1,084,489) 6 25,771,780
LONG-TERM DEBT
LEASES PAYABLE 4,649,094 4,655,976 6,882 0 5,107,486
BONDS PAYABLE 29,921,921 29,950, 441 28,520 [ 31,742,121
TOTAL LONG TERM DEBT 34,571,015 34,606,417 35,402 ] 36,849,607

smzsmmmgzmsa amazwcasssas =msmazssssas zzazaszass szzsazazam=z
OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
DEFERRED REVENUE 0 0 0 0 0
LONG-TERM PENSION LIABILITY 23,814,514 23,814,514 0 Q 23,814,514
TOTAL OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 23,814,514 23,814,514 Q 0 23,814,514

scnessswswns ammsenam=sas ssssemassz=a= msmmmmaz=s sessnszsmmsa
TOTAL LIABILITIES 78,965,153 77,916,066 (1,049,087) 1 86,435,901
NET ASSETS:
UNRESTRICTED FUND BALANCE 39,064,686 39,064,686 0 ] 39,064,686
RESTRICTED FUND BALANCE 96,792 96,330 (462) 1 94,593
NET REVENUE/ (EXPENSES) 18,917,342 16,016,544 (2,900,798} 18 0
TOTAL NET ASSETS 58,078,820 55,177,560 (2,901.260) S 319,159,279

smazamsssssa ==sszsszzzzas sezmxozsz=sex PrTT T T cazmacasmzas
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 137,043,973 133,093,626 (3,950,347 3 125,595,180

azzsssszzzax

48




v'zet'e B8T9°S9Z’ST 60€°b9Z°T (ZLe'o) §7Z°'929'¢ (618°L9) 90V 855 'L (SSOT) AWOONI ONILVNHAO LAN

SLE'TYL'R €09 9¢8°260°€CT
OFE’L90°8TT 3 628°26€'C 90€°0¢5 €T SET'£96 ‘92T $6€°L8T°T1 L 509'199 €9g‘zLe et 896 °€LZ'ET SESNEAXE TYLOL
»eS°LOE 'Y 9 950 °LST 96L'LEC'Y I8 ¥ES ¥ 6L 0N Lz 0SE'STT LZY BTy LLL'EYS ¥AHLO
080°ZLY av TSEVET 6Ly '6LZ TEB'ETY 413} (SET} (LEY'LE) LEL‘Le (0oL'6) LSTYLINI
S9¥'9€Z 't [39] ($T8°¥YT) oLL'veL'C 9¥6'691'¢ 8zz'9t¢E [} (xez’'n) LLy'8TE 96T L1E JUOWN ? NOILVIDZ@¥Jaq
6LT'98E°Y 6 s§8 €L 6LL'TLY'T ¥€9°909°'T 3121 s z50°'¢ ZYE'SYT ¥6€°'2ST TVINZY
655'550 ' 11 [} $85°0€0°T LSE E6T TT Z¥6 "€ZEET 008492 T ve LOE ELE oe¥’'PIT’T oL LY’y S3AOLAYSS QEASVHOUNA
681T°LES 0T ot 868°LT0°Y EET 590 0T T€0 €90 'IT TE5°580°T 0z [X448-1:11 993°8T0°1 698'922't S3I117440S
€¥E'T96°ST (s) (LL0°Z50) 0¥ YL’ 9T E¥E'06E ST 6LL'S8S°T (s) (8LL'se) 626°209°T TSTL2s'T Sadd TYNOISSHAOUd
$86'696 ‘0L (9} (178081 24 ¢} €0¥ 0LT ‘€T LELTTTL'TIT 066°'18Z°Z (L) (SYT'¥L1) EIT'¥SE‘T 896 '6L1'T SLIJENEE ZBACTANS
9LE'IVS '€ [13¢ ¥60°S90°¢€ 9Ts'ZET'T 0TLLEC'S 9¥T '12ZS 991 (14 N1 14 LLe'8ze 89609 AULSIORY
YLE VLS 9y () (€9€°16) €15'T€2' TS 0ST'0ZE'0S SSSYES'Y T S06°59 SEE'EET'S o¥8‘86T°S SIOYM I SATUVIVE
‘SESNIENY OMILVUELO
Yi8'608 ‘921 [3 ¥0L 'S8y 9T BY0 E¥L'SZT ZSL'8TT TYL YOL 1SY'C1 8z 0£8'LBY'E ¥yS ' ¥0E ‘2T YLE ZEL'ST INNIASY ONILVISIO LIN
¥80°PEL'S 86 9sL'ILE'S 0T8°'8LY ‘S 995°'168'0T 206 'LES L€ 981°800°2 T08°LYS L90'955°2 SONSASY ONILY4EJO WSHLO
0EL°SL0'TITT 6 £%6°TTTTT 9€z ‘¥9z ‘021 LT LLETET [2 78 Rk 4 ¢ £1 r¥9°6L¥’T €99°95L 1T LOE'9EZET FNNAATE INHILVd JIN
L96°LSE LYT v STT'666'8 SST'BY¥L'LYT 08€ 'LYL'9ST £0L T¥0'ST z1 98€'LLB’T 550 °2Z¥1'¥2 TYP'610°L2 SNNIASY WO¥d SNOILONAAA TYLOL
SPY RS 0 0 [ 0 (06%'%Z) 0 0 0 0 MOTTY TVLLOVALNOD SA3d\LSITVLIdSOH
SeS'STY oY 9 856 °€8L'T 90S 'EBZ €V »Iv ' (L90°9¥ A 14827982 T ETL 90V 9TE ST’y 6Z0°TSL'Y SLNBWLSALTY GNY STYALOVELNOD YIHILO
0T 6LE [£19] (§9€ ‘€9) €€9°06¢ 89Z 'LZE 06882 (£L) (815 'L2) osv¥'ot AV ALIYVID
LS8'9€E'S [ 13 [ 1248 TTRAY TZL'O¥Z'S TI9E°'966°9 8€9°ZTY 8¢ voL 96V €5T°800°T FSNEdXE lesd ave
991'L18'L6 0 0T9 1€ §66°158'06 $09°¢86'96 ¥65°96L°6 (z) (81E°'€ST) 09€£°699°6 ZY0'96% 6 SAONYMOTTY TVALOVEINGD TYO-IqaW
S6L'¥SR 06 S 8L'88Y ‘Y 006 "106 ‘66 T89°0LV ' VOT 1L8'€88’6 z soR‘ZL0‘L 296'6L9°6 9L TSL T SEONYMOTTY TYALOVELNOD SYVOIdEW
TAANBASN WO¥d SNOILONABA
L69EE€6 ‘B9€ 9 £L1°2TT 02 £6€°ZT0 '89¢€ 996 ' ¥21 08¢ ¥ZY 556 °LE zt 0€0 'LSE'Y 8L 968 'St ve'Ssz oY SNNIASY INAILYE SS0D TYLOL
STT'860°2LT 9 LED'LEY'DT 0£2°999°'SLZ L90'Y0E ‘262 8LZ '98€ ‘62 @ T1€6°6%0°2 692'T88'LL 0ZZ°'1L6'62 AANEASY LNATLVALNO SSOND TYIOL
Z6€°' 969 0 0 [} 0 zL6'801 (4 0 [} 0 8NNFASY d\O SU3d\JLSITYLIdSOH
€EL E0T TLT 9 LEB'LES'IT 0€Z'999 5L L90 ' v0€ ‘ZT6Z 90€°LLT 6T ¢ TE6°6¥0°Z 682 '189°LZ 0ZZ'TE6'62 ANNIATY INSIIVWALNO AYVITIONV
ZLSSE0 96 [ LEE'WLY'E €91 99¢ ‘26 005°'029°56 9¥T’695'8 62 660°L0€'T 6Z% 825°vZE 01 SNNIASY INEILVANI SSO¥D TYLOL
z656'8L9°1 0 0 0 0 8L5'651 [ 0 0 0 HONSASY d\I 508d\LSITVLIISOR
TTL'909°0Y 9 TeYLe’e 09Z'98T°0Y T8E €05 ZY SYr'0€8't 9¢ ST €01 S26°9%E‘¢C 9L 695 Y SONIASY INRILVARI AYVTTIONV
891966 '02 z B0L'OTY T05°905'61 0TZ 'LT6'6T 00%'LTB'T € 129'0S 6251002 0ST°'8S0°Z SANIASY SNILNOY dANS
THTSLTE z 805'9vL T0¥ €59 °Z¢C 606 '66€ €€ €TL'I9L'T or LTE'ESO'T SLE'ESY'T zoL'9TL'E ANNAATY ENILOOYW HLNOV
tANNBASY INSILVS SSO¥D
¥Z/08/%0 ZONVINYA TONVCTUVA sT/0¢/%0 ST/06/%0 ¥Z/0€/%0 TOUVIEVA SONVIUVA $T/08/¥ ST/0€/%0
4X WOIuL INEDUR OZN/804 i¥pang TOIDY WX oINd IREDuRd oEM/$04 LEDCOQ IOV
e o GING-OL-UVBA=---=----eeereemmvcemacecamacc]  fessoecccmciccceiooiicaoae o HLMON IMEWMOD- - ---------mvosmsmsomececooaa]|

SZT/05/9%0 GOIWEd 8Od
£20S6 WO ’¥ELSITION
CGENISNCD - TNLIJSON TVISONEN SNINNVE TEIVE

VIAWIIAS ‘2980

T 89vd €08Y & SZ/TT/S0 :93eQ

49




ALITTET  AWLB 4957y 106 €1 439 1T 1967 00¢L 200791 L0€°2 UERT NISNWW (SSO1) SNTJ¥AS 1IN
2609 29T TZS  AT0°6 agL1 RELTOT wr's A(LO°6€0°E) %5791 1(55°0) 20291 NID¥VI ONILVYIO
Tt AYSTZTET IS8 AzY'9 196 VT 19¥ €1 3€9°SLE 4§9°ST Ty 12861 NIOHWW VaI€3
STT PSP DT §  R€0°€9T £6C°69T'ET §  ZIB'LLO'® $  SOZ'LYZ'TZ §  TSY'OTE'L § ALY OIS £ZTLT' se9'zIs  § trR'ez’E $ vaies
anSTEEESETES]  «4TISESS]  sesSsEEESEER SeenEsseean S WS o R sEssEsssssss
SE9'ST6°TT (154 06€'€BT €T TS6°EEL'S ZVE'LT6 8T TY0°995°1 Lz6 YOy '8TI9°Z vee z8T 864°006°Z (S807) SNIdUNS 1IN
T9TELTE € STS’06 01Z°195°¢€ SZL'TS9'€ zeL €0t (2 (xze*e) €re ose z6g TYE (85NBAXE) /INNBASY DNILVYSJO-NON TYIOL
0 0 o 0 o o 0 0 0 o SNOLLNEIAINGD NOTIVOEV110D
(60Z"'¥) e6L ° 86L° VT [ 0zL'Y 0 ozL't SHODNI INSWLSIANT
(989 '91¢) 0 toze) (0€Y"£92) (0T ‘89¢) (05082} 0 T (159 'z2) (059'22) 2SNAAXS WESO-NON ¥BRLO
0 (1s) 080 €51 620°'6ST 998 ‘2zt (62} (zys'y) 806 'ST 99€°TT FONIATY WAS0-NON UFRLO
(T12°009) 0 (v} (078°059) (v18'059) (124 "89) 0 0 (180°59) (180°59) SSNBAXI\IONIATY INI ONOE 0D
9L8°C0L T 0 3] 0ST‘65¢L°Y 8vT 65L°T LITH T2 0 o ST6'SLT ST6°SLT SEXVL dO¥d ONOE 0D
0T LS0'Z 0 0 ozz Y’z 0zZ TIV'Z TTL'S0Z 0 0 (149841 1334841 ANNEAZE XYL ALYEO¥d
2734 1 4] v65'9L 000‘0ST ¥65 9L 9€S ' T1 toot) (000 °S) 000°s [} SNOLLVNOG
: ISNSJXE\SNNIATY DNILVHES0-NON
’T/08/90 LOUVITAVA ZOMCTAVA sz/0e/v0 ST/0€/90 ve/08/%0 EOUVIUVA ZTONVTEVA sz/o0c/v0 ST/0€/%0
W ¥oTed P~ T oan/g0d 2zpang TeOLOV W WOTW mzoesd ispaog VALY
-EIVG-OL-GVER--=-=-==--==wmesmcnnemncaocnns]  |ececcanccnc oot cen e - RLNON KMICEA)- - == - e o e s s meeocsenaconnoon]

$T/0€/%0 QOIEEL WOd

€20S6 W 'ERISITION
AEMIEN0O - TVIIJSOR TVISOMEN EXIANVE 'TEIVR

¢ 39v4

Vanv1Igs G x’en
€081 @ SZ/ZT/S0 :33eg

50



9T6 LYY 'S £18 SE¥'909°21 L90°08§ "1 Z05'9ST YT 887 '990°'T (ot9’1) LTIB'TE9'T (805 °€9T) 60€°89Y'Z (SSO1) 3WOONI ONILVMEdO L3N
69L'698°'001 € 292°'6¥1°€ £56°'T9T°S0T S1Z'11€'801 0SE €201 8 S68'0€8 LBE'606 0T Z6T'O%E‘TT SESNEdXE TYIOL
68y L0L € 2 L2929t S6¥'EBL'E ZZT'9%0'y ¥8Sz8¢ (14 8L9°601 £69°TLE TLE'EBY YSHIO
080 °'ZLY 8y ZSE'YET 6LY'6LT €8 €TV zeE'8 (s€T) (Lev et} LELLe (00L’6) LSSYAINT
T00'2Z¥8 ‘2 0 (Lzs ‘o) 00¥'69L'Z €L8'8LLT £€LLLT 0 (vzr' 1) ovE ‘8LT 918LLE LHOWY ? NOILVIDHNYdSa
€V0ELE’T v BIL'YS 150°29p°T 694 °915°'T 686 Crl (%) (t65°¢) 128214 T69°9¢€T TELNAY
Zvo'otz ot 61 6LL'226'T ZeL ety ot 165 '0%E ‘2T *ETZCT’T 9¢ osz'e9t €L0°820°T (3498 11901 SEDIANAS QRSVHOXNA
89Z'vLS'6 Tt 990 ‘666 SOT'¥OT'6 TLT'E0T 0T 912’866 ¢ TZV' 06T 260°226 £T6°ZTIT'T 5a11ddas
692°6€6°ST () (1Z8°'0S8) ¥90°6TZ'9T €vZ'99€°'ST 696 €8S ‘T (s) (¥89'SL) $29°009°1 TPE¥2ZS'T S84 TYNOISSIIONS
798 v0€ 9T (9 (88L°€90°T) 9L8°TLE LT 880 '606 ‘91 TLL'99L'T () (LoT’'81T) 956'928°T 6§99°90L°T SLIJENSE IBACIINWE
€6L°'C61'E (421 89z ’'se8’z 000°'000'2 892 'S€6'Y z00'09Y SLY 0L9°0S¢€ 000°'002 0L9°0SS XYLSIONY
LT6'691 LE () (ZTr ' pET'T) TUL EET TV 667666 '6E 1L8'609°'¢€ T 068°1S 800°L0T" 868°0ST'Y SIOYM ? SATAVIVS
:SESNAAXE ONILV¥EdO
S89 €15 90T st L69'SGL'ST 020 °Z1. 90T LIL' L9V ZZT 6€9°605°'T1 zZ0L'29%'€ 66L°S¥E 01 105 ‘808 ‘€T FOANEAFY ONILY¥EdO BLNAOV LAEN
¥80°¥EL'S 86 9SL'TLE'S 0T8'8LY'S 995 /15801 z86'LES L9€ 981°800°Z T88°'LYS L90°'955°'C BANIA3Y ONILVYEAO uIHIO
109°6LL 00T o1 1¥6'ZRE 0T O0TZ €EZ'TOT TST'9T9'TTIT LS9 TL6 0T ST 9IS ¥SY'T BYELEL'E ¥EY'ZST'TT INNBATY LNIILVS S1AOV JaN
LO6'EY0 "¥¥T v z6S°'ZIL'D 9€0 ' ¥S0 ' ¥oT 8T '99L ‘25T €9z '8LE VT z1 zoL'2TL'T 816'Z9L €L 0ZL VeV 9z SANSARY WOWd SNOILONGEA 8LADY TYIOL
SYY'YS 0 [ 0 0 (o6¥'v2) 0 0 o [ NOTTV TVALIVEINGD SA8d\LSITYLISSOH
LYS TYO ‘PP 3 zZezT L18’t €SE'¥96 Y SE9'TBL 'SP 96T 6LB ¥ 4 100°'0LY TLY'TET'Y zLvtoL'y SLNZWLSOLGY ANV STVALOVIINGD UTHLO
€90°'9LE (ze) (€08 ' ¥21) £€9°06¢ 0€8°59Z 068 '8Z (€0) (815°L2) 896 'LE os¥’ot TAVD ALINVHD
L96'SYY'9 ve 8RE‘LEL'T TZT06T'S €05°LT6'9 0€L’1ZY £6 559°99% 6¥F ' v0S (1148 777 35NEdXa 18Ed qve
TP 61596 0 ¥LSSEY SZT’'929°'L6 669 19096 69L°'€06°6 (§3] (698 °2Z1) B6T EZS'6 60E'00%'6 SADNYMOTTY TYOLOVELNOD TYD- 1AW
S¥L'909°96 v ZST'LYB'E ¥08°288 L6 956 '6ZL 10T 691°699°6 £ YS¥'9E6°L TE6'TIV'6 98€ 00V 'TT SEONYMOTTY TVALOVELNOD FUYOIGEW
‘ELOV AONZAZY WOYZ SNOILONASA
906 '€28 " voe 9 €€5 56061 9%Z'LOZ ‘S¥E 6LL'TOE " YIE 026 '6¥8 'S¢ zt BTT LLY'Y 9€6 655 €€ ¥STLEL'LE ANNTASY LNSILVG SLAOVY SSOND ‘TVIOL
sT1'R68°2LT 9 LED'LEY'IT 0€£Z°999'SL2 L90 ' ¥0€°'26Z 8.2°99€°62 2 TE6°6¥0°2 687°188°LT 0zZZ '1€6°62 INNAAZY LNIIIVALNO SSO¥D TVIOL
Z6E'v69 0 [ [ 0 zL6'80T 0 0 0 [} ANNIABY d\O LSITYLIASOH
€EL'E0Z'2LT 9 LEB'LE T 0€EZ 999 ‘SL L90°v0€Z62 90€°LLT 62 L TE6'6%0°T ({48 ¢ ' R4 0ZZ'TEE 6T ANNTASY INSILVALNO A¥VITIONV
€8€'526'T¢L v L69'LSY'T 910°1Z9°'69 €TL°8L0°TL ZY9'E9v ‘9 (14 ez LT L¥9'8L9'S ¥E6°'508°L ANNIATY INZILVANT SSOND "TVIOL
TS6°'8LIT [ 0 Q [ 9LS'6ST 0 0 0 (4 FONIASY d\I LSITVLIASOH
689 ¥6Y'LE S 66T'TIL'T ST9'L96’9¢ ¥08 '8L9 ‘8¢ TPEZYS € 9€ 096'€L0°T TLT'STO € 2EZ'680'Y BANSASY INSILYANY XUVTIIONV
vL'TSL'TE z 905 '9%L 0% €59 °2E 606 °'66€°€€C €TLTILT oy LZE'ESO'T SLE'€99°T ZOL'9TL'E IONIAEY INLLOOY
‘SANIASY INZILVd SSO¥D
¥C/05/%0 LORNIAVA TOKVIAVA sz/0€/%0 szT/0c/v0 »T/08/%0 TORVIUYA EOMVINVA sT/0€/%0 ST/0E/%0
WX BOXUL IXBOUBS oZN/804 180008 Ly WA WOred LREIERS pEN/ 804 lspang
-- Sesececaceecnnaccacs cQEVA~OL - UVEK o~ o mr o cnsnanmennesmanannnnn]| [ R

$t/0€/9%0 aoXesEd uod
€056 O ‘YILBITION
ALITIOVE SL0OV - IVIIISOR TVINOMEN SMIANVR TIIVE

1 39vd

VUNYIIAQS ‘3d8n
€087 @ SZ/ZT/S0 :93wQ

51



e

(SSO'T) SO1SENS 13N

98T1°£BS '8 1414 TS6°'969 2T L6T°'608'Y 6P1°905 LT Z6E'69¢€°T L99't 966 '€29°'C §85°961 TS eLL’e
692°'S€6°Z € L1506 OET‘6SZ'C vo'epE’t £90'6LT {€) (Tee'e) €60 °'6T¢ [ 1248444 (ISNEAXE) /BANSASY ONILVYEJO-NON TVLIOL
0 0 o ] [ 0 0 0 0 0 SNOLLNATELNOD NOILVHOEWTTOD
(60Z'y) 86L' Y1 0 6L Y1 0 oTL't 0 ozL't FHOONI LNAWLSEANI
(L00'0¥Z} 0 (ats) (0€8 Loz} (8v9°902) (z9e'1z) o T (£09°LT) (zo9'LT) ASNIAXA YIJO-NON YIKLO
158 '08LT 0 (ts) 080 °6ST 620 '6ST 99621 (62) (zZes'v) 806 'ST 99€°'T1 AONIARY ¥FS0-NON YBHLO
(T1Z'L99) ] (v) (ote‘089) {v18°059) (tzL'89) ] [ {180 °59) {t80°59) ISNAIXT\BONBAYY INI QNOE OO
8L6°€0L‘T 0 {€) 0ST'65L°1 8PT'65L' 1 e8€ 0Lt 0 0 ST6°SLT ST6°SLT SIXYL 40Ud aNOE 0D
0¥S‘BYL’T 0 ] 0¥S 60T o¥S'6¥0°'T 58 VLT 0 0 ¥S6°v0Z ¥56 %02 INNAAZY XYI ALYBdONd
LT6' E¥T 18 ¥65 ‘9L 000°0ST ¥65°92T 8€S°TT (oo1) (000°S) 000°s o SNOILVNOD
‘ASNIdXE\SONEASY ONILWIAJ0-NON
st/o€/ 90 EORVIWVA TOAVIAYA $T/08/%0 YC/0€/%0 TOEVIWNA TONVINVA st/os/vo st/oe/v0
UX ¥OIud NI oER/804 WX WOISd ZIEDTI 1E0a06 ™NOIOY

cecoenco--RLVA-OL-AVER- - -

R T T |

$T/0€/%0 QOIEEd WOl
€20S6 W ‘WALSITION
ALITIOVE ZLOOV - TVIIZPON TVINONEN SNINMVE TXTVH

T 39¥4d

VHONTIAS (1980
€08T ® SZ/Z1/S0 :91EQ

52



rssmcsse

sasssssznsas

0SY 'ZEE (13 6EY 98y SSL'¥Z6 YU TIY'Y 699 'z0Z [12] (265°'5) 608'9Z1 AL AN £4] (S50T) SM14uNS 1IN
z268°'LE2 o {2) 080 ‘Z0¢ 8L0°Z0¢ 699 °vZ 0 4 0zT'TE 0Z1°1E (ASNSdXI) /ANNIATY ONILVHEJO-NON TYIOL
(6L9 0L} 0 (2} (009 '65) (209 '6S) (881°9) 0 0 (8v0's) {8v0°S) ASNEAXH ¥3dO-NON ¥IHLO
0L5'80€ 0 0 089°19¢ 089 '19¢ L58°0¢ 4 ] 891 °9¢ 891°9¢€ SONIAGY X¥L ALYBIOYS
[ o 0 0 o o o [ 0 0 SNOILVNOQ
‘HSNSAXA\SANIATYE ONILVASIO- NON
885 '¥60°¢€ 8L TPV 98y 5L9°229 9TT 6071 0Z0°8LT (9) (z65's) 689 'S6 L60°06 (SS01) FWOONI ONILY¥ESO 13N
1510z Lt T L9S'EvE €S€°80% 8T 02615981 ¥YOP9L’T z tzL0¢ 950°'€98°T LLL'EGE'T SESNIdXE TYIOL
960 °'02S (43] {zes's) 192 9SS 689°8¥S 80Z°8S ot Tey's YEL'¥S S0V ‘09 IKLO
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 [} 1SEYELINI
[ 218 131 {0 (L6z'v} OLE 'S6€ £L0°16¢ S6¥'8T 0 (LST) LES'6€ [114x14 NOLLVIDAYdEd
0ET 1T 9€L LET'6L gzL ot 59868 ¥0S'T [3: 1884 P9 'L 650°'T EOL'ST TYLNSY
L1558 T 908 'LOT $85°5L8 16€'€86 992 °'56 9 LSO0'S Lov'98 ¥9Iv°'16 SEDIA¥ES QISVHOUNd
106 ‘296 z 1€8°81 820196 658°6L6 STE’LD 8t zog Lt ¥55°96 95€ ' ¥IT 58114408
00t 'zz (s) (9s2°'1) 95t ‘€T 0ot 22 otz'e (v) (ve) yoe'‘z 0tz'z $884 TYNOISSEJ0¥d
€TL VB9 'Y () (856 €8¢} L09'LET’S 6€¥9 €18’y 8tz 'S6Y (3441 (956 'S§) LST'LTS 667 1LY SLI4ENZE FEXO1dWE
¥85'SS€ L 928602 919°'T62 Yy 20S [134h¢ ] »ot [ 134414 [A%- ¥ 14 L10°6S AULSIONY
LS0°'S0v'6 z 6¥0 '€2Z zZ08°L60'0T 158°02€ 0T ¥89 ‘vZ6 T 918 ‘€T LZE'920'1 €96 ‘6€0°T SEOYM ¥ SHIYVIVS
:SHSNEAXE ONILVYE4O0
6Z1°967 07 v 800°0€EL BZO'YE0 ‘ST 950 °T9L 6T 590°Z¥6°T t (144814 SYL'0S6'T 9°€86°T BNHEATY ONILVNEAO dNS LEN
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 [ ANNEASY ONILVNEAO YAHLO
§TT'96Z'0Z 1] 800 '0€L 8Z0'TE0 ‘6T 9€0°T9L 61 $90°CT¥6'T It 621'SZ S¥L'8G6°1 PLB'EBE‘T SNNEAZY INSILVd NS 13N
090°%18°¢ ] £E9 982 6T1°'¥69°¢€ ZSL'096°E 6E¥°E9T ve9 ' ¥ST LE0 08¢ TZL'¥ES HANNSASY WOMd SNOILONASA NS TVLOL
€0 'VLE (ov) [§24 98141 €ST 6TE 628 'S8L $00°S9 s Z1L'9% 5¥8°2¢€ LSS'6Y SINBWLSOLOY QNY STYALOVEINGD ¥IHLO
LS0‘¢ [11281¢ 0 14 28 ¢ 0 [ ° (4 [ SUVD ALIAVHD
(TTT'60T) zy z58°02 000°0S Z58 0L (£60°6) 142 6%0'Z¢€ 000°S 6%0°LE ISNBdXd Le8d ave
920°'862'1 (£€) (€96 '€0¥) 0LB'szZ’T L06°1Z8 (ser'eor) [124] (62y°0¢) Z91'921 £EL'SE SAINYMOTTY TVALOVEAINGD TD-IGEW
150'8¥2°2 € 0£9'T¥9 9606602 9zL'OvL 2 €0L VY2 €9 2SE€'9€T 0€0'9TZ z8E'TSE STINYMOTTY TYNLOVELNOD S¥VOIAaW
:dNS SNNSAZY WOXd SNOLLONAEA
06T '0TT ¥ s 0¥9°910'1 Lyr’seLze LBLTIL ST ¥05°S01°Z 8 z18°6LT z8L'8EE°C ¥65°8T5°2 SNNSASY INFTIVE dNS SSOMD TVLIOL
TZ0°TITE 3 Z€6 509 S¥9°'8YZ°¢€ LLS've8’t ro1'882 6€ 181 621 €S2 TEE rYr09Y SNNSASY dNS ANVTTIONY
891866 ‘02 z 80L°'0TY 205°905 61 0TZ 'LI6 6T 00%°'LI8'T £ 1Z9°0S 6Z5°'L00°Z 051°'850°C INNIAFY ANS ENILDOY
‘SONRASY LNSLLVd INS SSOUD
¥Z/0€/%0 FOMVIEVA SONVIAVA ST/0€/V ST/0¢/%0 yz/0¢/%0 TONVIAVA ST/0E/¥ ST/0E/%0
WA WOId INEDEIS DEN/ 804 13000@ INDLOV W 01 oEM/80d gpana
Jorormeee st e - RING~OL ~UVBK - - - - - s - eme-esace EEER | [ EERREEEEEEE LT ~EINON LISNEEOD - - - -----=-===u==

ST/0€/¥0 GOIURL ¥O4
W ERISITION
SEILITIOVS DNISEOM GNTIINS SNINNYE TESVE

T 3DV

WUAVIIQS X380
€06T ® SZ/ZT/50 :93%@

53



N

Hazel Hawkins

AEMOR IPITAL San Benito Health Care District
Hazel Hawkins Memorial Hospital
APRIL 2025
Description MTD Budget MTD Actual YTD Actual YTD Budget FYE Budget
Average Dally Census - Acute 1241 m 14.65 14.90 14.90
Average Daily Census - SNF 88.05 85.00
Acute Length of Stay 234 2.90
€R Visits:
Inpatient 126 1,444
Outpatient 2,252 25,269
Total 2,378 26,713
Days in Accounts Receivable $0.0 52.7 52.7 50.0 50.0
Productive Full-Time Equivalents 521.33 s3921 EEEEEN $sn 521.33
Net Patient Revenue 11,756,663 120,264,238 | 144,649,605
Payment-to-Charge Ratio % m Mm% nm%
Medicare Traditional Payor Mix 26.21% 21% 28.51%
Commercial Payor Mix 2.63% m 21.98% 21.88%
Bad Debt % of Gross Revenue 1.42% 1.42% 1.42%
EBIDA 512,688 3,129,811 21,247,205 8,077,812 9,671,943
EBIDA % 4.17% 19.82 14.947 6.42% 6.40%
Operating Margin -0.55% 1.72% i
Salaries, Wages, Registry & Benefits %:
by Net Operating Revenue 62.71% 61.10%
by Total Operating Expense 62.37% 62.15%
Bond Covenants:
Debt Service Ratio 1.25 5.18
Current Ratio 150 2.00
Days Cash on hand 30.00 100.00
Met or Exceeded Target
Within 10% of Target
Not Within 10%

54



22UBPA

pueH uo yse) patedpng

€€0'525$

rL'SLS'YZS

8r'i9

puBH UO yse) 848( jeuoneBdO

1oulsiqQ 9 uru o} Aep sed 1800

—— —_——
0 182'080'SZ$ 18L'060'5Z8
¥ZO'GrLGE 8Cr'G60'6Z
(eve'vsool) (gs9'y)
[} 0
{zes 8.2°27) ;
[}] 0
IPUOR TTOZ Y 39U0Y TI0T IO BUPURWLY B REPULY 0D V10T (00Z'028'4) (025'82)
(zec'8sy) (zee'9)
(p£0'L¥r'L)
uoReZIIOWY okl'ss LIB'S
Spuoy [T0Z 7 (SOOT) PLOT - WALy 1u) P [REPULY puey amn.Owﬂ.nv pwn.Oth
0 0
{982'18)'Y) (z26'0L9)
(655°25C 6})
SPUOg anUdA3Y TT0Z P OO S00Z - W |*NUUY-jWaAS 06Z £OE
289'000'E 905'Z01L
8cs 1881
(osv'L1) Trl'e
{ogo'zro'e) 881'6.5
0 0
(ovi'26¥'2) L6E'LET
695'28¢ 0
(685°148) (9s¢'8s)
syy'sy 68¢'62
(1sZ'9Lr's) {z19'0e5'c)
(€28'210'6) Sor'ye
we'Le'e 6E6'LEE
Tye'lle'sls §6.'006°C$
SZOZIOCY STOZOLHY
08Qg-o1-188A wuers
WOLNDY LN
SLNSNNGD MOTd HSVD

Poped jo pug ‘ysed
pouad jo Buuibeg ‘used
yse) uj (9386150(2)/088020U| JON
S13SSV Q3L0RLSIY NI 3SYIHOIAAISYIHINI)

SaARDY Buousuyd Jo) peen used N
saninqer] wev) Buo YO Ul (eseasseq)/eseascu)
1qeQ ofebuopy puog uj (988su00Q)essRIOU|
199Q 95997 (ENdRD Ul (9589.00()/RSBAOU|
'SILLALLOY ONIONVYNIJ NOYd SMOT4 HSVD

sepiaRay Bupiseau| Aq pesn yseD 1N
SISSY JBYIO U] 9898:09(1/(08BEIOU)
TRISY 95N PSNWIT JARO Y 9888.000/(9888U0)
SRIGUASIAUL PUS YSED OS] PRILIN U) 9881000/ 98860W)
wewdinb3 pue uely ‘Auedald jo eseyand
SIUNILIV ONILSSANI WOHS SMO1d HSVYD

:SORIARDY BunesedO Aq pepiacid YseD N
SORNIQEIT USLIND JAYO Ul (9889100(])/988I0U}
SONHIGRIY/SONBADY Aled Py L Ul (2889100(])/08880U)
SNqeieg SPUNEY JUSNBJ U (9589.109(0)/8888.0U|
Sasuadxg PaIOY Ul (ISBUDQ)/ASeRIIY|
YUY PUB [josied PANIDY U) (F583106Q)/esEI0U|
9iqeieg SUBOT pUR SIION U! (9889100())/s88IU|
aIgeing FUNOIOY Ui (9582200Q)/@8RR0U|
SRR PIYL WOIJ BNQ U| 959008/ (838850U1)
sosuad)X3 piBd-8id Ul 93€9.00()/(98BOIOW)
SOLOWSAU| U} 9880:09(}/(9820.0U))
SPIQEAIR0DY SO Ul 35B00(/(988.0U)
AGEAIIOY SIUNOIDY WSABJ ION U} 258109/ 0586U0))
uofepeudeq
‘sefipoY Bupesad( Aq pepinaid
YS®D JON O} SUI0OU) JaN OUCIRY O} Sussnipy
($507) awoou) 19N
‘SALIALLOV ONILVYIJO WOUd SMOT4 HSYD

§20Z ‘0¢ Iudy Buipue sipuows uey
v “JeisilioH
[€3)dsOH |epoweW SUpimeH |[ezeH

$Mo|4 yseD jo juswenig

95



¥8Y'PISLT 964'TST'YT
(8EV'SLY'T) {980°060'€)
LL5'690°T 988'558°8
VYYE'0LE'ST 969'S8E’8
£98'906'61 96V'IST VT
£06'vL8'6 9L1'8Z1°8
$Z0Z ‘0€ 3unf yBnosyy Ajauend pawadxy  LL8'TSY'T 0€5'626 SOHQ
*AJUBIBYIP 1503 |ende uo paseg - -
*QLA siuawAed 1D PIE 7B ‘PUT IST P,I9Y £98'VIT'E SDHA
SZOZ ‘0F aunr Aq JuawAed 11b yip -39y 01 paldadxy 129'180°'T SOHO
"$Z0T/LT/90 '8 YTOT/ET/SO 'vTOT/6T/E0 U0 P,321 D PIE B PUT "IST  TEL'BOL'E - SOHO
'YTOT ‘Y 'dIS WY £L5°690'T 145'690'T SOHQ
"STOT ‘LT YIIBWN UO PIARIIY  [TL'EVT'Y §85'7081 SOHa
‘swawied 319349
096'T€0°0T OZE'E20'9
"$Z0T ‘6 13quIaQ uo pred - {980°060'€) PISKg
'$Z0T/80/¥O UO pled  (BEV'ZTT'T) E VUIIO
'$Z0T/9Z/T0 vo pied  (000'ESZ'T) nsIg
‘$THQ 9Y1 AQ pateasd wesBoig MaN SToT Aew uj pajdadx] - £S8°0TL SOHAQ
SZ0Z AR Ui pR13adx] YdJew W 6LE'TYE'TS 10 LOI WSS GLETPET 09Z'11E'Y SOHA
“Aep/|1udv uj pa)dadxa spuny ‘S9°0SE'T68°TS 4O ¥Z0Z ‘9T 'A31 AG LOI  LSL'6SY'E wayuy
*§T0Z Aenugay uj pIARIRY TYL'6EET wayuy
“Aew/ilsdy uj pajdadxa spuny ‘80G'ZLyS JO ¥ZOZ ‘€7 933 Aq LOI  6£1°520'T wayjuy
"§20Z dunf ‘dx3 |udy Ut £6T°¢30°1$ 4O 191 pled 950°L0¥°T HVDD
"aunf/Aew Uy pa1dadxa Spuny ‘BEL'LST'T$ 4O PTOL ‘TT YMBW AQ LDI  BLT'TEPT . wayuy
"TTOT AD 403 9342 £T0T ‘T JIQUWIDAON UO P,531 JUNOWe 1IN 8HS'SOP'T - wayuy
'5Z0Z aun( ‘dx3 "3unf u) P,234 SpUNy ‘15°€88'90SS ‘VT/¥T/¥0 U0 pled  TLY'VEY TOE'SOE SOHQ
‘570z aung 'dx3 ‘3unf u) p,23J SPUNy ‘€9°SZS'9STS ‘WT/LT/POUO Pled  SBL'LOV S6L°6€ SOHO
*win33s SuppPIew 10j Jjem pus weiSosd punj 03 1MISK sANbY
SIION 70T A4 STOZ Ad Johed
(enpy |enpy

sjualuAed [eyuawddng 1N
pred |e10)

Suipuag (ejo}

P3A1333Y |e10)

s{e30) pueso weiloid

19303-qNS 1O-UON

(HSQ) 3seyS euojL0do.ds|q [BI-1PIN -

(IN/4Q) Alnoeg BuisinN ‘Ued Punsiq -

1A (JVOH) pung adueinssy AyjjenD |e}dsoH 6€T 8S -
WA (JYDH) pung 2dueinssy AyjenD |e)dsoH 6€Z 85 -
(4¥DH) pung asueinssy AyjenD jeydsoH 6€Z 8S -
(4vDH) pung adueinssy AyjenD [eydsoH 6€T 8S -
$T-€T0T AS ST6 8V -

1SWeISouyd J9psuRl] [BIUSWLISAOBISIUI-UON

19303-Qns 19§

JudwiAeday ueol S Ad diD -

WwawAeday ueo puz v Ad diD -

dWAedIY UeoT IST ¥ Ad diD -

£20Z AD (dOHQ) S1uawAed paldaq [BNASOH WMISIA -
WAWINNIS 9 Ad dID -

UAWIINIS S Ad dID -

€20 ‘1€ 230 Y8noJy) Z207 ‘T "uer duey ey -
TTOZ ‘1€ "38@ YBnoay) ZZ0Z ‘T "uer Iduey ajey -

707 AD (4VOH) pung dueunssy AjjfenD |eudsoH 6EZ 95 -
€202 AD (3VOH) pung aduesnssy AjjjenD |endsoH 6€Z 8S -
Z20Z AD {4VOH) pund 3dueinssy Ayjenp |e3dsoH 6€T 8S -

STOT/YEOT A4S WA ¥TOZ/ETOT AJS

PEOT/EZOT A4S WudWARY Jeuld £202/720T A4S
(HJON) [endso J4iqnd pareudisag-uoN €1T 8Y -
1SWeidoud JsuRl] (BIVIUNLIA0TIAIUY

STOZ '0€ duNf 3Ad ‘S20T ‘OF IMdy JO v
swesdoid Juawied [euawa|ddng
|edSOH {elIoWA) SUpPIMEH (9ZBH

56



Docusign Envelope ID: DACEBEOA-AB62-4965-0444-4B3AETI32A1F
7

& e COMMERCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT
OF REALTORS! (C.AR. Form CL, Revised 12/24)

Date (For reference only): June 15, 2025

Dr. Ben Carotoa, (Owner, Authorized Broker or Agent, or Property Manager, (“Landiord"))
and - San Benito Health Care District ("Tenant") agree as follows:
1. PROPERTY: Landlord rents to Tenant and Tenant rents from Landlord, the real property and improvements described as 907

Sunset Drive, Unit One ("Premises”), which comprise approximately 100.000% of the total
square footage of rentable space in the entire property. See exhibit for a further description of the Premises.
2. TERM: The term begins on (date) July 1, 2025 ("Commencement Date"),

CL REVISED 12/24 (PAGE 1 OF 7) Landlord's Initials ﬁ?b(, ! Tenant's Initials /

{Check A or B):

A. |X|Lease: and shall terminate on (date) _ 07/01/2028 at __ 5 [ JAM [x] PM. Any holding after the term of this agreement
expires, with Landlord's consent, shall create a month-to-month tenancy that either party may terminate as specified in paragraph
2B. Rent shall be at a rate equal to the rent for the immediately preceding month, payable in advance. All other terms and
conditions of this agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

B. [ ]Month-to-month: and continues as a month-te-month tenancy. Either party may terminate the tenancy by giving written notice
to the other at least 30 days prior to the intended termination date, subject to any applicable laws. Such notice may be given on
any date.

C. RENEWAL OR EXTENSION TERMS: OR [:| See attached addendum.

BASE RENT:

A. Tenant agrees to pay Base Rent at the rate of (CHECK ONE ONLY):
| | (1) $3,000.00  per month, for the term of the agreement.

X (2) $3,000.00 _per month, for the first 12 months of the agreement. Commencing with the 13th month, and upon
expiration of each 12 months thereafter, rent shall be adjusted according to any increase in the U.S. Consumer Price
Index of the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the Department of Labor for All Urban Consumers ("CPI") for
San Benito County (the city nearest the location of the Premises), based on the following formula: Base
Rent will be muitiplied by the most current CPI preceding the first calendar month during which the adjustment is to
take effect, and divided by the most recent CP| preceding the Commencement Date. In no event shall any adjusted
Base Rent be less than the Base Rent for the month immediately preceding the adjustment. If the CP! is no longer
published, then the adjustment to Base Rent shall be based on an alternate index that most closely reflects the CPI,
J @ s per month for the period commencing and ending and § per
month for the period commencing and ending and $ per month for the period
commencing and ending .
(4) In accordance with the attached rent schedule.
(5) Other:

B. Base Rentis payable in advance on the 1st (or[_] ) day of each calendar month, and is delinquent on the next day.

C. Ifthe Commencement Date falls on any day other than the first day of the month, Base Rent for the first calendar month shall be
prorated based on a 30-day period. If Tenant has paid one full month's Base Rent in advance of Commencement Date, Base
Rent for the second calendar month shall be prorated based on a 30-day period.

RENT:

A. Definition: ("Rent”) shall mean all monetary obligations of Tenant to Landlord under the terms of this agreement, except
security deposit.

B. Payment: Rent shall be paid to (Name) Susan Fixsen at

(address) 655 Ridaemark Drive, Hollister, CA 95023 , or at any other location specified by Landlord
in writing to Tenant.

C. Timing: Base Rent shall be paid as specified in paragraph 3. All other Rent shail be paid within 30 days after Tenant is billed
by Landiord.

EARLY POSSESSION: Tenant is entitled to possession of the Premises on  06/15/2025 . If Tenant is in possession prior to the

Commencement Date, during this time (i) Tenant is not obligated to pay Base Rent, and (li) Tenant E] is |X]is not obligated to pay

Rent other than Base Rent. Whether or not Tenant is obligated to pay Rent prior to Commencement Date, Tenant is obligated to

comply with all other terms of this agreement.

SECURITY DEPOSIT:

A. Tenant agrees fo pay Landlord $3,000.00 as a security deposit. Tenant agrees not to hold Broker responsible for its
return. (IF CHECKED:) |x]If Base Rent increases during the term of this agreement, Tenant agrees to increase deposit by the
same proportion as the increase in Base Rent.

B. All or any portion of the security deposit may be used, as reasonably necessary, to: (i) cure Tenant's default in payment of Rent,
late charges, non-sufficient funds ("NSF") fees, or other sums due; (ii) repair damage, excluding ordinary wear and tear, caused
by Tenant or by a guest or licensee of Tenant; (iii) broom clean the Premises, if necessary, upon termination of tenancy; and
(iv) cover any other unfulfilled obligation of Tenant. SECURITY DEPOSIT SHALL NOT BE USED BY TENANT IN LIEU OF
PAYMENT OF LAST MONTH'S RENT. If all or any portion of the security deposit is used during tenancy, Tenant agrees to
reinstate the total security deposit within 5 days after written notice is delivered to Tenant. Within 30 days after Landlord recsives
possession of the Premises, Landlord shall: (i) furnish Tenant an itemized statement indicating the amount of any security
deposit received and the basis for its disposition, and (ii) return any remaining portion of security deposit to Tenant. However,
if the Landlord's only claim upon the security deposit is for unpaid Rent, then the remaining portion of the security deposit, after
deduction of unpaid Rent, shall be returned within 14 days after the Landlord receives possession.

C. No interest will be paid on security deposit, unless required by local ordinance.

CREEY

COMMERCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT (CL PAGE 1 OF 7)

Pacific Onk Homes, S01 Vineyard Bivd. Mergan Hill, CA ~ Ste 2A- 260 Tres Pinos Road, Hollister, 95023 M

Susan Fixsen Produced with Lone Woif Transactions [zipForm Edition) ?i?ﬂmmswuum, Dallas, TX 75201

Hill , Hollister Phone: 8312485198 Fax: (831) 665-5195 Dr. Careta
www hwall com

57



Docusign Envelope ID: DACEBEOA-AB62-4965-0444-4B3AE7932A1F

7.

10.

1.

12

13.

14.

CL REVISED 12/24 (PAGE 2 OF 7) Landlord's Initials

QUALIFIED COMMERCIAL TENANT
A. DEFINITION: A "Qualified Commercial Tenant” means a tenant of commercial real property that meets both of the following
requirements:

s The tenant is a microenterprise, a restaurant with fewer than 10 employees, or a nonprofit organization with fewer than
20 employees (“microenterprise” as defined under Business and Professions code § 18000 means a sole proprietorship,
partnership, limited liability company, or corporation that meets both of the following: (i) has 5 or fewer employees including
the owner, and (ii) generally lacks sufficient access to loans, equity, or other financial capital); and

e (i) Subject to subclause (i), the tenant has provided the landlord, within the previous 12 months, a written notice that the
tenant is a qualified commercial tenant and a self-attestation regarding the number of employees, at such time the protections
under this provision come into place.

(i) Unless the tenancy is from week to week, month to month, or other period less than a month, the tenant provided the

notice of self-attestation described in subclause (i) before or upon execution of the lease, and annually thereafter, at such

time the protections under this provision come into place.
B. MODIFICATIONS TO AGREEMENT: If Tenant is a Qualified Commercial Tenant, the following provisions apply:

(1) NOTICE OF RIGHT TO RECEIVE FOREIGN LANGUAGE TRANSLATION OF LEASE/RENTAL AGREEMENTS:
California Civil Code requires a Landlord or property manager to provide a tenant with a foreign language translation copy of
a lease or rental agreement if the agreement was negotiated primarily in Spanish, Chinese, Korean, Tagalog or Vietnamese.
If applicable, every term of the lease/rental needs to be translated except for, among others, names, dollar amounts and
dates written as numerals, and words with no generally accepted non-English translation. Even if Tenant negotiates through
the Tenant's own interpreter, Landlord is not relieved on this obligation.

(2) TERMINATION: if Tenant has occupied the Premises for one year or more and is on a month to month tenancy, Landlord
shall give notice at least 80 days prior to the propose date of termination.

(3) NOTICE TO INCREASE RENT: For any proposed rent increase greater than 10 percent of the rental amount charged to
Tenant at any time during the 12 months before the effective date of the increase, the notice shall be delivered at least 90
days before the effective date of the increase, and su%'ect to California Civil Code § 1013 if served by mail.

(4) NOTICE AND DOCUMENTATION RELATED TO PROPERTY OPERATING EXPENSES:

{(A) NOTICE PRIOR TO EXECUTION OF THE LEASE: Tenant may inspect any supporting documentation of building
operating costs upon written request Within 30 days of a written request, Landlord shall provide supporting documentation
of the previously incurred or reasonably expected building operating costs.

(B) TIMING OF EXPENSES: Operating expenses must have been incurred within the previous 18 months, or reasonably
expected to be incurred within the next 12 months of any payment.

(C) SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION: Landlord shall provide supporting documentation prior to any charge to recover
any building operating costs from tenant under paragraph 15.

PAYMENTS:
TOTAL DUE PAYMENT RECEIVED BALANCE DUE DUE DATE

Rent: From 07/01/2025 To 3 3,000.00 $ $ 3,000.00 07/01/2025
Security Deposit. .. .. ... ... ... ... $ 3,000.00 $ $ 3,000.00 06/15/2025
Other: $ $ $

$

Category
T

Othe $ $

m o owp

. Total: . ... $ 6,000.00 $ $ 6,000.00

PARKING: Tenant is entitled to 4 unreserved and reserved vehicle parking spaces. The right to
parking [X]is [ ]is not included in the Base Rent charged pursuant to paragraph 3. If not included in the Base Rent, the parking
rental fee shall be an additional $ per month. Parking space(s) are to be used for parking operable motor vehicles, except
for trailers, boats, campers, buses or trucks (other than pick-up trucks). Tenant shall park in assigned space(s) only. Parking
space(s) are to be kept clean. Vehicles leaking oil, gas or other motor vehicle fiuids shall not be parked in parking spaces or on the
Premises. Mechanical work or storage of inoperable vehicles is not allowed in parking space(s) or elsewhere on the Premises. No
overnight parking is permitted.
ADDITIONAL STORAGE: Storage is permitted as follows: in building . The right to
additional storage space [X]is [ ]is not included in the Base Rent charged pursuant to paragraph 3. If not included in Base Rent,
storage space shall be an additional $ per month. Tenant shall store only personal property that Tenant owns, and
shall not store property that is claimed by another, or in which another has any right, title, or interest. Tenant shall not store any
improperly packaged food or perishable goods, flammable materials, explosives, or other dangerous or hazardous material. Tenant
shall pay for, and be responsible for, the clean-up of any contamination caused by Tenant's use of the storage area.
LATE CHARGE; INTEREST; NSF CHECKS: Tenant acknowledges that either late payment of Rent or issuance of a NSF chack
may cause Landlord to incur costs and expenses, the exact amount of which are extremely difficult and impractical to determine.
These costs may include, but are not limited to, processing, enforcement and accounting expenses, and late charges imposed on
Landlord. If any installment of Rent due from Tenant is not received by Landlord within 5 calendar days after date due, or if a check
is returned NSF, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, respectively, $50.00 as late charge, plus 10% interest per annum on the
delinquent amount and $25.00 as a NSF fee, any of which shall be deemed additional Rent. Landlord and Tenant agree that these
charges represent a fair and reasonable estimate of the costs Landlord may incur by reason of Tenant's late or NSF payment. Any
late charge, delinquent interest, or NSF fee due shall be paid with the current instaliment of Rent. Landlord's acceptance of any late
charge or NSF fee shall not constitute a waiver as to any default of Tenant. Landlord's right to collect a Late Charge or NSF fee
shall not be deemed an extension of the date Rent is due under paragraph 4, or prevent Landlord from exercising any other rights
and remedies under this agreement, and as provided by law.
CONDITION OF PREMISES: Tenant has examined the Premises and acknowledges that Premises is clean and in operative condition
with the following exceptions: Tenant to video and send any disc ncies
Items listed as exceptions shall be dealt with in the following manner: .
ZONING AND LAND USE: Tenant accepts the Premises subject to all local, state and federal laws, regulations and ordinances
("Laws"). Landlord makes no representation or warranty that Premises are now or in the future will be suitable for Tenant's use.
Tenant has made its own investigation regarding all applicable Laws.
TENANT OPERATING EXPENSES: Tenant agrees to par_tqull utilities and services directly billed to Tenant.

el

/ Tenant's Initials / s v
OPQRTNTY

COMMERCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT (CL PAGE 2 OF 7)

Produced with Lone Woilf Transactions (zipForm Edition) 717 N Harwood St, Suite 2200, Dallas, TX 75201 www. wolf com Dr. Carota

58




Docusign Envelope ID: DACEBEOA-A862-4965-9444-4B3AET932A1F

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.
21,

22
23.

25.

26.

PROPERTY OPERATING EXPENSES:

A. Tenant agrees to pay its proportionate share of Landlord's estimated monthly property operating expenses, including but not
limited to, common area maintenance, consolidated utility and service bills, insurance, and real property taxes, based on the
ratio of the square footage of the Premises to the total square footage of the rentable space in the entire property.

B. (if checked) paragraph 15 does not apply.

USE: The Premises are for the sole use as Medical Office .

No other use is permitted without Landlord's prior written consent. If any use by Tenant causes an increase in the premium on Landlord's

existing roperty insurance, Tenant shall pay for the increased cost. Tenant will comply with all Laws affecting its use of the Premises.

RULES/REGULATIONS: Tenant agrees to comply with all rules and regulations of Landlord (and, if applicable, Owner's

Association) that are at any time posted on the Premises or delivered to Tenant. Tenant shall not, and shall ensure that guests and

licensees of Tenant do not, disturb, annoy, endanger, or interfere with other tenants of the building or neighbors, or use of the

Premises for any unlawful purposes, including, but not limited to, using, manufacturing, selling, storing, or transporting illicit drugs

or other contraband, or violate any law or ordinance, or committing a waste or nuisance on or about the Premises.

MAINTENANCE:

A. TenantOR [Z(If checked, Landlord) shall professionally maintain the Premises including heating, air conditioning, electrical,
plumbing and water systems, if any.

B. Tenant OR|X (If checked, Landlord) shall keep glass, windows and doors in operable and safe condition.

C. Landlord OR | _|(If checked, Tenant) shall maintain the roof, foundation, exterior walls, common areas and

D. Unless Landlord is indicated above, if Tenant fails to maintain the Premises, or keep it in operable and safe condition, as
specified in 18A-C, Landlord may contract for or perform such services ta maintain the Premises, or keep it in operable and
safe condition, as specified in 18A-C, and charge Tenant for Landlord's cost.

ALTERATIONS: Tenant shall not make any alterations in or about the Premises, including installation of trade fixtures and signs,
without Landlord's prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. Any alterations to the Premises shall be done
according to Law and with required permits. Tenant shall give Landlord advance notice of the commencement date of any planned
alteration, so that Landlord, at its option, may post a Notice of Non-Responsibility to prevent potential liens against Landlord's
interest in the Premises. Landlord may also require Tenant to provide Landlord with lien releases from any contractor performing
work on the Premises.
GOVERNMENT IMPOSED ALTERATIONS: Any alterations required by Law as a result of Tenants use shall be Tenant's
responsibility. Landlord shall be responsible for any other alterations required by Law.
ENTRY: Tenant shall make Premises available to Landlord or Landlord's agent for the purpose of entering to make inspections,
necessary or agreed repairs, alterations, or improvements, or to supply necessary or agreed services, or to show Premises to
prospective or actual purchasers, tenants, mortgagees, lenders, appraisers, or contractors. Landlord and Tenant agree that 24
hours notice (oral or written) shall be reasonable and sufficient notice. In an emergency, Landlord or Landlord's representative may
enter Premises at any time without prior notice.
SIGNS: Tenant authorizes Landlord to place a FOR SALE sign on the Premises at any time, and a FOR LEASE sign on the
Premises within the 90 (or[ ] ) day period preceding the termination of the agreement.
SUBLETTING/ASSIGNMENT: Tenant shall not sublet or encumber all or any part of Premises, or assign or transfer this
agreement or any interest in it, without the prior written consent of Landiord, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. Unless such
consent is obtained, any subletting, assignment, transfer, or encumbrance of the Premises, agreement, or tenancy, by voluntary
act of Tenant, operation of law, or otherwise, shall be null and void, and, at the option of Landlord, terminate this agreement. Any
proposed sublessee, assignee, or transferee shall submit to Landlord an application and credit information for Landlord's approval,
and, if approved, sign a separate written agreement with Landlord and Tenant. Landlord's consent to any one sublease,
assignment, or transfer, shall not be construed as consent to any subsequent sublease, assignment, or transfer, and does not
release Tenant or Tenant's obligation under this agreement.

. POSSESSION: If Landlord is unable to deliver possession of Premises on Commencement Date, such date shall be extended to the

date on which possession is made available to Tenant. However, the expiration date shall remain the same as specified in paragraph
2. If Landlord is unable to deliver possession within 60 (or I t ) calendar days after the agreed Commencement Date, Tenant
may terminate this agreement by giving written notice to Landlord, and shall be refunded all Rent and security deposit paid.

TENANT'S OBLIGATIONS UPON VACATING PREMISES: Upon termination of agreement, Tenant shall: (i) give Landiord all copies
of all keys or opening devices to Premises, including any common areas; (ii) vacate Premises and surrender it to Landlord empty of all
persons and personal property; (ili) vacate all parking and storage spaces; (iv) deliver Premises to Landlord in the same condition as
referenced in paragraph 12; (v) clean Premises; (vi) give written notice to Landlord of Tenant's forwarding address: and (vit)

All improvements installed by Tenant, with or without Landlord’s consent, become the property of Landlord upon termination. Landlord
may nevertheless require Tenant to remove any such improvement that did not exist at the time possession was made available to
Tenant.

BREACH OF CONTRACT/EARLY TERMINATION: In event Tenant, prior to expiration of this agreement, breaches any obligation in
this :greament, abandons the premises, or gives notice of tenant's intent to terminate this tenancy prior to its expiration, in addition to
any obligations established by paragraph 26, Tenant shall also be responsible for lost rent, rental commissions, advertising expenses,
and painting costs necessary to ready Premises for re-rental. Landlord may also recover from Tenant: (i) the worth, at the time of
award, of the unpaid Rent that would have been eamed at the time of termination; (ii) the worth, at the time of award, of the amount
by which the unpaid Rent that would have been eamed after exlairation until the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental loss
the Tenant proves could have been reasonably avoided; and (iii) the worth, at the time of award, of the amount by which the unpaid
Rent for the balance of the term after the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental loss that Tenant proves could be reasonably
avoided. Landlord may elect to continue the tenancy in effect for so long as Landlord does not terminate Tenant's right to possession,
by either written notice of termination of possession or by reletting the Premises to another who takes possession, and Landlord may
enforce all Landlord's rights and remedies under this agreement, including the right to recover the Rent as it becomes due.

-
CL REVISED 12/24 (PAGE 3 OF 7) Landlord's Initials (—vb(’ / Tenant's Initials / Lo

COMMERCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT (CL PAGE 3 OF 7)

Produced with Lone Wolf Transactions (zipForm Edition) 717 N Harwood St, Suite 2200, Dallas, TX 75201  www twolf.com Dr. Carota

59



Docusign Envelope ID: DACEBEOA-A662-4965-0444-4B3AE7932A1F

27.

29,

30.

31.

32.

33,

36.

DAMAGE TO PREMISES: If, by no fault of Tenant, Premises are totally or partially damaged or destroyed by fire, earthquake, accident
or other casualty, Landlord shall have the right to restore the Premises by repair or rebuilding. If Landlord elects to repair or rebuild,
and is able to complete such restoration within 90 days from the date of damage, subject to the terms of this paragraph, this agreement
shall remain in full force and effect. If Landlord is unable to restore the Premises within this time, or if Landlord elects not to restore,
then either Landlord or Tenant may terminate this agreement by giving the other written notice. Rent shall be abated as of the date of
damage. The abated amount shall be the current monthly Base Rent prorated on a 30-day basis, If this agreement is not terminated,
and the damage is not repaired, then Rent shall be reduced based on the extent to which the damage interferes with Tenant's
reasonable use of the Premises. If total or partial destruction or damage occurs as a result of an act of Tenant or Tenant's guest, (i)
only Landlord shall have the right, at Landlord's sole discretion, within 30 days after such total or partial destruction or damage to treat
the lease as terminated by Tenant, and (ji) Landlord shall have the right to recover damages from Tenant.

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS: Tenant shall not use, store, generate, release or dispose of any hazardous material on the Premises or
the property of which the Premises are part. However, Tenant is permitted to make use of such materials that are required to be used
in the normal course of Tenant's business provided that Tenant complies with all applicable Laws related to the hazardous materials.
Tenant is responsible for the cost of removal and remediation, or any clean-up of any contamination caused by Tenant,
CONDEMNATION: If all or part of the Premises is condemned for public use, either party may terminate this agreement as of the
date possession is given to the condemner. All condemnation praoceeds, exclusive of those allocated by the condemner to Tenant's
relocation costs and trade fixtures, belong to Landiord.

INSURANCE: Tenant's personal property, fixtures, equipment, inventory and vehicles are not insured by Landlord against loss or
damage due to fire, theft, vandalism, rain, water, criminal or negligent acts of others, or any other cause. Tenant is to carry Tenant's
own property insurance to protect Tenant from any such loss. In addition, Tenant shall carry (i) liability insurance in an amount of
not less than $100,000.00 and (ii) property insurance in an amount sufficient to cover the replacement cost of the property if Tenant
is responsible for maintenance under paragraph 18B. Tenant's insurance shall name Landlord and Landlord's agent as additional
insured. Tenant, upon Landlord's request, shall provide Landlord with a certificate of insurance establishing Tenant's compliance.
Landlord shall maintain liability insurance insuring Landlord, but not Tenant, in an amount of at least $300,000.00 , plus property
insurance in an amount sufficient to cover the replacement cost of the property unless Tenant is responsible for maintenance pursuant
to paragraph 18B. Tenant is advised to carry business interruption insurance in an amount at least sufficient to cover Tenant's
complete rental obligation to Landlord. Landlord is advised to obtain a policy of rental loss insurance. Both Landlord and Tenant
release each other, and waive their respective rights to subrogation against each other, for loss or damage covered by insurance.
TENANCY STATEMENT (ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE): Tenant shall execute and return a tenancy statement (estoppel certificate),
delivered to Tenant by Landlord or Landlord's agent, within 3 days after its receipt. The tenancy statement shall acknowledge that
this agreement is unmodified and in full force, or in full force as medified, and state the modifications. Failure to comply with this
requirement: (I) shall be deemed Tenant's acknowledgment that the tenancy statement is true and correct, and may be relied upon
by a prospective lender or purchaser; and (ii) may be treated by Landlord as a material breach of this agreement. Tenant shall
also prepare, execute, and deliver to Landlord any financial statement (which will be held in confidence) reasonably requested by a
praspective lender or buyer.

LANDLORD'S TRANSFER: Tenant agrees that the transferee of Landlord's interest shall be substituted as Landlord under this
agreement. Landlord will be released of any further obligation to Tenant regarding the security deposit, only if the security deposit is
returned to Tenant upon such transfer, or if the security deposit is actually transferred to the transferee. For all other obligations under
this agreement, Landlord is released of angurthar liability to Tenant, upon Landlord’s transfer.

SUBORDINATION: This agreement shall be subordinate to all existing liens and, at Landlord's option, the lien of any first deed of
trust or first mortgage subsequently placed upon the real property of which the Premises are a part, and to any advances made on the
security of the Premises, and to all renewals, modifications, consolidations, replacements, and extensions. However, as to the lien of
any deed of trust or mortgage entered into after execution of this agreement, Tenant's right to quiet possession of the Premises shall
not be disturbed if Tenant is not in default and so long as Tenant pays the Rent and observes and performs all of the provisions of this
agreement, unless this agreement is otherwise terminated pursuant to its terms. If any mortgagee, trustee, or ground lessor elects to
have this agreement placed in a security position prior to the lien of a mortgage, deed of trust, or ground lease, and gives written notice
to Tenant, this agreement shall be deemed prior to that mortgage, deed of trust, or ground lease, or the date of recording.

. TENANT REPRESENTATIONS; CREDIT: Tenant warrants that all statements in Tenant's financial documents and rental

application are accurate. Tenant authorizes Landlord and Broker(s) to obtain Tenant's credit report at time of application and

periodically during tenancy in connection with approval, modification, or enforcement of this agreement. Landlord may cancel this

agreement: (i) before occupancy begins, upon disapproval of credit report(s); or (ii) at any time, upon discovering that information
in Tenant's application is false. A negative credit report reflecting on Tenant's record may be submitted to a credit reporting
agency, if Tenant fails to pay Rent or comply with annother obligation under this agreement.

CONSTRUCTION-RELATED ACCESSIBILITY STANDARDS:

A. Landlord states that the Premises [ | have, or[X] have not been inspected by a Certified Access Specialist (CASp).

B. If the Premises have been inspected by a CASp,

{1) Landlord states that the Premises [X] have, or [Jhave not been determined to meet all applicable construction-related
accessibility standards pursuant to Civil Code Section 55.53. Landlord shall provide Tenant a copy of the report prepared
by the CASp (and, if applicable a copy of the disability access inspection certificate) as specified below.

(2) lj (1) Tenant has received a copy of the report at least 48 hours before executing this lease. Tenant has no right to
rescind the lease based upon information contained in the report.

OR D (it) Tenant has received a copy of the report prior to, but no more than, 48 hours before, executing this lease. Based
upon information contained in the report, Tenant has 72 hours after execution of this lease to rescind it.

OR [ﬁ (ii) Tenant has not received a copy of the report prepared by the CASp prior to execution of this lease. Landlord shafl
provide a copy of the report prepared by the CASp (and, if applicable a copy of the disability access inspection certificate)
within 7 days after execution of this lease. Tenant shall have up to 3 days thereafter to rescind the lease based upon
information in the report.

C. Ifthe Premises have not been inspected by a CASp or a certificate was not issued by the CASp who conducted the inspection,
“A Certified Access Specialist (CASp) can inspect the subject premises and determine whether the subject premises comply with
all of the applicable construction-related accessibility standards under state law. Although state law does not require a CASp
inspection of the subject premises, the commercial property owner or lessor may not prohibit the lessee or tenant from obtaining
a CASp inspection of the subject premises for the occupancy or potential occupancy of the lessee or tenant, if requested by the
lessee or tenant. The parties shall mutually agree on the arrangements for the time and manner of the CASp inspection, the
payment of the fee for the CASp inspection, and the cost of making any repairs necessary to correct violations of construction-
related accessibility standards within the premises.”

CL REVISED 12/24 (PAGE 4 OF 7) Landlord's Initials (—Db(/ / Tenant's Initials /

COMMERCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT (CL PAGE 4 OF 7)

Produced with Lone Wolf Transactions (zipForm Edition) 717 N Harwood St, Suite 2200, Dallas, TX 75201  www bwolf.com Dr. Careta

60



Docusign Envelope ID: DACEBEOA-AG62-4965-9444-4B3AE7932A1F

36.

D. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in paragraph 17, 18, 19 or elsewhere in the lease, any repairs or modifications
necessary to correct violations of construction related accessibility standards to the Premises are the responsibility of the
[J Tenant, ) Landlord, [ ] Other :

MEDIATION: Tenant and Landlord agree to mediate any dispute or claim arising between them out of this agreement, or any resulting
transaction, before resorting to arbitration or court action, subject to paragraph 36 below. Paragraphs 37B and C apply whether
or not the arbitration provision is initialed. Mediation fees, if any, shall be divided equally among the parties involved. If for any
dispute or claim to which this paragraph applies, any party commences an action without first attempting to resolve the matter through
mediation, or refuses to mediate after a request has been made, then that party shall not be entitled to recover attomey fees, even if

they would otherwise be available to that party in any such action. THIS MEDIATION PROVISION APPLIES WHETHER OR NOT THE
ARBITRATION PROVISION IS INITIALED.

37.

ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES:

A. Tenant and Landlord agree that any dispute or claim in Law or equity arising between them out of this agreement or
any resulting transaction, which is not settled through mediation, shall be decided by neutral, binding arbitration,
including and subject to paragraphs 37B and C below. The arbitrator shall be a retired judge or justice, or an attorney
with at least 6 years of real estate transactional law experience, unless the partles mutually agree to a different
arbitrator, who shall render an award in accordance with substantive California Law. In all other respects, the
arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with Part Ili, Title 9 of the California Code of Civil Procedure. Judgment
upon the award of the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. The parties shall have the right to
discovery in accordance with Code of Civil Procedure §1283.05.

B. EXCLUSIONS FROM MEDIATION AND ARBITRATION: The following matters are excluded from Mediation and Arbitration
hereunder: (i) a judicial or non-judicial foreclosure or other action or proceeding to enforce a deed of trust, mortgage, or installment
land sale contract as definéd in Civil Code §2985; (ii) an unlawful detainer action; (iii) the filing or enforcement of a mechanic's
lien; (iv) any matter that is within the jurisdiction of a probate, small claims, or bankruptcy court; and (v) and action for bodily injury
or wrongful death, or for latent or patent defects to which Code of Civil Procedure §337.1 or §337.15 applies. The filing of a court
action to enable the recording of a notice of pending action, for order of attachment, receivership, injunction, or other provisional
remedies, shall not constitute a violation of the mediation and arbitration provisions.

C. BROKERS: Tenant and Landlord agree to mediate and arbitrate disputes or claims involving either or both Brokers, provided
either or both Brokers shall have agreed to such mediation or arbitration, prior to, or within a reasonable time after the dispute
or claim is presented to Brokers. Any election by either or both Brokers to participate in mediation or arbitration shall not result
in Brokers being deemed parties to the agreement.

"NOTICE: BY INITIALING IN THE SPACE BELOW YOU ARE AGREEING TO HAVE ANY DISPUTE ARISING OUT OF
THE MATTERS INCLUDED IN THE 'ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES' PROVISION DECIDED BY NEUTRAL ARBITRATION
AS PROVIDED BY CALIFORNIA LAW AND YOU ARE GIVING UP ANY RIGHTS YOU MIGHT POSSESS TO HAVE THE
DISPUTE LITIGATED IN A COURT OR JURY TRIAL. BY INITIALING IN THE SPACE BELOW YOU ARE GIVING UP
YOUR JUDICIAL RIGHTS TO DISCOVERY AND APPEAL, UNLESS THOSE RIGHTS ARE SPECIFICALLY INCLUDED IN
THE 'ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES' PROVISION. IF YOU REFUSE TO SUBMIT TO ARBITRATION AFTER AGREEING
TO THIS PROVISION, YOU MAY BE COMPELLED TO ARBITRATE UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF THE CALIFORNIA
CODE OF CiVIL PROCEDURE. YOUR AGREEMENT TO THIS ARBITRATION PROVISION IS VOLUNTARY."

"WE HAVE READ AND UNDERSTAND THE FOREGOING AND AGREE TO SUBMIT DISPUTES ARISING OUT OF THE
MATTERS INCLUDED IN THE "'ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES' PROVISION TO NEUTRAL ARBITRATION.”

Landlord's Initials / Tenant's Initials /

39.

42,

43,

. JOINT AND INDIVIDUAL OBLIGATIONS: If there is more than one Tenant, each on shall be individually and completely responsible

for the performance of all obligations of Tenant under this agreement, jointly with every other Tenant, and individually, whether or not
in possession.

NOTICE: Notices may be served by mail, email, or courier at the contact information provided in the signature section for Landlord or
Tenant, or at any other location subsequently designated and is deemed effective upon personal receipt by either party or their agent.

. WAIVER: The waiver of any breach shall not be construed as a continuing waiver of the same breach or a waiver of any subsequent
M,

breach.

INDEMNIFICATION: Tenant shall indemnify, defend and hold Landlord harmless from all claims, disputes, litigation, judgments
and attorney fees arising out of Tenant's use of the Premises.

OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS/SUPPLEMENTS: Tenant allowed to place for tenant to add a sign on both the facade
of the unit and on the monument sign facing the street.

The following ATTACHED supplements/exhibits are incorporated in this agreement: [_] Option Agreement (C.A.R. Form OA)

ATTORNEY FEES: In any action or proceeding arising out of this agreement, the prevailing party between Landlord and Tenant shall
be entitied to reasonable attorney fees and costs from the non-prevailing Landlord or Tenant, except as provided in paragraph 36.

el
CL REVISED 12/24 (PAGE 5 OF 7) Landlord's Initials (—Db(/ / Tenant's Initials / e

COMMERCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT (CL PAGE 5 OF 7)

Produced with Lone Wolf Transactions (zipForm Edition) 717 N Harwood St, Suite 2200, Dallas, TX 75201  www wolf. com Dr. Carsta

61




Docusign Envelope ID: DACEBEOA-AG662-4965-9444-4B3AET932A1F

44,

45.

47.

48.

Iniliad
CL REVISED 12/24 (PAGE 6 OF 7) Landlord’s Initials r_bb(/ / Tenant's Initials /

ENTIRE CONTRACT: Time is of the essence. All prior agreements between Landlord and Tenant are incorporated in this agreement,
which constitutes the entire contract. It is intended as a final expression of the parties' agreement, and may not be contradicted by
evidence of any prior agreement or contemporaneous oral agreement. The parties further intend that this agreement constitutes the
complete and exclusive statement of its terms, and that no extrinsic evidence whatsoever may be introduced in any judicial or other
proceeding, if any, involving this agreement. Any provision of this agreement that is held to be Invalid shall not affect the validity or
enforceability of any other provision in this agreement. This agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the heirs,
assignees and successors fo the parties.

BROKERAGE: Landlord and Tenant shall each pay to Broker(s) the fee agreed to, if any, in a separate written agreement. Neither
Tenant nor Landlord has utilized the services of, or for any other reason owes compensation to, a licensed real estate broker
(individual or corporate), agent, finder, or other entity, other than as named in this agreement, in connection with any act relating
to the Premises, including, but not limited to, inquiries, introductions, consultations, and negotiations leading to this agreement.
Tenant and Landlord each agree to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the other, and the Brokers specified herein, and their
agents, from and against any costs, expenses, or liability for compensation claimed inconsistent with the warranty and
representation in this paragraph 44.

. AGENCY CONFIRMATION: The following agency refationships are hereby confirmed for this transaction:

Listing Agent: Pacific Oak Real Estate Services- (Print Firm Name) is the agent of (check one):
{Jthe Landlord exclusively; or [X] both the Tenant and Landlord.
Selling Agent: Pacific Oak Real Estate Services- (Print Firm Name) (if not same as Listing Agent)

is the agent of (check one):
[Jthe Tenant exclusively; or[ ]the Landlord exclusively; or[]both the Tenant and Landlord.
Real Estate Brokers are not parties to the agreement between Tenant and Landlord.

Landiord and Tenant acknowledge and agree that Brokers: (i) do not guarantee the condition of the Premises; (li) cannot
verlfy representations made by other; (iii) will not verify zoning and land use restrictions; (iv) cannot provide legal or tax
advice; (v) will not provide other advice or information that exceeds the knowledge, education or experience required to
obtain a real estate license. Furthermore, if Brokers are not also acting as Landlord in this agreement, Brokers: (vi) do
not decide what rental rate a Tenant should pay or Landlord should accept; and (vii) do not decide upon the length or
other terms of tenancy. Landiord and Tenant agree that they will seek legal, tax, insurance, and other desired assistance
from appropriate professionals.

LEGALLY AUTHORIZED SIGNER: Wherever the signature or initials of the Legally Authorized Signer identified in paragraphs 48
or 49 appear on this Agreement or any related documents, it shall be deemed to be in a representative capacity for the entity
described and not in an individual capacity, unless otherwise indicated. The Legally Authorized Signer (i) represents that the entity
for which that person is acting already exists and is in good standing to do business in California and (ll) shall Deliver to the other
Party, upon request, evidence of authority to act in that capacity (such as but not limited to: applicable portion of the trust or

Certification Of Trust (Probate Code § 18100.5), letters testamentary, court order, power of attomey, corporate resolution, or
formation documents of the business entity).

Tenant agrees to rent the Premises on the above terms and conditions.
A. [:] ENTITY TENANT: (Note: If this paragraph is completed, a Representative Capacity Signature Disclosure (C.A.R.
Form RCSD) is not required for the Legally Authorized Signers designated below.)
(1) Non-Individual (entity) Tenants: One or more Tenants is a trust, corporation, LLC, probate estate, partnership, holding a
power of attorney or other entity.

(2) Full entity name: The following is the full name of the entity (if a trust, enter the complete trust name; if under probate, enter full
name of the estate, including case #):

(3) Contractual ldentity of Tenant: For purposes of this Agreement, when the name described below is used it shall be deemed
to be the full entity name.
(A) If a trust: The trustee(s) of the trust or a simplified trust name (ex. John Doe, co-trustee, Jane Doe, co-trustee or Doe
Revocable Family Trust);
(B) If Property is sold under the jurisdiction of a probate court: The name of the executor or administrator, or a simplified
probate name (John Doe, executor, or Estate {or Conservatorship) of John Doe).
(4) Legally Authorized Signer:
(A) This Agreement is being Signed by a Legally Authorized Signer in a representative capacity and not in an individual
capacity. See paragraph 47 for additional terms.
(B) The name(s) of the Legally Authorized Signer(s) is/are:
B. TENANT SIGNATURE(S):

(Signature) By, Date:
Printed name of Tenant. Mark Robinson
E] Printed Name of Legally Authorized Signer: Title, if applicable, CFO
Address City State Zip
Telephone Text E-mail

(Signature) By, Date:
Printed name of Tenant:
{T] Printed Name of Legally Authorized Signer: Title, if applicable,
Address City State Zip
Telephone Text E-mail

{JIF MORE THAN TWO SIGNERS, USE Additional Signature Addendum (C.A.R. Form ASA).

i

COMMERCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT (CL PAGE 6 OF 7)

Produced with Lone Wolf Transactions (zipForm Edition) 717 N Harwood St, Suite 2200, Dallas, TX 75201  www.iwolf.com Dr. Carota

62




Docusign Envelope 1D: DACEBEQA-ABG2-4065-3444-4B3AE7932A1F

(X GUARANTEE: In consideration of the execution of this Agreement by and between Landlord and Tenant and for valuable
consideration, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, the undersigned (“Guarantor”) does hereby: (i) guarantee unconditionally
Landlord and Landlord's agents, successors and assigns, the prompt payment of Rent or other sums that become due pursuant
to this Agreement, including any and all court costs and attorney fees included in enforcing the Agreement; (i) consent to any
changes, modifications or alterations of any term in this Agreement agreed to by Landlord and Tenant; and (iii) waive any right
to require Landlord and/or Landlord's agents to proceed against Tenant for any default occurring under this Agreement before

seeking to enforce this Guarantee.

Guarantor (Print Name) San Benito Health District. Mark Robinson

Guarantor Date

Address City State Zip
Telephone E-mail

49. Landlord agrees to rent the Premises on the above terms and conditions:
A. [JENTITY LANDLORD: (Note: If this paragraph is com pleted, a Representative Capacity Signature Disclosure (C.A.R.
Form RCSD) is not required for the Legally Authorized Signers designated below.)
(1) Non-ndividual (entity) Landlords: One or more Landlords is a trust, corporation, LLC, probate estate, partnership, holding
a power of attorney or other entity.

(2) Full entity name: The following is the full name of the entity (if a trust, enter the complete trust name; if under probate, enter full
name of the estate, including case #):

(3) Contractual Identity of Landlord: For purposes of this Agreement, when the name described below is used it shall be
deemed to be the full entity name.

(A) If a trust: The trustee(s) of the trust or a simplified trust name (ex. John Doe, co-trustee, Jane Doe, co-trustee or Doe
Revocable Family Trust);

(B) If Property is sold under the jurisdiction of a probate court: The name of the executor or administrator, or a simplified
probate name (John Doe, executor, or Estate (or Conservatorship) of John Doe).

(4) Legally Authorized Signer:

(A) This Agreement is being Signed by a Legally Authorized Signer in a representative capacity and not for himMherself as
an individual. See paragraph 47 for additional terms.

(B) The name(s) of the Legally Authorized Signer(s) is/are:

B. LANDLO RE(S):

(Signature) By, Date: 5/9/2025
Printed na Or._ Ben Carotoa
I:] Printed Name of Legally Authorized Signer: Title, if applicable,
Address 901 Sunset Drive Unit One City Hollister State CA Zip 95023
Telephone Text E-mail

(Signature) By, Date:
Printed name of Landlord:
() Printed Name of Legally Authorized Signer: Title, if applicable,
Address City State Zip
Telephone Text E-mail

(JIF MORE THAN TWO SIGNERS, USE Additional Signature Addendum (C.A.R. Form ASA).

Agency relationships are confirmed as above. Real estate brokers who are not also Landlords in this agreement are not a party
to the agreement between Landlord and Tenant.

Real Estat nt Brokerage Firm) Pacific Oak Real Estate Services- Lic. # 01766553
By {Agent)l 23 T? Lic. # 01766553 Date 5/11/20Z5

b Bels:,
Address 655 Ridgemark Drive. Hollister. CA 95023 City Hollister State CA Zip 95037
Telephone (831)245-5195 Fax E-mail susan@®pacificoakhomes.com
Real Esta iord Brokerage Firm) Paclfic Oak Real Estate Services- Lic. # 01766553
By (Agent)l %f T} Lic. # 01766553 Date >/11/2025

JokH8Ls3..
Address 655 Ridgemark Drive City Hollister State CA Zip 95023
Telephone Fax E-mail susan@pacificoakhomes.com

L )
Landlord’s Initials rbb(« / Tenant's Initials /

@ 2024, California Association of REALTORS®, Inc. United States copyright law (Title 17 U.S. Code) forbids the unauthorized distribution, display and reproduction
of this form, or any portion thereof, by photocopy machine or any other means, including facsimile or computerized formats. THIS FORM HAS BEEN APPROVED
BY THE CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS®. NO REPRESENTATION IS E AS TO THE LEGAL VALIDITY OR ACCURACY OF ANY PROVISION IN
ANY SPECIFIC TRANSACTION. A REAL ESTATE BROKER IS THE PERSON QUALIFIED TO ADVISE ON REAL ESTATE TRANSACTIONS. IF YOU DESIRE LEGAL
OR TAX ADVICE. CONSULT AN APPROPRIATE PROFESSIONAL. This form is made available to real estate professionals through an agreement with or purchase
from the California Association of REALTORS®,

Published and Distributed by: REAL ESTATE BUSINESS SERVICES, LLC. a subsidiary of the California Association of REALTORS® Qe e
CL REVISED 12/24 (PAGE 7 OF 7)
COMMERCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT (CL PAGE 7 OF 7)
Produced with Lone Wolf Transactions (zipForm Edition) 717 N Harwood St, Suite 2200, Dallas, TX 75201  www hwoif com Dr. Careta

63



b

Hazel Hawkins

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

Board of Directors Contract Review Worksheet

Professional Service Agreements for Hospitalist Coverage Panel

Executive Summary: As the expiration of the current hospitalist group agreement
approached, hospital leadership and members of the existing hospitalist team
came together to develop a shared vision for strengthening collaboration and
inpatient care services. Through this collaborative effort, both parties aligned on
a vision to improve continuity of care, quality, and patient outcomes. The
proposed agreement includes coverage by a panel of seven board-certified
physicians, some whom reside locally, and are well-integrated into the hospital
and community. :

Family Medicine Internal Medicine
Natalie C. LaCorte, MD Saiham Shahabuddin, MD
Cristian Carrillo, DO Jiwu Sun, MD
Claire J. Hartung, MD Michael Sepulveda, MD

Joshua Deutsch, MD

Recommended Board Motion: It is recommended the hospital Board approve
the Professional Service Agreements for the Hospitalist Coverage Panel with the
following physician corporations at a rate of $185 per hour for day coverage and
$82.50 per hour for night shift call coverage:

Natalie LaCorte Medical Corporation;

Cristian Carrilio, DO, Medical Group;

Saiham Shahabuddin, MD, Professional Corporation;
Sepulveda, MD, Corporation;

Claire Hartung, MD, Inc.;

Jiwu Sun, MD, Inc.;

7. J. Deutsch, MD, MPH, Physician Services Incorporated

1A o

Services Provided: 24/7/365 hospitalist coverage.

Agreement Terms:
Confract Estimated
Tatm Effective Date Annoal Cog Term clause
3year 6/1/2025 $1,981,950 90 days

64



PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR HOSPITALIST COVERAGE PANEL

This Professional Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made, entered into and effective as of June 1, 2025
(“Effective Date™), by and between San Benito Health Care District, a local health care district organized and
operated pursuant to Division 23 of the California Health and Safety Code (“SBHCD”), and Natalie LaCorte
Medical Corporation (“Physician”).

RECITALS

A. SBHCD owns and operates Hazel Hawkins Memorial Hospital, a licensed general acute care facility
located at 911 Sunset Drive, Hollister, California (“Hospital”). Hospital provides inpatient and outpatient
services to residents of the San Benito Health Care District and surrounding communities which constitute
the Hospital’s service area (“Hospital Service Area™).

B. SBHCD owns and operates specialty and rural health clinics as defined in Title 22, California Code of
Regulations section 51115.5 to provide services to patients in the Hospital Service Area (“Clinics™) and
two skilled nursing facilities (“SNFs”). Together, the Hospital, Clinics, and SNFs are referred to herein
as the “Facilities”.

C. Physician is licensed to practice medicine in the State of California, is a member in good standing of the
medical staff of Hospital, and is experienced and qualified to provide hospitalist services.

D. Section 32129 of the California Health and Safety Code provides that a health care district may contract
with a Physician to render professional health services in order to ensure that adequate health care is
available to all residents within its service area.

E. SBHCD has determined that entering into this Agreement with Physician is in the best interests of SBHCD
and the public health of the residents of the Hospital Service Area and is an appropriate way to assure
availability of hospitalist services to patients in the Hospital Service Area. SBHCD has established a
hospitalist coverage panel (“Hospitalist Coverage Panel”) of qualified physicians which shall ensure the
availability of physician coverage for hospitalist services as needed at the Facilities.

F. The parties desire to enter into this Agreement to set forth their respective responsibilities in connection
with the Services provided by Physician in the Hospital Service Area during the term of this Agreement.

The parties hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE 1 - DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF PHYSICIAN

1.1 Medical Services. Physician shall provide professional health care services in Physician’s medical
specialty to patients at the Facilities and on the schedule more fully described in Exhibit A, which is
attached to this Agreement and incorporated by this reference (“Services™). Services include services to
Medicare and Medi-Cal patients, patients of any other federal health care program or a state health care
financial program (“Governmental Programs™), workers’ compensation beneficiaries, and patients
eligible for participation in SBHCD’s charity care program. Physician shall cooperate to enable SBHCD’s
participation in Medicare, Medi-Cal, Governmental Programs, workers’ compensation services and
commercial payor programs. Physician shall provide Services to all patients, including Medicare, Medi-
Cal, Governmental Program, and workers’ compensation beneficiaries, in a non-discriminatory manner
and in accordance with all applicable laws and SBHCD policies and procedures, as developed and
implemented in collaboration with physician leadership of the Facilities.

1.2 Qualifications. Physician shall: (i) be duly licensed to practice medicine by the State of California; (i)
be qualified to perform the Services by having adequate levels of competency and experience; (iii) have
skill comparable to those prevailing in the community; (iv) not be excluded from participation in any

Page 1 of 9
PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- N. LaCorte, MD eff 6-1-2025 65



1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

2.1

governmental healthcare program; (v) be approved for and maintain active membership and/or clinical
privileges on the Hospital's medical staff in accordance with medical staff bylaws, rules and regulations,
and other medical staff governing directives; (vi) be certified as a participating physician in the Medicare
and Medi-Cal programs; and (vii) hold an unrestricted Drug Enforcement Administration ("DEA")
registration number.

Compliance. In connection with the operation and conduct of the Facilities and rendering of Services,
Physician shall, at all times, comply with the applicable terms of this Agreement and with all applicable
federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations, including requirements for participation in the
Medicare and Medi-Cal programs, the Hospital medical staff bylaws, rules and regulations, and applicable
policies and procedures, and will at all times be aware of and participate in meeting the goals and
objectives of the SBHCD Corporate Compliance program.

Credentialing. In order to be efficiently credentialed with payors that have contracted with SBHCD,
Physician shall participate in the Council for Affordable Quality Healthcare (“CAQH”) credentialing
program and shall timely comply with requests from CAQH or SBHCD personnel for (i) credentialing
information regarding Physician, and (ii) documents necessary for Physician’s credentialing.

Use of Premises. No part of the SBHCD premises shall be used at any time by Physician as an office for
the general or private practice of medicine.

Medical Records/Chart Notes. Physician shall provide timely, appropriate, and necessary documentation
for each patient’s medical record for all patient encounters at the Facilities in compliance with the
Facilities’ policies and procedures.

Coding. Physician shall properly code all professional services rendered to patients. Physician’s coding
shall be used for purposes of billing for Services provided by Physician. All such coding shall be subject
to review and audit by an independent auditing company mutually agreed upon by the parties.

Professional Standards. In performing Services, Physician shall comply with the principles and ethics of
the American Medical Association, the California Medical Association, and any federal, state or
municipal law, statute or ordinance dealing with the practice of medicine by Physician. Physician shall
further abide in all respects with the Code of Conduct applicable to professional health care providers of
any hospital, outpatient clinic or surgery center, including but not limited to SBHCD, at which Physician
shall provide professional services. Physician shall provide Services to all SBHCD patients on a courteous
and prompt basis, be available and accessible to patients, provide them with full and meaningful
information, and render services in a manner which assures continuity of care. Physician further agrees to
treat all other providers and the staff and volunteers of SBHCD with respect, dignity, and professionalism,
and to conduct himself/herself in accordance with the highest standards of ethical behavior and workplace
conduct.

ARTICLE 2 - DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF SBHCD

Duties. SBHCD agrees to furnish at its own cost and expense, for the operation of the Facilities, the
following:

2.1.1  Space and Equipment. Space and equipment as may be reasonably required for the operation of
the Facilities as approved by SBHCD.

2.1.2  Services and Supplies. Maintenance, repair, and replacement of equipment as reasonably
required; all utilities, including telephone, power, light, gas, and water; and all supplies that may
be reasonably required for the operation of the Facilities.

2.1.3  Non-physician Personnel. All non-physician personnel with appropriate education, training, and
experience required to operate the Facilities, including a qualified administrative manager.

Page 2 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- N. LaCorte, MD eff 6-1-2025 06



2.2

23

24

3.1

32

4.1

4.2

5.1

52

53

SBHCD shall have the sole right and responsibility for the hiring and termination of all its
employees. SBHCD shall be responsible for the scheduling of non-physician Facilities personnel.

Eligibility. At all times during the term of this Agreement, SBHCD shall remain eligible to participate in
the Medicare and Medi-Cal programs.

Contracts. SBHCD shall be solely responsible for negotiating all contracts for the reimbursement of
Services provided at the Facilitiess. SBHCD, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall determine the
negotiation parameters for the terms, conditions, and rates for such contracts.

Access to Records. Physician shall have access to SBHCD patient medical and business records for
quality of care and compliance purposes.

ARTICLE 3 - BILLING AND ASSIGNMENT OF REVENUE

Billing and Collection. SBHCD shall perform billing and collection services under this Agreement.
Physician shall cooperate with SBHCD and shall use his/her best efforts to furnish appropriate
documentation of patient care services provided by Physician to enable SBHCD to timely and accurately
bill and collect for such services.

Assignment of Professional Service Revenues. Physician hereby assigns to SBHCD the right to all
revenue from any and all patients, third-party payors, and governmental programs for all Services
rendered by Physician at the Facilities under this Agreement. The Parties intend that SBHCD may bill
and collect directly from the Medicare carrier for Physician’s services to Medicare beneficiaries in
compliance with Medicare Publication 100-04, Chapter 1, Sec. 30.2.7.

ARTICLE 4 - COMPENSATION FOR SERVICES BY PHYSICIAN

Compensation. As compensation for the provision of Services at the Facilities, SBHCD shall pay
Physician as outlined in Exhibit A to this Agreement and in accordance with the normal SBHCD contract
payment process for Services provided by Physician. Physician shall not bill for facility fees,
administrative, supervisory, medical director, or similar services.

Schedule of Charges. SBHCD, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall decide upon the schedule of
charges for the Facilities. Pursuant to California Health and Safety Code Section 32129, the SBHCD
Board of Directors may review the fees and charges for Services provided at the Facilities to ensure such
fees and charges are reasonable, fair, and consistent with the basic commitment of SBHCD to provide
adequate health care to all residents within the Hospital Service Area.

ARTICLE S - TERM AND TERMINATION

Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence at 12:01 AM on the Effective Date and continue for
a period of three (3) years, expiring on May 31, 2028 at 11:59 PM unless renewed by mutual written
agreement of the parties or terminated earlier as provided in this Agreement.

Termination. Either party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement without stating a cause or
reason and without cost or penalty upon ninety (90) days’ prior written notice to the other party.
Notwithstanding, either party shall have the right to terminate the Agreement for “cause” upon written
notice to the other party as set forth below. If this Agreement is terminated prior to expiration of the first
year of the initial term, the parties shall not enter into any new agreement or arrangement that is
substantially the same arrangement during the remainder of such year.

Definition of Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “cause” shall include, but not be limited to, the
occurrence of any of the following events:

Page 3 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- N. LaCorte, MD eff 6-1-2025 o7



54

6.1

5.3.1 SBHCD or Physician is in breach of any material term or condition of this Agreement and such
breach has not been cured within thirty (30) days following written notice of such breach.

5.3.2  SBHCD or Physician becomes insolvent or declares bankruptcy.

5.3.3  The license to practice medicine or to prescribe controlled substances of Physician is revoked or
suspended.

5.3.4  SBHCD fails to carry or reinstate the insurance required in ARTICLE 8 or such coverage is
canceled or revoked within fifteen (15) days following notice of revocation from its insurance
carrier.

5.3.5 Upon the determination that Physician has violated a material term of ARTICLE 9.

5.3.6  The performance by either party of any term, condition, or provision of this Agreement which
jeopardizes the licensure of Hospital, Hospital’s participation in Medicare, Medi-Cal or other
reimbursement or payment program, or Hospital’s full accreditation by The Joint Commission or
any other state or nationally recognized accreditation organization, or the tax-exempt status of
Hospital’s bonds, or if for any other reason such performance violates any statute, ordinance, or
is otherwise deemed illegal, or is deemed unethical by any recognized body, agency, or
association in the healthcare fields, and the jeopardy or violation has not been or cannot be cured
within sixty (60) days from the date notice of such jeopardy or violation has been received by the
parties.

5.3.7 The loss of or reduction in Physician’s medical staff privileges at any facility where Physician
provides professional health care services, whether voluntary or involuntary.

5.3.8 Physician being charged with or convicted of a crime other than an infraction, traffic citation, or
similar charge.

5.3.9 Physician’s engagement in: (i) willful misconduct (which means the knowing and intentional
failure to exercise ordinary care to prevent material injury to SBHCD or the commission of an
intentional act with knowledge that it is likely to result in material injury to the SBHCD), (ii)
fraudulent activities, (iii) crimes or acts of moral turpitude, (iv) any breach of a duty to SBHCD,
a patient, or any third party payor, (v) harassment or abuse of patients, staff, providers, or any
other person, or (vi) any other action or omission that could materially affect SBHCD’s business
or reputation in an adverse manner.

Termination/Expiration Not Subject to Fair Hearing. It is agreed between the parties that should either
party exercise its right to terminate this Agreement such decision to terminate, and the actual termination
or expiration of this Agreement, shall apply to rights under this Agreement only and not to Physician’s
medical staff privileges or membership on the medical staff of Hospital. The termination or expiration of
this Agreement shall not be subject to the Fair Hearing Plan of the Medical Staff Bylaws, the hearing
procedures provided by Healthcare District Law, or any other fair hearing procedure regarding medical
staff appointments or privileges.

ARTICLE 6 - INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

Independent Contractor Status. Physician is engaged in an independent contractor relationship with
SBHCD in performing all work, services, duties, and obligations pursuant to this Agreement. Neither
SBHCD nor Hospital shall exercise any control or direction over the methods by which Physician
performs work and functions, except that Physician shall perform at all times in strict accordance with
then currently approved methods and practices of Physician’s professional specialty. SBHCD’s sole
interest is to ensure that Physician performs and renders services in a competent, efficient, and satisfactory
manner in accordance with high medical standards.

Page 4 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- N. LaCorte, MD eff 6-1-2025 608



6.2 Independent Contractor Responsibilities. The parties expressly agree that no work, act, commission, or
omission of Physician pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be construed to make
or render Physician, the agent or employee of SBHCD. Physician shall not be entitled to receive from
SBHCD vacation pay, sick leave, retirement benefits, Social Security, workers’ compensation, disability
or unemployment insurance benefits or any other employee benefit. Physician shall be solely responsible
for paying when due all income, employment and withholding taxes and employment benefits, if any,
including estimated taxes, incurred as a result of the compensation paid by SBHCD to Physician for
Services under this Agreement. Physician is responsible for providing, at his/her own expense, disability,
unemployment, workers’ compensation and other insurance (if applicable), training, permits and licenses.

ARTICLE 7 - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

7.1 SBHCD Representations and Warranties. SBHCD for itself, and its board of directors, officers,

employees, and agents (collectively, “Agents”), represents and warrants to Physician, upon execution and
while this Agreement is in effect, as follows:

7.1.1  SBHCD has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its
obligations under this Agreement;

7.1.2  This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by SBHCD and is a legal,
valid, binding obligation of SBHCD, enforceable in accordance with its terms;

7.1.3  The parties have bargained at arms’ length to determine Physician’s compensation under this
Agreement, the compensation is fair market value for the Services; and the compensation is
consistent with fair market value for similar services in the community; and

7.1.4 The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby by SBHCD will not violate any provisions of, or constitute a default under,
any contract or other agreement to which SBHCD is a party or by which it is bound, other than
violations, defaults or conflicts that would not materially and adversely affect the ability of
SBHCD to perform its obligations pursuant to this Agreement.

7.2 Physician Representations and Warranties. Physician, for Physician and Physician’s Agents, represents
and warrants to SBHCD, upon execution and while this Agreement is in effect, as follows:

7.2.1 Physician is not bound by any agreement or arrangement which would preclude Physician from
entering into this Agreement or from fully performing the Services;

7.2.2  Physician's license to practice medicine in California or in any other jurisdiction has never been
denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished under threat of disciplinary
action, or restricted in any way;

7.2.3  Physician's medical staff privileges at any health care facility have never been denied, suspended,
revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished under threat of disciplinary action, or made subject
to terms of probation or any other restriction;

7.2.4  Physician has not in the past conducted, and is presently not conducting, his/her medical practice
in such a manner as to cause Physician to be suspended, excluded, barred or sanctioned under
Medicare or Medi-Cal, or any government licensing agency, nor have they ever been convicted
of a criminal offense related to health care, or listed by a federal agency as debarred, excluded or
otherwise ineligible for federal program participation;

7.2.5 Physician has, and shall maintain throughout the term of this Agreement, an unrestricted license
to practice medicine in California and Medical Staff privileges at the Hospital,

Page 5 of 9
PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- N. LaCorte, MD eff 6-1-2025 69



8.1

9.1

7.2.6  Physician has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its
obligations under this Agreement;

7.2.7  This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by Physician and is a legal,
valid, binding obligation of Physician, enforceable in accordance with its terms;

7.2.8 The parties have bargained at arms’ length to determine Physician’s compensation under this
Agreement, the compensation is fair market value for the Services; and the compensation is
consistent with fair market value for similar services in the community; and

7.2.9 The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby by Physician will not violate and provisions of, or constitute a default under,
and contract or other agreement to which Physician is a party or by which it is bound, other than
violations, defaults or conflicts that would not materially and adversely affect the ability of
Physician to perform the Services required under this Agreement.

ARTICLE 8 - LIABILITY/MALPRACTICE INSURANCE COVERAGE

Coverages. SBHCD shall maintain general and professional liability insurance coverage for Physician
for Services provided by Physician to SBHCD patients during the term of this Agreement in a minimum
amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence and $3,000,000 annual aggregate. In the event the coverage that
SBHCD obtains to comply with this Section of this Agreement is a “claims made” policy, and SBHCD,
as applicable, changes insurance carriers or terminates coverage upon or after termination of this
Agreement, SBHCD shall immediately obtain and maintain “tail” coverage in the amounts otherwise
required under this Section for at least seven (7) years following termination of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 9 - PROTECTED HEALTH INFORMATION

Protected Health Information. Physician shall maintain the confidentiality of all Protected Health
Information (“PHI”) in accordance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations,
including, but not limited to, the California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act and the Federal
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and regulations promulgated thereunder
(“HIPAA”). Without limiting the foregoing, Physician agrees to maintain PHI, as defined from time to
time under HIPAA, which may be made available to or received by Physician pursuant to this Agreement,
in accordance with the requirements of HIPAA. Physician agrees to:

9.1.1 Not use or further disclose PHI in a manner that would violate HIPAA if done by SBHCD or
violate the requirements of applicable laws or this Agreement;

9.1.2  Use appropriate safeguards to prevent use or disclosure of PHI except as permitted by law and
the terms of this Agreement, and report to SBHCD any use or disclosure of PHI not permitted by
law or by this Agreement of which Physician becomes aware;

9.1.3  Comply with the elements of any compliance program established by SBHCD that applies to the
use or disclosure of PHI and ensure that any subcontractors or agents to whom Physician provides
PHI agree to the same restrictions and conditions that apply to Physician with respect to such
PHI;

9.1.4  In accordance with HIPAA, (i) make available PHI to the subject patient; (ii) make available PHI
for amendment and incorporate any amendments to PHI; and (iii) make available the information
required to provide an accounting of disclosures of PHI to the subject patient;

9.1.5 Make Physician’s internal practices, books, and records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI

available to the Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services for
purposes of determining SBHCD’s and Physician’s compliance with HIPAA;

Page 6 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- N. LaCorte, MD eff 6-1-2025 70



9.2

10.1

9.1.6 At termination of this Agreement, return or destroy all PHI received from or created by SBHCD
and retain no copies of such PHI or, if return or destruction is not permissible under law or the
terms of this Agreement, continue to maintain all PHI in accordance with the provisions of this
Section and limit further uses and disclosures to those purposes that make the return or destruction
of the information infeasible.

Electronic Protected Health Information (“EPHI™). Physician agrees that Physician will: (i) implement
administrative, physical, and technical safeguards that reasonably and appropriately protect the
confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the EPHI that Physician creates, receives, maintains, or
transmits on behalf of SBHCD; (ii) report to SBHCD any security incident with respect to EPHI of which
Physician becomes aware; and (iii) ensure that any agent, including a subcontractor, to whom Physician
provides EPHI agrees to implement reasonable and appropriate safeguards to protect such information.

ARTICLE 10 - REQUIRED DISCLOSURES

Required Disclosures. Physician shall notify SBHCD in writing within three (3) days after any of the
following events occur:

10.1.1 Physician's license to practice medicine in the State of California or any other jurisdiction lapses
or is denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished (under threat of
disciplinary action) or made subject to terms of probation or other restriction;

10.1.2  Physician's medical staff membership and/or privileges at any health care facility or entity are
denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished (under threat of disciplinary
action), or made subject to terms of probation or other restriction;

10.1.3 Physician is required to pay damages in any malpractice action by way of judgment or
settlement, except that Physician shall not be required to breach a settlement or confidentiality
agreement;

10.1.4 Receipt of notice of the commencement of any investigation into Physician's medical license or
Physician's medical practice by the Medical Board of California, California Attorney General,
the Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General, the Department of
Justice, or any other entity of federal, state, or local government;

10.1.5 Physician's Drug Enforcement Agency registration number is revoked, suspended, terminated,
relinquished, placed on terms of probation, or restricted in any way;

10.1.6 An event occurs that substantially interrupts all or a portion of Physician's professional practice,
materially adversely affects Physician's ability to perform Physician's obligations hereunder,
including the Services, or could likely cause Physician to be in breach of this Agreement; or

10.1.7 Physician being charged with or convicted of a criminal offense related to health care, or
Physician's listing by a federal agency as being debarred, excluded, or otherwise ineligible for
federal program participation.

10.1.8 The occurrence of any event that would constitute “cause” pursuant to Section 5.3.

ARTICLE 11 - GENERAL PROVISIONS

Notices. Any notice to be given to any party hereunder shall be deposited in the United States Mail, duly
registered or certified, with return receipt requested, with postage paid, and addressed to the party for
whom intended, at the addresses set forth in the signature block, or to such other address or addresses as
the parties may hereafter designate in writing to each other.

Page 7 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- N. LaCorte, MD eff 6-1-2025 7 1



11.2

11.3

114

11.5

11.6

11.7

11.8

11.9

SBHCD: San Benito Health Care District
Office of the Chief Executive Officer
911 Sunset Drive
Hollister, CA 95023

Physician: Natalie LaCorte Medical Corporation
Natalie LaCorte, M.D.
340 Regal Drive
Hollister CA, 95023

No Waiver. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed, or shall constitute, a
waiver of any other provision, whether or not similar, nor shall any waiver constitute a continuing waiver.
No waiver shall be binding unless executed in writing by the party making the waiver.

Governing Law and Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by, construed and enforced in accordance
with the laws of the State of California. Venue shall be in the County of San Benito, California.

Ownership of Patient Records. All Facilities’ patient records shall be maintained by SBHCD and are the
property of SBHCD. Physician shall have the right to access such records during normal business hours.

Patient Choice. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, all compensation paid to Physician
pursuant to this Agreement is solely for the purpose of obtaining the services of Physician for patients of
the SBHCD community. The parties recognize and affirm the importance of individual patient choice in
selection of medical services. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be interpreted to obligate,
encourage, or solicit, in any way, the referral of any individual patient to any health care facility, including
the Facility, contrary to that patient’s choice of another provider of medical services. Further, nothing in
this Agreement shall be interpreted to prevent, restrict, or discourage the Physician from referring patients
to any other provider of health care services.

Exclusive Property of SBHCD. All data, files, records, documents, promotional materials, and similar
items relating to the business of SBHCD, whether prepared by or with the assistance of Physician or
otherwise coming into Physician’s possession shall remain the exclusive property of SBHCD and shall
not be removed from SBHCD’s facilities under any circumstances without the prior written consent of
SBHCD.

Confidentiality. The parties acknowledge and agree that during the term of this Agreement and in the
course of the discharge of Physician’s duties hereunder, Physician shall have access to and become
acquainted with information concerning the operation of SBHCD, and information which, pursuant to
applicable law and regulation, is deemed to be confidential, including, but not limited to, trade secrets,
medical records, patient medical and personal information, and personnel records. Physician agrees that
such information shall not be disclosed either directly or indirectly to any other person or entity or used
by Physician in any way either during the term of this Agreement or at any other time thereafter, except
as is required herein. Physician understands breach of this article will be an irremediable breach of this
Agreement. Such breach will result in immediate termination of this Agreement.

Binding Agreement: No Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit
of the parties to it and their respective legal representatives, successors, and permitted assigns. No party
may assign this Agreement or any rights hereunder, or may delegate any of the duties to be performed
hereunder without the prior written consent of the other party.

Dispute Resolution. If any dispute, controversy, or claim arises out of this Agreement, for a period of
thirty (30) days following written notice of the dispute, controversy or claim from one party to the other,
the parties will use their good faith efforts to resolve the dispute, controversy, or claim. If the matter
cannot be resolved by the parties in this fashion, then such dispute, claim or controversy shall be heard in
San Benito County, California, pursuant to the provisions of California Code of Civil Procedure Sections
638 through 645.1, inclusive. The hearing shall be final and binding to the greatest extent permitted by

Page 8 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- N. LaCorte, MD eff 6-1-2025 72



11.10

11.11

law, and the cost thereof, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, shall be borne by the losing party in such
proportions as the referee may decide. Judgment on the award may be entered in any court having
jurisdiction thereof.

Section 952 of Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1980. In accordance with Section 952 of the
Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1980 (PL 96-499), Physician agrees that the books and records of
Physician will be available to the Secretary of Department of Health and Human Services and the
Comptroller General of the United States, or their duly authorized representatives, for four (4) years after
termination of this Agreement. In the event that any of the services to be performed under this Agreement
are performed by any subcontractor of Physician at a value or cost of $10,000 or more over a twelve (12)
month period, Physician shall comply and assure that such subcontractor complies with the provisions of
Section 952 of the Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1980. If not applicable to this Agreement, this Section
shall automatically be repealed.

Entire Agreement: Amendment. This Agreement, its exhibits, and all referenced documents constitute
the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to the subject matter contained herein. This
Agreement supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, representations and understandings of
the parties which relate to the subject matter of this Agreement. No supplement, amendment or
modification of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by all of the parties.

The parties hereby executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date first set forth above.

SBHCD PHYSICIAN
SAN BENITO HEALTH CARE DISTRICT Natalie LaCorte Medical Corporation
By: By:
Mary T. Casillas, Chief Executive Officer Natalie LaCorte, M.D. Chief Executive Officer
Date: Date:
Page 9 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- N. LaCorte, MD eff 6-1-2025 73



EXHIBIT A

PHYSICIAN SERVICES, COMPENSATION & SCHEDULE

A.l Services. Physician shall provide professional medical hospitalist Services at the Facilities as
specified by SBHCD on the terms set forth below:

Al

Al2

A.13.

Hospitalist Coverage Panel. Physician shall serve as a member and equal participant of the
Hospital Coverage Panel. Physician shall provide Services as mutually agreed by the parties,
but at a minimum level such that the Hospitalist Coverage Panel will provide:

A.1.1.1 Two 12 hour onsite day shifts (7:00 AM to 7:00 PM, or such other times as the
parties agree), 365 days per year at the Hospital.

A.1.1.2  One 12 hour on-call night shift (7:00 PM to 7:00 AM, or such other times as the
parties agree) 365 days per year at the Hospital.

A.1.1.3  Hospitalist services at the Clinics and SNFs on a mutually agreed upon schedule
to be determined within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date. Provided,
Physician will only be required to provide Services at the Clinics and SNFs if the
parties enter into a separate agreement (or addendum to this Agreement) requiring
such Services.

Preparation of Hospitalist Coverage Panel Schedule. Parties agree that Natalie LaCorte,
M.D. in conjunction with Jiwu Sun, M.D., will compile the schedule for the Hospitalist
Coverage Panel. This schedule will detail the availability and necessary arrangements for
delivering Services. Notwithstanding, SBHCD reserves the right to approve or request
modifications to the proposed schedule to ensure it meets operational and compliance
requirements.

Specialty Services. Physician shall provide the following hospitalist Services:

Primary management of the care of general inpatient medical admissions, including patients
admitted at the request of attending or referring physicians; responding to unassigned patients
and providing cross-coverage between departments; family conferences as requested in
consultation with social services; consultations, upon request, for members of the Hospital’s
Medical Staff; and assistance with the management and treatment of patients for whom
Physician is responsible as head of a multi-disciplinary team. When the patient has an
attending/referring physician, Physician shall include such physician in decision making and
keep such physician informed.

A.2 Compensation.

A2.1

Schedule and Rate. Physician’s compensation (“Compensation”), shall be paid on a
monthly basis on SBHCD’s standard payment cycle for similar agreements and shall be paid
at the following rates:

A2.1.1 On-site day shifts shall be paid at the rate of $185.00/hour.
A2.1.2 On-call night shifts shall be paid at the rate of $82.50/hour.

On each anniversary of the Effective Date, the hourly rate then in effect shall be increased
by 3% to reflect adjustments to the cost of living.

74



A3

A4

A2.2 Payment on Termination. On termination of this Agreement, which is not extended,
renewed or superseded by another agreement, SBHCD shall pay to Physician any amounts
due to Physician within forty-five (45) days after the termination of this Agreement.

A2.3 Agreement Includes All Compensation from SBHCD. Incorporated into Compensation,
unless specifically excluded, are all the Physician’s sources of practice revenues and income,

including call coverage stipends, other hospital on-call fees, hospital stipends, and reading
fees; provided, however, that services as a medical director within SBHCD, service on
medical staff or SBHCD positions such as department chair or chief of staff, call panels
which are not currently in effect, or other items specifically excluded by written agreement
between Physician and SBHCD shall be independently compensated to Physician by
SBHCD, if any, and are not subject to the terms of this Agreement.

A.2.4 Expenses. Physician shall be solely responsible for all expenses incurred in the provision of
Services except for those that are the responsibility of SBHCD pursuant to this Agreement.
Notwithstanding, upon written application to SBHCD, SBHCD may, in its sole discretion,
agree to reimburse Physician for continuing medical education (CME) course tuition and
associated travel and meal expenses not to exceed $2,500 per calendar year, provided that
Physician demonstrates that attending the CME would substantially further the interests of
patient care at SBHCD.

Services and Activities in Support of SBHCD. SBHCD and Physician acknowledge and agree that
certain services and activities may be required of Physician in support of SBHCD and Clinic to ensure
a continuing high level of patient care. To that end, Physician shall participate in functions/events
from time to time, in support of the SBHCD Clinics and the SBHCD facilities. In addition, to assist
in the recruitment and retention of highly skilled practitioners, upon SBHCD’s request, Physician
shall participate in recruitment meetings with SBHCD physician candidates. SBHCD shall reimburse
Physician for reasonable meal expenses incurred as part of meeting with physician candidates hosted
at the request of SBHCD.

Practice Guidelines/Best Quality Practices. Physician shall demonstrate cooperative work
arrangements with the Medical Staff, Quality and Safety Leadership and SBHCD Administration to
achieve mutually accepted practice guidelines and the best quality practices. These practices will be
shall be evidenced based, and include at minimum the following:

A4l Attendance at regular monthly meetings with SBHCD Clinic and Hospital leadership when
requested to review any operational or quality issues.

A42 Timely completion of all incomplete inpatient records, including completion of all
admission and discharge medication reconciliation.

Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

A43 Completion of all office visit notes within twenty-four (24) hours of visit.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

A4d4 Timely signing of orders.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

A45 Timely discharges summaries.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

75



A4.6 Commitment to use of SBHCD supported electronic health/medical record platforms.

A4 Compliance with all governmental and SBHCD quality reporting initiatives that may come
into effect from time to time.

A48 Timely arrival at the Facilities, defined as being ready, willing and able to provide Services
not less than 10 minutes before the commencement of any in-person shift and responding
to on-call coverage calls within the times set forth in the Medical Staff rules and
regulations.

A5 Quality Metrics. In addition to the practice guidelines and the best quality practices set forth in
Section A .4, the parties shall, within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date, mutually agree on quality and
performance metrics for the Services.

Remainder of page intentionally left blank

76



PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR HOSPITALIST COVERAGE PANEL

This Professional Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made, entered into and effective as of June 1, 2025
(“Effective Date”), by and between San Benito Health Care District, a local health care district organized and
operated pursuant to Division 23 of the California Health and Safety Code (“SBHCD”), and Cristian Carrillo
DO Medical Group (“Physician™).

RECITALS

A. SBHCD owns and operates Hazel Hawkins Memorial Hospital, a licensed general acute care facility
located at 911 Sunset Drive, Hollister, California (“Hospital”). Hospital provides inpatient and outpatient
services to residents of the San Benito Health Care District and surrounding communities which constitute
the Hospital’s service area (“Hospital Service Area™).

B. SBHCD owns and operates specialty and rural health clinics as defined in Title 22, California Code of
Regulations section 51115.5 to provide services to patients in the Hospital Service Area (“Clinics”) and
two skilled nursing facilities (“SNFs”). Together, the Hospital, Clinics, and SNFs are referred to herein
as the “Facilities”.

C. Physician is licensed to practice medicine in the State of California, is a member in good standing of the
medical staff of Hospital, and is experienced and qualified to provide hospitalist services.

D. Section 32129 of the California Health and Safety Code provides that a health care district may contract
with a Physician to render professional health services in order to ensure that adequate health care is
available to all residents within its service area.

E. SBHCD has determined that entering into this Agreement with Physician is in the best interests of SBHCD
and the public health of the residents of the Hospital Service Area and is an appropriate way to assure
availability of hospitalist services to patients in the Hospital Service Area. SBHCD has established a
hospitalist coverage panel (“Hospitalist Coverage Panel”) of qualified physicians which shall ensure the
availability of physician coverage for hospitalist services as needed at the Facilities.

F. The parties desire to enter into this Agreement to set forth their respective responsibilities in connection
with the Services provided by Physician in the Hospital Service Area during the term of this Agreement.

The parties hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE 1 - DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF PHYSICIAN

1.1 Medical Services. Physician shall provide professional health care services in Physician’s medical
specialty to patients at the Facilities and on the schedule more fully described in Exhibit A, which is
attached to this Agreement and incorporated by this reference (“Services”). Services include services to
Medicare and Medi-Cal patients, patients of any other federal health care program or a state health care
financial program (“Governmental Programs”), workers’ compensation beneficiaries, and patients
eligible for participation in SBHCD’s charity care program. Physician shall cooperate to enable SBHCD’s
participation in Medicare, Medi-Cal, Governmental Programs, workers’ compensation services and
commercial payor programs. Physician shall provide Services to all patients, including Medicare, Medi-
Cal, Governmental Program, and workers’ compensation beneficiaries, in a non-discriminatory manner
and in accordance with all applicable laws and SBHCD policies and procedures, as developed and
implemented in collaboration with physician leadership of the Facilities.

1.2 Qualifications. Physician shall: (i) be duly licensed to practice medicine by the State of California; (ii)
be qualified to perform the Services by having adequate levels of competency and experience; (iii) have
skill comparable to those prevailing in the community; (iv) not be excluded from participation in any

Page 1 of 9
PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- C. Carrillo, DO eff 6-1-2025 77



1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

2.1

governmental healthcare program; (v) be approved for and maintain active membership and/or clinical
privileges on the Hospital's medical staff in accordance with medical staff bylaws, rules and regulations,
and other medical staff governing directives; (vi) be certified as a participating physician in the Medicare
and Medi-Cal programs; and (vii) hold an unrestricted Drug Enforcement Administration ("DEA")
registration number.

Compliance. In connection with the operation and conduct of the Facilities and rendering of Services,
Physician shall, at all times, comply with the applicable terms of this Agreement and with all applicable
federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations, including requirements for participation in the
Medicare and Medi-Cal programs, the Hospital medical staff bylaws, rules and regulations, and applicable
policies and procedures, and will at all times be aware of and participate in meeting the goals and
objectives of the SBHCD Corporate Compliance program.

Credentialing. In order to be efficiently credentialed with payors that have contracted with SBHCD,
Physician shall participate in the Council for Affordable Quality Healthcare (“CAQH”) credentialing
program and shall timely comply with requests from CAQH or SBHCD personnel for (i) credentialing
information regarding Physician, and (ii) documents necessary for Physician’s credentialing.

Use of Premises. No part of the SBHCD premises shall be used at any time by Physician as an office for
the general or private practice of medicine.

Medical Records/Chart Notes. Physician shall provide timely, appropriate, and necessary documentation
for each patient’s medical record for all patient encounters at the Facilities in compliance with the
Facilities’ policies and procedures.

Coding. Physician shall properly code all professional services rendered to patients. Physician’s coding
shall be used for purposes of billing for Services provided by Physician. All such coding shall be subject
to review and audit by an independent auditing company mutually agreed upon by the parties.

Professional Standards. In performing Services, Physician shall comply with the principles and ethics of
the American Medical Association, the California Medical Association, and any federal, state or
municipal law, statute or ordinance dealing with the practice of medicine by Physician. Physician shall
further abide in all respects with the Code of Conduct applicable to professional health care providers of
any hospital, outpatient clinic or surgery center, including but not limited to SBHCD, at which Physician
shall provide professional services. Physician shall provide Services to all SBHCD patients on a courteous
and prompt basis, be available and accessible to patients, provide them with full and meaningful
information, and render services in a manner which assures continuity of care. Physician further agrees to
treat all other providers and the staff and volunteers of SBHCD with respect, dignity, and professionalism,
and to conduct himself/herself in accordance with the highest standards of ethical behavior and workplace
conduct.

ARTICLE 2 - DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF SBHCD

Duties. SBHCD agrees to furnish at its own cost and expense, for the operation of the Facilities, the
following:

2.1.1  Space and Equipment. Space and equipment as may be reasonably required for the operation of
the Facilities as approved by SBHCD.

2.1.2  Services and Supplies. Maintenance, repair, and replacement of equipment as reasonably
required; all utilities, including telephone, power, light, gas, and water; and all supplies that may
be reasonably required for the operation of the Facilities.

2.1.3  Non-physician Personnel. All non-physician personnel with appropriate education, training, and
experience required to operate the Facilities, including a qualified administrative manager.

Page 2 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- C. Carrillo, DO eff 6-1-2025 78



22

23

24

3.1

32

4.1

4.2

5.1

52

53

SBHCD shall have the sole right and responsibility for the hiring and termination of all its
employees. SBHCD shall be responsible for the scheduling of non-physician Facilities personnel.

Eligibility. At all times during the term of this Agreement, SBHCD shall remain eligible to participate in
the Medicare and Medi-Cal programs.

Contracts. SBHCD shall be solely responsible for negotiating all contracts for the reimbursement of
Services provided at the Facilities. SBHCD, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall determine the
negotiation parameters for the terms, conditions, and rates for such contracts.

Access to Records. Physician shall have access to SBHCD patient medical and business records for
quality of care and compliance purposes.

ARTICLE 3 - BILLING AND ASSIGNMENT OF REVENUE

Billing and Collection. SBHCD shall perform billing and collection services under this Agreement.
Physician shall cooperate with SBHCD and shall use his/her best efforts to furnish appropriate
documentation of patient care services provided by Physician to enable SBHCD to timely and accurately
bill and collect for such services.

Assignment of Professional Service Revenues. Physician hereby assigns to SBHCD the right to all
revenue from any and all patients, third-party payors, and governmental programs for all Services
rendered by Physician at the Facilities under this Agreement. The Parties intend that SBHCD may bill
and collect directly from the Medicare carrier for Physician’s services to Medicare beneficiaries in
compliance with Medicare Publication 100-04, Chapter 1, Sec. 30.2.7.

ARTICLE 4 - COMPENSATION FOR SERVICES BY PHYSICIAN

Compensation. As compensation for the provision of Services at the Facilities, SBHCD shall pay
Physician as outlined in Exhibit A to this Agreement and in accordance with the normal SBHCD contract
payment process for Services provided by Physician. Physician shall not bill for facility fees,
administrative, supervisory, medical director, or similar services.

Schedule of Charges. SBHCD, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall decide upon the schedule of
charges for the Facilities. Pursuant to California Health and Safety Code Section 32129, the SBHCD
Board of Directors may review the fees and charges for Services provided at the Facilities to ensure such
fees and charges are reasonable, fair, and consistent with the basic commitment of SBHCD to provide
adequate health care to all residents within the Hospital Service Area.

ARTICLE 5 - TERM AND TERMINATION

Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence at 12:01 AM on the Effective Date and continue for
a period of three (3) years, expiring on May 31, 2028 at 11:59 PM unless renewed by mutual written
agreement of the parties or terminated earlier as provided in this Agreement.

Termination. Either party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement without stating a cause or
reason and without cost or penalty upon ninety (90) days’ prior written notice to the other party.
Notwithstanding, either party shall have the right to terminate the Agreement for “cause” upon written
notice to the other party as set forth below. If this Agreement is terminated prior to expiration of the first
year of the initial term, the parties shall not enter into any new agreement or arrangement that is
substantially the same arrangement during the remainder of such year.

Definition of Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “cause” shall include, but not be limited to, the
occurrence of any of the following events:

Page 3 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- C. Carrillo, DO eff 6-1-2025 79



54

6.1

5.3.1 SBHCD or Physician is in breach of any material term or condition of this Agreement and such
breach has not been cured within thirty (30) days following written notice of such breach.

5.3.2  SBHCD or Physician becomes insolvent or declares bankruptcy.

5.3.3  The license to practice medicine or to prescribe controlled substances of Physician is revoked or
suspended.

5.3.4 SBHCD fails to carry or reinstate the insurance required in ARTICLE 8 or such coverage is
canceled or revoked within fifteen (15) days following notice of revocation from its insurance
carrier.

5.3.5 Upon the determination that Physician has violated a material term of ARTICLE 9.

5.3.6  The performance by either party of any term, condition, or provision of this Agreement which
Jeopardizes the licensure of Hospital, Hospital’s participation in Medicare, Medi-Cal or other
reimbursement or payment program, or Hospital’s full accreditation by The Joint Commission or
any other state or nationally recognized accreditation organization, or the tax-exempt status of
Hospital’s bonds, or if for any other reason such performance violates any statute, ordinance, or
is otherwise deemed illegal, or is deemed unethical by any recognized body, agency, or
association in the healthcare fields, and the jeopardy or violation has not been or cannot be cured
within sixty (60) days from the date notice of such jeopardy or violation has been received by the
parties.

5.3.7  The loss of or reduction in Physician’s medical staff privileges at any facility where Physician
provides professional health care services, whether voluntary or involuntary.

5.3.8  Physician being charged with or convicted of a crime other than an infraction, traffic citation, or
similar charge.

5.3.9 Physician’s engagement in: (i) willful misconduct (which means the knowing and intentional
failure to exercise ordinary care to prevent material injury to SBHCD or the commission of an
intentional act with knowledge that it is likely to result in material injury to the SBHCD), (ii)
fraudulent activities, (iii) crimes or acts of moral turpitude, (iv) any breach of a duty to SBHCD,
a patient, or any third party payor, (v) harassment or abuse of patients, staff, providers, or any
other person, or (vi) any other action or omission that could materially affect SBHCD’s business
or reputation in an adverse manner.

Termination/Expiration Not Subject to Fair Hearing. It is agreed between the parties that should either
party exercise its right to terminate this Agreement such decision to terminate, and the actual termination
or expiration of this Agreement, shall apply to rights under this Agreement only and not to Physician’s
medical staff privileges or membership on the medical staff of Hospital. The termination or expiration of
this Agreement shall not be subject to the Fair Hearing Plan of the Medical Staff Bylaws, the hearing
procedures provided by Healthcare District Law, or any other fair hearing procedure regarding medical
staff appointments or privileges.

ARTICLE 6 - INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

Independent Contractor Status. Physician is engaged in an independent contractor relationship with
SBHCD in performing all work, services, duties, and obligations pursuant to this Agreement. Neither
SBHCD nor Hospital shall exercise any control or direction over the methods by which Physician
performs work and functions, except that Physician shall perform at all times in strict accordance with
then currently approved methods and practices of Physician’s professional specialty. SBHCD’s sole
interest is to ensure that Physician performs and renders services in a competent, efficient, and satisfactory
manner in accordance with high medical standards.

Page 4 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- C. Carrillo, DO eff 6-1-2025 80



6.2 Independent Contractor Responsibilities. The parties expressly agree that no work, act, commission, or
omission of Physician pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be construed to make
or render Physician, the agent or employee of SBHCD. Physician shall not be entitled to receive from
SBHCD vacation pay, sick leave, retirement benefits, Social Security, workers’ compensation, disability
or unemployment insurance benefits or any other employee benefit. Physician shall be solely responsible
for paying when due all income, employment and withholding taxes and employment benefits, if any,
including estimated taxes, incurred as a result of the compensation paid by SBHCD to Physician for
Services under this Agreement. Physician is responsible for providing, at his/her own expense, disability,
unemployment, workers’ compensation and other insurance (if applicable), training, permits and licenses.

ARTICLE 7 - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

7.1 SBHCD Representations and Warranties. SBHCD for itself, and its board of directors, officers,
employees, and agents (collectively, “Agents”), represents and warrants to Physician, upon execution and
while this Agreement is in effect, as follows:

7.1.1  SBHCD has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its
obligations under this Agreement;

7.1.2 This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by SBHCD and is a legal,
valid, binding obligation of SBHCD, enforceable in accordance with its terms;

7.1.3  The parties have bargained at arms’ length to determine Physician’s compensation under this
Agreement, the compensation is fair market value for the Services; and the compensation is
consistent with fair market value for similar services in the community; and

7.14 The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby by SBHCD will not violate any provisions of, or constitute a default under,
any contract or other agreement to which SBHCD is a party or by which it is bound, other than
violations, defaults or conflicts that would not materially and adversely affect the ability of
SBHCD to perform its obligations pursuant to this Agreement.

72 Physician Representations and Warranties. Physician, for Physician and Physician’s Agents, represents
and warrants to SBHCD, upon execution and while this Agreement is in effect, as follows:

7.2.1  Physician is not bound by any agreement or arrangement which would preclude Physician from
entering into this Agreement or from fully performing the Services;

7.2.2  Physician's license to practice medicine in California or in any other jurisdiction has never been
denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished under threat of disciplinary
action, or restricted in any way;

7.2.3  Physician's medical staff privileges at any health care facility have never been denied, suspended,
revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished under threat of disciplinary action, or made subject
to terms of probation or any other restriction;

7.2.4  Physician has not in the past conducted, and is presently not conducting, his/her medical practice
in such a manner as to cause Physician to be suspended, excluded, barred or sanctioned under
Medicare or Medi-Cal, or any government licensing agency, nor have they ever been convicted
of a criminal offense related to health care, or listed by a federal agency as debarred, excluded or
otherwise ineligible for federal program participation;

7.2.5 Physician has, and shall maintain throughout the term of this Agreement, an unrestricted license
to practice medicine in California and Medical Staff privileges at the Hospital;

Page 5 of 9
PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- C. Carrillo, DO eff 6-1-2025 81



8.1

9.1

7.2.6  Physician has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its
obligations under this Agreement;

72.7  This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by Physician and is a legal,
valid, binding obligation of Physician, enforceable in accordance with its terms;

7.2.8  The parties have bargained at arms’ length to determine Physician’s compensation under this
Agreement, the compensation is fair market value for the Services; and the compensation is
consistent with fair market value for similar services in the community; and

7.2.9 The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby by Physician will not violate and provisions of, or constitute a default under,
and contract or other agreement to which Physician is a party or by which it is bound, other than
violations, defaults or conflicts that would not materially and adversely affect the ability of
Physician to perform the Services required under this Agreement.

ARTICLE 8 - LIABILITY/MALPRACTICE INSURANCE COVERAGE

Coverages. SBHCD shall maintain general and professional liability insurance coverage for Physician
for Services provided by Physician to SBHCD patients during the term of this Agreement in a minimum
amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence and $3,000,000 annual aggregate. In the event the coverage that
SBHCD obtains to comply with this Section of this Agreement is a “claims made” policy, and SBHCD,
as applicable, changes insurance carriers or terminates coverage upon or after termination of this
Agreement, SBHCD shall immediately obtain and maintain “tail” coverage in the amounts otherwise
required under this Section for at least seven (7) years following termination of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 9 - PROTECTED HEALTH INFORMATION

Protected Health Information. Physician shall maintain the confidentiality of all Protected Health
Information (“PHI”) in accordance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations,
including, but not limited to, the California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act and the Federal
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and regulations promulgated thereunder
(“HIPAA”). Without limiting the foregoing, Physician agrees to maintain PHI, as defined from time to
time under HIPAA, which may be made available to or received by Physician pursuant to this Agreement,
in accordance with the requirements of HIPAA. Physician agrees to:

9.1.1 Not use or further disclose PHI in a manner that would violate HIPAA if done by SBHCD or
violate the requirements of applicable laws or this Agreement;

9.1.2 Use appropriate safeguards to prevent use or disclosure of PHI except as permitted by law and
the terms of this Agreement, and report to SBHCD any use or disclosure of PHI not permitted by
law or by this Agreement of which Physician becomes aware;

9.1.3  Comply with the elements of any compliance program established by SBHCD that applies to the
use or disclosure of PHI and ensure that any subcontractors or agents to whom Physician provides
PHI agree to the same restrictions and conditions that apply to Physician with respect to such
PHI,

9.1.4  Inaccordance with HIPAA, (i) make available PHI to the subject patient; (ii) make available PHI
for amendment and incorporate any amendments to PHI; and (iii) make available the information
required to provide an accounting of disclosures of PHI to the subject patient;

9.1.5 Make Physician’s internal practices, books, and records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI

available to the Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services for
purposes of determining SBHCD’s and Physician’s compliance with HIPAA;

Page 6 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- C. Carrillo, DO eff 6-1-2025 82



9.2

10.1

9.1.6 At termination of this Agreement, return or destroy all PHI received from or created by SBHCD
and retain no copies of such PHI or, if return or destruction is not permissible under law or the
terms of this Agreement, continue to maintain all PHI in accordance with the provisions of this
Section and limit further uses and disclosures to those purposes that make the return or destruction
of the information infeasible.

Electronic Protected Health Information (“EPHI™). Physician agrees that Physician will: (i) implement
administrative, physical, and technical safeguards that reasonably and appropriately protect the
confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the EPHI that Physician creates, receives, maintains, or
transmits on behalf of SBHCD; (ii) report to SBHCD any security incident with respect to EPHI of which
Physician becomes aware; and (iii) ensure that any agent, including a subcontractor, to whom Physician
provides EPHI agrees to implement reasonable and appropriate safeguards to protect such information.

ARTICLE 10 - REQUIRED DISCLOSURES

Required Disclosures. Physician shall notify SBHCD in writing within three (3) days after any of the
following events occur:

10.1.1 Physician's license to practice medicine in the State of California or any other jurisdiction lapses
or is denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished (under threat of
disciplinary action) or made subject to terms of probation or other restriction;

10.1.2  Physician's medical staff membership and/or privileges at any health care facility or entity are
denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished (under threat of disciplinary
action), or made subject to terms of probation or other restriction;

10.1.3 Physician is required to pay damages in any malpractice action by way of judgment or
settlement, except that Physician shall not be required to breach a settlement or confidentiality
agreement;

10.1.4 Receipt of notice of the commencement of any investigation into Physician's medical license or
Physician's medical practice by the Medical Board of California, California Attorney General,
the Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General, the Department of
Justice, or any other entity of federal, state, or local government;

10.1.5 Physician's Drug Enforcement Agency registration number is revoked, suspended, terminated,
relinquished, placed on terms of probation, or restricted in any way;

10.1.6 An event occurs that substantially interrupts all or a portion of Physician's professional practice,
materially adversely affects Physician's ability to perform Physician's obligations hereunder,
including the Services, or could likely cause Physician to be in breach of this Agreement; or

10.1.7 Physician being charged with or convicted of a criminal offense related to health care, or
Physician's listing by a federal agency as being debarred, excluded, or otherwise ineligible for
federal program participation.

10.1.8 The occurrence of any event that would constitute “cause” pursuant to Section 5.3.

ARTICLE 11 - GENERAL PROVISIONS

Notices. Any notice to be given to any party hereunder shall be deposited in the United States Mail, duly
registered or certified, with return receipt requested, with postage paid, and addressed to the party for
whom intended, at the addresses set forth in the signature block, or to such other address or addresses as
the parties may hereafter designate in writing to each other.

Page 7 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- C. Carrillo, DO eff 6-1-2025 83



11.2

113

11.4

11.5

11.6

11.7

11.8

11.9

SBHCD: San Benito Health Care District
Office of the Chief Executive Officer
911 Sunset Drive
Hollister, CA 95023

Physician: Cristian Carrillo DO Medical Group
Cristian Carrillo, D.O.
415 Thistle Street
Hollister CA, 95023

No Waiver. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed, or shall constitute, a
waiver of any other provision, whether or not similar, nor shall any waiver constitute a continuing waiver.
No waiver shall be binding unless executed in writing by the party making the waiver.

Governing Law and Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by, construed and enforced in accordance
with the laws of the State of California. Venue shall be in the County of San Benito, California.

Ownership of Patient Records. All Facilities’ patient records shall be maintained by SBHCD and are the
property of SBHCD. Physician shall have the right to access such records during normal business hours.

Patient Choice. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, all compensation paid to Physician
pursuant to this Agreement is solely for the purpose of obtaining the services of Physician for patients of
the SBHCD community. The parties recognize and affirm the importance of individual patient choice in
selection of medical services. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be interpreted to obligate,
encourage, or solicit, in any way, the referral of any individual patient to any health care facility, including
the Facility, contrary to that patient’s choice of another provider of medical services. Further, nothing in
this Agreement shall be interpreted to prevent, restrict, or discourage the Physician from referring patients
to any other provider of health care services.

Exclusive Property of SBHCD. All data, files, records, documents, promotional materials, and similar
items relating to the business of SBHCD, whether prepared by or with the assistance of Physician or
otherwise coming into Physician’s possession shall remain the exclusive property of SBHCD and shall

not be removed from SBHCD’s facilities under any circumstances without the prior written consent of
SBHCD.

Confidentiality. The parties acknowledge and agree that during the term of this Agreement and in the
course of the discharge of Physician’s duties hereunder, Physician shall have access to and become
acquainted with information concerning the operation of SBHCD, and information which, pursuant to
applicable law and regulation, is deemed to be confidential, including, but not limited to, trade secrets,
medical records, patient medical and personal information, and personnel records. Physician agrees that
such information shall not be disclosed either directly or indirectly to any other person or entity or used
by Physician in any way either during the term of this Agreement or at any other time thereafter, except
as is required herein. Physician understands breach of this article will be an irremediable breach of this
Agreement. Such breach will result in immediate termination of this Agreement.

Binding Agreement: No Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit
of the parties to it and their respective legal representatives, successors, and permitted assigns. No party
may assign this Agreement or any rights hereunder, or may delegate any of the duties to be performed
hereunder without the prior written consent of the other party.

Dispute Resolution. If any dispute, controversy, or claim arises out of this Agreement, for a period of
thirty (30) days following written notice of the dispute, controversy or claim from one party to the other,
the parties will use their good faith efforts to resolve the dispute, controversy, or claim. If the matter
cannot be resolved by the parties in this fashion, then such dispute, claim or controversy shall be heard in
San Benito County, California, pursuant to the provisions of California Code of Civil Procedure Sections
638 through 645.1, inclusive. The hearing shall be final and binding to the greatest extent permitted by

Page 8 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- C. Carrillo, DO eff 6-1-2025 84



11.10

11.11

law, and the cost thereof, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, shall be borne by the losing party in such
proportions as the referee may decide. Judgment on the award may be entered in any court having
jurisdiction thereof.

Section 952 of Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1980. In accordance with Section 952 of the
Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1980 (PL 96-499), Physician agrees that the books and records of
Physician will be available to the Secretary of Department of Health and Human Services and the
Comptroller General of the United States, or their duly authorized representatives, for four (4) years after
termination of this Agreement. In the event that any of the services to be performed under this Agreement
are performed by any subcontractor of Physician at a value or cost of $10,000 or more over a twelve (12)
month period, Physician shall comply and assure that such subcontractor complies with the provisions of
Section 952 of the Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1980. If not applicable to this Agreement, this Section
shall automatically be repealed.

Entire Agreement: Amendment. This Agreement, its exhibits, and all referenced documents constitute
the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to the subject matter contained herein. This
Agreement supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, representations and understandings of
the parties which relate to the subject matter of this Agreement. No supplement, amendment or
modification of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by all of the parties.

The parties hereby executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date first set forth above.

SBHCD PHYSICIAN
SAN BENITO HEALTH CARE DISTRICT Cristian Carrillo DO Medical Group
By: By:
Mary T. Casillas, Chief Executive Officer Cristian Carrillo D.O., Chief Executive Officer
Date: Date:
Page 9 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- C. Carrillo, DO eff 6-1-2025 85



EXHIBIT A

PHYSICIAN SERVICES, COMPENSATION & SCHEDULE

A.l Services. Physician shall provide professional medical hospitalist Services at the Facilities as
specified by SBHCD on the terms set forth below:

Al

Al2

A.1.3.

Hospitalist Coverage Panel. Physician shall serve as a member and equal participant of the
Hospital Coverage Panel. Physician shall provide Services as mutually agreed by the parties,
but at a minimum level such that the Hospitalist Coverage Panel will provide:

A.1.1.1 Two 12-hour onsite day shifts (7:00 AM to 7:00 PM, or such other times as the
parties agree), 365 days per year at the Hospital.

A.1.1.2  One 12 hour on-call night shift (7:00 PM to 7:00 AM, or such other times as the
parties agree) 365 days per year at the Hospital.

A.1.1.3 Hospitalist services at the Clinics and SNFs on a mutually agreed upon schedule
to be determined within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date. Provided,
Physician will only be required to provide Services at the Clinics and SNFs if the
parties enter into a separate agreement (or addendum to this Agreement) requiring
such Services.

Preparation of Hospitalist Coverage Panel Schedule. Parties agree that Natalie LaCorte,
M.D. in conjunction with Jiwu Sun, M.D., will compile the schedule for the Hospitalist
Coverage Panel. This schedule will detail the availability and necessary arrangements for
delivering Services. Notwithstanding, SBHCD reserves the right to approve or request
modifications to the proposed schedule to ensure it meets operational and compliance
requirements.

Specialty Services. Physician shall provide the following hospitalist Services:

Primary management of the care of general inpatient medical admissions, including patients
admitted at the request of attending or referring physicians; responding to unassigned patients
and providing cross-coverage between departments; family conferences as requested in
consultation with social services; consultations, upon request, for members of the Hospital’s
Medical Staff; and assistance with the management and treatment of patients for whom
Physician is responsible as head of a multi-disciplinary team. When the patient has an
attending/referring physician, Physician shall include such physician in decision making and
keep such physician informed.

A.2 Compensation.

A2l

Schedule and Rate. Physician’s compensation (“Compensation”), shall be paid on a
monthly basis on SBHCD’s standard payment cycle for similar agreements and shall be paid
at the following rates:

A2.1.1 On-site day shifts shall be paid at the rate of $185.00/hour.
A2.1.2 On-call night shifts shall be paid at the rate of $82.50/hour.

On each anniversary of the Effective Date, the hourly rate then in effect shall be increased
by 3% to reflect adjustments to the cost of living.

86



A3

A4

A22 Pavment on Termination. On termination of this Agreement, which is not extended,
renewed or superseded by another agreement, SBHCD shall pay to Physician any amounts
due to Physician within forty-five (45) days after the termination of this Agreement.

A23 Agreement Includes All Compensation from SBHCD. Incorporated into Compensation,
unless specifically excluded, are all the Physician’s sources of practice revenues and income,

including call coverage stipends, other hospital on-call fees, hospital stipends, and reading
fees; provided, however, that services as a medical director within SBHCD, service on
medical staff or SBHCD positions such as department chair or chief of staff, call panels
which are not currently in effect, or other items specifically excluded by written agreement
between Physician and SBHCD shall be independently compensated to Physician by
SBHCD, if any, and are not subject to the terms of this Agreement.

A.2.4 Expenses. Physician shall be solely responsible for all expenses incurred in the provision of
Services except for those that are the responsibility of SBHCD pursuant to this Agreement.
Notwithstanding, upon written application to SBHCD, SBHCD may, in its sole discretion,
agree to reimburse Physician for continuing medical education (CME) course tuition and
associated travel and meal expenses not to exceed $2,500 per calendar year, provided that
Physician demonstrates that attending the CME would substantially further the interests of
patient care at SBHCD.

Services and Activities in Support of SBHCD. SBHCD and Physician acknowledge and agree that
certain services and activities may be required of Physician in support of SBHCD and Clinic to ensure
a continuing high level of patient care. To that end, Physician shall participate in functions/events
from time to time, in support of the SBHCD Clinics and the SBHCD facilities. In addition, to assist
in the recruitment and retention of highly skilled practitioners, upon SBHCD’s request, Physician
shall participate in recruitment meetings with SBHCD physician candidates. SBHCD shall reimburse
Physician for reasonable meal expenses incurred as part of meeting with physician candidates hosted
at the request of SBHCD.

Practice Guidelines/Best Quality Practices. Physician shall demonstrate cooperative work
arrangements with the Medical Staff, Quality and Safety Leadership and SBHCD Administration to
achieve mutually accepted practice guidelines and the best quality practices. These practices will be
shall be evidenced based, and include at minimum the following:

A4l Attendance at regular monthly meetings with SBHCD Clinic and Hospital leadership when
requested to review any operational or quality issues.

A42 Timely completion of all incomplete inpatient records, including completion of all
admission and discharge medication reconciliation.

Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

A43 Completion of all office visit notes within twenty-four (24) hours of visit.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

A44 Timely signing of orders.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

A4S Timely discharges summaries.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

87



A4d.6 Commitment to use of SBHCD supported electronic health/medical record platforms.

A4 Compliance with all governmental and SBHCD quality reporting initiatives that may come
into effect from time to time.

A48 Timely arrival at the Facilities, defined as being ready, willing and able to provide Services
not less than 10 minutes before the commencement of any in-person shift and responding
to on-call coverage calls within the times set forth in the Medical Staff rules and
regulations.

A5 Quality Metrics. In addition to the practice guidelines and the best quality practices set forth in
Section A.4, the parties shall, within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date, mutually agree on quality and
performance metrics for the Services.

Remainder of this page intentionally left blank

88



PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR HOSPITALIST COVERAGE PANEL

This Professional Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made, entered into and effective as of June 1, 2025
(“Effective Date”), by and between San Benito Health Care District, a local health care district organized and
operated pursuant to Division 23 of the California Health and Safety Code (“SBHCD”), and Claire Hartung, MD
Inc. (“Physician™).

RECITALS

A. SBHCD owns and operates Hazel Hawkins Memorial Hospital, a licensed general acute care facility
located at 911 Sunset Drive, Hollister, California (“Hospital™). Hospital provides inpatient and outpatient
services to residents of the San Benito Health Care District and surrounding communities which constitute
the Hospital’s service area (“Hospital Service Area”).

B. SBHCD owns and operates specialty and rural health clinics as defined in Title 22, California Code of
Regulations section 51115.5 to provide services to patients in the Hospital Service Area (“Clinics”) and
two skilled nursing facilities (“SNFs”). Together, the Hospital, Clinics, and SNFs are referred to herein
as the “Facilities”.

C. Physician is licensed to practice medicine in the State of California, is a member in good standing of the
medical staff of Hospital, and is experienced and qualified to provide hospitalist services.

D. Section 32129 of the California Health and Safety Code provides that a health care district may contract
with a Physician to render professional health services in order to ensure that adequate health care is
available to all residents within its service area.

E. SBHCD has determined that entering into this Agreement with Physician is in the best interests of SBHCD
and the public health of the residents of the Hospital Service Area and is an appropriate way to assure
availability of hospitalist services to patients in the Hospital Service Area. SBHCD has established a
hospitalist coverage panel (“Hospitalist Coverage Panel”) of qualified physicians which shall ensure the
availability of physician coverage for hospitalist services as needed at the Facilities.

F. The parties desire to enter into this Agreement to set forth their respective responsibilities in connection
with the Services provided by Physician in the Hospital Service Area during the term of this Agreement.

The parties hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 - DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF PHYSICIAN

1.1 Medical Services. Physician shall provide professional health care services in Physician’s medical
specialty to patients at the Facilities and on the schedule more fully described in Exhibit A, which is
attached to this Agreement and incorporated by this reference (“Services”). Services include services to
Medicare and Medi-Cal patients, patients of any other federal health care program or a state health care
financial program (“Governmental Programs”), workers’ compensation beneficiaries, and patients
eligible for participation in SBHCD’s charity care program. Physician shall cooperate to enable SBHCD’s
participation in Medicare, Medi-Cal, Governmental Programs, workers’ compensation services and
commercial payor programs. Physician shall provide Services to all patients, including Medicare, Medi-
Cal, Governmental Program, and workers’ compensation beneficiaries, in a non-discriminatory manner
and in accordance with all applicable laws and SBHCD policies and procedures, as developed and
implemented in collaboration with physician leadership of the Facilities.

1.2 Qualifications. Physician shall: (i) be duly licensed to practice medicine by the State of California; (ii)
be qualified to perform the Services by having adequate levels of competency and experience; (iii) have
skill comparable to those prevailing in the community; (iv) not be excluded from participation in any

Page 1 of 9
PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- C. Hartung, MD eff 6-1-2025 89



1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

2.1

governmental healthcare program; (v) be approved for and maintain active membership and/or clinical
privileges on the Hospital's medical staff in accordance with medical staff bylaws, rules and regulations,
and other medical staff governing directives; (vi) be certified as a participating physician in the Medicare
and Medi-Cal programs; and (vii) hold an unrestricted Drug Enforcement Administration ("DEA")
registration number.

Compliance. In connection with the operation and conduct of the Facilities and rendering of Services,
Physician shall, at all times, comply with the applicable terms of this Agreement and with all applicable
federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations, including requirements for participation in the
Medicare and Medi-Cal programs, the Hospital medical staff bylaws, rules and regulations, and applicable
policies and procedures, and will at all times be aware of and participate in meeting the goals and
objectives of the SBHCD Corporate Compliance program.

Credentialing. In order to be efficiently credentialed with payors that have contracted with SBHCD,
Physician shall participate in the Council for Affordable Quality Healthcare (“CAQH”) credentialing
program and shall timely comply with requests from CAQH or SBHCD personnel for (i) credentialing
information regarding Physician, and (ii) documents necessary for Physician’s credentialing.

Use of Premises. No part of the SBHCD premises shall be used at any time by Physician as an office for
the general or private practice of medicine.

Medical Records/Chart Notes. Physician shall provide timely, appropriate, and necessary documentation
for each patient’s medical record for all patient encounters at the Facilities in compliance with the
Facilities’ policies and procedures.

Coding. Physician shall properly code all professional services rendered to patients. Physician’s coding
shall be used for purposes of billing for Services provided by Physician. All such coding shall be subject
to review and audit by an independent auditing company mutually agreed upon by the parties.

Professional Standards. In performing Services, Physician shall comply with the principles and ethics of
the American Medical Association, the California Medical Association, and any federal, state or
municipal law, statute or ordinance dealing with the practice of medicine by Physician. Physician shall
further abide in all respects with the Code of Conduct applicable to professional health care providers of
any hospital, outpatient clinic or surgery center, including but not limited to SBHCD, at which Physician
shall provide professional services. Physician shall provide Services to all SBHCD patients on a courteous
and prompt basis, be available and accessible to patients, provide them with full and meaningful
information, and render services in a manner which assures continuity of care. Physician further agrees to
treat all other providers and the staff and volunteers of SBHCD with respect, dignity, and professionalism,
and to conduct himself/herself in accordance with the highest standards of ethical behavior and workplace
conduct.

ARTICLE 2 - DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF SBHCD

Duties. SBHCD agrees to furnish at its own cost and expense, for the operation of the Facilities, the
following:

2.1.1 Space and Equipment. Space and equipment as may be reasonably required for the operation of
the Facilities as approved by SBHCD.

2.1.2 Services and Supplies. Maintenance, repair, and replacement of equipment as reasonably
required; all utilities, including telephone, power, light, gas, and water; and all supplies that may
be reasonably required for the operation of the Facilities.

2.1.3 Non-physician Personnel. All non-physician personnel with appropriate education, training, and
experience required to operate the Facilities, including a qualified administrative manager.

Page 2 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- C. Hartung, MD eff 6-1-2025 90



22

2.3

24

3.1

32

4.1

4.2

5.1

5.2

53

SBHCD shall have the sole right and responsibility for the hiring and termination of all its
employees. SBHCD shall be responsible for the scheduling of non-physician Facilities personnel.

Eligibility. At all times during the term of this Agreement, SBHCD shall remain eligible to participate in
the Medicare and Medi-Cal programs.

Contracts. SBHCD shall be solely responsible for negotiating all contracts for the reimbursement of
Services provided at the Facilities. SBHCD, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall determine the
negotiation parameters for the terms, conditions, and rates for such contracts.

Access to Records. Physician shall have access to SBHCD patient medical and business records for
quality of care and compliance purposes.

ARTICLE 3 - BILLING AND ASSIGNMENT OF REVENUE

Billing and Collection. SBHCD shall perform billing and collection services under this Agreement.
Physician shall cooperate with SBHCD and shall use his/her best efforts to furnish appropriate
documentation of patient care services provided by Physician to enable SBHCD to timely and accurately
bill and collect for such services.

Assignment of Professional Service Revenues. Physician hereby assigns to SBHCD the right to all
revenue from any and all patients, third-party payors, and governmental programs for all Services
rendered by Physician at the Facilities under this Agreement. The Parties intend that SBHCD may bill
and collect directly from the Medicare carrier for Physician’s services to Medicare beneficiaries in
compliance with Medicare Publication 100-04, Chapter 1, Sec. 30.2.7.

ARTICLE 4 - COMPENSATION FOR SERVICES BY PHYSICIAN

Compensation. As compensation for the provision of Services at the Facilities, SBHCD shall pay
Physician as outlined in Exhibit A to this Agreement and in accordance with the normal SBHCD contract
payment process for Services provided by Physician. Physician shall not bill for facility fees,
administrative, supervisory, medical director, or similar services.

Schedule of Charges. SBHCD, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall decide upon the schedule of
charges for the Facilities. Pursuant to California Health and Safety Code Section 32129, the SBHCD
Board of Directors may review the fees and charges for Services provided at the Facilities to ensure such
fees and charges are reasonable, fair, and consistent with the basic commitment of SBHCD to provide
adequate health care to all residents within the Hospital Service Area.

ARTICLE 5 - TERM AND TERMINATION

Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence at 12:01 AM on the Effective Date and continue for
a period of three (3) years, expiring on May 31, 2028 at 11:59 PM unless renewed by mutual written
agreement of the parties or terminated earlier as provided in this Agreement.

Termination. Either party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement without stating a cause or
reason and without cost or penalty upon ninety (90) days’ prior written notice to the other party.
Notwithstanding, either party shall have the right to terminate the Agreement for “cause” upon written
notice to the other party as set forth below. If this Agreement is terminated prior to expiration of the first
year of the initial term, the parties shall not enter into any new agreement or arrangement that is
substantially the same arrangement during the remainder of such year.

Definition of Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “cause” shall include, but not be limited to, the
occurrence of any of the following events:

Page 3 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- C. Hartung, MD eff 6-1-2025 9 1



5.4

6.1

5.3.1  SBHCD or Physician is in breach of any material term or condition of this Agreement and such
breach has not been cured within thirty (30) days following written notice of such breach.

5.3.2  SBHCD or Physician becomes insolvent or declares bankruptcy.

5.3.3  The license to practice medicine or to prescribe controlled substances of Physician is revoked or
suspended.

5.3.4 SBHCD fails to carry or reinstate the insurance required in ARTICLE 8 or such coverage is
canceled or revoked within fifteen (15) days following notice of revocation from its insurance
carrier.

5.3.5 Upon the determination that Physician has violated a material term of ARTICLE 9.

5.3.6  The performance by either party of any term, condition, or provision of this Agreement which
Jeopardizes the licensure of Hospital, Hospital’s participation in Medicare, Medi-Cal or other
reimbursement or payment program, or Hospital’s full accreditation by The Joint Commission or
any other state or nationally recognized accreditation organization, or the tax-exempt status of
Hospital’s bonds, or if for any other reason such performance violates any statute, ordinance, or
is otherwise deemed illegal, or is deemed unethical by any recognized body, agency, or
association in the healthcare fields, and the jeopardy or violation has not been or cannot be cured
within sixty (60) days from the date notice of such jeopardy or violation has been received by the
parties.

5.3.7 The loss of or reduction in Physician’s medical staff privileges at any facility where Physician
provides professional health care services, whether voluntary or involuntary.

5.3.8 Physician being charged with or convicted of a crime other than an infraction, traffic citation, or
similar charge.

5.3.9 Physician’s engagement in: (i) willful misconduct (which means the knowing and intentional
failure to exercise ordinary care to prevent material injury to SBHCD or the commission of an
intentional act with knowledge that it is likely to result in material injury to the SBHCD), (ii)
fraudulent activities, (iii) crimes or acts of moral turpitude, (iv) any breach of a duty to SBHCD,
a patient, or any third party payor, (v) harassment or abuse of patients, staff, providers, or any
other person, or (vi) any other action or omission that could materially affect SBHCD’s business
or reputation in an adverse manner.

Termination/Expiration Not Subject to Fair Hearing. It is agreed between the parties that should either
party exercise its right to terminate this Agreement such decision to terminate, and the actual termination
or expiration of this Agreement, shall apply to rights under this Agreement only and not to Physician’s
medical staff privileges or membership on the medical staff of Hospital. The termination or expiration of
this Agreement shall not be subject to the Fair Hearing Plan of the Medical Staff Bylaws, the hearing
procedures provided by Healthcare District Law, or any other fair hearing procedure regarding medical
staff appointments or privileges.

ARTICLE 6 - INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

Independent Contractor Status. Physician is engaged in an independent contractor relationship with
SBHCD in performing all work, services, duties, and obligations pursuant to this Agreement. Neither
SBHCD nor Hospital shall exercise any control or direction over the methods by which Physician
performs work and functions, except that Physician shall perform at all times in strict accordance with
then currently approved methods and practices of Physician’s professional specialty. SBHCD’s soles
interest is to ensure that Physician performs and renders services in a competent, efficient, and satisfactory
manner in accordance with high medical standards.

Page 4 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- C. Hartung, MD eff 6-1-2025 92



6.2 Independent Contractor Responsibilities. The parties expressly agree that no work, act, commission, or
omission of Physician pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be construed to make
or render Physician, the agent or employee of SBHCD. Physician shall not be entitled to receive from
SBHCD vacation pay, sick leave, retirement benefits, Social Security, workers’ compensation, disability
or unemployment insurance benefits or any other employee benefit. Physician shall be solely responsible
for paying when due all income, employment and withholding taxes and employment benefits, if any,
including estimated taxes, incurred as a result of the compensation paid by SBHCD to Physician for
Services under this Agreement. Physician is responsible for providing, at his’/her own expense, disability,
unemployment, workers’ compensation and other insurance (if applicable), training, permits and licenses.

ARTICLE 7 - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

7.1 SBHCD Representations and Warranties. SBHCD for itself, and its board of directors, officers,
employees, and agents (collectively, “Agents”), represents and warrants to Physician, upon execution and
while this Agreement is in effect, as follows:

7.1.1  SBHCD has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its
obligations under this Agreement;

7.1.2 This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by SBHCD and is a legal,
valid, binding obligation of SBHCD, enforceable in accordance with its terms;

7.1.3  The parties have bargained at arms’ length to determine Physician’s compensation under this
Agreement, the compensation is fair market value for the Services; and the compensation is
consistent with fair market value for similar services in the community; and

7.1.4 The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby by SBHCD will not violate any provisions of, or constitute a default under,
any contract or other agreement to which SBHCD is a party or by which it is bound, other than
violations, defaults or conflicts that would not materially and adversely affect the ability of
SBHCD to perform its obligations pursuant to this Agreement.

7.2 Physician Representations and Warranties. Physician, for Physician and Physician’s Agents, represents
and warrants to SBHCD, upon execution and while this Agreement is in effect, as follows:

7.2.1 Physician is not bound by any agreement or arrangement which would preclude Physician from
entering into this Agreement or from fully performing the Services;

7.2.2  Physician's license to practice medicine in California or in any other jurisdiction has never been
denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished under threat of disciplinary
action, or restricted in any way;

7.2.3  Physician's medical staff privileges at any health care facility have never been denied, suspended,
revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished under threat of disciplinary action, or made subject
to terms of probation or any other restriction;

7.2.4 Physician has not in the past conducted, and is presently not conducting, his/her medical practice
in such a manner as to cause Physician to be suspended, excluded, barred or sanctioned under
Medicare or Medi-Cal, or any government licensing agency, nor have they ever been convicted
of a criminal offense related to health care, or listed by a federal agency as debarred, excluded or
otherwise ineligible for federal program participation;

7.2.5 Physician has, and shall maintain throughout the term of this Agreement, an unrestricted license
to practice medicine in California and Medical Staff privileges at the Hospital;

Page 5 of 9
PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- C. Hartung, MD eff 6-1-2025 93



8.1

9.1

7.2.6  Physician has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its
obligations under this Agreement;

7.2.7 This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by Physician and is a legal,
valid, binding obligation of Physician, enforceable in accordance with its terms;

7.2.8  The parties have bargained at arms’ length to determine Physician’s compensation under this
Agreement, the compensation is fair market value for the Services; and the compensation is
consistent with fair market value for similar services in the community; and

7.2.9 The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby by Physician will not violate and provisions of, or constitute a default under,
and contract or other agreement to which Physician is a party or by which it is bound, other than
violations, defaults or conflicts that would not materially and adversely affect the ability of
Physician to perform the Services required under this Agreement.

ARTICLE 8 - LIABILITY/MALPRACTICE INSURANCE COVERAGE

Coverages. SBHCD shall maintain general and professional liability insurance coverage for Physician
for Services provided by Physician to SBHCD patients during the term of this Agreement in a minimum
amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence and $3,000,000 annual aggregate. In the event the coverage that
SBHCD obtains to comply with this Section of this Agreement is a “claims made” policy, and SBHCD,
as applicable, changes insurance carriers or terminates coverage upon or after termination of this
Agreement, SBHCD shall immediately obtain and maintain “tail” coverage in the amounts otherwise
required under this Section for at least seven (7) years following termination of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 9 - PROTECTED HEALTH INFORMATION

Protected Health Information. Physician shall maintain the confidentiality of all Protected Health
Information (“PHI”) in accordance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations,
including, but not limited to, the California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act and the Federal
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and regulations promulgated thereunder
(“HIPAA”). Without limiting the foregoing, Physician agrees to maintain PHI, as defined from time to
time under HIPAA, which may be made available to or received by Physician pursuant to this Agreement,
in accordance with the requirements of HIPAA. Physician agrees to:

9.1.1 Not use or further disclose PHI in a manner that would violate HIPAA if done by SBHCD or
violate the requirements of applicable laws or this Agreement;

9.1.2 Use appropriate safeguards to prevent use or disclosure of PHI except as permitted by law and
the terms of this Agreement, and report to SBHCD any use or disclosure of PHI not permitted by
law or by this Agreement of which Physician becomes aware;

9.1.3 Comply with the elements of any compliance program established by SBHCD that applies to the
use or disclosure of PHI and ensure that any subcontractors or agents to whom Physician provides
PHI agree to the same restrictions and conditions that apply to Physician with respect to such
PHI,;

9.1.4 Inaccordance with HIPAA, (i) make available PHI to the subject patient; (ii) make available PHI
for amendment and incorporate any amendments to PHI; and (iii) make available the information
required to provide an accounting of disclosures of PHI to the subject patient;

9.1.5 Make Physician’s internal practices, books, and records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI

available to the Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services for
purposes of determining SBHCD’s and Physician’s compliance with HIPAA;

Page 6 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- C. Hartung, MD eff 6-1-2025 94



9.2

10.1

9.1.6 At termination of this Agreement, return or destroy all PHI received from or created by SBHCD
and retain no copies of such PHI or, if return or destruction is not permissible under law or the
terms of this Agreement, continue to maintain all PHI in accordance with the provisions of this
Section and limit further uses and disclosures to those purposes that make the return or destruction
of the information infeasible.

Electronic Protected Health Information (“EPHI™). Physician agrees that Physician will: (i) implement
administrative, physical, and technical safeguards that reasonably and appropriately protect the
confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the EPHI that Physician creates, receives, maintains, or
transmits on behalf of SBHCD; (ii) report to SBHCD any security incident with respect to EPHI of which
Physician becomes aware; and (iii) ensure that any agent, including a subcontractor, to whom Physician
provides EPHI agrees to implement reasonable and appropriate safeguards to protect such information.

ARTICLE 10 - REQUIRED DISCLOSURES

Required Disclosures. Physician shall notify SBHCD in writing within three (3) days after any of the
following events occur:

10.1.1 Physician's license to practice medicine in the State of California or any other jurisdiction lapses
or is denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished (under threat of
disciplinary action) or made subject to terms of probation or other restriction;

10.1.2 Physician's medical staff membership and/or privileges at any health care facility or entity are
denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished (under threat of disciplinary
action), or made subject to terms of probation or other restriction;

10.1.3 Physician is required to pay damages in any malpractice action by way of judgment or
settlement, except that Physician shall not be required to breach a settlement or confidentiality
agreement,

10.1.4 Receipt of notice of the commencement of any investigation into Physician's medical license or
Physician's medical practice by the Medical Board of California, California Attorey General,
the Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General, the Department of
Justice, or any other entity of federal, state, or local government;

10.1.5 Physician's Drug Enforcement Agency registration number is revoked, suspended, terminated,
relinquished, placed on terms of probation, or restricted in any way;

10.1.6 An event occurs that substantially interrupts all or a portion of Physician's professional practice,
materially adversely affects Physician's ability to perform Physician's obligations hereunder,
including the Services, or could likely cause Physician to be in breach of this Agreement; or

10.1.7 Physician being charged with or convicted of a criminal offense related to health care, or
Physician's listing by a federal agency as being debarred, excluded, or otherwise ineligible for
federal program participation.

10.1.8 The occurrence of any event that would constitute “cause” pursuant to Section 5.3.

ARTICLE 11 - GENERAL PROVISIONS
Notices. Any notice to be given to any party hereunder shall be deposited in the United States Mail, duly
registered or certified, with return receipt requested, with postage paid, and addressed to the party for

whom intended, at the addresses set forth in the signature block, or to such other address or addresses as
the parties may hereafter designate in writing to each other.

Page 7 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- C. Hartung, MD eff 6-1-2025 9 5



11.2

11.3

11.4

11.5

11.6

11.7

11.8

11.9

SBHCD: San Benito Health Care District
Office of the Chief Executive Officer
911 Sunset Drive
Hollister, CA 95023

Physician: Claire Hartung, MD Inc.
Claire Hartung, M.D.
4590A Redwood Retreat Road
Gilroy CA, 95020

No Waiver. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed, or shall constitute, a
waiver of any other provision, whether or not similar, nor shall any waiver constitute a continuing waiver.
No waiver shall be binding unless executed in writing by the party making the waiver.

Governing Law and Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by, construed and enforced in accordance
with the laws of the State of California. Venue shall be in the County of San Benito, California.

Ownership of Patient Records. All Facilities’ patient records shall be maintained by SBHCD and are the
property of SBHCD. Physician shall have the right to access such records during normal business hours.

Patient Choice. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, all compensation paid to Physician
pursuant to this Agreement is solely for the purpose of obtaining the services of Physician for patients of
the SBHCD community. The parties recognize and affirm the importance of individual patient choice in
selection of medical services. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be interpreted to obligate,
encourage, or solicit, in any way, the referral of any individual patient to any health care facility, including
the Facility, contrary to that patient’s choice of another provider of medical services. Further, nothing in
this Agreement shall be interpreted to prevent, restrict, or discourage the Physician from referring patients
to any other provider of health care services.

Exclusive Property of SBHCD. All data, files, records, documents, promotional materials, and similar
items relating to the business of SBHCD, whether prepared by or with the assistance of Physician or
otherwise coming into Physician’s possession shall remain the exclusive property of SBHCD and shall
not be removed from SBHCD’s facilities under any circumstances without the prior written consent of
SBHCD.

Confidentiality. The parties acknowledge and agree that during the term of this Agreement and in the
course of the discharge of Physician’s duties hereunder, Physician shall have access to and become
acquainted with information conceming the operation of SBHCD, and information which, pursuant to
applicable law and regulation, is deemed to be confidential, including, but not limited to, trade secrets,
medical records, patient medical and personal information, and personnel records. Physician agrees that
such information shall not be disclosed either directly or indirectly to any other person or entity or used
by Physician in any way either during the term of this Agreement or at any other time thereafter, except
as is required herein. Physician understands breach of this article will be an irremediable breach of this
Agreement. Such breach will result in immediate termination of this Agreement.

Binding Agreement: No Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit
of the parties to it and their respective legal representatives, successors, and permitted assigns. No party
may assign this Agreement or any rights hereunder, or may delegate any of the duties to be performed
hereunder without the prior written consent of the other party.

Dispute Resolution. If any dispute, controversy, or claim arises out of this Agreement, for a period of
thirty (30) days following written notice of the dispute, controversy or claim from one party to the other,
the parties will use their good faith efforts to resolve the dispute, controversy, or claim. If the matter
cannot be resolved by the parties in this fashion, then such dispute, claim or controversy shall be heard in
San Benito County, California, pursuant to the provisions of California Code of Civil Procedure Sections
638 through 645.1, inclusive. The hearing shall be final and binding to the greatest extent permitted by

Page 8 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- C. Hartung, MD eff 6-1-2025 96



11.10

11.11

law, and the cost thereof, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, shall be borne by the losing party in such
proportions as the referee may decide. Judgment on the award may be entered in any court having
jurisdiction thereof.

Section 952 of Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1980. In accordance with Section 952 of the
Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1980 (PL 96-499), Physician agrees that the books and records of
Physician will be available to the Secretary of Department of Health and Human Services and the
Comptroller General of the United States, or their duly authorized representatives, for four (4) years after
termination of this Agreement. In the event that any of the services to be performed under this Agreement
are performed by any subcontractor of Physician at a value or cost of $10,000 or more over a twelve (12)
month period, Physician shall comply and assure that such subcontractor complies with the provisions of
Section 952 of the Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1980. If not applicable to this Agreement, this Section
shall automatically be repealed.

Entire Agreement: Amendment. This Agreement, its exhibits, and all referenced documents constitute
the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to the subject matter contained herein. This
Agreement supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, representations and understandings of
the parties which relate to the subject matter of this Agreement. No supplement, amendment or
modification of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by all of the parties.

The parties hereby executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date first set forth above.

SBHCD PHYSICIAN
SAN BENITO HEALTH CARE DISTRICT Claire Hartung, MD Inc.
By: By:
Mary T. Casillas, Chief Executive Officer Claire Hartung, M.D. Chief Executive Officer
Date: Date:
Page 9 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- C. Hartung, MD eff 6-1-2025 97



EXHIBIT A

PHYSICIAN SERVICES, COMPENSATION & SCHEDULE

A.1 Services. Physician shall provide professional medical hospitalist Services at the Facilities as
specified by SBHCD on the terms set forth below:

All

Al2

A.13.

Hospitalist Coverage Panel. Physician shall serve as a member and equal participant of the
Hospital Coverage Panel. Physician shall provide Services as mutually agreed by the parties,
but at a minimum level such that the Hospitalist Coverage Panel will provide:

A.1.1.1 Two 12 hour onsite day shifts (7:00 AM to 7:00 PM, or such other times as the
parties agree), 365 days per year at the Hospital.

A.1.1.2  One 12 hour on-call night shift (7:00 PM to 7:00 AM, or such other times as the
parties agree) 365 days per year at the Hospital.

A.1.13 Hospitalist services at the Clinics and SNFs on a mutually agreed upon schedule
to be determined within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date. Provided,
Physician will only be required to provide Services at the Clinics and SNFs if the
parties enter into a separate agreement (or addendum to this Agreement) requiring
such Services.

Preparation of Hospitalist Coverage Panel Schedule. Parties agree that Natalie LaCorte,
M.D. in conjunction with Jiwu Sun, M.D., will compile the schedule for the Hospitalist
Coverage Panel. This schedule will detail the availability and necessary arrangements for
delivering Services. Notwithstanding, SBHCD reserves the right to approve or request
modifications to the proposed schedule to ensure it meets operational and compliance
requirements.

Specialty Services. Physician shall provide the following hospitalist Services:

Primary management of the care of general inpatient medical admissions, including patients
admitted at the request of attending or referring physicians; responding to unassigned patients
and providing cross-coverage between departments; family conferences as requested in
consultation with social services; consultations, upon request, for members of the Hospital’s
Medical Staff; and assistance with the management and treatment of patients for whom
Physician is responsible as head of a multi-disciplinary team. When the patient has an
attending/referring physician, Physician shall include such physician in decision making and
keep such physician informed.

A.2 Compensation.

A2l

Schedule and Rate. Physician’s compensation (“Compensation”), shall be paid on a
monthly basis on SBHCD’s standard payment cycle for similar agreements and shall be paid
at the following rates:

A.2.1.1 On-site day shifts shall be paid at the rate of $185.00/hour.
A.2.1.2 On-call night shifts shall be paid at the rate of $82.50/hour.

On each anniversary of the Effective Date, the hourly rate then in effect shall be increased
by 3% to reflect adjustments to the cost of living.

98



A3

A4

A.2.2 Payment on Termination. On termination of this Agreement, which is not extended,
renewed or superseded by another agreement, SBHCD shall pay to Physician any amounts
due to Physician within forty-five (45) days after the termination of this Agreement.

A.2.3 Agreement Includes All Compensation from SBHCD. Incorporated into Compensation,
unless specifically excluded, are all the Physician’s sources of practice revenues and income,
including call coverage stipends, other hospital on-call fees, hospital stipends, and reading
fees; provided, however, that services as a medical director within SBHCD, service on
medical staff or SBHCD positions such as department chair or chief of staff, call panels
which are not currently in effect, or other items specifically excluded by written agreement
between Physician and SBHCD shall be independently compensated to Physician by
SBHCD, if any, and are not subject to the terms of this Agreement.

A.2.4 Expenses. Physician shall be solely responsible for all expenses incurred in the provision of
Services except for those that are the responsibility of SBHCD pursuant to this Agreement.
Notwithstanding, upon written application to SBHCD, SBHCD may, in its sole discretion,
agree to reimburse Physician for continuing medical education (CME) course tuition and
associated travel and meal expenses not to exceed $2,500 per calendar year, provided that
Physician demonstrates that attending the CME would substantially further the interests of
patient care at SBHCD.

Services and Activities in Support of SBHCD. SBHCD and Physician acknowledge and agree that
certain services and activities may be required of Physician in support of SBHCD and Clinic to ensure
a continuing high level of patient care. To that end, Physician shall participate in functions/events
from time to time, in support of the SBHCD Clinics and the SBHCD facilities. In addition, to assist
in the recruitment and retention of highly skilled practitioners, upon SBHCD’s request, Physician
shall participate in recruitment meetings with SBHCD physician candidates. SBHCD shall reimburse
Physician for reasonable meal expenses incurred as part of meeting with physician candidates hosted
at the request of SBHCD.

Practice_Guidelines/Best Quality Practices. Physician shall demonstrate cooperative work
arrangements with the Medical Staff, Quality and Safety Leadership and SBHCD Administration to
achieve mutually accepted practice guidelines and the best quality practices. These practices will be
shall be evidenced based, and include at minimum the following:

A4l Attendance at regular monthly meetings with SBHCD Clinic and Hospital leadership when
requested to review any operational or quality issues.

A.42  Timely completion of all incomplete inpatient records, including completion of all
admission and discharge medication reconciliation.

Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

Ad3 Completion of all office visit notes within twenty-four (24) hours of visit.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

A4.4 Timely signing of orders.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

A4S Timely discharges summaries.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

99



A.4.6  Commitment to use of SBHCD supported electronic health/medical record platforms.

A4.7 Compliance with all governmental and SBHCD quality reporting initiatives that may come
into effect from time to time.

A48 Timely arrival at the Facilities, defined as being ready, willing and able to provide Services
not less than 10 minutes before the commencement of any in-person shift and responding
to on-call coverage calls within the times set forth in the Medical Staff rules and
regulations.

AS Quality Metrics. In addition to the practice guidelines and the best quality practices set forth in
Section A .4, the parties shall, within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date, mutually agree on quality and
performance metrics for the Services.

Remainder of page intentionally left blank

100



PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR HOSPITALIST COVERAGE PANEL

This Professional Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made, entered into and effective as of June 1, 2025
(“Effective Date”), by and between San Benito Health Care District, a local health care district organized and
operated pursuant to Division 23 of the California Health and Safety Code (“SBHCD”), and J Deutsch MD MPH
Physician Services Incorporated (“Physician™).

RECITALS

A. SBHCD owns and operates Hazel Hawkins Memorial Hospital, a licensed general acute care facility
located at 911 Sunset Drive, Hollister, California (“Hospital”). Hospital provides inpatient and outpatient
services to residents of the San Benito Health Care District and surrounding communities which constitute
the Hospital’s service area (“Hospital Service Area™).

B. SBHCD owns and operates specialty and rural health clinics as defined in Title 22, California Code of
Regulations section 51115.5 to provide services to patients in the Hospital Service Area (“Clinics”) and
two skilled nursing facilities (“SNFs”). Together, the Hospital, Clinics, and SNFs are referred to herein
as the “Facilities”.

C. Physician is licensed to practice medicine in the State of California, is a member in good standing of the
medical staff of Hospital, and is experienced and qualified to provide hospitalist services.

D. Section 32129 of the California Health and Safety Code provides that a health care district may contract
with a Physician to render professional health services in order to ensure that adequate health care is
available to all residents within its service area.

E. SBHCD has determined that entering into this Agreement with Physician is in the best interests of SBHCD
and the public health of the residents of the Hospital Service Area and is an appropriate way to assure
availability of hospitalist services to patients in the Hospital Service Area. SBHCD has established a
hospitalist coverage panel (“Hospitalist Coverage Panel”) of qualified physicians which shall ensure the
availability of physician coverage for hospitalist services as needed at the Facilities.

F. The parties desire to enter into this Agreement to set forth their respective responsibilities in connection
with the Services provided by Physician in the Hospital Service Area during the term of this Agreement.

The parties hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE 1 - DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF PHYSICIAN

1.1 Medical Services. Physician shall provide professional health care services in Physician’s medical
specialty to patients at the Facilities and on the schedule more fully described in Exhibit A, which is
attached to this Agreement and incorporated by this reference (“Services™). Services include services to
Medicare and Medi-Cal patients, patients of any other federal health care program or a state health care
financial program (“Governmental Programs™), workers’ compensation beneficiaries, and patients
eligible for participation in SBHCD’s charity care program. Physician shall cooperate to enable SBHCD’s
participation in Medicare, Medi-Cal, Governmental Programs, workers’ compensation services and
commercial payor programs. Physician shall provide Services to all patients, including Medicare, Medi-
Cal, Governmental Program, and workers’ compensation beneficiaries, in a non-discriminatory manner
and in accordance with all applicable laws and SBHCD policies and procedures, as developed and
implemented in collaboration with physician leadership of the Facilities.

1.2 Qualifications. Physician shall: (i) be duly licensed to practice medicine by the State of California; (ii)
be qualified to perform the Services by having adequate levels of competency and experience; (iii) have
skill comparable to those prevailing in the community; (iv) not be excluded from participation in any

Page 1 of 9
PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- J. Deutsch, MD eff 6-1-2025 1 O 1



1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

2.1

governmental healthcare program; (v) be approved for and maintain active membership and/or clinical
privileges on the Hospital's medical staff in accordance with medical staff bylaws, rules and regulations,
and other medical staff governing directives; (vi) be certified as a participating physician in the Medicare
and Medi-Cal programs; and (vii) hold an unrestricted Drug Enforcement Administration ("DEA")
registration number.

Compliance. In connection with the operation and conduct of the Facilities and rendering of Services,
Physician shall, at all times, comply with the applicable terms of this Agreement and with all applicable
federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations, including requirements for participation in the
Medicare and Medi-Cal programs, the Hospital medical staff bylaws, rules and regulations, and applicable
policies and procedures, and will at all times be aware of and participate in meeting the goals and
objectives of the SBHCD Corporate Compliance program.

Credentialing. In order to be efficiently credentialed with payors that have contracted with SBHCD,
Physician shall participate in the Council for Affordable Quality Healthcare (“CAQH”) credentialing
program and shall timely comply with requests from CAQH or SBHCD personnel for (i) credentialing
information regarding Physician, and (ii) documents necessary for Physician’s credentialing.

Use of Premises. No part of the SBHCD premises shall be used at any time by Physician as an office for
the general or private practice of medicine.

Medical Records/Chart Notes. Physician shall provide timely, appropriate, and necessary documentation
for each patient’s medical record for all patient encounters at the Facilities in compliance with the
Facilities’ policies and procedures.

Coding. Physician shall properly code all professional services rendered to patients. Physician’s coding
shall be used for purposes of billing for Services provided by Physician. All such coding shall be subject
to review and audit by an independent auditing company mutually agreed upon by the parties.

Professional Standards. In performing Services, Physician shall comply with the principles and ethics of
the American Medical Association, the California Medical Association, and any federal, state or
municipal law, statute or ordinance dealing with the practice of medicine by Physician. Physician shall
further abide in all respects with the Code of Conduct applicable to professional health care providers of
any hospital, outpatient clinic or surgery center, including but not limited to SBHCD, at which Physician
shall provide professional services. Physician shall provide Services to all SBHCD patients on a courteous
and prompt basis, be available and accessible to patients, provide them with full and meaningful
information, and render services in a manner which assures continuity of care. Physician further agrees to
treat all other providers and the staff and volunteers of SBHCD with respect, dignity, and professionalism,
and to conduct himself/herself in accordance with the highest standards of ethical behavior and workplace
conduct.

ARTICLE 2 - DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF SBHCD

Duties. SBHCD agrees to furnish at its own cost and expense, for the operation of the Facilities, the
following:

2.1.1  Space and Equipment. Space and equipment as may be reasonably required for the operation of
the Facilities as approved by SBHCD.

2.1.2 Services and Supplies. Maintenance, repair, and replacement of equipment as reasonably
required; all utilities, including telephone, power, light, gas, and water; and all supplies that may
be reasonably required for the operation of the Facilities.

2.1.3  Non-physician Personnel. All non-physician personnel with appropriate education, training, and
experience required to operate the Facilities, including a qualified administrative manager.

Page 2 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- J. Deutsch, MD eff 6-1-2025 102



22

23

24

3.1

32

4.1

4.2

5.1

5.2

53

SBHCD shall have the sole right and responsibility for the hiring and termination of all its
employees. SBHCD shall be responsible for the scheduling of non-physician Facilities personnel.

Eligibility. At all times during the term of this Agreement, SBHCD shall remain eligible to participate in
the Medicare and Medi-Cal programs.

Contracts. SBHCD shall be solely responsible for negotiating all contracts for the reimbursement of
Services provided at the Facilities. SBHCD, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall determine the
negotiation parameters for the terms, conditions, and rates for such contracts.

Access to Records. Physician shall have access to SBHCD patient medical and business records for
quality of care and compliance purposes.

ARTICLE 3 - BILLING AND ASSIGNMENT OF REVENUE

Billing and Collection. SBHCD shall perform billing and collection services under this Agreement.
Physician shall cooperate with SBHCD and shall use his/her best efforts to furnish appropriate
documentation of patient care services provided by Physician to enable SBHCD to timely and accurately
bill and collect for such services.

Assignment of Professional Service Revenues. Physician hereby assigns to SBHCD the right to all
revenue from any and all patients, third-party payors, and governmental programs for all Services
rendered by Physician at the Facilities under this Agreement. The Parties intend that SBHCD may bill
and collect directly from the Medicare carrier for Physician’s services to Medicare beneficiaries in
compliance with Medicare Publication 100-04, Chapter 1, Sec. 30.2.7.

ARTICLE 4 - COMPENSATION FOR SERVICES BY PHYSICIAN

Compensation. As compensation for the provision of Services at the Facilities, SBHCD shall pay
Physician as outlined in Exhibit A to this Agreement and in accordance with the normal SBHCD contract
payment process for Services provided by Physician. Physician shall not bill for facility fees,
administrative, supervisory, medical director, or similar services.

Schedule of Charges. SBHCD, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall decide upon the schedule of
charges for the Facilities. Pursuant to California Health and Safety Code Section 32129, the SBHCD
Board of Directors may review the fees and charges for Services provided at the Facilities to ensure such
fees and charges are reasonable, fair, and consistent with the basic commitment of SBHCD to provide
adequate health care to all residents within the Hospital Service Area.

ARTICLE 5 - TERM AND TERMINATION

Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence at 12:01 AM on the Effective Date and continue for
a period of three (3) years, expiring on May 31, 2028 at 11:59 PM unless renewed by mutual written
agreement of the parties or terminated earlier as provided in this Agreement.

Termination. Either party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement without stating a cause or
reason and without cost or penalty upon ninety (90) days’ prior written notice to the other party.
Notwithstanding, either party shall have the right to terminate the Agreement for “cause” upon written
notice to the other party as set forth below. If this Agreement is terminated prior to expiration of the first
year of the initial term, the parties shall not enter into any new agreement or arrangement that is
substantially the same arrangement during the remainder of such year.

Definition of Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “cause” shall include, but not be limited to, the
occurrence of any of the following events:

Page 3 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- J. Deutsch, MD eff 6-1-2025 1 03



54

6.1

5.3.1 SBHCD or Physician is in breach of any material term or condition of this Agreement and such
breach has not been cured within thirty (30) days following written notice of such breach.

5.3.2  SBHCD or Physician becomes insolvent or declares bankruptcy.

5.3.3  The license to practice medicine or to prescribe controlled substances of Physician is revoked or
suspended.

5.3.4 SBHCD fails to carry or reinstate the insurance required in ARTICLE 8 or such coverage is
canceled or revoked within fifteen (15) days following notice of revocation from its insurance
carrier.

5.3.5 Upon the determination that Physician has violated a material term of ARTICLE 9.

5.3.6  The performance by either party of any term, condition, or provision of this Agreement which
jeopardizes the licensure of Hospital, Hospital’s participation in Medicare, Medi-Cal or other
reimbursement or payment program, or Hospital’s full accreditation by The Joint Commission or
any other state or nationally recognized accreditation organization, or the tax-exempt status of
Hospital’s bonds, or if for any other reason such performance violates any statute, ordinance, or
is otherwise deemed illegal, or is deemed unethical by any recognized body, agency, or
association in the healthcare fields, and the jeopardy or violation has not been or cannot be cured
within sixty (60) days from the date notice of such jeopardy or violation has been received by the
parties.

5.3.7  The loss of or reduction in Physician’s medical staff privileges at any facility where Physician
provides professional health care services, whether voluntary or involuntary.

5.3.8  Physician being charged with or convicted of a crime other than an infraction, traffic citation, or
similar charge.

5.3.9 Physician’s engagement in: (i) willful misconduct (which means the knowing and intentional
failure to exercise ordinary care to prevent material injury to SBHCD or the commission of an
intentional act with knowledge that it is likely to result in material injury to the SBHCD), (ii)
fraudulent activities, (iii) crimes or acts of moral turpitude, (iv) any breach of a duty to SBHCD,
a patient, or any third party payor, (v) harassment or abuse of patients, staff, providers, or any
other person, or (vi) any other action or omission that could materially affect SBHCD’s business
or reputation in an adverse manner.

Termination/Expiration Not Subject to Fair Hearing. It is agreed between the parties that should either
party exercise its right to terminate this Agreement such decision to terminate, and the actual termination
or expiration of this Agreement, shall apply to rights under this Agreement only and not to Physician’s
medical staff privileges or membership on the medical staff of Hospital. The termination or expiration of
this Agreement shall not be subject to the Fair Hearing Plan of the Medical Staff Bylaws, the hearing
procedures provided by Healthcare District Law, or any other fair hearing procedure regarding medical
staff appointments or privileges.

ARTICLE 6 - INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

Independent Contractor Status. Physician is engaged in an independent contractor relationship with
SBHCD in performing all work, services, duties, and obligations pursuant to this Agreement. Neither
SBHCD nor Hospital shall exercise any control or direction over the methods by which Physician
performs work and functions, except that Physician shall perform at all times in strict accordance with
then currently approved methods and practices of Physician’s professional specialty. SBHCD’s sole
interest is to ensure that Physician performs and renders services in a competent, efficient, and satisfactory
manner in accordance with high medical standards.

Page 4 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- J. Deutsch, MD eff 6-1-2025 1 04



6.2 Independent Contractor Responsibilities. The parties expressly agree that no work, act, commission, or
omission of Physician pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be construed to make
or render Physician, the agent or employee of SBHCD. Physician shall not be entitled to receive from
SBHCD vacation pay, sick leave, retirement benefits, Social Security, workers’ compensation, disability
or unemployment insurance benefits or any other employee benefit. Physician shall be solely responsible
for paying when due all income, employment and withholding taxes and employment benefits, if any,
including estimated taxes, incurred as a result of the compensation paid by SBHCD to Physician for
Services under this Agreement. Physician is responsible for providing, at his/her own expense, disability,
unemployment, workers’ compensation and other insurance (if applicable), training, permits and licenses.

ARTICLE 7 - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

7.1 SBHCD Representations and Warranties. SBHCD for itself, and its board of directors, officers,
employees, and agents (collectively, “Agents”), represents and warrants to Physician, upon execution and
while this Agreement is in effect, as follows:

7.1.1 ~ SBHCD has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its
obligations under this Agreement;

7.1.2  This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by SBHCD and is a legal,
valid, binding obligation of SBHCD, enforceable in accordance with its terms;

7.1.3  The parties have bargained at arms’ length to determine Physician’s compensation under this
Agreement, the compensation is fair market value for the Services; and the compensation is
consistent with fair market value for similar services in the community; and

7.1.4 The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby by SBHCD will not violate any provisions of, or constitute a default under,
any contract or other agreement to which SBHCD is a party or by which it is bound, other than
violations, defaults or conflicts that would not materially and adversely affect the ability of
SBHCD to perform its obligations pursuant to this Agreement.

7.2 Physician Representations and Warranties. Physician, for Physician and Physician’s Agents, represents
and warrants to SBHCD, upon execution and while this Agreement is in effect, as follows:

7.2.1  Physician is not bound by any agreement or arrangement which would preclude Physician from
entering into this Agreement or from fully performing the Services;

7.2.2  Physician's license to practice medicine in California or in any other jurisdiction has never been
denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished under threat of disciplinary
action, or restricted in any way;

7.2.3  Physician's medical staff privileges at any health care facility have never been denied, suspended,
revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished under threat of disciplinary action, or made subject
to terms of probation or any other restriction;

7.2.4  Physician has not in the past conducted, and is presently not conducting, his/her medical practice
in such a manner as to cause Physician to be suspended, excluded, barred or sanctioned under
Medicare or Medi-Cal, or any government licensing agency, nor have they ever been convicted
of a criminal offense related to health care, or listed by a federal agency as debarred, excluded or
otherwise ineligible for federal program participation;

7.2.5 Physician has, and shall maintain throughout the term of this Agreement, an unrestricted license
to practice medicine in California and Medical Staff privileges at the Hospital;

Page 5 of 9
PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- J. Deutsch, MD eff 6-1-2025 105



8.1

9.1

7.2.6  Physician has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its
obligations under this Agreement;

7.277  This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by Physician and is a legal,
valid, binding obligation of Physician, enforceable in accordance with its terms;

7.2.8  The parties have bargained at arms’ length to determine Physician’s compensation under this
Agreement, the compensation is fair market value for the Services; and the compensation is
consistent with fair market value for similar services in the community; and

729 The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby by Physician will not violate and provisions of, or constitute a default under,
and contract or other agreement to which Physician is a party or by which it is bound, other than
violations, defaults or conflicts that would not materially and adversely affect the ability of
Physician to perform the Services required under this Agreement.

ARTICLE 8 - LIABILITY/MALPRACTICE INSURANCE COVERAGE

Coverages. SBHCD shall maintain general and professional liability insurance coverage for Physician
for Services provided by Physician to SBHCD patients during the term of this Agreement in a minimum
amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence and $3,000,000 annual aggregate. In the event the coverage that
SBHCD obtains to comply with this Section of this Agreement is a “claims made” policy, and SBHCD,
as applicable, changes insurance carriers or terminates coverage upon or after termination of this
Agreement, SBHCD shall immediately obtain and maintain “tail” coverage in the amounts otherwise
required under this Section for at least seven (7) years following termination of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 9 - PROTECTED HEALTH INFORMATION

Protected Health Information. Physician shall maintain the confidentiality of all Protected Health
Information (“PHI”) in accordance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations,
including, but not limited to, the California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act and the Federal
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and regulations promulgated thereunder
(“HIPAA”). Without limiting the foregoing, Physician agrees to maintain PHI, as defined from time to
time under HIPAA, which may be made available to or received by Physician pursuant to this Agreement,
in accordance with the requirements of HIPAA. Physician agrees to:

9.1.1 Not use or further disclose PHI in a manner that would violate HIPAA if done by SBHCD or
violate the requirements of applicable laws or this Agreement;

9.1.2  Use appropriate safeguards to prevent use or disclosure of PHI except as permitted by law and
the terms of this Agreement, and report to SBHCD any use or disclosure of PHI not permitted by
law or by this Agreement of which Physician becomes aware;

9.1.3  Comply with the elements of any compliance program established by SBHCD that applies to the
use or disclosure of PHI and ensure that any subcontractors or agents to whom Physician provides
PHI agree to the same restrictions and conditions that apply to Physician with respect to such
PHI;

9.14  Inaccordance with HIPAA, (i) make available PHI to the subject patient; (ii) make available PHI
for amendment and incorporate any amendments to PHI; and (iii) make available the information
required to provide an accounting of disclosures of PHI to the subject patient;

9.1.5 Make Physician’s internal practices, books, and records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI

available to the Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services for
purposes of determining SBHCD’s and Physician’s compliance with HIPAA;

Page 6 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- J. Deutsch, MD eff 6-1-2025 106



9.2

10.1

9.1.6 At termination of this Agreement, return or destroy all PHI received from or created by SBHCD
and retain no copies of such PHI or, if return or destruction is not permissible under law or the
terms of this Agreement, continue to maintain all PHI in accordance with the provisions of this
Section and limit further uses and disclosures to those purposes that make the return or destruction
of the information infeasible.

Electronic Protected Health Information (“EPHI”). Physician agrees that Physician will: (i) implement
administrative, physical, and technical safeguards that reasonably and appropriately protect the
confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the EPHI that Physician creates, receives, maintains, or
transmits on behalf of SBHCD; (ii) report to SBHCD any security incident with respect to EPHI of which
Physician becomes aware; and (iii) ensure that any agent, including a subcontractor, to whom Physician
provides EPHI agrees to implement reasonable and appropriate safeguards to protect such information.

ARTICLE 10 - REQUIRED DISCLOSURES

Required Disclosures. Physician shall notify SBHCD in writing within three (3) days after any of the
following events occur:

10.1.1 Physician's license to practice medicine in the State of California or any other jurisdiction lapses
or is denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished (under threat of
disciplinary action) or made subject to terms of probation or other restriction;

10.1.2  Physician's medical staff membership and/or privileges at any health care facility or entity are
denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished (under threat of disciplinary
action), or made subject to terms of probation or other restriction;

10.1.3  Physician is required to pay damages in any malpractice action by way of judgment or
settlement, except that Physician shall not be required to breach a settlement or confidentiality
agreement;

10.1.4 Receipt of notice of the commencement of any investigation into Physician's medical license or
Physician's medical practice by the Medical Board of California, California Attorney General,
the Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General, the Department of
Justice, or any other entity of federal, state, or local government;

10.1.5 Physician's Drug Enforcement Agency registration number is revoked, suspended, terminated,
relinquished, placed on terms of probation, or restricted in any way;

10.1.6 An event occurs that substantially interrupts all or a portion of Physician's professional practice,
materially adversely affects Physician's ability to perform Physician's obligations hereunder,
including the Services, or could likely cause Physician to be in breach of this Agreement; or

10.1.7 Physician being charged with or convicted of a criminal offense related to health care, or
Physician's listing by a federal agency as being debarred, excluded, or otherwise ineligible for

federal program participation.

10.1.8 The occurrence of any event that would constitute “cause” pursuant to Section 5.3.

ARTICLE 11 - GENERAL PROVISIONS

Notices. Any notice to be given to any party hereunder shall be deposited in the United States Mail, duly
registered or certified, with return receipt requested, with postage paid, and addressed to the party for

Page 7 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- J. Deutsch, MD eff 6-1-2025 107



11.2

11.3

11.4

11.5

11.6

11.8

whom intended, at the addresses set forth in the signature block, or to such other address or addresses as
the parties may hereafter designate in writing to each other.

SBHCD: San Benito Health Care District
Office of the Chief Executive Officer
911 Sunset Drive
Hollister, CA 95023

Physician: J Deutsch MD MPH Physician Services Incorporated
Joshua Deutsch, M.D.
27726 Crowne Point Court
Salinas CA, 93908-1600

No Waiver. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed, or shall constitute, a
waiver of any other provision, whether or not similar, nor shall any waiver constitute a continuing waiver.
No waiver shall be binding unless executed in writing by the party making the waiver.

Governing Law and Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by, construed and enforced in accordance
with the laws of the State of California. Venue shall be in the County of San Benito, California.

Ownership of Patient Records. All Facilities’ patient records shall be maintained by SBHCD and are the
property of SBHCD. Physician shall have the right to access such records during normal business hours.

Patient Choice. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, all compensation paid to Physician
pursuant to this Agreement is solely for the purpose of obtaining the services of Physician for patients of
the SBHCD community. The parties recognize and affirm the importance of individual patient choice in
selection of medical services. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be interpreted to obligate,
encourage, or solicit, in any way, the referral of any individual patient to any health care facility, including
the Facility, contrary to that patient’s choice of another provider of medical services. Further, nothing in
this Agreement shall be interpreted to prevent, restrict, or discourage the Physician from referring patients
to any other provider of health care services.

Exclusive Property of SBHCD. All data, files, records, documents, promotional materials, and similar
items relating to the business of SBHCD, whether prepared by or with the assistance of Physician or
otherwise coming into Physician’s possession shall remain the exclusive property of SBHCD and shall

not be removed from SBHCD’s facilities under any circumstances without the prior written consent of
SBHCD.

Confidentiality. The parties acknowledge and agree that during the term of this Agreement and in the
course of the discharge of Physician’s duties hereunder, Physician shall have access to and become
acquainted with information concerning the operation of SBHCD, and information which, pursuant to
applicable law and regulation, is deemed to be confidential, including, but not limited to, trade secrets,
medical records, patient medical and personal information, and personnel records. Physician agrees that
such information shall not be disclosed either directly or indirectly to any other person or entity or used
by Physician in any way either during the term of this Agreement or at any other time thereafter, except
as is required herein. Physician understands breach of this article will be an irremediable breach of this
Agreement. Such breach will result in immediate termination of this Agreement.

Binding Agreement: No Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit
of the parties to it and their respective legal representatives, successors, and permitted assigns. No party
may assign this Agreement or any rights hereunder, or may delegate any of the duties to be performed
hereunder without the prior written consent of the other party.

Page 8 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- J. Deutsch, MD eff 6-1-2025 108



11.9

11.10

11.11

Dispute Resolution. If any dispute, controversy, or claim arises out of this Agreement, for a period of
thirty (30) days following written notice of the dispute, controversy or claim from one party to the other,
the parties will use their good faith efforts to resolve the dispute, controversy, or claim. If the matter
cannot be resolved by the parties in this fashion, then such dispute, claim or controversy shall be heard in
San Benito County, California, pursuant to the provisions of California Code of Civil Procedure Sections
638 through 645.1, inclusive. The hearing shall be final and binding to the greatest extent permitted by
law, and the cost thereof, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, shall be borne by the losing party in such
proportions as the referee may decide. Judgment on the award may be entered in any court having
jurisdiction thereof.

Section 952 of Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1980. In accordance with Section 952 of the
Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1980 (PL 96-499), Physician agrees that the books and records of
Physician will be available to the Secretary of Department of Health and Human Services and the
Comptroller General of the United States, or their duly authorized representatives, for four (4) years after
termination of this Agreement. In the event that any of the services to be performed under this Agreement
are performed by any subcontractor of Physician at a value or cost of $10,000 or more over a twelve (12)
month period, Physician shall comply and assure that such subcontractor complies with the provisions of
Section 952 of the Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1980. If not applicable to this Agreement, this Section
shall automatically be repealed.

Entire Agreement: Amendment. This Agreement, its exhibits, and all referenced documents constitute
the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to the subject matter contained herein. This
Agreement supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, representations and understandings of
the parties which relate to the subject matter of this Agreement. No supplement, amendment or
modification of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by all of the parties.

The parties hereby executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date first set forth above.

SBHCD PHYSICIAN
SAN BENITO HEALTH CARE DISTRICT J Deutsch MD MPH Physician Services Incorporated
By: By:
Mary T. Casillas, Chief Executive Officer Joshua Deutsch, M.D. Chief Executive Officer
Date: Date:
Page 9 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- J. Deutsch, MD eff 6-1-2025 1 09



EXHIBIT A

PHYSICIAN SERVICES, COMPENSATION & SCHEDULE

A.l1 Services. Physician shall provide professional medical hospitalist Services at the Facilities as
specified by SBHCD on the terms set forth below:

Al

Al2

A.l3.

Hospitalist Coverage Panel. Physician shall serve as a member and equal participant of the
Hospital Coverage Panel. Physician shall provide Services as mutually agreed by the parties,
but at a minimum level such that the Hospitalist Coverage Panel will provide:

A.1.1.1 Two 12 hour onsite day shifts (7:00 AM to 7:00 PM, or such other times as the
parties agree), 365 days per year at the Hospital.

A.1.1.2 One 12 hour on-call night shift (7:00 PM to 7:00 AM, or such other times as the
parties agree) 365 days per year at the Hospital.

A.1.1.3  Hospitalist services at the Clinics and SNFs on a mutually agreed upon schedule
to be determined within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date. Provided,
Physician will only be required to provide Services at the Clinics and SNFs if the
parties enter into a separate agreement (or addendum to this Agreement) requiring
such Services.

Preparation of Hospitalist Coverage Panel Schedule. Parties agree that Natalie LaCorte,
M.D. in conjunction with Jiwu Sun, M.D., will compile the schedule for the Hospitalist
Coverage Panel. This schedule will detail the availability and necessary arrangements for
delivering Services. Notwithstanding, SBHCD reserves the right to approve or request
modifications to the proposed schedule to ensure it meets operational and compliance
requirements.

Specialty Services. Physician shall provide the following hospitalist Services:

Primary management of the care of general inpatient medical admissions, including patients
admitted at the request of attending or referring physicians; responding to unassigned patients
and providing cross-coverage between departments; family conferences as requested in
consultation with social services; consultations, upon request, for members of the Hospital’s
Medical Staff;, and assistance with the management and treatment of patients for whom
Physician is responsible as head of a multi-disciplinary team. When the patient has an
attending/referring physician, Physician shall include such physician in decision making and
keep such physician informed.

A.2 Compensation.

A2l

Schedule and Rate. Physician’s compensation (“Compensation”), shall be paid on a
monthly basis on SBHCD’s standard payment cycle for similar agreements and shall be paid
at the following rates:

A.2.1.1 On-site day shifts shall be paid at the rate of $185.00/hour.
A.2.1.2 On-call night shifts shall be paid at the rate of $82.50/hour.

On each anniversary of the Effective Date, the hourly rate then in effect shall be increased
by 3% to reflect adjustments to the cost of living.

110



A3

A4

A22 Payment on Termination. On termination of this Agreement, which is not extended,
renewed or superseded by another agreement, SBHCD shall pay to Physician any amounts
due to Physician within forty-five (45) days after the termination of this Agreement.

A23 Agreement Includes All Compensation from SBHCD. Incorporated into Compensation,
unless specifically excluded, are all the Physician’s sources of practice revenues and income,
including call coverage stipends, other hospital on-call fees, hospital stipends, and reading
fees; provided, however, that services as a medical director within SBHCD, service on
medical staff or SBHCD positions such as department chair or chief of staff, call panels
which are not currently in effect, or other items specifically excluded by written agreement
between Physician and SBHCD shall be independently compensated to Physician by
SBHCD, if any, and are not subject to the terms of this Agreement.

A.2.4 Expenses. Physician shall be solely responsible for all expenses incurred in the provision of
Services except for those that are the responsibility of SBHCD pursuant to this Agreement.
Notwithstanding, upon written application to SBHCD, SBHCD may, in its sole discretion,
agree to reimburse Physician for continuing medical education (CME) course tuition and
associated travel and meal expenses not to exceed $2,500 per calendar year, provided that
Physician demonstrates that attending the CME would substantially further the interests of
patient care at SBHCD.

Services and Activities in Support of SBHCD. SBHCD and Physician acknowledge and agree that
certain services and activities may be required of Physician in support of SBHCD and Clinic to ensure
a continuing high level of patient care. To that end, Physician shall participate in functions/events
from time to time, in support of the SBHCD Clinics and the SBHCD facilities. In addition, to assist
in the recruitment and retention of highly skilled practitioners, upon SBHCD’s request, Physician
shall participate in recruitment meetings with SBHCD physician candidates. SBHCD shall reimburse
Physician for reasonable meal expenses incurred as part of meeting with physician candidates hosted
at the request of SBHCD.

Practice Guidelines/Best Quality Practices. Physician shall demonstrate cooperative work
arrangements with the Medical Staff, Quality and Safety Leadership and SBHCD Administration to
achieve mutually accepted practice guidelines and the best quality practices. These practices will be
shall be evidenced based, and include at minimum the following:

A4l Attendance at regular monthly meetings with SBHCD Clinic and Hospital leadership when
requested to review any operational or quality issues.

A4d2 Timely completion of all incomplete inpatient records, including completion of all
admission and discharge medication reconciliation.

Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

A43 Completion of all office visit notes within twenty-four (24) hours of visit.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

Ad4 Timely signing of orders.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

A4S Timely discharges summaries.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

111



A4.6 Commitment to use of SBHCD supported electronic health/medical record platforms.

A4 Compliance with all governmental and SBHCD quality reporting initiatives that may come
into effect from time to time.

A48 Timely arrival at the Facilities, defined as being ready, willing and able to provide Services
not less than 10 minutes before the commencement of any in-person shift and responding
to on-call coverage calls within the times set forth in the Medical Staff rules and
regulations.

A.5  Quality Metrics. In addition to the practice guidelines and the best quality practices set forth in
Section A 4, the parties shall, within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date, mutually agree on quality and
performance metrics for the Services.

Remainder of page intentionally left blank

112



PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR HOSPITALIST COVERAGE PANEL

This Professional Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made, entered into and effective as of June 1, 2025
(“Effective Date™), by and between San Benito Health Care District, a local health care district organized and
operated pursuant to Division 23 of the California Health and Safety Code (“SBHCD”), and Saiham
Shahabuddin MD P.C. (“Physician”).

RECITALS

A. SBHCD owns and operates Hazel Hawkins Memorial Hospital, a licensed general acute care facility
located at 911 Sunset Drive, Hollister, California (“Hospital”). Hospital provides inpatient and outpatient
services to residents of the San Benito Health Care District and surrounding communities which constitute
the Hospital’s service area (“Hospital Service Area™).

B. SBHCD owns and operates specialty and rural health clinics as defined in Title 22, California Code of
' Regulations section 51115.5 to provide services to patients in the Hospital Service Area (“Clinics”) and
two skilled nursing facilities (“SNFs”). Together, the Hospital, Clinics, and SNFs are referred to herein

as the “Facilities”.

C. Physician is licensed to practice medicine in the State of California, is a member in good standing of the
medical staff of Hospital, and is experienced and qualified to provide hospitalist services.

D. Section 32129 of the California Health and Safety Code provides that a health care district may contract
with a Physician to render professional health services in order to ensure that adequate health care is
available to all residents within its service area.

E. SBHCD has determined that entering into this Agreement with Physician is in the best interests of SBHCD
and the public health of the residents of the Hospital Service Area and is an appropriate way to assure
availability of hospitalist services to patients in the Hospital Service Area. SBHCD has established a
hospitalist coverage panel (“Hospitalist Coverage Panel”) of qualified physicians which shall ensure the
availability of physician coverage for hospitalist services as needed at the Facilities.

F. The parties desire to enter into this Agreement to set forth their respective responsibilities in connection
with the Services provided by Physician in the Hospital Service Area during the term of this Agreement.

The parties hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE 1 - DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF PHYSICIAN

1.1 Medical Services. Physician shall provide professional health care services in Physician’s medical
specialty to patients at the Facilities and on the schedule more fully described in Exhibit A, which is
attached to this Agreement and incorporated by this reference (“Services”). Services include services to
Medicare and Medi-Cal patients, patients of any other federal health care program or a state health care
financial program (“Governmental Programs”), workers’ compensation beneficiaries, and patients
eligible for participation in SBHCD’s charity care program. Physician shall cooperate to enable SBHCD’s
participation in Medicare, Medi-Cal, Governmental Programs, workers’ compensation services and
commercial payor programs. Physician shall provide Services to all patients, including Medicare, Medi-
Cal, Governmental Program, and workers’ compensation beneficiaries, in a non-discriminatory manner
and in accordance with all applicable laws and SBHCD policies and procedures, as developed and
implemented in collaboration with physician leadership of the Facilities.

1.2 Qualifications. Physician shall: (i) be duly licensed to practice medicine by the State of California; (ii)
be qualified to perform the Services by having adequate levels of competency and experience; (iii) have
skill comparable to those prevailing in the community; (iv) not be excluded from participation in any

Page 1 of 9
PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- S. Shahabuddin, MD, eff 6-1-2025 1 1 3



13

14

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

2.1

governmental healthcare program; (v) be approved for and maintain active membership and/or clinical
privileges on the Hospital's medical staff in accordance with medical staff bylaws, rules and regulations,
and other medical staff governing directives; (vi) be certified as a participating physician in the Medicare
and Medi-Cal programs; and (vii) hold an unrestricted Drug Enforcement Administration ("DEA")
registration number.

Compliance. In connection with the operation and conduct of the Facilities and rendering of Services,
Physician shall, at all times, comply with the applicable terms of this Agreement and with all applicable
federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations, including requirements for participation in the
Medicare and Medi-Cal programs, the Hospital medical staff bylaws, rules and regulations, and applicable
policies and procedures, and will at all times be aware of and participate in meeting the goals and
objectives of the SBHCD Corporate Compliance program.

Credentialing. In order to be efficiently credentialed with payors that have contracted with SBHCD,
Physician shall participate in the Council for Affordable Quality Healthcare (“CAQH”) credentialing
program and shall timely comply with requests from CAQH or SBHCD personnel for (i) credentialing
information regarding Physician, and (ii) documents necessary for Physician’s credentialing.

Use of Premises. No part of the SBHCD premises shall be used at any time by Physician as an office for
the general or private practice of medicine.

Medical Records/Chart Notes. Physician shall provide timely, appropriate, and necessary documentation
for each patient’s medical record for all patient encounters at the Facilities in compliance with the
Facilities’ policies and procedures.

Coding. Physician shall properly code all professional services rendered to patients. Physician’s coding
shall be used for purposes of billing for Services provided by Physician. All such coding shall be subject
to review and audit by an independent auditing company mutually agreed upon by the parties.

Professional Standards. In performing Services, Physician shall comply with the principles and ethics of
the American Medical Association, the California Medical Association, and any federal, state or
municipal law, statute or ordinance dealing with the practice of medicine by Physician. Physician shall
further abide in all respects with the Code of Conduct applicable to professional health care providers of
any hospital, outpatient clinic or surgery center, including but not limited to SBHCD, at which Physician
shall provide professional services. Physician shall provide Services to all SBHCD patients on a courteous
and prompt basis, be available and accessible to patients, provide them with full and meaningful
information, and render services in a manner which assures continuity of care. Physician further agrees to
treat all other providers and the staff and volunteers of SBHCD with respect, dignity, and professionalism,
and to conduct himself/herself in accordance with the highest standards of ethical behavior and workplace
conduct.

ARTICLE 2 - DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF SBHCD

Duties. SBHCD agrees to furnish at its own cost and expense, for the operation of the Facilities, the
following:

2.1.1  Space and Equipment. Space and equipment as may be reasonably required for the operation of
the Facilities as approved by SBHCD.

2.1.2  Services and Supplies. Maintenance, repair, and replacement of equipment as reasonably
required; all utilities, including telephone, power, light, gas, and water; and all supplies that may
be reasonably required for the operation of the Facilities.

2.1.3 Non-physician Personnel. All non-physician personnel with appropriate education, training, and
experience required to operate the Facilities, including a qualified administrative manager.

Page 2 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- S. Shahabuddin, MD, eff 6-1-2025 114



2.2

23

24

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

5.1

52

53

SBHCD shall have the sole right and responsibility for the hiring and termination of all its
employees. SBHCD shall be responsible for the scheduling of non-physician Facilities personnel.

Eligibility. At all times during the term of this Agreement, SBHCD shall remain eligible to participate in
the Medicare and Medi-Cal programs.

Contracts. SBHCD shall be solely responsible for negotiating all contracts for the reimbursement of
Services provided at the Facilities. SBHCD, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall determine the
negotiation parameters for the terms, conditions, and rates for such contracts.

Access to Records. Physician shall have access to SBHCD patient medical and business records for
quality of care and compliance purposes.

ARTICLE 3 - BILLING AND ASSIGNMENT OF REVENUE

Billing and Collection. SBHCD shall perform billing and collection services under this Agreement.
Physician shall cooperate with SBHCD and shall use his/her best efforts to furnish appropriate
documentation of patient care services provided by Physician to enable SBHCD to timely and accurately
bill and collect for such services.

Assignment of Professional Service Revenues. Physician hereby assigns to SBHCD the right to all
revenue from any and all patients, third-party payors, and governmental programs for all Services
rendered by Physician at the Facilities under this Agreement. The Parties intend that SBHCD may bill
and collect directly from the Medicare carrier for Physician’s services to Medicare beneficiaries in
compliance with Medicare Publication 100-04, Chapter 1, Sec. 30.2.7.

ARTICLE 4 - COMPENSATION FOR SERVICES BY PHYSICIAN

Compensation. As compensation for the provision of Services at the Facilities, SBHCD shall pay
Physician as outlined in Exhibit A to this Agreement and in accordance with the normal SBHCD contract
payment process for Services provided by Physician. Physician shall not bill for facility fees,
administrative, supervisory, medical director, or similar services.

Schedule of Charges. SBHCD, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall decide upon the schedule of
charges for the Facilities. Pursuant to California Health and Safety Code Section 32129, the SBHCD
Board of Directors may review the fees and charges for Services provided at the Facilities to ensure such
fees and charges are reasonable, fair, and consistent with the basic commitment of SBHCD to provide
adequate health care to all residents within the Hospital Service Area.

ARTICLE S - TERM AND TERMINATION

Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence at 12:01 AM on the Effective Date and continue for
a period of three (3) years, expiring on May 31, 2028 at 11:59 PM unless renewed by mutual written
agreement of the parties or terminated earlier as provided in this Agreement.

Termination. Either party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement without stating a cause or
reason and without cost or penalty upon ninety (90) days’ prior written notice to the other party.
Notwithstanding, either party shall have the right to terminate the Agreement for “cause” upon written
notice to the other party as set forth below. If this Agreement is terminated prior to expiration of the first
year of the initial term, the parties shall not enter into any new agreement or arrangement that is
substantially the same arrangement during the remainder of such year.

Definition of Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “cause” shall include, but not be limited to, the
occurrence of any of the following events:

Page 3 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- S. Shahabuddin, MD, eff 6-1-2025 1 1 5



54

6.1

5.3.1 SBHCD or Physician is in breach of any material term or condition of this Agreement and such
breach has not been cured within thirty (30) days following written notice of such breach.

5.3.2  SBHCD or Physician becomes insolvent or declares bankruptcy.

5.3.3  The license to practice medicine or to prescribe controlled substances of Physician is revoked or
suspended.

5.3.4 SBHCD fails to carry or reinstate the insurance required in ARTICLE 8 or such coverage is
canceled or revoked within fifteen (15) days following notice of revocation from its insurance
carrier.

5.3.5 Upon the determination that Physician has violated a material term of ARTICLE 9.

5.3.6  The performance by either party of any term, condition, or provision of this Agreement which
Jjeopardizes the licensure of Hospital, Hospital’s participation in Medicare, Medi-Cal or other
reimbursement or payment program, or Hospital’s full accreditation by The Joint Commission or
any other state or nationally recognized accreditation organization, or the tax-exempt status of
Hospital’s bonds, or if for any other reason such performance violates any statute, ordinance, or
is otherwise deemed illegal, or is deemed unethical by any recognized body, agency, or
association in the healthcare fields, and the jeopardy or violation has not been or cannot be cured
within sixty (60) days from the date notice of such jeopardy or violation has been received by the
parties.

5.3.7  The loss of or reduction in Physician’s medical staff privileges at any facility where Physician
provides professional health care services, whether voluntary or involuntary.

5.3.8 Physician being charged with or convicted of a crime other than an infraction, traffic citation, or
similar charge.

5.3.9 Physician’s engagement in: (i) willful misconduct (which means the knowing and intentional
failure to exercise ordinary care to prevent material injury to SBHCD or the commission of an
intentional act with knowledge that it is likely to result in material injury to the SBHCD), (ii)
fraudulent activities, (iii) crimes or acts of moral turpitude, (iv) any breach of a duty to SBHCD,
a patient, or any third party payor, (v) harassment or abuse of patients, staff, providers, or any
other person, or (vi) any other action or omission that could materially affect SBHCD’s business
or reputation in an adverse manner.

Termination/Expiration Not Subject to Fair Hearing. It is agreed between the parties that should either
party exercise its right to terminate this Agreement such decision to terminate, and the actual termination
or expiration of this Agreement, shall apply to rights under this Agreement only and not to Physician’s
medical staff privileges or membership on the medical staff of Hospital. The termination or expiration of
this Agreement shall not be subject to the Fair Hearing Plan of the Medical Staff Bylaws, the hearing
procedures provided by Healthcare District Law, or any other fair hearing procedure regarding medical
staff appointments or privileges.

ARTICLE 6 - INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

Independent Contractor Status. Physician is engaged in an independent contractor relationship with
SBHCD in performing all work, services, duties, and obligations pursuant to this Agreement. Neither
SBHCD nor Hospital shall exercise any control or direction over the methods by which Physician
performs work and functions, except that Physician shall perform at all times in strict accordance with
then currently approved methods and practices of Physician’s professional specialty. SBHCD’s sole
interest is to ensure that Physician performs and renders services in a competent, efficient, and satisfactory
manner in accordance with high medical standards.

Page 4 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- S. Shahabuddin, MD, eff 6-1-2025 1 1 6



6.2 Independent Contractor Responsibilities. The parties expressly agree that no work, act, commission, or
omission of Physician pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be construed to make
or render Physician, the agent or employee of SBHCD. Physician shall not be entitled to receive from
SBHCD vacation pay, sick leave, retirement benefits, Social Security, workers’ compensation, disability
or unemployment insurance benefits or any other employee benefit. Physician shall be solely responsible
for paying when due all income, employment and withholding taxes and employment benefits, if any,
including estimated taxes, incurred as a result of the compensation paid by SBHCD to Physician for
Services under this Agreement. Physician is responsible for providing, at his/her own expense, disability,
unemployment, workers’ compensation and other insurance (if applicable), training, permits and licenses.

ARTICLE 7 - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

7.1 SBHCD Representations and Warranties. SBHCD for itself, and its board of directors, officers,
employees, and agents (collectively, “Agents”), represents and warrants to Physician, upon execution and
while this Agreement is in effect, as follows:

7.1.1  SBHCD has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its
obligations under this Agreement;

7.1.2  This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by SBHCD and is a legal,
valid, binding obligation of SBHCD, enforceable in accordance with its terms;

7.1.3  The parties have bargained at arms’ length to determine Physician’s compensation under this
Agreement, the compensation is fair market value for the Services; and the compensation is
consistent with fair market value for similar services in the community; and

7.1.4 The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby by SBHCD will not violate any provisions of, or constitute a default under,
any contract or other agreement to which SBHCD is a party or by which it is bound, other than
violations, defaults or conflicts that would not materially and adversely affect the ability of
SBHCD to perform its obligations pursuant to this Agreement.

7.2 Physician Representations and Warranties. Physician, for Physician and Physician’s Agents, represents
and warrants to SBHCD, upon execution and while this Agreement is in effect, as follows:

7.2.1 Physician is not bound by any agreement or arrangement which would preclude Physician from
entering into this Agreement or from fully performing the Services;

7.2.2  Physician's license to practice medicine in California or in any other jurisdiction has never been
denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished under threat of disciplinary
action, or restricted in any way;

7.2.3  Physician's medical staff privileges at any health care facility have never been denied, suspended,
revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished under threat of disciplinary action, or made subject
to terms of probation or any other restriction;

7.2.4  Physician has not in the past conducted, and is presently not conducting, his/her medical practice
in such a manner as to cause Physician to be suspended, excluded, barred or sanctioned under
Medicare or Medi-Cal, or any government licensing agency, nor have they ever been convicted
of a criminal offense related to health care, or listed by a federal agency as debarred, excluded or
otherwise ineligible for federal program participation;

7.2.5 Physician has, and shall maintain throughout the term of this Agreement, an unrestricted license
to practice medicine in California and Medical Staff privileges at the Hospital,

Page 5 of 9
PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- S. Shahabuddin, MD, eff 6-1-2025 117



8.1

9.1

7.2.6  Physician has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its
obligations under this Agreement;

7.2.7  This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by Physician and is a legal,
valid, binding obligation of Physician, enforceable in accordance with its terms;

7.2.8 The parties have bargained at arms’ length to determine Physician’s compensation under this
Agreement, the compensation is fair market value for the Services; and the compensation is
consistent with fair market value for similar services in the community; and

7.2.9 The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby by Physician will not violate and provisions of, or constitute a default under,
and contract or other agreement to which Physician is a party or by which it is bound, other than
violations, defaults or conflicts that would not materially and adversely affect the ability of
Physician to perform the Services required under this Agreement.

ARTICLE 8 - LIABILITY/MALPRACTICE INSURANCE COVERAGE

Coverages. SBHCD shall maintain general and professional liability insurance coverage for Physician
for Services provided by Physician to SBHCD patients during the term of this Agreement in a minimum
amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence and $3,000,000 annual aggregate. In the event the coverage that
SBHCD obtains to comply with this Section of this Agreement is a “claims made” policy, and SBHCD,
as applicable, changes insurance carriers or terminates coverage upon or after termination of this
Agreement, SBHCD shall immediately obtain and maintain “tail” coverage in the amounts otherwise
required under this Section for at least seven (7) years following termination of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 9 - PROTECTED HEALTH INFORMATION

Protected Health Information. Physician shall maintain the confidentiality of all Protected Health
Information (“PHI”) in accordance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations,
including, but not limited to, the California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act and the Federal
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and regulations promulgated thereunder
(“HIPAA”). Without limiting the foregoing, Physician agrees to maintain PHI, as defined from time to
time under HIPAA, which may be made available to or received by Physician pursuant to this Agreement,
in accordance with the requirements of HIPAA. Physician agrees to:

9.1.1  Not use or further disclose PHI in a manner that would violate HIPAA if done by SBHCD or
violate the requirements of applicable laws or this Agreement;

9.1.2  Use appropriate safeguards to prevent use or disclosure of PHI except as permitted by law and
the terms of this Agreement, and report to SBHCD any use or disclosure of PHI not permitted by
law or by this Agreement of which Physician becomes aware;

9.1.3  Comply with the elements of any compliance program established by SBHCD that applies to the
use or disclosure of PHI and ensure that any subcontractors or agents to whom Physician provides
PHI agree to the same restrictions and conditions that apply to Physician with respect to such
PHI,

9.1.4  Inaccordance with HIPAA, (i) make available PHI to the subject patient; (ii) make available PHI
for amendment and incorporate any amendments to PHI; and (iii) make available the information
required to provide an accounting of disclosures of PHI to the subject patient;

9.1.5 Make Physician’s internal practices, books, and records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI

available to the Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services for
purposes of determining SBHCD’s and Physician’s compliance with HIPAA;

Page 6 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- S. Shahabuddin, MD, eff 6-1-2025 118



9.2

10.1

9.1.6 At termination of this Agreement, return or destroy all PHI received from or created by SBHCD
and retain no copies of such PHI or, if return or destruction is not permissible under law or the
terms of this Agreement, continue to maintain all PHI in accordance with the provisions of this
Section and limit further uses and disclosures to those purposes that make the return or destruction
of the information infeasible.

Electronic Protected Health Information (“EPHI”). Physician agrees that Physician will: (i) implement
administrative, physical, and technical safeguards that reasonably and appropriately protect the
confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the EPHI that Physician creates, receives, maintains, or
transmits on behalf of SBHCD; (ii) report to SBHCD any security incident with respect to EPHI of which
Physician becomes aware; and (iii) ensure that any agent, including a subcontractor, to whom Physician
provides EPHI agrees to implement reasonable and appropriate safeguards to protect such information.

ARTICLE 10 - REQUIRED DISCLOSURES

Required Disclosures. Physician shall notify SBHCD in writing within three (3) days after any of the
following events occur:

10.1.1 Physician's license to practice medicine in the State of California or any other jurisdiction lapses
or is denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished (under threat of
disciplinary action) or made subject to terms of probation or other restriction;

10.1.2 Physician's medical staff membership and/or privileges at any health care facility or entity are
denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished (under threat of disciplinary
action), or made subject to terms of probation or other restriction;

10.1.3 Physician is required to pay damages in any malpractice action by way of judgment or
settlement, except that Physician shall not be required to breach a settlement or confidentiality
agreement;

10.1.4 Receipt of notice of the commencement of any investigation into Physician's medical license or
Physician's medical practice by the Medical Board of California, California Attorney General,
the Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General, the Department of
Justice, or any other entity of federal, state, or local government;

10.1.5 Physician's Drug Enforcement Agency registration number is revoked, suspended, terminated,
relinquished, placed on terms of probation, or restricted in any way;

10.1.6 An event occurs that substantially interrupts all or a portion of Physician's professional practice,
materially adversely affects Physician's ability to perform Physician's obligations hereunder,
including the Services, or could likely cause Physician to be in breach of this Agreement; or

10.1.7 Physician being charged with or convicted of a criminal offense related to health care, or
Physician's listing by a federal agency as being debarred, excluded, or otherwise ineligible for
federal program participation.

10.1.8 The occurrence of any event that would constitute “cause” pursuant to Section 5.3.

ARTICLE 11 - GENERAL PROVISIONS

Notices. Any notice to be given to any party hereunder shall be deposited in the United States Mail, duly
registered or certified, with return receipt requested, with postage paid, and addressed to the party for
whom intended, at the addresses set forth in the signature block, or to such other address or addresses as
the parties may hereafter designate in writing to each other.

Page 7 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- S. Shahabuddin, MD, eff 6-1-2025 119



11.2

113

11.4

11.5

11.6

11.7

11.8

11.9

SBHCD: San Benito Health Care District
Office of the Chief Executive Officer
911 Sunset Drive
Hollister, CA 95023

Physician: Saiham Shahabuddin MD P.C.
Saiham Shahabuddin, M.D.
246 Boardwalk Avenue
Marina CA, 93933-6056

No Waiver. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed, or shall constitute, a
waiver of any other provision, whether or not similar, nor shall any waiver constitute a continuing waiver.
No waiver shall be binding unless executed in writing by the party making the waiver.

Governing Law and Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by, construed and enforced in accordance
with the laws of the State of California. Venue shall be in the County of San Benito, California.

Ownership of Patient Records. All Facilities’ patient records shall be maintained by SBHCD and are the
property of SBHCD. Physician shall have the right to access such records during normal business hours.

Patient Choice. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, all compensation paid to Physician
pursuant to this Agreement is solely for the purpose of obtaining the services of Physician for patients of
the SBHCD community. The parties recognize and affirm the importance of individual patient choice in
selection of medical services. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be interpreted to obligate,
encourage, or solicit, in any way, the referral of any individual patient to any health care facility, including
the Facility, contrary to that patient’s choice of another provider of medical services. Further, nothing in
this Agreement shall be interpreted to prevent, restrict, or discourage the Physician from referring patients
to any other provider of health care services.

Exclusive Property of SBHCD. All data, files, records, documents, promotional materials, and similar
items relating to the business of SBHCD, whether prepared by or with the assistance of Physician or
otherwise coming into Physician’s possession shall remain the exclusive property of SBHCD and shall

not be removed from SBHCD'’s facilities under any circumstances without the prior written consent of
SBHCD.

Confidentiality. The parties acknowledge and agree that during the term of this Agreement and in the
course of the discharge of Physician’s duties hereunder, Physician shall have access to and become
acquainted with information concerning the operation of SBHCD, and information which, pursuant to
applicable law and regulation, is deemed to be confidential, including, but not limited to, trade secrets,
medical records, patient medical and personal information, and personnel records. Physician agrees that
such information shall not be disclosed either directly or indirectly to any other person or entity or used
by Physician in any way either during the term of this Agreement or at any other time thereafter, except
as is required herein. Physician understands breach of this article will be an irremediable breach of this
Agreement. Such breach will result in immediate termination of this Agreement.

Binding Agreement: No Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit
of the parties to it and their respective legal representatives, successors, and permitted assigns. No party
may assign this Agreement or any rights hereunder, or may delegate any of the duties to be performed
hereunder without the prior written consent of the other party.

Dispute Resolution. If any dispute, controversy, or claim arises out of this Agreement, for a period of
thirty (30) days following written notice of the dispute, controversy or claim from one party to the other,
the parties will use their good faith efforts to resolve the dispute, controversy, or claim. If the matter
cannot be resolved by the parties in this fashion, then such dispute, claim or controversy shall be heard in
San Benito County, California, pursuant to the provisions of California Code of Civil Procedure Sections
638 through 645.1, inclusive. The hearing shall be final and binding to the greatest extent permitted by

Page 8 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- S. Shahabuddin, MD, eff 6-1-2025 1 20



law, and the cost thereof, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, shall be borne by the losing party in such
proportions as the referee may decide. Judgment on the award may be entered in any court having
jurisdiction thereof.

11.10  Section 952 of Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1980. In accordance with Section 952 of the
Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1980 (PL 96-499), Physician agrees that the books and records of
Physician will be available to the Secretary of Department of Health and Human Services and the
Comptroller General of the United States, or their duly authorized representatives, for four (4) years after
termination of this Agreement. In the event that any of the services to be performed under this Agreement
are performed by any subcontractor of Physician at a value or cost of $10,000 or more over a twelve (12)
month period, Physician shall comply and assure that such subcontractor complies with the provisions of
Section 952 of the Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1980. If not applicable to this Agreement, this Section
shall automatically be repealed.

11.11 Entire Agreement: Amendment. This Agreement, its exhibits, and all referenced documents constitute
the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to the subject matter contained herein. This
Agreement supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, representations and understandings of
the parties which relate to the subject matter of this Agreement. No supplement, amendment or
modification of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by all of the parties.

The parties hereby executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date first set forth above.

SBHCD PHYSICIAN
SAN BENITO HEALTH CARE DISTRICT Saiham Shahabuddin MD P.C.
By: By:
Mary T. Casillas, Chief Executive Officer Saiham Shahabuddin, M.D. Chief Executive Officer
Date: Date:
Page 9 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- S. Shahabuddin, MD, eff 6-1-2025 1 2 1



EXHIBIT A

PHYSICIAN SERVICES, COMPENSATION & SCHEDULE

A.1 Services. Physician shall provide professional medical hospitalist Services at the Facilities as
specified by SBHCD on the terms set forth below:

All

Al2

A.13.

Hospitalist Coverage Panel. Physician shall serve as a member and equal participant of the
Hospital Coverage Panel. Physician shall provide Services as mutually agreed by the parties,
but at a minimum level such that the Hospitalist Coverage Panel will provide:

A.1.1.1 Two 12 hour onsite day shifts (7:00 AM to 7:00 PM, or such other times as the
parties agree), 365 days per year at the Hospital.

A.1.1.2  One 12 hour on-call night shift (7:00 PM to 7:00 AM, or such other times as the
parties agree) 365 days per year at the Hospital.

A.1.1.3 Hospitalist services at the Clinics and SNFs on a mutually agreed upon schedule
to be determined within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date. Provided,
Physician will only be required to provide Services at the Clinics and SNFs if the
parties enter into a separate agreement (or addendum to this Agreement) requiring
such Services.

Preparation of Hospitalist Coverage Panel Schedule. Parties agree that Natalie LaCorte,
M.D. in conjunction with Jiwu Sun, M.D., will compile the schedule for the Hospitalist
Coverage Panel. This schedule will detail the availability and necessary arrangements for
delivering Services. Notwithstanding, SBHCD reserves the right to approve or request
modifications to the proposed schedule to ensure it meets operational and compliance
requirements.

Specialty Services. Physician shall provide the following hospitalist Services:

Primary management of the care of general inpatient medical admissions, including patients
admitted at the request of attending or referring physicians; responding to unassigned patients
and providing cross-coverage between departments; family conferences as requested in
consultation with social services; consultations, upon request, for members of the Hospital’s
Medical Staff; and assistance with the management and treatment of patients for whom
Physician is responsible as head of a multi-disciplinary team. When the patient has an
attending/referring physician, Physician shall include such physician in decision making and
keep such physician informed.

A2 Compensation.

A2l

Schedule and Rate. Physician’s compensation (“Compensation”), shall be paid on a
monthly basis on SBHCD’s standard payment cycle for similar agreements and shall be paid
at the following rates:

A.2.1.1 On-site day shifts shall be paid at the rate of $185.00/hour.
A.2.1.2 On-call night shifts shall be paid at the rate of $82.50/hour.

On each anniversary of the Effective Date, the hourly rate then in effect shall be increased
by 3% to reflect adjustments to the cost of living.

122



A3

A4

A22 Payment on Termination. On termination of this Agreement, which is not extended,
renewed or superseded by another agreement, SBHCD shall pay to Physician any amounts
due to Physician within forty-five (45) days after the termination of this Agreement.

A23 Agreement Includes All Compensation from SBHCD. Incorporated into Compensation,
unless specifically excluded, are all the Physician’s sources of practice revenues and income,
including call coverage stipends, other hospital on-call fees, hospital stipends, and reading
fees; provided, however, that services as a medical director within SBHCD, service on
medical staff or SBHCD positions such as department chair or chief of staff, call panels
which are not currently in effect, or other items specifically excluded by written agreement
between Physician and SBHCD shall be independently compensated to Physician by
SBHCD, if any, and are not subject to the terms of this Agreement.

A.2.4 Expenses. Physician shall be solely responsible for all expenses incurred in the provision of
Services except for those that are the responsibility of SBHCD pursuant to this Agreement.
Notwithstanding, upon written application to SBHCD, SBHCD may, in its sole discretion,
agree to reimburse Physician for continuing medical education (CME) course tuition and
associated travel and meal expenses not to exceed $2,500 per calendar year, provided that
Physician demonstrates that attending the CME would substantially further the interests of
patient care at SBHCD.

Services and Activities in Support of SBHCD. SBHCD and Physician acknowledge and agree that
certain services and activities may be required of Physician in support of SBHCD and Clinic to ensure
a continuing high level of patient care. To that end, Physician shall participate in functions/events
from time to time, in support of the SBHCD Clinics and the SBHCD facilities. In addition, to assist
in the recruitment and retention of highly skilled practitioners, upon SBHCD’s request, Physician
shall participate in recruitment meetings with SBHCD physician candidates. SBHCD shall reimburse
Physician for reasonable meal expenses incurred as part of meeting with physician candidates hosted
at the request of SBHCD.

Practice_Guidelines/Best Quality Practices. Physician shall demonstrate cooperative work
arrangements with the Medical Staff, Quality and Safety Leadership and SBHCD Administration to
achieve mutually accepted practice guidelines and the best quality practices. These practices will be
shall be evidenced based, and include at minimum the following:

A4l Attendance at regular monthly meetings with SBHCD Clinic and Hospital leadership when
requested to review any operational or quality issues.

A42 Timely completion of all incomplete inpatient records, including completion of all
admission and discharge medication reconciliation.

Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

A43 Completion of all office visit notes within twenty-four (24) hours of visit.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

Ad4 Timely signing of orders.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

A4S Timely discharges summaries.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

123



A4.6 Commitment to use of SBHCD supported electronic health/medical record platforms.

A4 Compliance with all governmental and SBHCD quality reporting initiatives that may come
into effect from time to time.

A48 Timely arrival at the Facilities, defined as being ready, willing and able to provide Services
not less than 10 minutes before the commencement of any in-person shift and responding
to on-call coverage calls within the times set forth in the Medical Staff rules and
regulations.

A.5  Qualitv Metrics. In addition to the practice guidelines and the best quality practices set forth in
Section A.4, the parties shall, within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date, mutually agree on quality and
performance metrics for the Services.

Remainder of page intentionally left blank

124



PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR HOSPITALIST COVERAGE PANEL

This Professional Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made, entered into and effective as of June 1, 2025
(“Effective Date”), by and between San Benito Health Care District, a local health care district organized and
operated pursuant to Division 23 of the California Health and Safety Code (“SBHCD”), and Jiwu Sun MD Inc.
(“Physician™).

RECITALS

A. SBHCD owns and operates Hazel Hawkins Memorial Hospital, a licensed general acute care facility
located at 911 Sunset Drive, Hollister, California (“Hospital”). Hospital provides inpatient and outpatient
services to residents of the San Benito Health Care District and surrounding communities which constitute
the Hospital’s service area (“Hospital Service Area”).

B. SBHCD owns and operates specialty and rural health clinics as defined in Title 22, California Code of
Regulations section 51115.5 to provide services to patients in the Hospital Service Area (“Clinics”) and
two skilled nursing facilities (“SNFs”). Together, the Hospital, Clinics, and SNFs are referred to herein
as the “Facilities”.

C. Physician is licensed to practice medicine in the State of California, is a member in good standing of the
medical staff of Hospital, and is experienced and qualified to provide hospitalist services.

D. Section 32129 of the California Health and Safety Code provides that a health care district may contract
with a Physician to render professional health services in order to ensure that adequate health care is
available to all residents within its service area.

E. SBHCD has determined that entering into this Agreement with Physician is in the best interests of SBHCD
and the public health of the residents of the Hospital Service Area and is an appropriate way to assure
availability of hospitalist services to patients in the Hospital Service Area. SBHCD has established a
hospitalist coverage panel (“Hospitalist Coverage Panel”) of qualified physicians which shall ensure the
availability of physician coverage for hospitalist services as needed at the Facilities.

F. The parties desire to enter into this Agreement to set forth their respective responsibilities in connection
with the Services provided by Physician in the Hospital Service Area during the term of this Agreement.

The parties hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE 1 - DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF PHYSICIAN

1.1 Medical Services. Physician shall provide professional health care services in Physician’s medical
specialty to patients at the Facilities and on the schedule more fully described in Exhibit A, which is
attached to this Agreement and incorporated by this reference (“Services™). Services include services to
Medicare and Medi-Cal patients, patients of any other federal health care program or a state health care
financial program (“Governmental Programs™), workers’ compensation beneficiaries, and patients
eligible for participation in SBHCD’s charity care program. Physician shall cooperate to enable SBHCD’s
participation in Medicare, Medi-Cal, Governmental Programs, workers’ compensation services and
commercial payor programs. Physician shall provide Services to all patients, including Medicare, Medi-
Cal, Governmental Program, and workers’ compensation beneficiaries, in a non-discriminatory manner
and in accordance with all applicable laws and SBHCD policies and procedures, as developed and
implemented in collaboration with physician leadership of the Facilities.

1.2 Qualifications. Physician shall: (i) be duly licensed to practice medicine by the State of California; (ii)
be qualified to perform the Services by having adequate levels of competency and experience; (iii) have
skill comparable to those prevailing in the community; (iv) not be excluded from participation in any

Page 1 of 9
PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- J. Sun, MD eff 6-1-2025 1 25



1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

2.1

governmental healthcare program; (v) be approved for and maintain active membership and/or clinical
privileges on the Hospital's medical staff in accordance with medical staff bylaws, rules and regulations,
and other medical staff governing directives; (vi) be certified as a participating physician in the Medicare
and Medi-Cal programs; and (vii) hold an unrestricted Drug Enforcement Administration ("DEA")
registration number.

Compliance. In connection with the operation and conduct of the Facilities and rendering of Services,
Physician shall, at all times, comply with the applicable terms of this Agreement and with all applicable
federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations, including requirements for participation in the
Medicare and Medi-Cal programs, the Hospital medical staff bylaws, rules and regulations, and applicable
policies and procedures, and will at all times be aware of and participate in meeting the goals and
objectives of the SBHCD Corporate Compliance program.

Credentialing. In order to be efficiently credentialed with payors that have contracted with SBHCD,
Physician shall participate in the Council for Affordable Quality Healthcare (“CAQH”) credentialing
program and shall timely comply with requests from CAQH or SBHCD personnel for (i) credentialing
information regarding Physician, and (ii) documents necessary for Physician’s credentialing.

Use of Premises. No part of the SBHCD premises shall be used at any time by Physician as an office for
the general or private practice of medicine.

Medical Records/Chart Notes. Physician shall provide timely, appropriate, and necessary documentation
for each patient’s medical record for all patient encounters at the Facilities in compliance with the
Facilities’ policies and procedures.

Coding. Physician shall properly code all professional services rendered to patients. Physician’s coding
shall be used for purposes of billing for Services provided by Physician. All such coding shall be subject
to review and audit by an independent auditing company mutually agreed upon by the parties.

Professional Standards. In performing Services, Physician shall comply with the principles and ethics of
the American Medical Association, the California Medical Association, and any federal, state or
municipal law, statute or ordinance dealing with the practice of medicine by Physician. Physician shall
further abide in all respects with the Code of Conduct applicable to professional health care providers of
any hospital, outpatient clinic or surgery center, including but not limited to SBHCD, at which Physician
shall provide professional services. Physician shall provide Services to all SBHCD patients on a courteous
and prompt basis, be available and accessible to patients, provide them with full and meaningful
information, and render services in a manner which assures continuity of care. Physician further agrees to
treat all other providers and the staff and volunteers of SBHCD with respect, dignity, and professionalism,
and to conduct himself/herself in accordance with the highest standards of ethical behavior and workplace
conduct.

ARTICLE 2 - DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF SBHCD

Duties. SBHCD agrees to furnish at its own cost and expense, for the operation of the Facilities, the
following:

2.1.1  Space and Equipment. Space and equipment as may be reasonably required for the operation of
the Facilities as approved by SBHCD.

2.1.2  Services and Supplies. Maintenance, repair, and replacement of equipment as reasonably
required; all utilities, including telephone, power, light, gas, and water; and all supplies that may
be reasonably required for the operation of the Facilities.

2.1.3  Non-physician Personnel. All non-physician personnel with appropriate education, training, and
experience required to operate the Facilities, including a qualified administrative manager.

Page 2 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- J. Sun, MD eff 6-1-2025 126



2.2

23

24

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

5.1

52

53

SBHCD shall have the sole right and responsibility for the hiring and termination of all its
employees. SBHCD shall be responsible for the scheduling of non-physician Facilities personnel.

Eligibility. At all times during the term of this Agreement, SBHCD shall remain eligible to participate in
the Medicare and Medi-Cal programs.

Contracts. SBHCD shall be solely responsible for negotiating all contracts for the reimbursement of
Services provided at the Facilities. SBHCD, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall determine the
negotiation parameters for the terms, conditions, and rates for such contracts.

Access to Records. Physician shall have access to SBHCD patient medical and business records for
quality of care and compliance purposes.

ARTICLE 3 - BILLING AND ASSIGNMENT OF REVENUE

Billing and Collection. SBHCD shall perform billing and collection services under this Agreement.
Physician shall cooperate with SBHCD and shall use his/her best efforts to furnish appropriate
documentation of patient care services provided by Physician to enable SBHCD to timely and accurately
bill and collect for such services.

Assignment of Professional Service Revenues. Physician hereby assigns to SBHCD the right to all
revenue from any and all patients, third-party payors, and governmental programs for all Services
rendered by Physician at the Facilities under this Agreement. The Parties intend that SBHCD may bill
and collect directly from the Medicare carrier for Physician’s services to Medicare beneficiaries in
compliance with Medicare Publication 100-04, Chapter 1, Sec. 30.2.7.

ARTICLE 4 - COMPENSATION FOR SERVICES BY PHYSICIAN

Compensation. As compensation for the provision of Services at the Facilities, SBHCD shall pay
Physician as outlined in Exhibit A to this Agreement and in accordance with the normal SBHCD contract
payment process for Services provided by Physician. Physician shall not bill for facility fees,
administrative, supervisory, medical director, or similar services.

Schedule of Charges. SBHCD, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall decide upon the schedule of
charges for the Facilities. Pursuant to California Health and Safety Code Section 32129, the SBHCD
Board of Directors may review the fees and charges for Services provided at the Facilities to ensure such
fees and charges are reasonable, fair, and consistent with the basic commitment of SBHCD to provide
adequate health care to all residents within the Hospital Service Area.

ARTICLE 5 - TERM AND TERMINATION

Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence at 12:01 AM on the Effective Date and continue for
a period of three (3) years, expiring on May 31, 2028 at 11:59 PM unless renewed by mutual written
agreement of the parties or terminated earlier as provided in this Agreement.

Termination. Either party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement without stating a cause or
reason and without cost or penalty upon ninety (90) days’ prior written notice to the other party.
Notwithstanding, either party shall have the right to terminate the Agreement for “cause” upon written
notice to the other party as set forth below. If this Agreement is terminated prior to expiration of the first
year of the initial term, the parties shall not enter into any new agreement or arrangement that is
substantially the same arrangement during the remainder of such year.

Definition of Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “cause” shall include, but not be limited to, the
occurrence of any of the following events:

Page 3 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- J. Sun, MD eff 6-1-2025 1 2 7



5.4

6.1

5.3.1 SBHCD or Physician is in breach of any material term or condition of this Agreement and such
breach has not been cured within thirty (30) days following written notice of such breach.

5.3.2  SBHCD or Physician becomes insolvent or declares bankruptcy.

5.3.3  The license to practice medicine or to prescribe controlled substances of Physician is revoked or
suspended.

5.3.4 SBHCD fails to carry or reinstate the insurance required in ARTICLE 8 or such coverage is
canceled or revoked within fifteen (15) days following notice of revocation from its insurance
carrier.

5.3.5 Upon the determination that Physician has violated a material term of ARTICLE 9.

5.3.6  The performance by either party of any term, condition, or provision of this Agreement which
jeopardizes the licensure of Hospital, Hospital’s participation in Medicare, Medi-Cal or other
reimbursement or payment program, or Hospital’s full accreditation by The Joint Commission or
any other state or nationally recognized accreditation organization, or the tax-exempt status of
Hospital’s bonds, or if for any other reason such performance violates any statute, ordinance, or
is otherwise deemed illegal, or is deemed unethical by any recognized body, agency, or
association in the healthcare fields, and the jeopardy or violation has not been or cannot be cured
within sixty (60) days from the date notice of such jeopardy or violation has been received by the
parties.

5.3.7  The loss of or reduction in Physician’s medical staff privileges at any facility where Physician
provides professional health care services, whether voluntary or involuntary.

5.3.8 Physician being charged with or convicted of a crime other than an infraction, traffic citation, or
similar charge.

5.3.9 Physician’s engagement in: (i) willful misconduct (which means the knowing and intentional
failure to exercise ordinary care to prevent material injury to SBHCD or the commission of an
intentional act with knowledge that it is likely to result in material injury to the SBHCD), (ii)
fraudulent activities, (iii) crimes or acts of moral turpitude, (iv) any breach of a duty to SBHCD,
a patient, or any third party payor, (v) harassment or abuse of patients, staff, providers, or any
other person, or (vi) any other action or omission that could materially affect SBHCD’s business
or reputation in an adverse manner.

Termination/Expiration Not Subject to Fair Hearing. It is agreed between the parties that should either
party exercise its right to terminate this Agreement such decision to terminate, and the actual termination
or expiration of this Agreement, shall apply to rights under this Agreement only and not to Physician’s
medical staff privileges or membership on the medical staff of Hospital. The termination or expiration of
this Agreement shall not be subject to the Fair Hearing Plan of the Medical Staff Bylaws, the hearing
procedures provided by Healthcare District Law, or any other fair hearing procedure regarding medical
staff appointments or privileges.

ARTICLE 6 - INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

Independent Contractor Status. Physician is engaged in an independent contractor relationship with
SBHCD in performing all work, services, duties, and obligations pursuant to this Agreement. Neither
SBHCD nor Hospital shall exercise any control or direction over the methods by which Physician
performs work and functions, except that Physician shall perform at all times in strict accordance with
then currently approved methods and practices of Physician’s professional specialty. SBHCD’s sole
interest is to ensure that Physician performs and renders services in a competent, efficient, and satisfactory
manner in accordance with high medical standards.

Page 4 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- J. Sun, MD eff 6-1-2025 1 28



6.2 Independent Contractor Responsibilities. The parties expressly agree that no work, act, commission, or
omission of Physician pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be construed to make
or render Physician, the agent or employee of SBHCD. Physician shall not be entitled to receive from
SBHCD vacation pay, sick leave, retirement benefits, Social Security, workers’ compensation, disability
or unemployment insurance benefits or any other employee benefit. Physician shall be solely responsible
for paying when due all income, employment and withholding taxes and employment benefits, if any,
including estimated taxes, incurred as a result of the compensation paid by SBHCD to Physician for
Services under this Agreement. Physician is responsible for providing, at his/her own expense, disability,
unemployment, workers’ compensation and other insurance (if applicable), training, permits and licenses.

ARTICLE 7 - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

7.1 SBHCD Representations and Warranties. SBHCD for itself, and its board of directors, officers,
employees, and agents (collectively, “Agents”), represents and warrants to Physician, upon execution and
while this Agreement is in effect, as follows:

7.1.1  SBHCD has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its
obligations under this Agreement;

7.1.2  This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by SBHCD and is a legal,
valid, binding obligation of SBHCD, enforceable in accordance with its terms;

7.1.3  The parties have bargained at arms’ length to determine Physician’s compensation under this
Agreement, the compensation is fair market value for the Services; and the compensation is
consistent with fair market value for similar services in the community; and

7.1.4 The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby by SBHCD will not violate any provisions of, or constitute a default under,
any contract or other agreement to which SBHCD is a party or by which it is bound, other than
violations, defaults or conflicts that would not materially and adversely affect the ability of
SBHCD to perform its obligations pursuant to this Agreement.

7.2 Physician Representations and Warranties. Physician, for Physician and Physician’s Agents, represents
and warrants to SBHCD, upon execution and while this Agreement is in effect, as follows:

7.2.1  Physician is not bound by any agreement or arrangement which would preclude Physician from
entering into this Agreement or from fully performing the Services;

7.2.2  Physician's license to practice medicine in California or in any other jurisdiction has never been
denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished under threat of disciplinary
action, or restricted in any way;

7.2.3  Physician's medical staff privileges at any health care facility have never been denied, suspended,
revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished under threat of disciplinary action, or made subject
to terms of probation or any other restriction;

7.2.4  Physician has not in the past conducted, and is presently not conducting, his/her medical practice
in such a manner as to cause Physician to be suspended, excluded, barred or sanctioned under
Medicare or Medi-Cal, or any government licensing agency, nor have they ever been convicted
of a criminal offense related to health care, or listed by a federal agency as debarred, excluded or
otherwise ineligible for federal program participation;

7.2.5 Physician has, and shall maintain throughout the term of this Agreement, an unrestricted license
to practice medicine in California and Medical Staff privileges at the Hospital;

Page 5 of 9
PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- J. Sun, MD eff 6-1-2025 129



8.1

9.1

7.2.6  Physician has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its
obligations under this Agreement;

7.2.7  This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by Physician and is a legal,
valid, binding obligation of Physician, enforceable in accordance with its terms;

7.2.8  The parties have bargained at arms’ length to determine Physician’s compensation under this
Agreement, the compensation is fair market value for the Services; and the compensation is
consistent with fair market value for similar services in the community; and

7.2.9 The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby by Physician will not violate and provisions of, or constitute a default under,
and contract or other agreement to which Physician is a party or by which it is bound, other than
violations, defaults or conflicts that would not materially and adversely affect the ability of
Physician to perform the Services required under this Agreement.

ARTICLE 8 - LIABILITY/MALPRACTICE INSURANCE COVERAGE

Coverages. SBHCD shall maintain general and professional liability insurance coverage for Physician
for Services provided by Physician to SBHCD patients during the term of this Agreement in a minimum
amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence and $3,000,000 annual aggregate. In the event the coverage that
SBHCD obtains to comply with this Section of this Agreement is a “claims made” policy, and SBHCD,
as applicable, changes insurance carriers or terminates coverage upon or after termination of this
Agreement, SBHCD shall immediately obtain and maintain “tail” coverage in the amounts otherwise
required under this Section for at least seven (7) years following termination of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 9 - PROTECTED HEALTH INFORMATION

Protected Health Information. Physician shall maintain the confidentiality of all Protected Health
Information (“PHI”) in accordance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations,
including, but not limited to, the California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act and the Federal
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and regulations promulgated thereunder
(“HIPAA”). Without limiting the foregoing, Physician agrees to maintain PHI, as defined from time to
time under HIPAA, which may be made available to or received by Physician pursuant to this Agreement,
in accordance with the requirements of HIPAA. Physician agrees to:

9.1.1 Not use or further disclose PHI in a manner that would violate HIPAA if done by SBHCD or
violate the requirements of applicable laws or this Agreement;

9.1.2  Use appropriate safeguards to prevent use or disclosure of PHI except as permitted by law and
the terms of this Agreement, and report to SBHCD any use or disclosure of PHI not permitted by
law or by this Agreement of which Physician becomes aware;

9.1.3  Comply with the elements of any compliance program established by SBHCD that applies to the
use or disclosure of PHI and ensure that any subcontractors or agents to whom Physician provides
PHI agree to the same restrictions and conditions that apply to Physician with respect to such
PHI;

9.1.4  In accordance with HIPAA, (i) make available PHI to the subject patient; (ii) make available PHI
for amendment and incorporate any amendments to PHI; and (iii) make available the information
required to provide an accounting of disclosures of PHI to the subject patient;

9.1.5 Make Physician’s internal practices, books, and records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI

available to the Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services for
purposes of determining SBHCD’s and Physician’s compliance with HIPAA;

Page 6 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- J. Sun, MD eff 6-1-2025 130



9.2

10.1

9.1.6 At termination of this Agreement, return or destroy all PHI received from or created by SBHCD
and retain no copies of such PHI or, if return or destruction is not permissible under law or the
terms of this Agreement, continue to maintain all PHI in accordance with the provisions of this
Section and limit further uses and disclosures to those purposes that make the return or destruction
of the information infeasible.

Electronic Protected Health Information (‘EPHI”). Physician agrees that Physician will: (i) implement
administrative, physical, and technical safeguards that reasonably and appropriately protect the
confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the EPHI that Physician creates, receives, maintains, or
transmits on behalf of SBHCD; (ii) report to SBHCD any security incident with respect to EPHI of which
Physician becomes aware; and (iii) ensure that any agent, including a subcontractor, to whom Physician
provides EPHI agrees to implement reasonable and appropriate safeguards to protect such information.

ARTICLE 10 - REQUIRED DISCLOSURES

Required Disclosures. Physician shall notify SBHCD in writing within three (3) days after any of the
following events occur:

10.1.1 Physician's license to practice medicine in the State of California or any other jurisdiction lapses
or is denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished (under threat of
disciplinary action) or made subject to terms‘of probation or other restriction;

10.1.2  Physician's medical staff membership and/or privileges at any health care facility or entity are
denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished (under threat of disciplinary
action), or made subject to terms of probation or other restriction;

10.1.3 Physician is required to pay damages in any malpractice action by way of judgment or
settlement, except that Physician shall not be required to breach a settlement or confidentiality
agreement;

10.1.4 Receipt of notice of the commencement of any investigation into Physician's medical license or
Physician's medical practice by the Medical Board of California, California Attorney General,
the Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General, the Department of
Justice, or any other entity of federal, state, or local government;

10.1.5 Physician's Drug Enforcement Agency registration number is revoked, suspended, terminated,
relinquished, placed on terms of probation, or restricted in any way;

10.1.6 An event occurs that substantially interrupts all or a portion of Physician's professional practice,
materially adversely affects Physician's ability to perform Physician's obligations hereunder,
including the Services, or could likely cause Physician to be in breach of this Agreement; or

10.1.7 Physician being charged with or convicted of a criminal offense related to health care, or
Physician's listing by a federal agency as being debarred, excluded, or otherwise ineligible for
federal program participation.

10.1.8 The occurrence of any event that would constitute “cause” pursuant to Section 5.3.

ARTICLE 11 - GENERAL PROVISIONS

Notices. Any notice to be given to any party hereunder shall be deposited in the United States Mail, duly
registered or certified, with return receipt requested, with postage paid, and addressed to the party for
whom intended, at the addresses set forth in the signature block, or to such other address or addresses as
the parties may hereafter designate in writing to each other.

Page 7 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- J. Sun, MD eff 6-1-2025 1 3 1



11.2

113

11.4

11.5

11.6

11.7

11.8

11.9

SBHCD: San Benito Health Care District
Office of the Chief Executive Officer
911 Sunset Drive
Hollister, CA 95023

Physician: Jiwu Sun MD Inc.
Jiwu Sun, M.D.
10271 Westacres Drive
Cupertino CA, 95014-2937

No Waiver. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed, or shall constitute, a
waiver of any other provision, whether or not similar, nor shall any waiver constitute a continuing waiver.
No waiver shall be binding unless executed in writing by the party making the waiver.

Governing Law and Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by, construed and enforced in accordance
with the laws of the State of California. Venue shall be in the County of San Benito, California.

Ownership of Patient Records. All Facilities’ patient records shall be maintained by SBHCD and are the
property of SBHCD. Physician shall have the right to access such records during normal business hours.

Patient Choice. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, all compensation paid to Physician
pursuant to this Agreement is solely for the purpose of obtaining the services of Physician for patients of
the SBHCD community. The parties recognize and affirm the importance of individual patient choice in
selection of medical services. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be interpreted to obligate,
encourage, or solicit, in any way, the referral of any individual patient to any health care facility, including
the Facility, contrary to that patient’s choice of another provider of medical services. Further, nothing in
this Agreement shall be interpreted to prevent, restrict, or discourage the Physician from referring patients
to any other provider of health care services.

Exclusive Property of SBHCD. All data, files, records, documents, promotional materials, and similar
items relating to the business of SBHCD, whether prepared by or with the assistance of Physician or
otherwise coming into Physician’s possession shall remain the exclusive property of SBHCD and shall
not be removed from SBHCD’s facilities under any circumstances without the prior written consent of
SBHCD.

Confidentiality. The parties acknowledge and agree that during the term of this Agreement and in the
course of the discharge of Physician’s duties hereunder, Physician shall have access to and become
acquainted with information concerning the operation of SBHCD, and information which, pursuant to
applicable law and regulation, is deemed to be confidential, including, but not limited to, trade secrets,
medical records, patient medical and personal information, and personnel records. Physician agrees that
such information shall not be disclosed either directly or indirectly to any other person or entity or used
by Physician in any way either during the term of this Agreement or at any other time thereafter, except
as is required herein. Physician understands breach of this article will be an irremediable breach of this
Agreement. Such breach will result in immediate termination of this Agreement.

Binding Agreement: No Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit
of the parties to it and their respective legal representatives, successors, and permitted assigns. No party
may assign this Agreement or any rights hereunder, or may delegate any of the duties to be performed
hereunder without the prior written consent of the other party.

Dispute Resolution. If any dispute, controversy, or claim arises out of this Agreement, for a period of
thirty (30) days following written notice of the dispute, controversy or claim from one party to the other,
the parties will use their good faith efforts to resolve the dispute, controversy, or claim. If the matter
cannot be resolved by the parties in this fashion, then such dispute, claim or controversy shall be heard in
San Benito County, California, pursuant to the provisions of California Code of Civil Procedure Sections
638 through 645.1, inclusive. The hearing shall be final and binding to the greatest extent permitted by

Page 8 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- J. Sun, MD eff 6-1-2025 1 32



11.10

11.11

law, and the cost thereof, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, shall be borne by the losing party in such
proportions as the referee may decide. Judgment on the award may be entered in any court having
jurisdiction thereof.

Section 952 of Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1980. In accordance with Section 952 of the
Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1980 (PL 96-499), Physician agrees that the books and records of
Physician will be available to the Secretary of Department of Health and Human Services and the
Comptroller General of the United States, or their duly authorized representatives, for four (4) years after
termination of this Agreement. In the event that any of the services to be performed under this Agreement
are performed by any subcontractor of Physician at a value or cost of $10,000 or more over a twelve (12)
month period, Physician shall comply and assure that such subcontractor complies with the provisions of
Section 952 of the Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1980. If not applicable to this Agreement, this Section
shall automatically be repealed.

Entire Agreement: Amendment. This Agreement, its exhibits, and all referenced documents constitute
the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to the subject matter contained herein. This
Agreement supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, representations and understandings of
the parties which relate to the subject matter of this Agreement. No supplement, amendment or
modification of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by all of the parties.

The parties hereby executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date first set forth above.

SBHCD PHYSICIAN
SAN BENITO HEALTH CARE DISTRICT Jiwu Sun MD Inc.
By: By:
Mary T. Casillas, Chief Executive Officer Jiwu Sun, M.D. Chief Executive Officer
Date: Date:
Page 9 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- J. Sun, MD eff 6-1-2025 1 33



EXHIBIT A

PHYSICIAN SERVICES, COMPENSATION & SCHEDULE

A.1 Services. Physician shall provide professional medical hospitalist Services at the Facilities as
specified by SBHCD on the terms set forth below:

All

A2

A.l13.

Hospitalist Coverage Panel. Physician shall serve as a member and equal participant of the
Hospital Coverage Panel. Physician shall provide Services as mutually agreed by the parties,
but at a minimum level such that the Hospitalist Coverage Panel will provide:

A.1.1.1 Two 12 hour onsite day shifts (7:00 AM to 7:00 PM, or such other times as the
parties agree), 365 days per year at the Hospital.

A.1.1.2  One 12 hour on-call night shift (7:00 PM to 7:00 AM, or such other times as the
parties agree) 365 days per year at the Hospital.

A.1.1.3  Hospitalist services at the Clinics and SNFs on a mutually agreed upon schedule
to be determined within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date. Provided,
Physician will only be required to provide Services at the Clinics and SNFs if the
parties enter into a separate agreement (or addendum to this Agreement) requiring
such Services.

Preparation of Hospitalist Coverage Panel Schedule. Parties agree that Natalie LaCorte,
M.D. in conjunction with Jiwu Sun, M.D., will compile the schedule for the Hospitalist

Coverage Panel. This schedule will detail the availability and necessary arrangements for
delivering Services. Notwithstanding, SBHCD reserves the right to approve or request
modifications to the proposed schedule to ensure it meets operational and compliance
requirements.

Specialty Services. Physician shall provide the following hospitalist Services:

Primary management of the care of general inpatient medical admissions, including patients
admitted at the request of attending or referring physicians; responding to unassigned patients
and providing cross-coverage between departments; family conferences as requested in
consultation with social services; consultations, upon request, for members of the Hospital’s
Medical Staff; and assistance with the management and treatment of patients for whom
Physician is responsible as head of a multi-disciplinary team. When the patient has an
attending/referring physician, Physician shall include such physician in decision making and
keep such physician informed.

A.2 Compensation.

A2l

Schedule and Rate. Physician’s compensation (“Compensation™), shall be paid on a
monthly basis on SBHCD’s standard payment cycle for similar agreements and shall be paid
at the following rates:

A.2.1.1 On-site day shifts shall be paid at the rate of $185.00/hour.
A.2.1.2 On-call night shifts shall be paid at the rate of $82.50/hour.

On each anniversary of the Effective Date, the hourly rate then in effect shall be increased
by 3% to reflect adjustments to the cost of living.

134



A3

A4

A22 Payment on Termination. On termination of this Agreement, which is not extended,
renewed or superseded by another agreement, SBHCD shall pay to Physician any amounts
due to Physician within forty-five (45) days after the termination of this Agreement.

A23 Agreement Includes All Compensation from SBHCD. Incorporated into Compensation,
unless specifically excluded, are all the Physician’s sources of practice revenues and income,
including call coverage stipends, other hospital on-call fees, hospital stipends, and reading
fees; provided, however, that services as a medical director within SBHCD, service on
medical staff or SBHCD positions such as department chair or chief of staff, call panels
which are not currently in effect, or other items specifically excluded by written agreement
between Physician and SBHCD shall be independently compensated to Physician by
SBHCD, if any, and are not subject to the terms of this Agreement.

A.2.4 [Expenses. Physician shall be solely responsible for all expenses incurred in the provision of
Services except for those that are the responsibility of SBHCD pursuant to this Agreement.
Notwithstanding, upon written application to SBHCD, SBHCD may, in its sole discretion,
agree to reimburse Physician for continuing medical education (CME) course tuition and
associated travel and meal expenses not to exceed $2,500 per calendar year, provided that
Physician demonstrates that attending the CME would substantially further the interests of
patient care at SBHCD.

Services and Activities in Support of SBHCD. SBHCD and Physician acknowledge and agree that
certain services and activities may be required of Physician in support of SBHCD and Clinic to ensure
a continuing high level of patient care. To that end, Physician shall participate in functions/events
from time to time, in support of the SBHCD Clinics and the SBHCD facilities. In addition, to assist
in the recruitment and retention of highly skilled practitioners, upon SBHCD’s request, Physician
shall participate in recruitment meetings with SBHCD physician candidates. SBHCD shall reimburse
Physician for reasonable meal expenses incurred as part of meeting with physician candidates hosted
at the request of SBHCD.

Practice Guidelines/Best Quality Practices. Physician shall demonstrate cooperative work
arrangements with the Medical Staff, Quality and Safety Leadership and SBHCD Administration to
achieve mutually accepted practice guidelines and the best quality practices. These practices will be
shall be evidenced based, and include at minimum the following:

A4l Attendance at regular monthly meetings with SBHCD Clinic and Hospital leadership when
requested to review any operational or quality issues.

A42 Timely completion of all incomplete inpatient records, including completion of all
admission and discharge medication reconciliation.

Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

A43 Completion of all office visit notes within twenty-four (24) hours of visit.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

Ad4 Timely signing of orders.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

A.4.5 Timely discharges summaries.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

135



A4.6 Commitment to use of SBHCD supported electronic health/medical record platforms.

A4 Compliance with all governmental and SBHCD quality reporting initiatives that may come
into effect from time to time.

A48 Timely arrival at the Facilities, defined as being ready, willing and able to provide Services
not less than 10 minutes before the commencement of any in-person shift and responding
to on-call coverage calls within the times set forth in the Medical Staff rules and
regulations.

AS Quality Metrics. In addition to the practice guidelines and the best quality practices set forth in
Section A.4, the parties shall, within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date, mutually agree on quality and
performance metrics for the Services.

Remainder of page intentionally left blank

136



PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR HOSPITALIST COVERAGE PANEL

This Professional Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made, entered into and effective as of June 1, 2025
(“Effective Date”), by and between San Benito Health Care District, a local health care district organized and
operated pursuant to Division 23 of the California Health and Safety Code (“SBHCD”), and SepulvedaMD Corp.
(‘“Physician”).

RECITALS

A. SBHCD owns and operates Hazel Hawkins Memorial Hospital, a licensed general acute care facility
located at 911 Sunset Drive, Hollister, California (“Hospital”). Hospital provides inpatient and outpatient
services to residents of the San Benito Health Care District and surrounding communities which constitute
the Hospital’s service area (“Hospital Service Area”).

B. SBHCD owns and operates specialty and rural health clinics as defined in Title 22, California Code of
Regulations section 51115.5 to provide services to patients in the Hospital Service Area (“Clinics”) and
two skilled nursing facilities (“SNFs”). Together, the Hospital, Clinics, and SNFs are referred to herein
as the “Facilities”.

C. Physician is licensed to practice medicine in the State of California, is a member in good standing of the
medical staff of Hospital, and is experienced and qualified to provide hospitalist services.

D. Section 32129 of the California Health and Safety Code provides that a health care district may contract
with a Physician to render professional health services in order to ensure that adequate health care is
available to all residents within its service area.

E. SBHCD has determined that entering into this Agreement with Physician is in the best interests of SBHCD
and the public health of the residents of the Hospital Service Area and is an appropriate way to assure
availability of hospitalist services to patients in the Hospital Service Area. SBHCD has established a
hospitalist coverage panel (“Hospitalist Coverage Panel”) of qualified physicians which shall ensure the
availability of physician coverage for hospitalist services as needed at the Facilities.

F. The parties desire to enter into this Agreement to set forth their respective responsibilities in connection
with the Services provided by Physician in the Hospital Service Area during the term of this Agreement.

The parties hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 - DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF PHYSICIAN

1.1 Medical Services. Physician shall provide professional health care services in Physician’s medical
specialty to patients at the Facilities and on the schedule more fully described in Exhibit A, which is
attached to this Agreement and incorporated by this reference (“Services”). Services include services to
Medicare and Medi-Cal patients, patients of any other federal health care program or a state health care
financial program (“Governmental Programs™), workers’ compensation beneficiaries, and patients
eligible for participation in SBHCD’s charity care program. Physician shall cooperate to enable SBHCD’s
participation in Medicare, Medi-Cal, Governmental Programs, workers’ compensation services and
commercial payor programs. Physician shall provide Services to all patients, including Medicare, Medi-
Cal, Governmental Program, and workers’ compensation beneficiaries, in a non-discriminatory manner
and in accordance with all applicable laws and SBHCD policies and procedures, as developed and
implemented in collaboration with physician leadership of the Facilities.

1.2 Qualifications. Physician shall: (i) be duly licensed to practice medicine by the State of California; (ii)
be qualified to perform the Services by having adequate levels of competency and experience; (iii) have
skill comparable to those prevailing in the community; (iv) not be excluded from participation in any

Page 1 of 9
PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- M. Sepulveda, MD eff 6-1-2025 1 37



1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

2.1

governmental healthcare program; (v) be approved for and maintain active membership and/or clinical
privileges on the Hospital's medical staff in accordance with medical staff bylaws, rules and regulations,
and other medical staff governing directives; (vi) be certified as a participating physician in the Medicare
and Medi-Cal programs; and (vii) hold an unrestricted Drug Enforcement Administration ("DEA")
registration number.

Compliance. In connection with the operation and conduct of the Facilities and rendering of Services,
Physician shall, at all times, comply with the applicable terms of this Agreement and with all applicable
federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations, including requirements for participation in the
Medicare and Medi-Cal programs, the Hospital medical staff bylaws, rules and regulations, and applicable
policies and procedures, and will at all times be aware of and participate in meeting the goals and
objectives of the SBHCD Corporate Compliance program.

Credentialing. In order to be efficiently credentialed with payors that have contracted with SBHCD,
Physician shall participate in the Council for Affordable Quality Healthcare (“CAQH”) credentialing
program and shall timely comply with requests from CAQH or SBHCD personnel for (i) credentialing
information regarding Physician, and (ii) documents necessary for Physician’s credentialing.

Use of Premises. No part of the SBHCD premises shall be used at any time by Physician as an office for
the general or private practice of medicine.

Medical Records/Chart Notes. Physician shall provide timely, appropriate, and necessary documentation
for each patient’s medical record for all patient encounters at the Facilities in compliance with the
Facilities’ policies and procedures.

Coding. Physician shall properly code all professional services rendered to patients. Physician’s coding
shall be used for purposes of billing for Services provided by Physician. All such coding shall be subject
to review and audit by an independent auditing company mutually agreed upon by the parties.

Professional Standards. In performing Services, Physician shall comply with the principles and ethics of
the American Medical Association, the California Medical Association, and any federal, state or
municipal law, statute or ordinance dealing with the practice of medicine by Physician. Physician shall
further abide in all respects with the Code of Conduct applicable to professional health care providers of
any hospital, outpatient clinic or surgery center, including but not limited to SBHCD, at which Physician
shall provide professional services. Physician shall provide Services to all SBHCD patients on a courteous
and prompt basis, be available and accessible to patients, provide them with full and meaningful
information, and render services in a manner which assures continuity of care. Physician further agrees to
treat all other providers and the staff and volunteers of SBHCD with respect, dignity, and professionalism,
and to conduct himself/herself in accordance with the highest standards of ethical behavior and workplace
conduct.

ARTICLE 2 - DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF SBHCD

Duties. SBHCD agrees to furnish at its own cost and expense, for the operation of the Facilities, the
following:

2.1.1  Space and Equipment. Space and equipment as may be reasonably required for the operation of
the Facilities as approved by SBHCD.

2.1.2  Services and Supplies. Maintenance, repair, and replacement of equipment as reasonably
required; all utilities, including telephone, power, light, gas, and water; and all supplies that may
be reasonably required for the operation of the Facilities.

2.1.3  Non-physician Personnel. All non-physician personnel with appropriate education, training, and
experience required to operate the Facilities, including a qualified administrative manager.

Page 2 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- M. Sepulveda, MD eff 6-1-2025 138



2.2

23

24

3.1

32

4.1

42

5.1

52

53

SBHCD shall have the sole right and responsibility for the hiring and termination of all its
employees. SBHCD shall be responsible for the scheduling of non-physician Facilities personnel.

Eligibility. At all times during the term of this Agreement, SBHCD shall remain eligible to participate in
the Medicare and Medi-Cal programs.

Contracts. SBHCD shall be solely responsible for negotiating all contracts for the reimbursement of
Services provided at the Facilities. SBHCD, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall determine the
negotiation parameters for the terms, conditions, and rates for such contracts.

Access to Records. Physician shall have access to SBHCD patient medical and business records for
quality of care and compliance purposes.

ARTICLE 3 - BILLING AND ASSIGNMENT OF REVENUE

Billing and Collection. SBHCD shall perform billing and collection services under this Agreement.
Physician shall cooperate with SBHCD and shall use his/her best efforts to furnish appropriate
documentation of patient care services provided by Physician to enable SBHCD to timely and accurately
bill and collect for such services.

Assignment of Professional Service Revenues. Physician hereby assigns to SBHCD the right to all
revenue from any and all patients, third-party payors, and governmental programs for all Services
rendered by Physician at the Facilities under this Agreement. The Parties intend that SBHCD may bill
and collect directly from the Medicare carrier for Physician’s services to Medicare beneficiaries in
compliance with Medicare Publication 100-04, Chapter 1, Sec. 30.2.7.

ARTICLE 4 - COMPENSATION FOR SERVICES BY PHYSICIAN

Compensation. As compensation for the provision of Services at the Facilities, SBHCD shall pay
Physician as outlined in Exhibit A to this Agreement and in accordance with the normal SBHCD contract
payment process for Services provided by Physician. Physician shall not bill for facility fees,
administrative, supervisory, medical director, or similar services.

Schedule of Charges. SBHCD, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall decide upon the schedule of
charges for the Facilities. Pursuant to California Health and Safety Code Section 32129, the SBHCD
Board of Directors may review the fees and charges for Services provided at the Facilities to ensure such
fees and charges are reasonable, fair, and consistent with the basic commitment of SBHCD to provide
adequate health care to all residents within the Hospital Service Area.

ARTICLE 5 - TERM AND TERMINATION

Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence at 12:01 AM on the Effective Date and continue for
a period of three (3) years, expiring on May 31, 2028 at 11:59 PM unless renewed by mutual written
agreement of the parties or terminated earlier as provided in this Agreement.

Termination. Either party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement without stating a cause or
reason and without cost or penalty upon ninety (90) days’ prior written notice to the other party.
Notwithstanding, either party shall have the right to terminate the Agreement for “cause” upon written
notice to the other party as set forth below. If this Agreement is terminated prior to expiration of the first
year of the initial term, the parties shall not enter into any new agreement or arrangement that is
substantially the same arrangement during the remainder of such year.

Definition of Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “cause” shall include, but not be limited to, the
occurrence of any of the following events:

Page 3 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- M. Sepulveda, MD eff 6-1-2025 139



54

6.1

5.3.1 SBHCD or Physician is in breach of any material term or condition of this Agreement and such
breach has not been cured within thirty (30) days following written notice of such breach.

5.3.2  SBHCD or Physician becomes insolvent or declares bankruptcy.

5.3.3  The license to practice medicine or to prescribe controlled substances of Physician is revoked or
suspended.

5.3.4 SBHCD fails to carry or reinstate the insurance required in ARTICLE 8 or such coverage is
canceled or revoked within fifteen (15) days following notice of revocation from its insurance
carrier.

5.3.5 Upon the determination that Physician has violated a material term of ARTICLE 9.

5.3.6  The performance by either party of any term, condition, or provision of this Agreement which
jeopardizes the licensure of Hospital, Hospital’s participation in Medicare, Medi-Cal or other
reimbursement or payment program, or Hospital’s full accreditation by The Joint Commission or
any other state or nationally recognized accreditation organization, or the tax-exempt status of
Hospital’s bonds, or if for any other reason such performance violates any statute, ordinance, or
is otherwise deemed illegal, or is deemed unethical by any recognized body, agency, or
association in the healthcare fields, and the jeopardy or violation has not been or cannot be cured
within sixty (60) days from the date notice of such jeopardy or violation has been received by the
parties.

5.3.7 The loss of or reduction in Physician’s medical staff privileges at any facility where Physician
provides professional health care services, whether voluntary or involuntary.

5.3.8  Physician being charged with or convicted of a crime other than an infraction, traffic citation, or
similar charge.

5.3.9 Physician’s engagement in: (i) willful misconduct (which means the knowing and intentional
failure to exercise ordinary care to prevent material injury to SBHCD or the commission of an
intentional act with knowledge that it is likely to result in material injury to the SBHCD), (ii)
fraudulent activities, (iii) crimes or acts of moral turpitude, (iv) any breach of a duty to SBHCD,
a patient, or any third party payor, (v) harassment or abuse of patients, staff, providers, or any
other person, or (vi) any other action or omission that could materially affect SBHCD’s business
or reputation in an adverse manner.

Termination/Expiration Not Subject to Fair Hearing. It is agreed between the parties that should either
party exercise its right to terminate this Agreement such decision to terminate, and the actual termination
or expiration of this Agreement, shall apply to rights under this Agreement only and not to Physician’s
medical staff privileges or membership on the medical staff of Hospital. The termination or expiration of
this Agreement shall not be subject to the Fair Hearing Plan of the Medical Staff Bylaws, the hearing
procedures provided by Healthcare District Law, or any other fair hearing procedure regarding medical
staff appointments or privileges.

ARTICLE 6 - INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

Independent Contractor Status. Physician is engaged in an independent contractor relationship with
SBHCD in performing all work, services, duties, and obligations pursuant to this Agreement. Neither
SBHCD nor Hospital shall exercise any control or direction over the methods by which Physician
performs work and functions, except that Physician shall perform at all times in strict accordance with
then currently approved methods and practices of Physician’s professional specialty. SBHCD’s sole
interest is to ensure that Physician performs and renders services in a competent, efficient, and satisfactory
manner in accordance with high medical standards.

Page 4 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- M. Sepulveda, MD eff 6-1-2025 1 40



6.2

7.1

72

Independent Contractor Responsibilities. The parties expressly agree that no work, act, commission, or
omission of Physician pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be construed to make
or render Physician, the agent or employee of SBHCD. Physician shall not be entitled to receive from
SBHCD vacation pay, sick leave, retirement benefits, Social Security, workers’ compensation, disability
or unemployment insurance benefits or any other employee benefit. Physician shall be solely responsible
for paying when due all income, employment and withholding taxes and employment benefits, if any,
including estimated taxes, incurred as a result of the compensation paid by SBHCD to Physician for
Services under this Agreement. Physician is responsible for providing, at his/her own expense, disability,
unemployment, workers’ compensation and other insurance (if applicable), training, permits and licenses.

ARTICLE 7 - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

SBHCD Representations and Warranties. SBHCD for itself, and its board of directors, officers,
employees, and agents (collectively, “Agents”), represents and warrants to Physician, upon execution and
while this Agreement is in effect, as follows:

7.1.1  SBHCD has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its
obligations under this Agreement;

7.1.2  This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by SBHCD and is a legal,
valid, binding obligation of SBHCD, enforceable in accordance with its terms;

7.1.3  The parties have bargained at arms’ length to determine Physician’s compensation under this
Agreement, the compensation is fair market value for the Services; and the compensation is
consistent with fair market value for similar services in the community; and

7.1.4  The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby by SBHCD will not violate any provisions of, or constitute a default under,
any contract or other agreement to which SBHCD is a party or by which it is bound, other than
violations, defaults or conflicts that would not materially and adversely affect the ability of
SBHCD to perform its obligations pursuant to this Agreement.

Physician Representations and Warranties. Physician, for Physician and Physician’s Agents, represents
and warrants to SBHCD, upon execution and while this Agreement is in effect, as follows:

7.2.1  Physician is not bound by any agreement or arrangement which would preclude Physician from
entering into this Agreement or from fully performing the Services;

7.2.2  Physician's license to practice medicine in California or in any other jurisdiction has never been
denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished under threat of disciplinary
action, or restricted in any way;

7.2.3  Physician's medical staff privileges at any health care facility have never been denied, suspended,
revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished under threat of disciplinary action, or made subject
to terms of probation or any other restriction;

7.2.4  Physician has not in the past conducted, and is presently not conducting, his/her medical practice
in such a manner as to cause Physician to be suspended, excluded, barred or sanctioned under
Medicare or Medi-Cal, or any government licensing agency, nor have they ever been convicted
of a criminal offense related to health care, or listed by a federal agency as debarred, excluded or
otherwise ineligible for federal program participation;

7.2.5 Physician has, and shall maintain throughout the term of this Agreement, an unrestricted license
to practice medicine in California and Medical Staff privileges at the Hospital,

Page 5 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- M. Sepulveda, MD eff 6-1-2025 1 4 1



8.1

9.1

7.2.6  Physician has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its
obligations under this Agreement;

7.2.7 This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by Physician and is a legal,
valid, binding obligation of Physician, enforceable in accordance with its terms;

7.2.8 The parties have bargained at arms’ length to determine Physician’s compensation under this
Agreement, the compensation is fair market value for the Services; and the compensation is
consistent with fair market value for similar services in the community; and

729 The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby by Physician will not violate and provisions of, or constitute a default under,
and contract or other agreement to which Physician is a party or by which it is bound, other than
violations, defaults or conflicts that would not materially and adversely affect the ability of
Physician to perform the Services required under this Agreement.

ARTICLE 8 - LIABILITY/MALPRACTICE INSURANCE COVERAGE

Coverages. SBHCD shall maintain general and professional liability insurance coverage for Physician
for Services provided by Physician to SBHCD patients during the term of this Agreement in a minimum
amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence and $3,000,000 annual aggregate. In the event the coverage that
SBHCD obtains to comply with this Section of this Agreement is a “claims made” policy, and SBHCD,
as applicable, changes insurance carriers or terminates coverage upon or after termination of this
Agreement, SBHCD shall immediately obtain and maintain “tail” coverage in the amounts otherwise
required under this Section for at least seven (7) years following termination of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 9 - PROTECTED HEALTH INFORMATION

Protected Health Information. Physician shall maintain the confidentiality of all Protected Health
Information (“PHI”) in accordance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations,
including, but not limited to, the California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act and the Federal
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and regulations promulgated thereunder
(“HIPAA”). Without limiting the foregoing, Physician agrees to maintain PHI, as defined from time to
time under HIPAA, which may be made available to or received by Physician pursuant to this Agreement,
in accordance with the requirements of HIPAA. Physician agrees to:

9.1.1 Not use or further disclose PHI in a manner that would violate HIPAA if done by SBHCD or
violate the requirements of applicable laws or this Agreement;

9.1.2  Use appropriate safeguards to prevent use or disclosure of PHI except as permitted by law and
the terms of this Agreement, and report to SBHCD any use or disclosure of PHI not permitted by
law or by this Agreement of which Physician becomes aware;

9.1.3  Comply with the elements of any compliance program established by SBHCD that applies to the
use or disclosure of PHI and ensure that any subcontractors or agents to whom Physician provides

PHI agree to the same restrictions and conditions that apply to Physician with respect to such
PHI;

9.1.4 Inaccordance with HIPAA, (i) make available PHI to the subject patient; (ii) make available PHI
for amendment and incorporate any amendments to PHI; and (iii) make available the information
required to provide an accounting of disclosures of PHI to the subject patient;

9.1.5 Make Physician’s internal practices, books, and records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI

available to the Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services for
purposes of determining SBHCD’s and Physician’s compliance with HIPAA,

Page 6 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- M. Sepulveda, MD eff 6-1-2025 142



9.2

10.1

9.1.6 At termination of this Agreement, return or destroy all PHI received from or created by SBHCD
and retain no copies of such PHI or, if return or destruction is not permissible under law or the
terms of this Agreement, continue to maintain all PHI in accordance with the provisions of this
Section and limit further uses and disclosures to those purposes that make the return or destruction
of the information infeasible.

Electronic Protected Health Information (“EPHI”). Physician agrees that Physician will: (i) implement
administrative, physical, and technical safeguards that reasonably and appropriately protect the
confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the EPHI that Physician creates, receives, maintains, or
transmits on behalf of SBHCD; (ii) report to SBHCD any security incident with respect to EPHI of which
Physician becomes aware; and (iii) ensure that any agent, including a subcontractor, to whom Physician
provides EPHI agrees to implement reasonable and appropriate safeguards to protect such information.

ARTICLE 10 - REQUIRED DISCLOSURES

Required Disclosures. Physician shall notify SBHCD in writing within three (3) days after any of the
following events occur:

10.1.1 Physician's license to practice medicine in the State of California or any other jurisdiction lapses
or is denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished (under threat of
disciplinary action) or made subject to terms of probation or other restriction;

10.1.2  Physician's medical staff membership and/or privileges at any health care facility or entity are
denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished (under threat of disciplinary
action), or made subject to terms of probation or other restriction;

10.1.3 Physician is required to pay damages in any malpractice action by way of judgment or
settlement, except that Physician shall not be required to breach a settlement or confidentiality
agreement;

10.1.4 Receipt of notice of the commencement of any investigation into Physician's medical license or
Physician's medical practice by the Medical Board of California, California Attorney General,
the Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General, the Department of
Justice, or any other entity of federal, state, or local government;

10.1.5 Physician's Drug Enforcement Agency registration number is revoked, suspended, terminated,
relinquished, placed on terms of probation, or restricted in any way;

10.1.6 An event occurs that substantially interrupts all or a portion of Physician's professional practice,
materially adversely affects Physician's ability to perform Physician's obligations hereunder,
including the Services, or could likely cause Physician to be in breach of this Agreement; or

10.1.7 Physician being charged with or convicted of a criminal offense related to health care, or
Physician's listing by a federal agency as being debarred, excluded, or otherwise ineligible for
federal program participation.

10.1.8 The occurrence of any event that would constitute “cause” pursuant to Section 5.3.

ARTICLE 11 - GENERAL PROVISIONS

Notices. Any notice to be given to any party hereunder shall be deposited in the United States Mail, duly
registered or certified, with return receipt requested, with postage paid, and addressed to the party for
whom intended, at the addresses set forth in the signature block, or to such other address or addresses as
the parties may hereafter designate in writing to each other.

Page 7 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- M. Sepulveda, MD eff 6-1-2025 1 43



11.2

11.3

114

11.5

11.6

11.7

11.8

119

SBHCD: San Benito Health Care District
Office of the Chief Executive Officer
911 Sunset Drive
Hollister, CA 95023

Physician: SepulvedaMD Corp.
Michael Sepulveda, M.D.
342 Via Vaquero Sur
San Juan Bautista CA, 95045

No Waiver. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed, or shall constitute, a
waiver of any other provision, whether or not similar, nor shall any waiver constitute a continuing waiver.
No waiver shall be binding unless executed in writing by the party making the waiver.

Governing Law and Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by, construed and enforced in accordance
with the laws of the State of California. Venue shall be in the County of San Benito, California.

Ownership of Patient Records. All Facilities’ patient records shall be maintained by SBHCD and are the
property of SBHCD. Physician shall have the right to access such records during normal business hours.

Patient Choice. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, all compensation paid to Physician
pursuant to this Agreement is solely for the purpose of obtaining the services of Physician for patients of
the SBHCD community. The parties recognize and affirm the importance of individual patient choice in
selection of medical services. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be interpreted to obligate,
encourage, or solicit, in any way, the referral of any individual patient to any health care facility, including
the Facility, contrary to that patient’s choice of another provider of medical services. Further, nothing in
this Agreement shall be interpreted to prevent, restrict, or discourage the Physician from referring patients
to any other provider of health care services.

Exclusive Property of SBHCD. All data, files, records, documents, promotional materials, and similar
items relating to the business of SBHCD, whether prepared by or with the assistance of Physician or
otherwise coming into Physician’s possession shall remain the exclusive property of SBHCD and shall

not be removed from SBHCD’s facilities under any circumstances without the prior written consent of
SBHCD.

Confidentiality. The parties acknowledge and agree that during the term of this Agreement and in the
course of the discharge of Physician’s duties hereunder, Physician shall have access to and become
acquainted with information concerning the operation of SBHCD, and information which, pursuant to
applicable law and regulation, is deemed to be confidential, including, but not limited to, trade secrets,
medical records, patient medical and personal information, and personnel records. Physician agrees that
such information shall not be disclosed either directly or indirectly to any other person or entity or used
by Physician in any way either during the term of this Agreement or at any other time thereafter, except
as is required herein. Physician understands breach of this article will be an irremediable breach of this
Agreement. Such breach will result in immediate termination of this Agreement.

Binding Agreement: No Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit
of the parties to it and their respective legal representatives, successors, and permitted assigns. No party
may assign this Agreement or any rights hereunder, or may delegate any of the duties to be performed
hereunder without the prior written consent of the other party.

Dispute Resolution. If any dispute, controversy, or claim arises out of this Agreement, for a period of
thirty (30) days following written notice of the dispute, controversy or claim from one party to the other,
the parties will use their good faith efforts to resolve the dispute, controversy, or claim. If the matter
cannot be resolved by the parties in this fashion, then such dispute, claim or controversy shall be heard in
San Benito County, California, pursuant to the provisions of California Code of Civil Procedure Sections
638 through 645.1, inclusive. The hearing shall be final and binding to the greatest extent permitted by

Page 8 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- M. Sepulveda, MD eff 6-1-2025 144



11.10

11.11

law, and the cost thereof, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, shall be borne by the losing party in such
proportions as the referee may decide. Judgment on the award may be entered in any court having
jurisdiction thereof.

Section 952 of Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1980. In accordance with Section 952 of the
Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1980 (PL 96-499), Physician agrees that the books and records of
Physician will be available to the Secretary of Department of Health and Human Services and the
Comptroller General of the United States, or their duly authorized representatives, for four (4) years after
termination of this Agreement. In the event that any of the services to be performed under this Agreement
are performed by any subcontractor of Physician at a value or cost of $10,000 or more over a twelve (12)
month period, Physician shall comply and assure that such subcontractor complies with the provisions of
Section 952 of the Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1980. If not applicable to this Agreement, this Section
shall automatically be repealed.

Entire Agreement: Amendment. This Agreement, its exhibits, and all referenced documents constitute
the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to the subject matter contained herein. This
Agreement supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, representations and understandings of
the parties which relate to the subject matter of this Agreement. No supplement, amendment or
modification of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by all of the parties.

The parties hereby executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date first set forth above.

SBHCD PHYSICIAN
SAN BENITO HEALTH CARE DISTRICT Sepulveda MD Corporation
By: By:
Mary T. Casillas, Chief Executive Officer Michael Sepulveda, M.D. Chief Executive Officer
Date: Date:
Page 9 of 9

PSA Hospitalist Coverage Panel- M. Sepulveda, MD eff 6-1-2025 1 45



EXHIBIT A

PHYSICIAN SERVICES, COMPENSATION & SCHEDULE

A.1 Services. Physician shall provide professional medical hospitalist Services at the Facilities as
specified by SBHCD on the terms set forth below:

All

A.1.2

A.13.

Hospitalist Coverage Panel. Physician shall serve as a member and equal participant of the
Hospital Coverage Panel. Physician shall provide Services as mutually agreed by the parties,
but at a minimum level such that the Hospitalist Coverage Panel will provide:

A.1.1.1 Two 12 hour onsite day shifts (7:00 AM to 7:00 PM, or such other times as the
parties agree), 365 days per year at the Hospital.

A.1.1.2  One 12 hour on-call night shift (7:00 PM to 7:00 AM, or such other times as the
parties agree) 365 days per year at the Hospital.

A.1.1.3  Hospitalist services at the Clinics and SNFs on a mutually agreed upon schedule
to be determined within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date. Provided,
Physician will only be required to provide Services at the Clinics and SNFs if the
parties enter into a separate agreement (or addendum to this Agreement) requiring
such Services.

Preparation of Hospitalist Coverage Panel Schedule. Parties agree that Natalie LaCorte,
M.D. in conjunction with Jiwu Sun, M.D., will compile the schedule for the Hospitalist

Coverage Panel. This schedule will detail the availability and necessary arrangements for
delivering Services. Notwithstanding, SBHCD reserves the right to approve or request
modifications to the proposed schedule to ensure it meets operational and compliance
requirements.

Specialty Services. Physician shall provide the following hospitalist Services:

Primary management of the care of general inpatient medical admissions, including patients
admitted at the request of attending or referring physicians; responding to unassigned patients
and providing cross-coverage between departments; family conferences as requested in
consultation with social services; consultations, upon request, for members of the Hospital’s
Medical Staff; and assistance with the management and treatment of patients for whom
Physician is responsible as head of a multi-disciplinary team. When the patient has an
attending/referring physician, Physician shall include such physician in decision making and
keep such physician informed.

A.2 Compensation.

A21

Schedule and Rate. Physician’s compensation (“Compensation”), shall be paid on a
monthly basis on SBHCD’s standard payment cycle for similar agreements and shall be paid
at the following rates:

A.2.1.1 On-site day shifts shall be paid at the rate of $185.00/hour.
A.2.1.2  On-call night shifts shall be paid at the rate of $82.50/hour.

On each anniversary of the Effective Date, the hourly rate then in effect shall be increased
by 3% to reflect adjustments to the cost of living.

146



A3

A4

A22 Payment on Termination. On termination of this Agreement, which is not extended,
renewed or superseded by another agreement, SBHCD shall pay to Physician any amounts
due to Physician within forty-five (45) days after the termination of this Agreement.

A.23 Agreement Includes All Compensation from SBHCD. Incorporated into Compensation,
unless specifically excluded, are all the Physician’s sources of practice revenues and income,
including call coverage stipends, other hospital on-call fees, hospital stipends, and reading
fees; provided, however, that services as a medical director within SBHCD, service on
medical staff or SBHCD positions such as department chair or chief of staff, call panels
which are not currently in effect, or other items specifically excluded by written agreement
between Physician and SBHCD shall be independently compensated to Physician by
SBHCD, if any, and are not subject to the terms of this Agreement.

A.2.4 Expenses. Physician shall be solely responsible for all expenses incurred in the provision of
Services except for those that are the responsibility of SBHCD pursuant to this Agreement.
Notwithstanding, upon written application to SBHCD, SBHCD may, in its sole discretion,
agree to reimburse Physician for continuing medical education (CME) course tuition and
associated travel and meal expenses not to exceed $2,500 per calendar year, provided that
Physician demonstrates that attending the CME would substantially further the interests of
patient care at SBHCD.

Services and Activities in Support of SBHCD. SBHCD and Physician acknowledge and agree that
certain services and activities may be required of Physician in support of SBHCD and Clinic to ensure
a continuing high level of patient care. To that end, Physician shall participate in functions/events
from time to time, in support of the SBHCD Clinics and the SBHCD facilities. In addition, to assist
in the recruitment and retention of highly skilled practitioners, upon SBHCD’s request, Physician
shall participate in recruitment meetings with SBHCD physician candidates. SBHCD shall reimburse
Physician for reasonable meal expenses incurred as part of meeting with physician candidates hosted
at the request of SBHCD.

Practice_Guidelines/Best Quality Practices. Physician shall demonstrate cooperative work
arrangements with the Medical Staff, Quality and Safety Leadership and SBHCD Administration to
achieve mutually accepted practice guidelines and the best quality practices. These practices will be
shall be evidenced based, and include at minimum the following:

A4l Attendance at regular monthly meetings with SBHCD Clinic and Hospital leadership when
requested to review any operational or quality issues.

AA42 Timely completion of all incomplete inpatient records, including completion of all
admission and discharge medication reconciliation.

Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

AA43 Completion of all office visit notes within twenty-four (24) hours of visit.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

A44 Timely signing of orders.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

A4S Timely discharges summaries.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

147



A4.6  Commitment to use of SBHCD supported electronic health/medical record platforms.

A4 Compliance with all governmental and SBHCD quality reporting initiatives that may come
into effect from time to time.

A48 Timely arrival at the Facilities, defined as being ready, willing and able to provide Services
not less than 10 minutes before the commencement of any in-person shift and responding
to on-call coverage calls within the times set forth in the Medical Staff rules and
regulations.

AS Quality Metrics. In addition to the practice guidelines and the best quality practices set forth in
Section A .4, the parties shall, within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date, mutually agree on quality and
performance metrics for the Services.

Remainder of page intentionally left blank

148



-

Hazel Hawkins

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

Board of Directors Contract Review Worksheet

Medical Director Agreement for Hospitalist Services with Natalie LaCorte Medical Corporation

Natalie LaCorte, MD

Executive Summary: Dr. Natalie LaCorte is a board-certified Family Medicine physician and life-
long Hollister resident. She has been providing hospitalist services at the District since 2022 and
recently transitioned from a contracted group to serve independently. As a local physician, Dr.
LaCorte brings a strong commitment to serving our community and supporting the continued
delivery of high-quality and compassionate inpatient care.

Recommended Board Motion: Itisrecommended the hospital Board approve the Medical Director
Agreement for Hospitalist Services with Natalie LaCorte Medical Corporation at a rate of $185 per
hour for up to 24 hours per month for a one (1) year term that is auto-renewable.

Services Provided: Hospitalist medical director services including team leadership, oversight of
quality improvement initiatives, assurance of 24/7/365 coverage, and collaboration with hospital
administration to support the delivery of safe, efficient, and high-quality inpatient care.

Agareement Terms:

Confract Estimated
Tenn Effective Date Aol Codl Term clause
1 year 6/1/2025 $53,280 30 days

149



SAN BENITO HEALTH CARE DISTRICT
MEDICAL DIRECTOR AGREEMENT
FOR
Hospitalist Services

This Medical Director Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into effective June 1, 2025
(“Effective Date”), by and between San Benito Health Care District, a local health care district
organized and operating pursuant to Division 23 of the California Health and Safety Code (“SBHCD”),
and Natalie LaCorte Medical Corporation, (“Physician™).

RECITALS

A. SBHCD owns and operates Hazel Hawkins Memorial Hospital, a general acute care hospital
located in Hollister, California (“Hospital”). Hospital provides inpatient and outpatient health
care services to residents of the district and surrounding communities (“Service Area”), including
Hospitalist Services (“Services”).

B Hospital has need for a Medical Director for Services in order to provide clinical leadership and
direction for the development of appropriate patient care clinical standards, workflows and
guidelines for the Services that are consistent with evidence-based medicine, federal and state
regulations and accreditation requirements, and to promote quality care for Services’ patients.

C. Physician is licensed to practice medicine in the State of California, is a member of the Hospital’s
Medical Staff, and is qualified to perform the administrative and professional duties associated
with the position of Medical Director of Services.

D. Hospital desires that Physician serve as Medical Director for the Services, and Physician has

agreed to do so in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

The Parties agree as follows:
AGREEMENT

1. Appointment as Medical Director. SBHCD appoints Physician, and Physician hereby accepts
such appointment, to serve as the Medical Director of Services during the term of this Agreement
and in accordance with its terms and conditions.

2. Medical Director Duties. Physician’s duties under this Agreement shall include the services as
set forth in Exhibit A, as and when requested by SBHCD.

3. Medical Staff Membership and Clinical Privileges

3.1 Medical Staff Membership Required. As a condition to performing the responsibilities,
duties and obligations under this Agreement, Physician shall have and maintain
membership in good standing on the Medical Staff of Hospital and secure and maintain
clinical privileges necessary to perform the duties associated with the position of Medical
Director of Services.

3.2 Medical Director Agreement and Position Independent of Staff Membership. This
Agreement and the position of Medical Director of Services are independent of Physician’s
Medical Staff membership. Any rights Physician may have as a Medical Staff member,

Page 1 of 13
Med Director Hospitalist Services N. LaCorte, MD - Eff 6-1-2025 150




33

such as but not limited to, fair hearing or any other similar rights or procedures for
termination of Medical Staff membership and clinical privileges, do not apply to
termination of this Agreement or the position of Medical Director. Termination of this
Agreement or the position of Medical Director shall be governed exclusively by the written
terms of this Agreement, except as otherwise required by law.

Staff Membership Not Restricted by This Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall be
construed to limit or affect the right and ability of Hospital to grant Medical Staff
membership and clinical privileges to any physician.

Licensure and Standards. Physician shall:

4.1

4.2

43

44

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

Be licensed to practice medicine in the State of California;

Maintain current Board Certification or the equivalent in accordance with state regulation
requirements for Services;

Maintain an active and unrestricted DEA number;

Comply with all policies, bylaws, rules and regulations of Hospital and its Medical Staff
applicable to Services and to the practice of this specialty;

Maintain unrestricted membership on the Medical Staff of Hospital;

Maintain clinical privileges without disciplinary restrictions as necessary to perform the
duties associated with the position of Medical Director of Services;

Comply with all applicable governmental laws and regulations and accreditation standards
and perform in accordance with applicable professional organizations; and

Conduct and participate in quality assurance programs, utilization review programs,
credentialing, and other programs related to Services. Physician will report the results of
such programs as appropriate. Physician will utilize the findings to modify existing, and to
develop new, programs and procedures for Services.

Compensation and Billing

5.1

52

53

Medical Director Services. Physician shall be compensated for all services performed
under this Agreement as requested and approved by SBHCD in the amount of One Hundred
Eighty-Five Dollars and No Cents ($185.00) per hour. Physician shall devote sufficient
time to fulfill his/her obligations under this Agreement, but in no event to exceed twenty-
four (24) hours per month without prior written approval from SBHCD

Payment. Payment for Medical Director services performed by Physician will be made by
SBHCD within thirty (30) days of the date that Physician submits the time report for the
previous month’s work. Payment for services is contingent upon Physician’s timely
submission of the time report. No payment shall be made unless and until Physician
submits the time records required by this Agreement.

Fair Market Value. The parties acknowledge, agree and warrant to the other that the
compensation provided pursuant to this Agreement is reasonable and not in excess of the
fair market value of the services to be rendered.

Page 2 of 13

Med Director Hospitalist Services N. LaCorte, MD - Eff 6-1-2025 1 5 1



54

Semi-Annual Performance Evaluation. On an annual basis, the SBHCD Chief Medical
Officer, Chief Executive Officer or designee will conduct a performance review of
Physician using the evaluation form attached as Exhibit C to this Agreement. If the average
composite score of all the categories is “below standards™ for Physician, this Agreement
may be terminated by SBHCD upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to Physician.

6. Record Keeping Requirements

6.1

6.2

6.3

Time Records. Physician shall maintain and provide SBHCD with information and
documentation which SBHCD may require from time to time. This information and
documentation shall include, but not be limited to, the recording and maintenance by
Physician of time records accurately documenting the provision of services under this
Agreement by Physician for SBHCD. Physician shall submit a monthly record of the hours
spent fulfilling the obligations of Medical Director under this Agreement. A sample of
such a time report is attached to this Agreement as Exhibit B. Time reports shall be
submitted to Hospital no later than the tenth (10th) day after each month for which a time
report is required. Failure to submit timely and accurate time reports will be a material
breach of this Agreement.

Administrative Records. Until the expiration of four (4) years following the furnishing of
goods or services pursuant to this Agreement, Physician shall make available, upon written
request, to the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services or, upon request,
to the Comptroller General, or any of their duly authorized representatives, this Agreement,
and any books, documents and records of Physician that are necessary to certify the nature
and extent of the costs of furnishing such goods or services under this Agreement.

Medical Records. Physician shall cause to be prepared a complete medical record regarding
the evaluation and treatment of patients involved in Services, in accordance with applicable
state and federal regulations, the rules and regulations of Hospital’s Medical Staff, and the
applicable standards within the medical profession.

7. Term and Termination

7.1

7.2

7.3

Term. This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and continue for a period of
one (1) year. This Agreement will automatically renew for successive one (1) year periods
unless terminated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

Termination Without Cause. Either party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement
without cause and without penalty upon not less than thirty (30) days’ prior written notice
to the other party.

Termination With Cause. Either party may terminate this Agreement at any time upon the
following defaults, if any such default is not cured within fifteen (15) days after written
notice thereof:

7.3.1 The other party’s failure to perform any of its material obligations under the terms
of this Agreement;

7.3.2 Any restriction or limitation being imposed by a governmental or accrediting

authority having jurisdiction over the party to such an extent that it cannot without
significant risk of violating the rules or regulations of such authority or the

Page 3 of 13

Med Director Hospitalist Services N. LaCorte, MD - Eff 6-1-2025 1 52



10.

conditions of participation in a governmental program, engage in the provision of
health care or professional services as required hereunder; or

7.3.3 The other party’s filing of a petition in bankruptcy or having such a petition filed
against it or having commenced against it any other similar insolvency proceeding.

7.4 Immediate Termination. SBHCD may terminate this Agreement immediately if:

7.4.1 Physician becomes involved in a pending criminal action or proposed debarment,
exclusion, or other sanctioning action related to any Federal or State healthcare
program;

7.4.2 Physician ceases to have appropriate clinical privileges to perform services in
Hospital and in Services in accordance with any and all applicable provisions of the
Hospital’s Medical Staff bylaws;

7.4.3 Physician commits a felony or any offense involving fraud, theft or embezzlement;

7.4.4 Physician violates any law or regulation relating to Medicare or Medi-Cal fraud and
abuse, or to billing under the Medicare or Medi-Cal programs; or

7.4.5 As otherwise provided in this Agreement.
7.5 Effect of Termination. Following expiration or termination of the Agreement for any

reason, the parties shall cooperate in the resulting transition in a manner that serves the best
interests of the Services at Hospital.

Insurance. Medical Director services are covered under SBHCD’s insurance for such activities.
During the term of this Agreement, Physician shall separately have and maintain professional
liability insurance with limits of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per incident and
Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) annual aggregate. Such separate professional liability
insurance may be purchased personally by Physician or provided to Physician pursuant to a
professional or personal services agreement.

Independent Contractor. Physician is entering into this Agreement as an independent contractor
of SBHCD. Neither party to this Agreement shall be deemed the employee, agent, partner, joint
venturer, officer, principal, or other representative of the other party. Each party shall have
control over the hiring and firing of its own employees and shall pay all social security,
withholding tax and other payroll charges applicable to him/it and to its own employees.

Contflict of Interest

10.1 Non-Competition. During the term of the Agreement, Physician shall not, directly or
indirectly, serve in any administrative capacity for, or have any direct financial interest
in, any other hospital, outpatient facility, or medical practice located within a thirty (30)
mile radius of the Service Area, without prior written permission from SBHCD.

10.2 Disclosure. Physician agrees to report immediately any conflict or potential conflict of
interest to SBHCD and to give full disclosure of facts pertaining to any transaction or
related activity that may be reasonably construed as a conflict of interest. Physician
further agrees to report to SBHCD the description of any influence adversely affecting

Page 4 of 13

Med Director Hospitalist Services N. LaCorte, MD - Eff 6-1-2025 1 53



11.

12.

13.

14.

the decision-making process of Physician pertaining to the performances of services
under this Agreement.

Assignment. Physician may not assign or subcontract any portion of this Agreement without the
prior written consent of SBHCD. SBHCD may assign this Agreement, in whole or in part, to
any entity directly owned or controlled by, or which owns or controls, or which is under common
ownership or control of SBHCD.

Legal Compliance.

12.1  General Obligation. The parties are entering into this Agreement intending to comply
with all provisions of applicable law and regulations. Nothing in this Agreement shall be
construed to permit or require any illegal act.

12.2  Compensation. The parties agree that nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to
required SBHCD, Hospital or Physician to make referrals of patients to one another. No
payment is made under this Agreement for the referral of patients or in return for the
ordering, purchasing or leasing of products or services from SBHCD or Hospital.
Physician agrees, represents and warrants that Physician will maintain full compliance
with all applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations, including, without
limitation, laws and regulations regarding billing for services at Hospital.

12.3  Effect of Non-Compliance. If by written legal opinion, SBHCD determines that any act
or omission on the part of Physician jeopardizes the licensure of Hospital, its participation
in, payment or reimbursement from, or contractual relationship with, Medicare, Medi-
Cal, Blue Cross or other public or private reimbursement or payment programs, or its full
accreditation by The Joint Commission or any other state or nationally recognized
accreditation organization, or the tax-exempt status of Hospital, any of its property or
financing, or will prevent or prohibit any physician or any other health care professionals
or their patients from referring to Hospital or utilizing Hospital or any of its services, or
if for any other reason said act or omission should be in violation of any statute, ordinance,
or be otherwise deemed illegal, or be deemed unethical by any recognized body, agency,
or association in the medical or hospital fields, SBHCD may at its option: (i) terminate
this Agreement immediately; or (ii) unilaterally amend the Agreement to ensure
compliance with the law, in which case Physician then has a special right to terminate the
Agreement if notice of termination is provided to SBHCD in writing within thirty (30)
days of the amendment.

Hospital Compliance Program. Physician acknowledges that Hospital has implemented a
compliance program for the purpose of ensuring that the provision of, and billing for, care at
Hospital is in compliance with applicable federal and state laws (“Compliance Program”).
Physician acknowledges that Physician has received information relating to such Compliance
Program, including Hospital’s Code of Ethics. Physician agrees to comply with all applicable
laws and adhere to, abide by and support the Compliance Program and policies promulgated
therein. Physician shall participate in training and education sessions relating to the Compliance
Program upon the request of Hospital.

Physician’s Warranties. Upon execution of this Agreement, Physician agrees, represents and

warrants that Physician (i) has not been convicted of a criminal offense related to healthcare

(unless Physician has been officially reinstated into the federal healthcare programs by the Office

of Inspector General (“OIG”) and provided proof of such reinstatement to SBHCD); (ii) is not

currently under sanction, exclusion or investigation (civil or criminal) by any federal or state
Page 5 of 13

Med Director Hospitalist Services N. LaCorte, MD - Eff 6-1-2025 1 54



15.

enforcement, regulatory, administrative or licensing agency or is ineligible for federal or state
program participation; and (iii) is not currently excluded from the federal procurement and non-
procurement programs. Physician agrees that if Physician becomes involved in a pending
criminal action or proposed debarment or exclusion related to any federal or state healthcare
program, Physician shall immediately notify SBHCD administration and SBHCD shall then have
the right to terminate this Agreement.

HIPAA Compliance. Physician shall have access to medical records and other information
regarding patients of Hospital or patients involved in Services (“Protected Health Information™).
Physician shall maintain the confidentiality of all Protected Health Information in compliance
with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations, including, but not limited to, the
California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act, Cal. Civ. Code §56 et seq. Physician
agrees agree to comply with the applicable provisions of the U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services regulations on “Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
Information” comprising 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, Subparts A and E (“Privacy Standards”),
“Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic Protected Health Information” comprising
45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, Subpart C (“Security Standards™), “Standards for Notification in
the Case of Breach of Unsecured Protected Health Information” comprising 45 C.F.R. Parts 160
and 164, Subpart D (“Breach Notification Standards”), and “Rules for Compliance and
Investigations, Impositions of Civil Monetary Penalties, and Procedures for Hearings”
comprising 45 C.F.R. Part 160, Subparts C, D, and E (“Enforcement Rule”) promulgated
pursuant to the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”), the
Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (“HITECH Act”), and the
Genetic Information and Nondiscrimination Act of 2008 (“GINA”) (Privacy Standards, Security
Standards, Breach Notification Standards, and Enforcement Rule are collectively referred to
herein as the “HIPAA Standards™). Physician agrees not to use or further disclose any protected
health information, as defined in 45 C.F.R. § 160.103 (“Protected Health Information™),
concerning a patient other than as permitted or required by this Agreement or otherwise
authorized under the HIPAA Standards.

15.1 Physician agrees that Physician shall:

15.1.1 Not use or further disclose Protected Health Information in a manner that would
violate the requirements of applicable laws or this Agreement.

15.1.2 Use appropriate safeguards to prevent use or disclosure of Protected Health
Information except as permitted by law and the terms of this Agreement.

15.1.3 Report to Hospital any use or disclosure of Protected Health Information not
permitted by law or by this Agreement of which Physician becomes aware.

15.1.4 Comply with the elements of any compliance program established by Hospital
that applies to the use of or disclosure of Protected Health Information.

15.2 Hospital may terminate this Agreement with Physician at any time if it determines that
Physician has violated a material term of this Section after providing Physician written
notice of the violation and said violation is not cured to Hospital’s reasonable satisfaction
within ten (10) days after notice.

15.3 At termination of this Agreement and after first consulting with Hospital, Physician shall
return or destroy all Protected Health Information received from, or created by Hospital
and retain no copies of such Protected Health Information or, if such return or destruction

Page 6 of 13

Med Director Hospitalist Services N. LaCorte, MD - Eff 6-1-2025 1 5 5



16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

is not permissible under law or the terms of this Agreement or is not otherwise feasible,
shall continue to maintain all Protected Health Information in accordance with the
provisions of this Section and shall limit further uses and disclosures to those purposes
that make the return or destruction of the information infeasible. Physician’s obligations
under this Section shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

Limitation of Liability. Each party shall be responsible for its own acts and omissions and shall
be liable for payment of that portion of any and all claims, liabilities, injuries, suits, and demands
and expenses of all kinds that may result or arise out of any alleged malfeasance or neglect caused
or alleged to have been caused by said party, its employees, agents, or subcontractors, in the
performance or omission of any act or responsibility of said party under this Agreement. If a
claim is made against both parties, each party will cooperate in the defense of said claim and
cause their insurers to do likewise. Each party shall, however, retain the right to take any and all
actions it believes necessary to protect its own interests.

Applicable Law and Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance
with the laws of the State of California. Venue shall be in the County of San Benito, California.

Notices. Service of all notices (including notices of any address changes) under this Agreement
shall be sufficient if hand-delivered, mailed to the party involved at its respective address set
forth herein, by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, or sent by nationally
recognized overnight courier service, addressed to the appropriate party as indicated in this
Agreement.

Entire Agreement. This Agreement, with exhibits, and all documents referred to herein constitute
the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. This
Agreement supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, representations and
understandings of the parties which relate to the subject matter of this Agreement.

Other Agreements. This Agreement may be one of several between SBHCD and Physician
dealing with different aspects of their relationship. SBHCD maintains a current master list of all
such agreements, together with copies of the actual agreements, that is available for review by
the Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services in accordance with
the requirements of the “Stark II” regulations.

Waiver of Provisions. Any waiver of any terms and conditions of this Agreement must be in
writing and signed by the parties to this Agreement. A waiver of any of the terms and conditions
of this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver of any other terms and conditions of this
Agreement or a continuing waiver of the terms and conditions waived.

Amendments. This Agreement may be amended by mutual agreement of the parties without
additional consideration, provided that such amendment has been reduced to writing and signed
by each party.

No Third-Party Rights. This Agreement is made solely for the benefit of the parties and their
respective and permitted assigns. Nothing in this Agreement shall confer any rights or remedies
on any persons other than the parties to it and nothing herein shall relieve or discharge the
obligation or liability of any third persons.

Partial Invalidity. If a lawful forum finds any part of this Agreement invalid or unenforceable,
such finding shall not invalidate the remaining provisions, unless such invalidity or
unenforceability would defeat an essential business purpose of this Agreement.

Page 7 of 13

Med Director Hospitalist Services N. LaCorte, MD - Eff 6-1-2025 1 56



The Parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date first set forth above.

SBHCD Physician
San Benito Health Care District Natalie LaCorte Medical Corporation
By:
Mary T. Casillas, CEO Natalie LaCorte, M.D., CEO
Date: Date:
Page 8 of 13

Med Director Hospitalist Services N. LaCorte, MD - Eff 6-1-2025 1 5 7



EXHIBIT A

MEDICAL DIRECTOR DUTIES
FOR

Hospitalist Services

The Hospitalist Medical Director shall perform the following duties, which are in addition to clinical
responsibilities:

1.

Med Director Hospitalist Services N. LaCorte, MD - Eff 6-1-2025

Clinical Oversight & Leadership

e Provide medical leadership for the hospitalist team, ensuring high-quality, evidence-based inpatient
care.

e Actas a liaison between hospital administration and the Hospitalist group.
e Participate in the development and enforcement of clinical protocols, guidelines, and best practices.
Performance & Quality Improvement

e Monitor key performance indicators (KPIs) such as length of stay, readmission rates, and patient
satisfaction scores.

e Lead quality initiatives and facilitate performance improvement projects.

e Participate in peer review processes and lead root cause analyses as needed.
Staffing & Scheduling

e Assist in developing and maintaining physician schedules to ensure 24/7 coverage.

e Help recruit, onboard, and retain hospitalist staff in collaboration with administration and medical
staff services.

e Address issues related to provider coverage, call, and shift distribution.
Communication & Collaboration

e Attend and represent the hospitalist group in medical staff meetings, quality committee meetings,
and hospital leadership meetings.

e Serve as the point of contact for resolving clinical and operational concerns raised by staff, patients,
or other departments.

e Foster collaboration with specialists, nursing leadership, case management, and ancillary services.
Education & Professional Development
e Provide mentoring and support to hospitalist team members, especially new hires.

e Encourage continuing medical education and support compliance with CME and licensure
requirements.

e Lead periodic educational sessions or case reviews.
Compliance & Documentation
¢ Promote compliance with medical staff bylaws, hospital policies, and regulatory standards.

e Monitor and promote timely and accurate documentation, including discharge summaries and
coding practices.

Page 9 of 13

158



e Address documentation or billing deficiencies in partnership with the coding/billing department.
7. Strategic Planning & Program Development
e Contribute to strategic planning efforts for the hospitalist program.

e Assist in evaluating service line growth, care models (e.g., observation units, co-management),
and resource needs.

e Support initiatives related to throughput, bed utilization, and care transitions.

Remainder of page intentionally left blank

Page 10 of 13
Med Director Hospitalist Services N. LaCorte, MD - Eff 6-1-2025

159



EXHIBIT B

Medical Director Monthly Time Report

IMPORTANT NOTICE: This report must be completed, signed and dated by physician. Include all requested
information, and forward to the responsible director for validation and processing within ten (10) days after the month for
which report is due. No compensation will be paid until the Time Report is submitted and validated as complete in
accordance with the corresponding agreement.

MONTH/YEAR:
PHYSICIAN NAME: PROGRAM:
MAXIMUM HOURS: COMPENSATION PER HOUR:
Time Rate Tgal
Date Description of Activity Amount
(hrs) ® (5$)

Total:

I attest that the time I have submitted for payment accurately reflects time and activities and was spent providing services only
and does not include any time spent providing any clinical services for which I can bill any payer or patient.

Signed: Date:
Natalie LaCorte, M.D.

I have reviewed the above time report entries made by Physician and confirm they accurately reflect the services
provided by the physician:

Responsible Director:

Physician time report accurately and legibly identifies services which are in compliance with the terms of the
Agreement:

APPROVED:
Chief Executive Officer or designee

Page 11 of 13
Med Director Hospitalist Services N. LaCorte, MD - Eff 6-1-2025 1 6 O



EXHIBIT C
Medical Director Evaluation

Contract: Hospitalist Services Medical Director Name: Natalie LaCorte. MD

Term:

Evaluator’s Name: Evaluator’s Title:

Ensure that contractual expectations have been met. This evaluation is used to provide constructive feedback.

Please rate compliance with the contractual expectations in accordance with the scale below:
I- Unacceptable
2- Below Standards
3- Proficient
4- Exceeds Standards
5- Outstanding

Standards of Performance

Expectations Definition Rating |
Timely Response to Request e Completes contractual needs and requests in a
timely manner.
Quality of Services e [s consistent, accurate and thorough
Initiative e Takes action to improve work performance
» Seeks out new ideas and offers suggestions
e Is open to new ideas and ways of doing things
Communication e Exhibits effective communication skills
[ ]

Listens well and responds appropriately expresses
oneself effectively

e Conveys messages thoroughly and accurately

Performance Competencies

Professionalism/Leadership Maintain appropriate demeanor and language

Is a positive representative of the organization
Adheres to organization policies and procedures
Exhibits flexibility/adaptability creates vision
Compels action

MEC Review supports the quality of services
provided

Consistent performance that meets medical staff
expectations

Success in quality improvements

Success in ensuring safety

Annually establishes goals and objectives
Setting/meeting regularly compliance targets
Positive response from patients

Patient satisfaction surveys (if applicable)
performance in top tier

Medical Staff Satisfaction

Quality and Safety

Patient Satisfaction

Page 12 of 13
Med Director Hospitalist Services N. LaCorte, MD - Eff 6-1-2025

161



Comments

Evaluator: Date:

Contractee: Date:

Page 13 of 13
Med Director Hospitalist Services N. LaCorte, MD - Eff 6-1-2025

162



ahy

Hazel Hawkins

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

Board of Directors Contract Review Worksheet

Virtual Inpatient Services Agreement with Omnibus Medical Corporation

Executive Summary: Since 2021, in support of critical care services offered in the
ICU, Omnibus Medical Corporation and their panel of board certified critical care
physicians have provided 24/7/365 remote Tele-ICU consultative services. For the
past few years, the contract was under the umbrella of the hospitalist group
contract with a pass through of the cost to the District. Under the proposed
agreement, the group will contract directly with the District to assure a seamless
continuity of care for patients and resource for our hospitalists and nursing team:s.
This contract is budget neutral.

Recommended Board Motion: It is recommended the hospital Board approve
the Virtual Inpatient Services Agreement with Omnibus Medical Corporation in
the amount of $10,500.00 per month for a one (1) year term.

Services Provided: 24/7/365 remote Tele-ICU coverage.

Agreement Terms:

GoRmach Effecfive Date Esimated Term clause
Term Annual Cost
1 year 6/1/2025 $126,000 90 days

163



VIRTUAL INPATIENT SERVICES AGREEMENT
This Virtual Inpatient Services Agreement (hereinafter referred to as the "Agreement") is made and
entered into as of the 1st day of June, 2025 (the "Effective Date"), by and between Omnibus Medical
Corp, a California professional corporation (hereinafter referred to as "Omnibus"), and San Benito Health
Care District, a local health care district organized and operated pursuant to Division 23 of the
California Health and Safety Code, located in Hollister, California (hereinafter referred to as "Hospital").

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Omnibus is a professional corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State
of California, engaged in the provision of virtual inpatient services, including but not limited to Tele-ICU
services;

WHEREAS, Hospital is a healthcare facility and seeks to engage Omnibus to provide Tele-ICU services
within its Intensive Care Unit (ICU) department;

WHEREAS, the parties desire to set forth the terms and conditions under which Omnibus shall provide
such services to Hospital;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, promises, and agreements herein
contained, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. DEFINITIONS
For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings ascribed to them below:
1.1 "Omnibus" shall mean Omnibus Medical Corp, a California professional corporation.

1.2 "Hospital” shall mean San Benito Health Care District, doing business as Hazel Hawkins Memorial
Hospital, located in Hollister, California.

1.3 "Services" shall mean the Tele-ICU services to be provided by Omnibus as more particularly described
in Section 2.

1.4 "Department" shall mean the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) department of the Hospital.
1.5 ""Specialty" shall mean Critical Care.
1.6 "Effective Date' shall mean June 1st, 2025.

1.7 "Term" shall mean the duration of this Agreement as set forth in Section 4.

2. SERVICES

164



2.1 Omnibus hereby agrees to provide continuous (24/7) Tele-ICU services to the Department, as requested
by Hospital.

2.2 The Services shall be rendered by duly qualified physicians and/or midlevel practitioners who are
employed by or contracted with Omnibus (collectively, "Omnibus Providers"). Each Omnibus Provider
shall, at all times during the Term, meet the Professional Standards as defined in Section 5.

3. COMPENSATION

3.1 In consideration for the Services provided hereunder, Hospital shall pay Omnibus a fixed monthly fee
of Ten Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($10,500.00).

3.2 Payment of the monthly fee shall be due and payable within fifteen (15) days following the end of each
calendar month during the Term.

3.3 Billing language: Omnibus shall bill for, collect from Omnibus’ patients, and own all of the fees that
are charged for services provided by Omnibus and Omnibus Providers. Hospital shall provide Omnibus
with the necessary patient registration information upon request by Omnibus for patients receiving Services
from Omnibus Providers to enable Omnibus to bill for such Services. Omnibus shall be solely responsible
for obtaining and maintaining any additional information reasonably necessary to permit such billing.
Omnibus shall be solely responsible for, and shall indemnify and hold Hospital harmless from, any claims,
liabilities and repayment obligations with respect to (i) its collections efforts and procedures, and (ii)
Omnibus’ compliance with federal and state laws (including but not limited to Medicare and Medicaid
requirements) relating to the submission or payment of such claims. Notwithstanding, Hospital shall have
the exclusive right to bill and collect for services provided by its employees and other contractors.

4. TERM AND TERMINATION

4.1 This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue in full force and effect for an
initial period of one (1) year. Thereafter, this Agreement shall automatically renew for successive one (1)
year periods unless terminated in accordance with the provisions herein.

4.2 Either party may terminate this Agreement without cause upon providing the other party with ninety
(90) days' prior written notice.

4.3 In the event of a material breach of any provision of this Agreement by one party, the non-breaching
party may terminate this Agreement immediately upon written notice if the breaching party fails to cure
such breach within thirty (30) days after receiving written notice thereof.

5. PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS

Omnibus shall ensure that each Omnibus Provider meets and maintains the following professional standards
(the "Professional Standards") at all times during the Term:

165



5.1 Each Omnibus Provider shall be a member in good standing of the Hospital's medical staff (the "Medical
Staff"), where applicable, and shall possess all necessary emergency and/or standard privileges required to
provide the Services.

5.2 Each Omnibus Provider shall hold an unrestricted license to practice medicine or shall possess the
necessary license and/or certification to provide the Services in the State of California. Additionally, where
applicable, each Omnibus Provider shall maintain a valid and unrestricted registration with the United
States Drug Enforcement Administration.

5.3 Each Omnibus Provider shall be a participating provider in the Medicare and Medi-Cal programs and
shall provide professional services to beneficiaries of federal and state healthcare programs in a
nondiscriminatory manner.

5.4 Each Omnibus Provider shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, rules, and
regulations.

5.5 Each Omnibus Provider shall adhere to all bylaws, policies, rules, and regulations of the Hospital and
the Medical Staff.

5.6 Each Omnibus Provider shall comply with all applicable standards and recommendations of nationally
recognized accrediting organizations as designated by Omnibus from time to time.

5.7 No Omnibus Provider shall engage in any conduct that conflicts with or violates the Omnibus Code of
Conduct or the Hospital's Code of Conduct.

5.8 Each Omnibus Provider shall be duly approved to provide the Services under this Agreement.

5.9 Each Omnibus Provider shall render the Services in accordance with generally accepted medical
practice standards and professional ethics.

6. INSURANCE

6.1 Omnibus shall procure and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, a policy of professional malpractice
liability insurance. Such insurance shall:

(i) Provide coverage for negligent acts or omissions of Omnibus and the Omnibus Providers in the
performance of the Services;

(ii) Be issued by an insurance carrier licensed or otherwise qualified to issue professional liability insurance
in the State of California and reasonably acceptable to Hospital; and

(iii) Provide minimum coverage limits in accordance with the Medical Staff bylaws, but in no event less
than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence or claim and Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) in
the annual aggregate.

The effective date of such insurance coverage shall precede or coincide with the Effective Date of this
Agreement.

166



6.2 If the professional malpractice liability insurance maintained by Omnibus is on a claims-made basis,
upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement, Omnibus shall procure and maintain extended
reporting period ("tail") coverage from an insurance carrier licensed or otherwise qualified in the State of
California, and reasonably acceptable to Hospital. Such tail coverage shall be for the longest extended
reporting period available to ensure continuous coverage for claims arising from professional services
rendered during the Term of this Agreement.

7. INDEMNIFICATION

Each party (the "Indemnifying Party") hereby agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the other
party (the "Indemnified Party") from and against any and all liabilities, losses, damages, claims, causes of
action, costs, or expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees) that arise directly or indirectly from the
performance of the Services by the Indemnifying Party, its agents, employees, representatives, or
contractors.

8. CLAIMS

Omnibus shall promptly notify Hospital, as soon as reasonably practicable, upon becoming aware of any
claim, lawsuit, or proceeding before any court, administrative agency, state licensing board, or regulatory
body concerning the provision of Services by any Omnibus Provider under this Agreement.

9. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

9.1 Disputes Between Omnibus and Hospital. The provisions of this Section 9 shall govern all disputes,
claims, or controversies arising out of or relating to this Agreement, including any disputes regarding the
performance or non-performance of any term, condition, or covenant herein (collectively, "Disputes").

9.1.1 Meet and Confer. In the event of a Dispute, the parties shall first attempt to resolve the matter
informally through good faith negotiations. Upon written request by either party, the parties shall meet and
confer within thirty (30) days to attempt to resolve the Dispute. If a party fails to participate in such a
meeting after receiving a written request that specifically references this Section 9.1.1, that party shall be
deemed to have waived the meet and confer requirement, and the other party may, at its option, proceed
directly to arbitration.

9.1.2 Mediation. If the Dispute is not resolved through the meet and confer process, the parties may, by
mutual agreement, submit the Dispute to mediation before a retired judge of the California Superior Court
or a United States court (the "Mediator").

9.1.3 Arbitration. If the Dispute is not resolved through the methods described in Sections 9.1.1 or 9.1.2,
the Dispute shall be submitted to binding arbitration in the State of California in accordance with the rules
of the American Arbitration Association then in effect.

167



9.2 Fair Hearing Rights Regarding Physician Credentialing Disputes. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
any Omnibus Provider who disputes an adverse credentialing decision related to hospital privileging shall
be entitled to the fair hearing and appeal procedures as set forth in the applicable Medical Staff bylaws or
Omnibus's credentialing policies. In such cases, the provisions of this Section 9 (except for this Section 9.2)
shall not apply. Hospital shall notify Omnibus if any Omnibus Provider is entitled to such a hearing or
appeal, and Omnibus shall cooperate with Hospital to ensure compliance with all applicable regulatory
requirements.

9.3 Joinder and Class Litigation. Any arbitration conducted pursuant to this Agreement shall be solely
between Hospital and Omnibus and shall not be consolidated with any other arbitration or legal proceeding.
Neither party shall seek to maintain any class action or representative action in connection with any Dispute.

10. COMPENSATION ARRANGEMENTS

Omnibus represents and warrants to Hospital that any compensation paid or to be paid by Omnibus to any
physician providing Services under this Agreement shall, at all times, reflect fair market value for the
services rendered, without regard to the volume or value of referrals or other business generated by such
physician for Hospital or any affiliate thereof. Omnibus further represents and warrants that it has, and shall
maintain, written agreements with all non-employed physicians receiving compensation from Omnibus, in
compliance with 42 C.F.R. § 411.357(p).

11. MEDICARE BOOKS AND RECORDS

Upon written request by the Secretary of Health and Human Services, the Comptroller General of the United
States, or their duly authorized representatives, Omnibus shall make available this Agreement and all books,
documents, and records related to the nature and extent of the costs of the Services provided hereunder.
Omnibus shall retain such records for a period of four (4) years following the expiration or termination of
this Agreement. If Omnibus subcontracts any duties under this Agreement to a related organization with a
subcontract value of $10,000 or more over a twelve (12)-month period, such subcontract shall include
provisions requiring the subcontractor to comply with the same record retention and access requirements.
(42 CF.R. § 420.302.)

12. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

Neither Omnibus nor any Omnibus Provider shall use or disclose any Confidential Information, as defined
herein, for any purpose not expressly authorized by this Agreement without the prior written consent of
Hospital. "Confidential Information" shall include, but is not limited to, proprietary or confidential
information of Omnibus, Hospital, or any affiliate thereof, as well as any records, proceedings, or
information related to peer review or committee activities. Upon termination or expiration of this
Agreement, or upon Hospital's written request, Omnibus shall promptly return to Hospital all Confidential
Information in its possession or control.

168



13. PATIENT INFORMATION

Omnibus and its Physicians shall comply with all applicable laws and regulations concerning the
confidentiality, privacy, and security of individually identifiable health information, including, without
limitation, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), as amended, and the
Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (HITECH).

14. ASSIGNMENT

This Agreement is personal to Omnibus and is based upon the professional and administrative capabilities
of Omnibus and its Providers. Accordingly, Omnibus shall not assign, delegate, or otherwise transfer any
of its rights, duties, or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of Hospital.

15. NOTICES

All notices, requests, or other communications required or permitted under this Agreement shall be in
writing and shall be deemed duly given when delivered personally or sent by overnight delivery service
(e.g., Federal Express, UPS, or USPS Express Mail) to the addresses set forth on the signature page hereto.
Notices shall be effective upon receipt if personally delivered or one business day after dispatch if sent by
overnight delivery.

16. BENEFITS NOT CONTINGENT UPON REFERRALS

The parties acknowledge and agree that any benefits conferred under this Agreement are not conditioned
upon, and are not intended to induce, the referral of patients or other business between the parties, in
compliance with applicable federal and state laws, including the Anti-Kickback Statute and the Stark Law.

17. MISCELLANEOUS

17.1 Independent Contractor. Omnibus and its Providers are independent contractors, and nothing in this
Agreement shall be construed to create an employment, agency, or partnership relationship between the
parties. Hospital shall not exercise control over the professional medical judgment of Omnibus or its
Providers, except to the extent that a Hospital physician is supervising or consulting with an Omnibus
Provider.

17.2 Amendments. This Agreement may be amended only by a written instrument executed by both
parties.

17.3 Waiver. No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective unless in writing and signed
by the party against whom enforcement is sought. The failure to enforce any right or remedy shall not
constitute a waiver of such right or remedy.

169



17.4 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of
the State of California, without regard to its conflict of laws principles.

17.5 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an
original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

17.6 Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding and agreement between the
parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior negotiations, agreements, or
understandings, whether oral or written.

SIGNATURES

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly
authorized representatives as of the Effective Date.

Omnibus Medical Corp

By:
Name:
Title:
Date:

San Benito Health Care District dba Hazel Hawkins Memorial Hospital

By:
Name:
Title:
Date:

170



-

Hazel Hawkins

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

Board of Directors Contract Review Worksheet

Professional Services Agreement for Anesthesia Services with Igbal M. Mirza, M.D., Professional
Corporation

Executive Summary: Over the past 6 months, and with the expiration of our current anesthesiology
contract approaching, the District compiled a steering committee to evaluate the anesthesia
needs of our growing organization. This committee, comprised of physicians, surgeons, chief
nursing officer, administration, managers, and staff, evaluated two proposals that were presented.

After extensive evaluation and interviews, the steering committee is recommending a contract with
a physician lead panel of board-certified anesthesiologists and CRNAs who will provide exclusive
coverage of the hospital's operating rooms and labor & delivery department. Dr. Igbal M. Mirza
leads a team of five board-certified anesthesiologists and two CRNAs. Two of the physicians have
been providing services for the District under the previous group since 2019 and 2022, respectively,
and have chosen to stay on under Dr. Mirza's leadership.

The group brings strong experience across various clinical settings and is well-positioned to ensure
a smooth fransition, continued high-quality anesthesia care, and a commitment to help the
hospital expand services.

Recommended Board Motion: It is recommended the hospital Board approve the Professional
Services Agreement for Anesthesia Services with Igbal M. Mirza, M.D., Professional Corporation at
an annual cost of between $2,992,500 and $4,132,500 depending on the level of coverage
provided.

Services Provided: 24/7/365 physician coverage, including emergency call for surgical services,
and a dedicated CRNA providing continuous 24/7/365 coverage for labor and delivery.

Agreement Terms:

C?:::d Effective Date Estimated Annual Cost Term clause
3 year 7/1/2025 $2,992,500 or up to $4,132,500 90 days

171



PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

This Professional Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made, entered into and effective as of July 1, 2025
(“Effective Date”), by and between SAN BENITO HEALTH CARE DISTRICT, a local health care district
organized and operated pursuant to Division 23 of the California Health and Safety Code (“SBHCD”), and IQBAL
M. MIRZA, M.D., PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION, a California professional corporation (“Corporation™).

RECITALS

A. SBHCD owns and operates Hazel Hawkins Memorial Hospital, a licensed general acute care facility
located at 911 Sunset Drive, Hollister, California (“Hospital”). Hospital provides inpatient and outpatient
services to residents of the San Benito Health Care District and surrounding communities which constitute
the Hospital’s service area (“Hospital Service Area™).

B. The Corporation is a professional medical corporation, duly organized and authorized to provide medical
services in California.

C. The Corporation has a single shareholder, Dr. Igbal M. Mirza (“Mirza”) but employees or contracts with
the physicians set forth on Exhibit A (each a “Physician” and collectively the “Physicians™). Each of the
Physicians is: (i) lawfully contracted with the Corporation, (ii) licensed to practice medicine in the State
of California, (iii) a member in good standing of the medical staff of Hospital, and (iv) experienced with
providing professional anesthesia services and is qualified to do so pursuant to the terms herein.

D. Section 32129 of the California Health and Safety Code provides that a health care district may contract
with health care provider groups to render professional medical services in order to ensure that adequate
health care is available to all residents within its service area.

E. SBHCD has determined that entering into this Agreement with Corporation is in the best interests of
SBHCD and the public health of the residents of the Hospital Service Area and is an appropriate way to
ensure the availability of anesthesia services to patients in the Hospital Service Area.

F. The parties desire to enter into this Agreement to set forth their respective responsibilities in connection
with the Services (defined below) provided by the Corporation, through the Physicians, in the Hospital
Service Area during the term of this Agreement.

The parties hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE 1 - DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF CORPORATION AND PROVIDERS

1.1 Medical Services. The Corporation shall, through the Physicians, provide professional health care
services in Physicians’ medical specialty to patients at the Hospital and on the schedule more fully
described in Exhibit B, which is attached to this Agreement and incorporated by this reference
(“Services”). Services include services to Medicare and Medi-Cal patients, patients of any other federal
health care program or a state health care financial program (“Governmental Programs™), workers’
compensation beneficiaries, and patients eligible for participation in SBHCD’s charity care program.
Physician shall cooperate to enable SBHCD’s participation in Medicare, Medi-Cal, Governmental
Programs, workers’ compensation services and commercial payor programs. Physicians shall provide
Services to all patients, including Medicare, Medi-Cal, Governmental Program, and workers’
compensation beneficiaries, in a non-discriminatory manner and in accordance with all applicable laws
and SBHCD policies and procedures, as developed and implemented in collaboration with physician
leadership of the Hospital. Corporation may, as approved by SBHCD, provide Services through Certified
Registered Nurse Anesthetists (“CRNAs”) supervised by Physicians, provided such CRNAs meet the
requirements set by SBCHD. The initial approved CRNAs are set forth on Exhibit A.

1.2 Medical Directorship. The Corporation shall provide one Physician to serve as Medical Director of
Anesthesia Services on the terms set forth on Exhibit B.

Page 1 of 10
Igbal M. Mirza, M.D., PC eff 7-1-2025 172



13

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

Qualifications. Each Physician shall: (i) be duly licensed to practice medicine by the State of California;
(ii) be qualified to perform the Services by having adequate levels of competency and experience; (iii)
have skill comparable to those prevailing in the community; (iv) not be excluded from participation in
any governmental healthcare program; (v) be approved for and maintain active membership and/or
clinical privileges on the Hospital's medical staff in accordance with medical staff bylaws, rules and
regulations, and other medical staff governing directives; (vi) be certified as a participating physician in
the Medicare and Medi-Cal programs; (vii) hold an unrestricted Drug Enforcement Administration
registration number; and (viii) satisfy any other requirements reasonably requested by SBHCD.

Each CRNA shall: (i) be duly licensed to practice nursing by the State of California; (ii) hold a current,
clear, and active California Registered Nurse license; (iii) be certified as a Nurse Anesthetist by the
California Board of Registered Nursing; (iv) have skill comparable to those prevailing in the community;
(v) not be excluded from participation in any governmental healthcare program; (vi) be approved for and
maintain Allied Health Professional membership and clinical privileges on the Hospital's medical staff in
accordance with medical staff bylaws, rules and regulations, and other medical staff governing directives;
(vii) be certified as a participating in the Medicare and Medi-Cal programs; (viii) satisfy any other
requirements reasonably requested by SBHCD.

Compliance. In connection with the operation and conduct of the Hospital and rendering of Services,
Physicians and CRNAs shall, at all times, comply with the applicable terms of this Agreement and with
all applicable federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations, including requirements for participation
in the Medicare and Medi-Cal programs, the Hospital medical staff bylaws, rules and regulations, and
applicable policies and procedures, and will at all times be aware of and participate in meeting the goals
and objectives of the SBHCD Corporate Compliance program.

Credentialing. In order to be efficiently credentialed with payors that have contracted with SBHCD, each
Physician shall participate in the Council for Affordable Quality Healthcare (“CAQH”) credentialing
program and shall timely comply with requests from CAQH or SBHCD personnel for (i) credentialing
information regarding Physician, and (ii) documents necessary for Physician’s credentialing. Corporation
shall use its best efforts to facilitate such credentialing.

Use of Premises. No part of the SBHCD premises shall be used at any time by Corporation or any
Physician as an office for the general or private practice of medicine.

Medical Records/Chart Notes. Corporation shall ensure each Physician and CRNA shalil provide timely,
appropriate, and necessary documentation for each patient’s medical record for all patient encounters at
the Hospital in compliance with the Hospital” policies and procedures.

Coding. Corporation shall ensure each Physician and CRNA properly codes all professional services
rendered to patients. Physician’s and CRNA’s coding shall be used for purposes of billing for Services
provided by Physician or CRNA. All such coding shall be subject to review and audit by an independent
auditing company mutually agreed upon by the parties.

Professional Standards. In performing the Services, Corporation and each Physician and CRNA shall
comply with the principles and ethics of the American Medical Association, the California Medical
Association, and any federal, state or municipal law, statute or ordinance dealing with the practice of
medicine. Each Physician and CRNA shall further abide in all respects with the Code of Conduct
applicable to professional health care providers of any hospital, outpatient clinic or surgery center,
including but not limited to SBHCD, at which Physician or CRNA shall provide professional services.
Corporation, Physicians, and CRNAs shall provide Services to all SBHCD patients on a courteous and
prompt basis, be available and accessible to patients, provide them with full and meaningful information,
and render services in a manner which assures continuity of care. Corporation shall ensure each Physician
and CRNA further agrees to treat all other providers and the staff and volunteers of SBHCD with respect,
dignity, and professionalism, and to conduct himself/herself in accordance with the highest standards of
ethical behavior and workplace conduct.

Page 2 of 10

Iqbal M. Mirza, M.D., PC eff 7-1-2025 173



1.10

2.1

22

23

24

3.1

4.1

4.2

Corporation Obligations. Corporation shall use its best efforts to ensure that each Physician and CRNA
complies with the obligations of this Agreement. A breach by any Physician or CRNA of the requirements
set forth herein is a breach by Corporation.

ARTICLE 2 - DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF SBHCD

Duties. SBHCD agrees to furnish at its own cost and expense, for the operation of the Hospital, the
following:

2.1.1  Space and Equipment. Space and equipment as may be reasonably required for the operation of
the Hospital as approved by SBHCD.

2.1.2  Services and Supplies. Maintenance, repair, and replacement of equipment as reasonably
required; all utilities, including telephone, power, light, gas, and water; and all supplies that may
be reasonably required for the operation of the Hospital.

2.1.3  Non-physician Personnel. All non-physician personnel with appropriate education, training, and
experience required to operate the Hospital, including a qualified administrative manager.
SBHCD shall have the sole right and responsibility for the hiring and termination of all its
employees. SBHCD shall be responsible for the scheduling of non-physician Hospital personnel.

Eligibility. At all times during the term of this Agreement, SBHCD shall remain eligible to participate in
the Medicare and Medi-Cal programs.

Contracts. SBHCD shall be solely responsible for negotiating all contracts for the reimbursement of
services provided by it or its employees or contractors at the Hospital (except as otherwise agreed in
writing). SBHCD, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall determine the negotiation parameters for the
terms, conditions, and rates for such contracts.

Access to Records. Each Physician and CRNA shall have access to SBHCD patient medical and business
records for quality of care and compliance purposes.

ARTICLE 3 - BILLING

Billing and Collection. Corporation shall bill for, collect from Corporations’ patients, and own all of the

fees that are charged for Corporation’s, Physicians’, and CRNAs’ Services and all related accounts
receivable. Corporation shall be solely responsible for obtaining and maintaining all information
reasonably necessary to permit such billing. Corporation shall be solely responsible for, and shall
indemnify and hold SBHCD harmless from, any claims, liabilities and repayment obligations with respect
to (a) the accuracy of Corporation’s record of claims and (b) Corporation’s compliance with federal and
state laws (including but not limited to Medicare and Medicaid requirements) relating to the submission
or payment of such claims. Notwithstanding, SBHCD shall have the exclusive right to bill and collect for
services provided by its employees and contracts.

ARTICLE 4 - COMPENSATION FOR SERVICES

Compensation. As compensation for the provision of Services at the Hospital, SBHCD shall pay the
Corporation as outlined in Exhibit B to this Agreement and in accordance with the normal SBHCD
contract payment process for Services provided by physicians. Neither the Corporation nor any Physician
or CRNA shall bill for facility fees, administrative, supervisory, medical director, or similar services.

Schedule of Charges. SBHCD, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall decide upon the schedule of
charges for the Hospital. Pursuant to California Health and Safety Code Section 32129, the SBHCD
Board of Directors may review the fees and charges for Services provided at the Hospital to ensure such
fees and charges are reasonable, fair, and consistent with the basic commitment of SBHCD to provide
adequate health care to all residents within the Hospital Service Area.

Page 3 of 10

Igbal M. Mirza, M.D., PC eff 7-1-2025 174



5.1

52

53

ARTICLE 5 - TERM AND TERMINATION

Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence at 12:01 AM on the Effective Date and continue for
a period of three (3) years, expiring on June 30, 2028 at 11:59 PM unless renewed by mutual written
agreement of the parties or terminated earlier as provided in this Agreement. '

Termination. Either party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement without stating a cause or
reason and without cost or penalty upon ninety (90) days’ prior written notice to the other party.
Notwithstanding, either party shall have the right to terminate the Agreement for “cause” upon written
notice to the other party as set forth below. If this Agreement is terminated prior to expiration of the first
year of the initial term, the parties shall not enter into any new agreement or arrangement that is
substantially the same arrangement during the remainder of such year.

Definition of Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “cause” shall include, but not be limited to, the
occurrence of any of the following events:

5.3.1 SBHCD or Corporation is in breach of any material term or condition of this Agreement and such
breach has not been cured within thirty (30) days following written notice of such breach.

5.3.2  SBHCD or Corporation becomes insolvent or declares bankruptcy.

5.3.3 The license to practice medicine or to prescribe controlled substances of any Physician or CRNA
is revoked or suspended.

5.3.4 Corporation fails to maintain compliance with any applicable law, rule, regulation, or licensing
requirement including but not limited to the Business and Professions Code, the Moscone-Knox
Professional Corporation Act, the Medical Practice Act, the Nursing Practice Act, the Health and
Safety Code and the Corporations Code.

5.3.5 SBHCD fails to carry or reinstate the insurance required in ARTICLE 8 or such coverage is
canceled or revoked within fifteen (15) days following notice of revocation from its insurance
carrier.

5.3.6  Upon the determination that the Corporation or any Physician or CRNA has violated a material
term of ARTICLE 9.

5.3.7 The performance by either party of any term, condition, or provision of this Agreement which
jeopardizes the licensure of Hospital, Hospital’s participation in Medicare, Medi-Cal or other
reimbursement or payment program, or Hospital’s full accreditation by The Joint Commission or
any other state or nationally recognized accreditation organization, or the tax-exempt status of
Hospital’s bonds, or if for any other reason such performance violates any statute, ordinance, or
is otherwise deemed illegal, or is deemed unethical by any recognized body, agency, or
association in the healthcare fields, and the jeopardy or violation has not been or cannot be cured
within sixty (60) days from the date notice of such jeopardy or violation has been received by the
parties.

5.3.8 The loss of or reduction in any Physician’s medical staff privileges at any facility where said
Physician provides professional health care services, whether voluntary or involuntary.

5.3.9 Any director, officer, employee or agent of Corporation, Physician, or CRNA being charged with
or convicted of a crime other than an infraction, traffic citation, or similar charge.

5.3.10 Corporation’s, any of its directors’, officers’, employees’ or agents’, or any CRNA’s or
Physician’s engagement in: (i) willful misconduct (which means the knowing and intentional
failure to exercise ordinary care to prevent material injury to SBHCD or the commission of an
intentional act with knowledge that it is likely to result in material injury to the SBHCD), (ii)

Page 4 of 10

Igbal M. Mirza, M.D., PC eff 7-1-2025 1 75



5.4

6.1

6.2

7.1

fraudulent activities, (iii) crimes or acts of moral turpitude, (iv) any breach of a duty to SBHCD,
a patient, or any third party payor, (v) harassment or abuse of patients, staff, providers, or any
other person, or (vi) any other action or omission that could materially affect SBHCD’s business
or reputation in an adverse manner.

Termination/Expiration Not Subject to Fair Hearing. It is agreed between the parties that should either
party exercise its right to terminate this Agreement such decision to terminate, and the actual termination
or expiration of this Agreement, shall apply to rights under this Agreement only and not to any CRNA’s
Physician’s medical staff privileges or membership on the medical staff of Hospital. The termination or
expiration of this Agreement shall not be subject to the Fair Hearing Plan of the Medical Staff Bylaws,
the hearing procedures provided by Healthcare District Law, or any other fair hearing procedure regarding
medical staff appointments or privileges.

ARTICLE 6 - INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

Independent Contractor Status. Corporation is engaged in an independent contractor relationship with
SBHCD in performing all work, services, duties, and obligations pursuant to this Agreement. Neither
SBHCD nor Hospital shall exercise any control or direction over the methods by which Corporation or
any Physician or CRNA performs work and functions, except that Physicians shall, at all times, perform
in strict accordance with then currently approved methods and practices of Physician’s or CRNA’s
professional specialty. SBHCD’s sole interest is to ensure that Corporation and the Physicians and
CRNA s perform and render services in a competent, efficient, and satisfactory manner in accordance with
high medical standards.

Independent Contractor Responsibilities. The parties expressly agree that no work, act, commission, or
omission of Corporation pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be construed to
make or render Corporation or any Physician or CRNA, the agent or employee of SBHCD. No Physician
or CRNA shall be entitled to receive from SBHCD vacation pay, sick leave, retirement benefits, Social
Security, workers’ compensation, disability or unemployment insurance benefits or any other employee
benefit. Corporation shall be solely responsible for paying when due all income, employment and
withholding taxes and employment benefits, if any, including estimated taxes, incurred as a result of the
compensation paid by (i) SBHCD to Corporation, and (ii) Corporation to Physician or CRNA for Services
under this Agreement. Corporation is responsible for providing, at its sole own expense, disability,
unemployment, workers’ compensation and other insurance (if applicable), training, permits and licenses.

ARTICLE 7 - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

SBHCD Representations and Warranties. SBHCD for itself, and its board of directors, officers,
employees, and agents (collectively, “Agents”), represents and warrants to Corporation, upon execution
and while this Agreement is in effect, as follows:

7.1.1  SBHCD has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its
obligations under this Agreement;

7.1.2  This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by SBHCD and is a legal,
valid, binding obligation of SBHCD, enforceable in accordance with its terms;

7.1.3  The parties have bargained at arms’ length to determine Corporation’s compensation under this
Agreement, the compensation is fair market value for the Services; and the compensation is
consistent with fair market value for similar services in the community; and

7.1.4 The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby by SBHCD will not violate any provisions of, or constitute a default under,
any contract or other agreement to which SBHCD is a party or by which it is bound, other than
violations, defaults or conflicts that would not materially and adversely affect the ability of
SBHCD to perform its obligations pursuant to this Agreement.

Page S of 10

Igbal M. Mirza, M.D., PC eff 7-1-2025 1 76



7.2 Corporation Representations and Warranties. Corporation, on behalf of itself, Corporation’s Agents, and

the Physicians and CRNAs represents and warrants to SBHCD, upon execution and while this Agreement
is in effect, as follows:

72.1

722

723

724

72.5

7.2.6

7279

72.8

729

7.2.10

7.2.11

Corporation is not bound by any agreement or arrangement which would preclude Corporation
from entering into this Agreement or from fully performing the Services;

Corporation: (i) is a duly organized professional medical corporation, validly existing and in good
standing under the laws of California, (ii) is qualified to do business in, and is in good standing
in, every jurisdiction where such qualification is required, and (iii) has all requisite corporate
power and authority to execute, deliver and perform its obligations under this Agreement,
including all required licensure and registration with the California Medical Board;

No Physician's license to practice medicine or CRNA’s license to practice nursing in California
or in any other jurisdiction has ever been denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily
relinquished under threat of disciplinary action, or restricted in any way;

No Physician's medical staff privileges at any health care facility have ever been denied,
suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished under threat of disciplinary action, or
made subject to terms of probation or any other restriction;

Each Physician and CRNA has not in the past conducted, and is presently not conducting, his/her
medical practice in such a manner as to cause Physician or CRNA to be suspended, excluded,
barred or sanctioned under Medicare or Medi-Cal, or any government licensing agency, nor have
they ever been convicted of a criminal offense related to health care, or listed by a federal agency
as debarred, excluded or otherwise ineligible for federal program participation;

Each Physician and CRNA has, and shall maintain throughout the term of this Agreement, an
unrestricted license to practice medicine or nursing in California (as applicable) and Medical Staff
privileges at the Hospital,

Corporation has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to
perform its obligations under this Agreement;

This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by Corporation and is a legal,
valid, binding obligation of Corporation, enforceable in accordance with its terms;

The parties have bargained at arms’ length to determine Corporation’s compensation under this
Agreement, the compensation is fair market value for the Services; and the compensation is
consistent with fair market value for similar services in the community; and

Each and every representation and warranty by Corporation in this Agreement is true and accurate
in all material respects.

The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby by Corporation will not violate and provisions of, or constitute a default
under, and contract or other agreement to which Corporation is a party or by which it is bound,
other than violations, defaults or conflicts that would not materially and adversely affect the
ability of Corporation or and Physician to perform the Services required under this Agreement.

ARTICLE 8 - INSURANCE; INDEMNITY

8.1 Coverages. Corporation shall maintain general and professional liability insurance coverage insuring
Corporation and each Physician and CRNA for Services provided by Corporation and the Physicians and
CRNAs to SBHCD patients during the term of this Agreement in a minimum amount of $1,000,000 per
occurrence and $3,000,000 annual aggregate. Such coverage shall (i) name SBHD as a covered facility

Page 6 of 10

Igbal M. Mirza, M.D., PC eff 7-1-2025 177



82

9.1

and additionally insured; (ii) be primary and non-contributing with any insurance carried by SBHCD; (iii)
provide for severability of interests; (iv) provide that such policy shall not be subject to cancellation, lapse
or change except after at least thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to SBHCD; and (v) contain a waiver
by the insurer of any right to subrogation against SBHCD, its agents, insurers, employees and contractors
which might arise by reason of any payment under such policy or by reason of any act or omission of
SBHCD, its agents, employees or contractors. In the event the coverage that Corporation obtains to
comply with this Section of this Agreement is a “claims made” policy, and SBHCD, as applicable,
changes insurance carriers or terminates coverage upon or after termination of this Agreement,
Corporation shall immediately obtain and maintain “tail” coverage in the amounts otherwise required
under this Section for at least seven (7) years following termination of this Agreement. In the event
Corporation fails to provide coverage as required by this Agreement resulting in an uninsured loss to
SBHCD, Corporation shall be liable to SBHCD for the full amount of the loss.

Indemnification. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Corporation shall indemnify, defend, and hold
harmless SBHCD, its officers, directors, employees, agents, and representatives from and against any and
all claims, actions, liabilities, losses, damages, judgments, settlements, penalties, costs, and expenses
(including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs), whether direct or indirect, arising out
of, resulting from, or relating to: (i) any act or omission of Corporation or its Physicians or CRNAs in the
performance of the Services under this Agreement; (ii) any breach of this Agreement by Corporation or
its Physicians or CRNAs (including any breach of the representations and warranties set forth herein); or
(iii) any violation of applicable federal, state, or local law, regulation, or rule by Corporation or its
Physicians or CRNAs. Corporation’s obligations under this Section shall apply regardless of whether such
claim, damage, or loss is caused in part by SBHCD, except to the extent such claim, damage, or loss is
caused solely by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the SBHCD. Corporation’s duty to defend
shall be triggered upon written notice from the SBHCD of any claim or action potentially subject to
indemnification under this Section. This Section shall survive the termination

ARTICLE 9 - PROTECTED HEALTH INFORMATION

Protected Health Information. Corporation and each Physician and CRNA shall maintain the
confidentiality of all Protected Health Information (“PHI”) in accordance with all applicable federal, state,
and local laws and regulations, including, but not limited to, the California Confidentiality of Medical
Information Act and the Federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and
regulations promulgated thereunder (“HIPAA”). Without limiting the foregoing, Corporation agrees to
maintain, and ensure the Physicians and CRNAs maintain, PHI, as defined from time to time under
HIPAA, which may be made available to or received by Corporation or any Physician or CRNA pursuant
to this Agreement, in accordance with the requirements of HIPAA. Corporation agrees Corporation and
the Physicians and CRNAs will:

9.1.1 Not use or further disclose PHI in a manner that would violate HIPAA if done by SBHCD or
violate the requirements of applicable laws or this Agreement;

9.1.2  Use appropriate safeguards to prevent use or disclosure of PHI except as permitted by law and
the terms of this Agreement, and report to SBHCD any use or disclosure of PHI not permitted by
law or by this Agreement of which Physician becomes aware;

9.1.3  Comply with the elements of any compliance program established by SBHCD that applies to the
use or disclosure of PHI and ensure that any subcontractors or agents to whom Physician provides
PHI agree to the same restrictions and conditions that apply to Physician with respect to such
PHI;

9.1.4 Inaccordance with HIPAA, (i) make available PHI to the subject patient; (ii) make available PHI

for amendment and incorporate any amendments to PHI; and (iii) make available the information
required to provide an accounting of disclosures of PHI to the subject patient;

Page 7 of 10

Igbal M. Mirza, M.D., PC eff 7-1-2025 1 78



9.1.5 Make Corporation’s internal practices, books, and records relating to the use and disclosure of
PHI available to the Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services for
purposes of determining SBHCD’s, Corporation’s, and Physicians’ compliance with HIPAA;

9.1.6 At termination of this Agreement, return or destroy all PHI received from or created by SBHCD
and retain no copies of such PHI or, if return or destruction is not permissible under law or the
terms of this Agreement, continue to maintain all PHI in accordance with the provisions of this
Section and limit further uses and disclosures to those purposes that make the return or destruction
of the information infeasible.

9.2 Electronic Protected Health Information (“EPHI”). Corporation agrees that Corporation and the
Physicians and CRNAs will: (i) implement administrative, physical, and technical safeguards that
reasonably and appropriately protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the EPHI that the
Physicians and CRNAs create, receives, maintains, or transmits on behalf of SBHCD; (ii) report to
SBHCD any security incident with respect to EPHI of which Corporation or any Physician or CRNA
becomes aware; and (iii) ensure that any agent, including a subcontractor, to whom Corporation or
Physician or CRNA provides EPHI agrees to implement reasonable and appropriate safeguards to protect
such information.

ARTICLE 10- REQUIRED DISCLOSURES

10.1  Required Disclosures. Corporation shall notify SBHCD in writing within three (3) days after any of the
following events occur:

10.1.1 Any Physician's license to practice medicine in the State of California or any CRNA’s license to
practice nursing in the State of California or any other jurisdiction lapses or is denied,
suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished (under threat of disciplinary action) or
made subject to terms of probation or other restriction;

10.1.2  Any Physician's medical staff membership and/or privileges at any health care facility or entity
are denied, suspended, revoked, terminated, voluntarily relinquished (under threat of
disciplinary action), or made subject to terms of probation or other restriction;

10.1.3 Any Physician or CRNA is required to pay damages in any malpractice action by way of
Jjudgment or settlement, except that Physician or CRNA shall not be required to breach a
settlement or confidentiality agreement;

10.1.4 Receipt of notice of the commencement of any investigation into Corporation, any Physician's
medical license, CRNA’s nursing license, or Corporation’s or any Physician's medical practice
by the Medical Board of California, California Attorney General, the Department of Health and
Human Services Office of Inspector General, the Department of Justice, or any other entity of
federal, state, or local government;

10.1.5 Any Physician's Drug Enforcement Agency registration number is revoked, suspended,
terminated, relinquished, placed on terms of probation, or restricted in any way;

10.1.6 An event occurs that (i) substantially interrupts all or a portion of Corporation's professional
practice, including the termination of any Physician’s or CRNA’s employee/contractor
relationship with Corporation, (ii) materially adversely affects Corporation's ability to perform
Corporation's obligations hereunder, including the Services, or (iii) could likely cause
Corporation to be in breach of this Agreement; or

10.1.7 Any Physician or CRNA being charged with or convicted of a criminal offense related to health
care, or any Physician's or CRNA's listing by a federal agency as being debarred, excluded, or
otherwise ineligible for federal program participation.

Page 8 of 10
Igbal M. Mirza, M.D., PC eff 7-1-2025 179



11.2

11.3

11.4

11.5

11.6

11.7

10.1.8 The occurrence of any event that would constitute “cause” pursuant to Section 5.3.

ARTICLE 11 - GENERAL PROVISIONS

Notices. Any notice to be given to any party hereunder shall be deposited in the United States Mail, duly
registered or certified, with return receipt requested, with postage paid, and addressed to the party for
whom intended, at the addresses set forth in the signature block, or to such other address or addresses as
the parties may hereafter designate in writing to each other.

SBHCD: San Benito Health Care District
Office of the Chief Executive Officer
911 Sunset Drive
Hollister, CA 95023

Corporation:  Igbal M. Mirza M.D., Professional Corporation
14483 Chester Avenue
Saratoga, CA 95070-5624

No Waiver. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed, or shall constitute, a
waiver of any other provision, whether or not similar, nor shall any waiver constitute a continuing waiver.
No waiver shall be binding unless executed in writing by the party making the waiver.

Governing Law and Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by, construed and enforced in accordance
with the laws of the State of California. Venue shall be in the County of San Benito, California.

Ownership of Patient Records. All Hospital’s patient records shall be maintained by SBHCD and are the
property of SBHCD. Corporation and the Physicians shall have the right to access such records during
normal business hours.

Patient Choice. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, all compensation paid to Corporation
pursuant to this Agreement is solely for the purpose of obtaining the services of Corporation/Physicians
for patients of the SBHCD community. The parties recognize and affirm the importance of individual
patient choice in selection of medical services. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be interpreted
to obligate, encourage, or solicit, in any way, the referral of any individual patient to any health care
facility, including the Facility, contrary to that patient’s choice of another provider of medical services.
Further, nothing in this Agreement shall be interpreted to prevent, restrict, or discourage Corporation or
any Physician from referring patients to any other provider of health care services.

Exclusive Property of SBHCD. All data, files, records, documents, promotional materials, and similar
items relating to the business of SBHCD, whether prepared by or with the assistance of any Physician or
CRNA or otherwise coming into Corporation’s possession shall remain the exclusive property of
SBHCD and shall not be removed from SBHCD’s Hospital under any circumstances without the prior
written consent of SBHCD.

Confidentiality. The parties acknowledge and agree that during the term of this Agreement and in the
course of the discharge of Corporation’s duties hereunder, Corporation, Physician and CRNA shall have
access to and become acquainted with information concerning the operation of SBHCD, and information
which, pursuant to applicable law and regulation, is deemed to be confidential, including, but not limited
to, trade secrets, medical records, patient medical and personal information, and personnel records.
Corporation agrees that such information shall not be disclosed either directly or indirectly to any other
person or entity or used by Corporation or any Physician or CRNA in any way either during the term of
this Agreement or at any other time thereafter, except as is required herein. Corporation understands
breach of this article will be an irremediable breach of this Agreement. Such breach will result in
immediate termination of this Agreement.

Page 9 of 10

Igbal M. Mirza, M.D., PC eff 7-1-2025 1 80



11.8

11.9

11.10

11.11

Binding Agreement: Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of
the parties to it and their respective legal representatives, successors, and permitted assigns. Excepting
the following sentence, no party may assign this Agreement or any rights hereunder, or may delegate any
of the duties to be performed hereunder without the prior written consent of the other party.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Corporation may assign this Agreement to ASC Anesthesiology
Associates Inc., a California corporation upon (i) its conversion to a professional medical corporation, (ii)
satisfying all registration and licensing requirements of the Medical Board of California, and (iii)
SBHCD’s written approval of such assignment, which may be granted or withheld in SBHCD’s sole
discretion.

Dispute Resolution. If any dispute, controversy, or claim arises out of this Agreement, for a period of
thirty (30) days following written notice of the dispute, controversy or claim from one party to the other,
the parties will use their good faith efforts to resolve the dispute, controversy, or claim. If the matter
cannot be resolved by the parties in this fashion, then such dispute, claim or controversy shall be heard in
San Benito County, California, pursuant to the provisions of California Code of Civil Procedure Sections
638 through 645.1, inclusive. The hearing shall be final and binding to the greatest extent permitted by
law, and the cost thereof, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, shall be borne by the losing party in such
proportions as the referee may decide. Judgment on the award may be entered in any court having
jurisdiction thereof.

Section 952 of Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1980. In accordance with Section 952 of the
Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1980 (PL 96-499), Corporation agrees that the books and records of
Corporation will be available to the Secretary of Department of Health and Human Services and the
Comptroller General of the United States, or their duly authorized representatives, for four (4) years after
termination of this Agreement. In the event any of the services to be performed under this Agreement are
performed by any subcontractor of Corporation at a value or cost of $10,000 or more over a twelve (12)
month period, Corporation shall comply and assure that such subcontractor complies with the provisions
of Section 952 of the Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1980. This Section shall survive the termination or
expiration of this Agreement. If not applicable to this Agreement, this Section shall automatically be
repealed.

Entire Agreement: Amendment. This Agreement, its exhibits, and all referenced documents constitute
the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to the subject matter contained herein. This
Agreement supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, representations and understandings of
the parties which relate to the subject matter of this Agreement. No supplement, amendment or
modification of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by all of the parties.

The parties hereby executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date first set forth above.

SBHCD CORPORATION
SAN BENITO HEALTH CARE DISTRICT IQBAL M. MIRZA, M.D.,, PROFESSIONAL
CORPORATION
By: By:
Mary T. Casillas, Chief Executive Officer Igbal M. Mirza, M.D., President

Page 10 of 10

Igbal M. Mirza, M.D., PC eff 7-1-2025 181



Physicians:
I. Igbal Mirza, MD
2. Rajesh Sharangpani, MD
3. Bo Myung Cheon, MD
4. AnT. Phan, MD
5. Avace Dani, MD

CRNAs:
1. Alex Nejat
2. Tawab Noori

EXHIBIT A

PHYSICIANS AND CRNAS

182



EXHIBITB

SERVICES, COMPENSATION & SCHEDULE

A.1 Services. Corporation shall provide professional medical anesthesia Services at the Hospital as
specified by SBHCD on the terms set forth below:

Al.l

A.l2

A.13.

A.l4

Coverage. Corporation shall provide Services as mutually agreed by the parties, but at a
minimum level such that:

A.1.1.1 Operating Rooms (OR/ASC). Anesthesia services will be provided Monday
through Friday (excluding SBHCD-recognized holidays), 52 weeks per year from
07:00 to 15:30. Coverage will be provided for three (3) Operating Rooms. Based
on patient demand and upon mutual agreement of the parties, coverage will be
adjusted down to 2 Operating Rooms or up to 4 Operating Rooms.

A.1.12 Weekday call. Anesthesia services call services will be provided Monday through
Friday, from 15:00 to 07:00, or 07:00 to 06:59 if a SBHCD-recognized holiday.

A.1.1.3 Weekend call: Saturday through Sunday, from 07:00 to 06:59, including all
SBHCD-recognized holidays.

A.1.1.4 Labor and Delivery. Anesthesia services will be provided to the Labor and
Delivery patients 24 hours per day, 365 days a year. SBHCD will provide an onsite
sleep room for the Physician and/or CRNA providing such services.

A.1.1.5 Medical Director Services. Medical Director services will be provided on-site at
least five (5) days per week, forty-eight (48) weeks per year during regular
business hours.

Preparation of Schedule. The Corporation will determine the Physicians’ and CRNAs’
schedule for the delivery of Services. Notwithstanding, SBHCD reserves the right to approve
or request modifications to the proposed schedule to ensure it meets operational and
compliance requirements.

Specialty Services. Corporation shall provide the following Anesthesia Services:

Anesthesia services for all patients requiring such care at the Hospital. This includes pre-
anesthesia assessment, administration of anesthesia during procedures, monitoring
throughout the procedure, and post-anesthesia care; Supervising all CRNAs providing
anesthesia services; Oversight of family conferences as requested in consultation with social
services; consultations, upon request, for members of the Hospital’s Medical Staff, including
the hospitalist Physician; and participate in staff education and training related to anesthesia
services. When the patient has an attending/referring physician, Physician shall include such
physician in decision making and keep such physician informed.

Medical Director Services. Mirza, or another physician designated by Corporation and
approved by the Hospital in its sole discretion, shall serve as the Medical Director of
Anesthesia Services at the Hospital (“Medical Director”). Medical Director’s shall perform
all duties typical of a Medical Director, including the provision of medical direction and
oversight of Anesthesia Services, supervising anesthesia services, ensuring quality control,
and acting as a liaison between anesthesia staff and facility administration.

183



A2

A3

AlS

Quality Assurance Services. Within the first 90 days following the Effective Date, a
Physician designated by Corporation and approved by SBCHD will assist the Hospital and
its staff in developing, implementing, and monitoring a program by which anesthesia services
quality measures are reportable to SBHCD in the following key areas:

» Clinical Standards and Documentation

» Performance Improvement

» Professional Development

» Customer Satisfaction (Patient and Provider)

Compensation.

A21

A22

A23

Schedule and Rate. Corporation shall be paid the following compensation
(“Compensation”) on a monthly basis (on SBHCD’s standard payment cycle for similar
agreements):

A.2.1.1 Ifthe Corporation is providing the Services for two (2) OR/ASC rooms, it shall be
paid $2,992,500 annually. Such Compensation shall include all services set forth
in A.1.1.1 through A.1.1.4.

A2.1.2 [If the Corporation is providing the Services for three (3) OR/ASC rooms, it shall
be paid $3,562,500 annually. Such Compensation shall include all services set
forth in A.1.1.1 through A.1.1.4.

A.2.1.3 1If the Corporation is providing the Services for four (4) OR/ASC rooms, it shall
be paid $4,132,500 annually. Such Compensation shall include all services set
forth in A.1.1.1 through A.1.1.4.

A.2.1.4 Inaddition to the Compensation set forth above, Corporation shall be paid $60,000
annually for providing the Medical Director Services required by A.1.1.5.

A.2.1.4 Compensation shall be prorated upon any adjustments to OR/ASC coverage
Services pursuant to A.1.1.1.

Payment on Termination. On termination of this Agreement, which is not extended,
renewed or superseded by another agreement, SBHCD shall pay to Corporation any amounts
due to Corporation within forty-five (45) days after the termination of this Agreement.

Agreement Includes All Compensation from SBHCD. Incorporated into Compensation,
unless specifically excluded, are all the Corporation’s sources of practice revenues and
income, including call coverage stipends, other hospital on-call fees, and hospital stipends;
provided, however, that services as a medical director within SBHCD, service on medical
staff or SBHCD positions such as department chair or chief of staff, call panels which are
not currently in effect, or other items specifically excluded by written agreement between
Physician and SBHCD shall be independently compensated to Physician by SBHCD, if any,
and are not subject to the terms of this Agreement.

Services and Activities in Support of SBHCD. SBHCD and Corporation acknowledge and agree
that certain services and activities may be required of Corporation and the Physicians in support of
SBHCD to ensure a continuing high level of patient care. To that end, any Physician reasonably
requested shall participate in functions/events from time to time, in support of the Hospital. In
addition, to assist in the recruitment and retention of highly skilled practitioners, upon SBHCD’s
request, Any Physician reasonably requested shall participate in recruitment meetings with SBHCD
physician candidates. SBHCD shall reimburse Corporation for reasonable meal expenses incurred
by the Physician as part of meeting with physician candidates hosted at the request of SBHCD.

184



A.4 Practice Guidelines/Best Quality Practices. Each Physician shall demonstrate cooperative work

arrangements with the Medical Staff, Quality and Safety Leadership and SBHCD Administration to
achieve mutually accepted practice guidelines and the best quality practices. These practices will be
shall be evidenced based, and include at minimum the following:

A4l

A42

A43

Ad4

A4S

A4.6

A4

A48

Attendance at regular monthly meetings with Hospital leadership when requested to review
any operational or quality issues.

Timely completion of all patient records.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

Completion of all procedure notes within twenty-four (24) hours of encounter.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

Timely signing of orders.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

Timely discharges summaries.
Goal: As specified by Medical staff rules and regulations or hospital policy.

Commitment to use of SBHCD supported electronic health/medical record platforms.

Compliance with all governmental and SBHCD quality reporting initiatives that may come
into effect from time to time.

Timely arrival at the Facilities, defined as being ready, willing and able to provide Services
not less than 10 minutes before the commencement of any in-person shift and responding
to on-call coverage calls within the times set forth in the Medical Staff rules and
regulations.

185



Page 1 of 2

SAN BENITO HEALTH CARE DISTRICT BOARD OF DIRECTORS
May 22, 2025

AGENDA F L E

Pursuant to California Government Code Section 54954.2 and 54954.5, the board agenda may describe closed session agenda
items as provided below. No legislative body or elected official shall be in violation of Section 54954.2 or 54956 if the closed
session items are described in substantial compliance with Section 54954.5 of the Government Code.

CLOSED SESSION AGENDA ITEMS

0O  LICENSE/PERMIT DETERMINATION
(Government Code §54956.7)

Applicant(s): (Specify number of applicants)

O CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS
(Government Code §54956.8)
] CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL-EXISTING LITIGATION

(Government Code §54956.9(d)(1))

Name of case:
Case name unspecified:

X C W COUNSEL-AN
(Government Code §54956.9)

Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to § 54956.9(d)(2), (e)(3): Dr. Gabriel Claim received April 28,
2025.

0O LIABILITY CLAIMS
(Government Code §54956.95)

Claimant: (Specify name unless unspecified pursuant to Section 54961):
Agency claimed against: (Specify name):

O THREAT TO PUBLI \%
(Government Code §54957)

Consultation with: (Specify the name of law enforcement agency and title of officer):

U PUBLIC EMPLOYEE APPOINTMENT
(Government Code §54957)

Title:

0O  PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT
(Government Code §54957)

Title:

186



Page 2 of 2

PUBLICE CE EVALUATI
(Government Code §54957)

(Specify position title of the employee being reviewed):

Title:
1 L S
(Government Code §54957)

(No additional information is required in connection with a closed session to consider discipline,
dismissal, or release of a public employee. Discipline includes potential reduction of compensation.)

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR
(Government Code §54957.6)

Agency designated representative:
Employee organization:
Unrepresented employee:

CASE REVIEW/PLANNING
(Government Code §54957.8)

(No additional information is required to consider case review or planning.)

REPORT INVOLVING TRADE SECRET
(Government Code §37606 & Health and Safety Code § 32106)

Discussion will concern: (Specify whether discussion will concern proposed new service, program, or
facility):

1. Trade Secrets. Strategic Planning. Proposed New Programs. and Services.

Estimated date of public disclosure: (Specify month and year):

HEARINGS/REPORTS
(Evidence Code Sections 1156 and 1157.7; Health and Safety Code Section 32106)

Subject matter: (Specify whether testimony/deliberation will concern staff privileges, report of medical
executive committee, or report of quality assurance committee):

1. Report — Credentials

INVOLVING INF CTED
BY FEDERAL LAW (Government Code §54956.86)

(No additional information is required to discuss a charge or complaint pursuant to Section 54956.86.)

ADJOURN TO OPEN SESSION

187



RECEIVED

Law Offices of '

Donald Charles Schwartz  BY..
7960-B Soquel Drive, No. 291, Aptos, CA 950073
Tel (831) 331-9909 — Fax (815) 301-6556
triallaw@cruzio.com
donald@lawofficedonaldschwartz.com

April 18,2025
Laura Garcia
Clerk of the Board
San Benito Health Care District
William Johnson v~

Chairman of the Board
San Benito Health Care District

Re:  Nick Hadrian Gabriel, DO, FACOS, FACS, DFACOS

CLAIM PURSUANT TO
CALIFORNIA GOVERNMENT CODE §§910-913.2

Name and Address of Claimant:

Nick Hadrian Gabriel, DO, FACOS, FACS, DFACOS

c/o Donald Charles Schwartz

Law Office of Donald C. Schwartz
7960-B Soquel Drive, No. 261
Aptos, CA 95003.

Date and Place of Incident:

On or about October 25, 2024; and

Within 6 months from the above date of this Notice of Government
Code Claim) in the County of San Benito, California.

188



Law Offices of
Donald Charles Schwarez

General Description of the Damage. Loss or Indebtedness Incurred:

Writ of Mandate for Reinstatement, Negligence; Gross Recklessness,
Breach of Contract; Fraud (negligent and intentional); Violation of California
Unfair Competition Laws; Interference With Contract (Intentional and
Negligent); Interference With Prospective Economic Advantage (Intentional
and Negligent); Brown Act Violations; Defamation; Whistleblower Protection;
Demand for Arbitration; Expungement of Defamatory Employment Record,

general, special, exemplary and punitive damages as well as According to
Proof.

Nick Hadrian Gabriel, DO, FACOS, FACS, DFACOS (“Dr Gabriel”) is a
Yale University trained and Certified by the American Osteopathic Board of
Surgery who was contracted to provide general surgery services at the San Benito
Health Care District, Hazel Hawkins Hospital.

On October 25, 2024 the attached Exhibit 1 Suspension Letter was issued.
On November 6, 2024 the attached Letter of Non-Renewal was issued.

The actions taken against Dr. Gabriel are arbitrary, discriminatory, unfair
and unreasonable.

Names and Addresses of any Public Emplovees Allegedlv Responsible:

San Benito Health Care District
351 Filice Drive
Hollister, CA 95023

Amount of Claim:
$250.0 million; and

In excess of the jurisdictional limits of the California Superior Court as an
unlimited liabjhity case.

189



NOLAND
HAMERLY
ETIENNE
HOSS

Swephen W Pearson
Anne K Sechker
Randy Meyenberg
Christine G. Kemp
Timothy J. Baldwin

® Charles Des Roches
® Robert D Simpson
Ana C. Toledo

® Lesise £ Finnegon
Lindsey Berg-James
Heudi A Quinn
Daniel J. Lune
Sharityn R Payne
Anne Frasscito Oisen
® Ywanue 4. Ascher
William H. Faior 111
RyanJ Miller
Ceraldine A. Villa
Charles Mullaney
Chiara beronesi
Stacey Cheathom Wilson
Michael Masvda

(Of Counsel)

Harry L Noiond
(1904-1991)

Powi M Homerly
(1920 M)

Myron E. Evenns_ Jr,
(1924-20186)

Peier T Hoss
(1934.20181

S CERNIND SILT14LIST IN
PROBATL. EXTATR PLONNING,
ANU TRIST |AW ¥

TRE QAL ORNIA BOAR UF
LEG AL, NI'EL 1A IZATHON
SIATE BAR UF 14101 URNIA

Atinenmeys i Law | A PROPESSIONAL CORPORATION

WWW NHEH COM

E-MAIL DLITTLE@NHEH COM
831-426-1414 ExT 220

OUR FILE NO 30256 012

November 6, 2024

VIA USPS AND EMAIL NHGSX@YAHOO.COM

Nick H. Gabnel, D.O.
687 East Street
Hollister, CA 95023
nhgsx@yahoo.com

Re: Professional Services Agreement (“PSA™)
Dear Dr. Gabriel,

As you may know, our firm represents San Benito Health Care District
(“District”). Pursuant to Section $.1 of your PSA with the District, the three-year term
of the PSA expires on November 21, 2024 your “Start Date™, or the date you first
provided services to the District under the PSA, is November 22, 2021.

The purpose of this letter is to notify you that the District is not renewing the
PSA. Effective November 22, 2024 you will no longer be scheduled to provide Clinic
Services or Hospital Call coverage. Pursuant 1o Section A.5.6 of Exhibit A, on or

before January S, 2025, you will be paid for all services provided to the District. We
appreciate your service to the District and its patients.

Best,

NOLAND, HAMERLY, ETIENNE & HOSS
A Professional Corporation

Daniel J. Little
DJL

Ex 2

PHONE 831 424-(414 FROM MONTEREY §11-372-7525 FAX 831424-1978
133 SALINAS STREET POST OFFICE BOX 2410 SALINAS, CA 93902-2510

190











